
Merton Council
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017 
Time:  3.00 pm – 5.00pm
Venue:  Committee rooms C, D & E - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, 

Morden SM4 5DX
Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, Surrey SM4 5DX

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 4

                                                                                       Time

4 MSCB Annual Report                                                3.05 – 3.20 5 - 80

5 Motor Neurone Disease                                            3.20 – 3.35 81 - 90

6 Local Plan                                                                 3.35 – 3.45 91 - 94

7 CCG Commissioning Intentions                                3.45 – 4.00 95 - 104

8 Diabetes Strategic Framework work plan                 4.00 – 4.30 105-124

4.30pm Close of Public Meeting. Board Members Workshop 
Discussion

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend.

Requests to speak will be considered by the Chair.  If you would like to speak, 
please contact democratic.services@merton.gov.uk by midday on the day before 
the meeting.
For more information about the work of this Board, please contact Clarissa Larsen, 
on 020 8545 4871 or e-mail democratic.services@merton.gov.uk

Press enquiries: press@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 4093.

Note on declarations of interest

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
at the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room 
during the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that 
matter.  If  members consider they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest 
which may give rise to a perception of bias, they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate 
in consideration of the item.  For further advice please speak with the Assistant Director of 
Corporate Governance.

mailto:press@merton.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board Membership

Merton Councillors

 Tobin Byers (Chair)
 Gilli Lewis-Lavender
 Katy Neep

Council Officers (non-voting)

 Director of Community and Housing
 Director of Children, Schools and Families
 Director of Environment and Regeneration
 Director of Public Health

Statutory representatives

 Four representatives of Merton Clinical Commissioning Group
 Chair of Healthwatch

Non statutory representatives

 One representative of Merton Voluntary Services Council
 One representative of the Community Engagement Network

Quorum

Any 3 of the whole number.

Voting

3 (1 vote per councillor)
4 Merton Clinical Commissioning Group (1 vote per CCG member)
1 vote Chair of Healthwatch
1 vote Merton Voluntary Services Council
1 vote Community Engagement Network



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
19 SEPTEMBER 2017
(3.00 pm - 5.00 pm)
PRESENT Dr Andrew Murray (in the Chair), 

Councillor Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Councillor Katy Neep, 
Hannah Doody - Director of Community and Housing
Chris Lee - Director of Environment and Regeneration
Yvette Stanley - Director of Children, Schools and Families
Dr Dagmar Zeuner - Director of Public Health
Dr Karen Worthington- Merton CCG
Dr Doug Hing - Merton CCG
Brian Dillon and Dave Curtis Merton Healthwatch
James Blythe - Managing Director of Merton and Wandsworth 
CCG’s

ALSO PRESENT    Tara Butler – Future Merton LBM (for Agenda Item 4)
Daniel Elkeles - Chief Executive of Epsom St Helier  University 
Hospital Trust,
Lisa Jewell – Democratic Services Officer

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies for absence were received from the Chair, Councillor Tobin Byers.
The Vice-Chair, Dr Andrew Murray, chaired the meeting.

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of interest.

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2017 are agreed as an 
accurate record.

4 ESTATES REGENERATION AND HEALTH AND WELLBEING - 
PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION (Agenda Item 4)

The Board received a presentation from the Director of Environment and 
Regeneration on Estates Regeneration and Health and Wellbeing. In describing the 
planned regeneration projects in the Borough he asked Board members to consider:

1. What more planners could do to build in Healthier Lifestyles 
2. What more could your organisation could do to encourage Healthier Lifestyles.

The presentation gave details of the expected growth in Merton in the next 10 years, 
and then detailed the healthy streets initiative to encourage walking and cycling. It 
continued by providing a project showcase of regeneration projects in the borough 
including Morden  and the Clarion Estates regeneration. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

The Board discussed issues related to the presentation and noted:

 the predicted increase in new businesses could include a large number of 
small businesses and self employed people and so would not necessarily 
cause an increase in the demand for premises.

 The cost of keeping fit will be kept affordable – the new leisure centre will be 
reasonably low cost and free green gyms already exist in the borough

 Infrastucture including Healthcare and other support services will be 
considered and built into the Core Strategy/Local Plan

 Councillor Neep asked officers to reach out to residents’ groups and young 
people to ensure that they owned the regeneration projects in their community.

 Councillor Neep was concerned that the growth in private rental, and potential 
problems associated with this; tenancy problems, eviction, and overcrowding,  
would affect mental health and wellbeing of residents. Officers mentioned 
schemes that aim to combat tenancy problems.

 There was a big challenge in London to provide key worker accommodation – 
now known as intermediate housing.

 Dr Andrew Murray asked about improving air quality, and noted that there 
were initiatives such as green buses and Merton’s Diesel Levy, but with an 
increasing number of journeys predicted consideration of air quality will be part 
of regeneration projects and will need to be covered by additional initiatives.

The Board welcomed the presentation and thanked Officers, and asked that they be 
kept involved in, and offered their support to, this long term process.

RESOLVED
The Board noted the presentation by The Director of Environment and Regeneration.

5 OFSTED FEEDBACK - PRESENTATION AND FEEDBACK (Agenda Item 5)

The Director of Children’s Services gave a  presentation on the recent OFSTED 
inspection of her department. The Board gave her huge congratulations on the 
outcomes of this inspection – an overall rating of Good, with Outstanding achieved in 
Adoption performance, leadership, management and governance and the Review of 
local Safeguarding Children’s Board. She thanked all  involved and said how proud 
she was of the outcome.

The Board noted the positive comments made by the OFSTED inspectors and that 
only 4 recommendations for improvement were made.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services thanked all partners around the table for 
their part in children’s safeguarding. Ofsted were encouraged by the work of our 
partnerships. HWBB had a role in keeping a focus on issues of neglect.

Page 2



3

RESOLVED

The Health and Wellbeing Board welcomed the presentation on  the OFSTED 
Outcomes for LBM Children’s Services.

6 FIRE SAFE AND WELL (Agenda Item 6)

Darren Tulley, London Fire Brigade (LFB) Borough Commander, presented his report 
on LFB Fire Safe and Well. The Board noted that  public trust in the Fire Brigade 
gave them access to vulnerable people within the community, and that this scheme 
was an opportunity for partner organisations to explore referral pathways and to 
implement local initiatives.  The visits would look at home fire safety and also three 
initiatives: winter warmth, smoking cessation and slips, trips ands falls prevention. 
However additional initiatives could be added, for example childhood obesity, 
befriending and healthy eating. 

The Chair said that it was an excellent scheme and that the CCG would engage. He 
suggested that it was an opportunity to work together to reduce strokes and to 
increase use/awareness of defibrillation. He also suggested that thought be given to 
evaluation so that the benefits can be quantified. The Managing Director of Merton 
CCG agreed that evaluation and should be built into the system, and that referral 
routes should be considered. GP records could be used to identify and target those 
at greatest risk of admittance to hospital.

The Director of Environment and Regeneration suggested that the visits could 
identify homes that would benefit from the energy conservation measures funded by 
a scheme run by the big energy suppliers. He and the Borough commander agreed 
to talk to about this possibility.

The Board welcomed the visits as an opportunity to tackle loneliness and isolation, 
and as a route to social prescribing. Councillor Lewis-Lavender reported that 
residents in her ward had found the visits to be very valuable.

RESOLVED

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the report for information and were supportive 
of assisting with referral pathways for smoking cessation, falls prevention and winter 
warmth.

7 PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT (PNA) (Agenda Item 7)

The Board received the report on the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.

RESOLVED

Page 3



4

A. That Health and Wellbeing Board members note the collaborative, cost saving 
approach being taken to re-fresh the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
(PNA).

B. That the HWB agree to receive the completed PNA at its March 2018 meeting 
for adoption; in advance of the statutory deadline of 1st April 2018. 

8 PROVIDING HIGH QUALITY HEALTHCARE SERVICES 2020 TO 2030 
(Agenda Item 8)

Daniel Elkeles, Managing Director of Epsom St Helier  University Hospital Trust, gave 
the board a presentation entitled ‘Providing High Quality Healthcare Services 2020 to 
2030. The video to accompany his presentation is available here:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0sNTZEUTUeY#action=share

Board Members asked about engagement process in Merton. Daniel Elkeles replied 
that he felt he was engaging well with  the communities that use Epsom and St Helier 
Hospitals. 10, 000 people had viewed the video or been to one of his meetings. He 
stressed that at the moment the conversation was not about sites, and that would 
come later on in the exercise.

The CE of CCG asked what the insight of the engagement exercise would be, and 
how is this information being collected so that it is robust and can support the way 
forward. DE replied that the purpose of the current engagement was to inform a lot of 
people that the trust cannot carry on as it is with 80% of the buildings not fit for 
purpose and that this  is not clinically or financially viable. He wants people to 
understand this point and to appreciate that his vision for the future would see 85% of 
patients continue to receive care as they do now from their local hospital.

The information being gathered will be written into an engagement report and this will 
take account of Merton Councillor’s points regarding deprivation and access to 
hospital services.  

Dr Andrew Murray asked about timescale, DE replied that the consultation will be 
finished in October then a draft strategic outline proposal will go to the Trust  Board. 
A business case could be completed by next Summer 2018 , and a decision made by 
the NHS in Spring 2019. The planning and building could then take a further  3 years, 
with a  new hospital in 2024.  The Board noted that the ultimate decision maker 
would be the Secretary of State.

RESOLVED
The Board noted the presentation by The Chief Executive of Epsom St Helier 
Hospital Trust

Page 4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0sNTZEUTUeY#action=share


Committee: Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017

Subject:  Safeguarding Children Board (MSCB) Annual 
Report 2016/17
Lead officer: Yvette Stanley, Director of Children’s Schools & Families
Lead member: Cllr Katy Neep, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services
Contact officer:  Paul Bailey MSCB Safeguarding Development & Policy 
Manager

Recommendations: 
A. To note the MSCB annual report 2016/17.
B. For the Heath and Wellbeing Board to continue to contribute to the 

MSCB priorities and to ensure that safeguarding children is a golden 
thread that is maintained through all the work of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 To ensure that HWBB are sighted on the statutory Safeguarding 

Children Board’s annual report and that all departments continue to 
work together to ensure children and young people in Merton are 
effectively safeguarded. 

2 DETAILS
2.1 The MSCB annual report 2016/17 is produced on behalf of the 

safeguarding partnership involving all key agencies and supports the 
council and the Chair of the MSCB in assuring local arrangements.

2.2 The questions that the Board is continuously seeking to answer are: 
 Is there evidence that the right standards, policies, guidance, 

procedures, protocols are in place? 
 Is there good evidence that these are being implemented and applied 

consistently? 
 What impact/difference does this make in keeping Merton children and 

young people safe from harm and ensuring that their well-being is 
supported? 

2.3 The report shows how the work we are doing as the MSCB seeks to 
answer these questions. The Board’s strengths are identified as:  

 The MSCB is a mature partnership that is open to learning and 
challenge 

 Senior representation and engagement from agencies 
 A relentless focus on working together to keep children safe 
 A strong performance focus including the annual QA process 
 Annual conference and comprehensive training programme 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 An improved connection between the Board and frontline practitioners 
which has and will continue to improve; this includes the Board’s 
responsiveness to and influence on multi- agency frontline practice 

 The Board has clear priorities and the work programme has been 
aligned to support their delivery. 

2.4 Our agreed areas of focus during 2016-2017 included:
i. Think Family
ii. Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents
iii. Early Help

With neglect as a cross-cutting theme throughout these priorities.

2.5 The Annual Report was approved by the MSCB on 26th September 
2017

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1 None 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1 All key agencies contributed.

5 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The MSCB budget and expenditure is covered in the annual report.

6 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
6.1 It is a statutory responsibility to have an annual report and for it to be 

published.

7 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Safeguarding vulnerable children and young people and vulnerable 
adults as parents strengthens families and communities.

8 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
8.1 There is a considerable volume of child protection activity which relates 

to domestic violence, substance misuse and anti-social behaviour.  
Systemic work with families can break generational cycles as well as 
improving outcomes for individual children.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
9.1 The work covered in the report is high risk and considerable attention 

and efforts are made to mitigate and reduce risk in a challenge context 
for many of our families.

10 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 
Appendix 1: MSCB Annual Report 2016/17  
Appendix 2: OFSTED Report

Page 6



Annual report of the
Merton Safeguarding Children Board
2016/17

Page 7



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
2

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

C
o

nt
en

ts

1.
0

 
C

ha
ir

’s
 In

tr
o

d
uc

ti
o

n 
b

y 
K

ei
th

 M
ak

in
  

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
C

ha
ir

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.. 
4

2.
0

 
P

ro
g

re
ss

 o
f 

M
SC

B
 P

la
n 

20
16

–2
0

17
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 

6

3
.0

 
E

ar
ly

 H
el

p
: R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

 a
nd

 
Yo

un
g

 P
er

so
n 

W
el

l-
b

ei
ng

 M
o

d
el

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

11

4
.0

 
Lo

ca
l C

o
nt

ex
t 

an
d

 N
ee

d
 o

f 
th

e 
 

C
hi

ld
ho

o
d

 P
o

p
ul

at
io

n 
 ..

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

. 1
4

4
.1 

 
M

er
to

n
 t

h
e 

P
la

ce
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 1
4

4
.2

  
M

er
to

n’
s 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
In

 N
ee

d
, C

hi
ld

re
n 

w
it

h 
a 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

P
la

n 
an

d
 T

ho
se

 L
o

o
ke

d
 A

ft
er

  .
...

...
 1

6
 

4
.3

  
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
t 

R
is

k 
o

f 
S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

  ..
...

...
...

21

4
.4

 
C

h
ild

re
n

 M
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 H
o

m
e 

an
d

 S
ch

o
o

l  .
...

. 2
3

4
.5

  
P

re
ve

n
t 

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.. 
25

4
.6

 
F

em
al

e 
G

en
it

al
 M

u
ti

la
ti

o
n

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

. 2
5

5.
0

 
St

at
ut

o
ry

 a
nd

 L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 C
o

nt
ex

t 
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

. 2
6

6
.0

 
M

SC
B

 In
te

r-
re

la
ti

o
ns

hi
p

s 
an

d
  

In
fl

ue
nc

e 
w

it
h 

K
ey

 P
ar

tn
er

s 
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 2

8

7.
0

 
M

SC
B

 S
ub

-G
ro

up
s 

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

29

7.
1 

Q
u

al
it

y 
A

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 2

9

7.
2 

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

n
d

 P
ro

te
ct

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
  

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

29

7.
3

 
L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

  .
...

...
 2

9

7.
4

 
T

h
e 

P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 3
3

7.
5 

C
D

O
P

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
..

 3
4

7.
6

 
Y

o
u

th
 C

ri
m

e 
E

xe
cu

ti
ve

 B
o

ar
d

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 

3
4

7.
7 

V
io

le
n

ce
 A

g
ai

n
st

 W
o

m
en

 a
n

d
 G

ir
ls

  .
...

...
...

...
...

 3
6

7.
8

 
M

A
S

H
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 B
o

ar
d

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.. 
3

8

7.
9

 
M

S
C

B
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
 a

n
d

 E
ff

ec
ti

ve
n

es
s 

o
f 

 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

3
8

7.
10

 M
S

C
B

 B
u

d
g

et
 ..

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

39

2

8
.0

 
Su

b
-G

ro
up

 a
nd

 T
as

k 
an

d
 F

in
is

h 
G

ro
up

  
Su

m
m

ar
y 

R
ep

o
rt

s/
E

ff
ec

ti
ve

ne
ss

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

. 
4

0

8
.1 

H
ar

m
fu

l S
ex

u
al

 B
eh

av
io

u
r 

Ta
sk

 a
n

d
 F

in
is

h
 

G
ro

u
p

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

4
0

8
.2

 
C

S
E

 P
ro

to
co

l a
n

d
 C

S
E

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
Ta

sk
 a

n
d

 

F
in

is
h

 G
ro

u
p

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 

4
0

8
.3

 
O

n
lin

e 
S

af
et

y 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

Ta
sk

 a
n

d
 F

in
is

h
  

G
ro

u
p

 ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 

4
1

8
.4

 
B

ru
is

in
g

 in
 N

o
n

-i
n

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
M

o
b

ile
  

In
fa

n
ts

 a
nd

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
P

ro
to

co
l T

as
k 

an
d

  

F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.4

2

8
.5

 
L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

R
ev

ie
w

s 
an

d
 

S
er

io
u

s 
C

as
e 

R
ev

ie
w

s 
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.. 

4
2

9
.0

 
A

g
en

cy
 E

ff
ec

ti
ve

ne
ss

 in
 S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

 –
  

re
p

o
rt

s 
fr

o
m

 K
ey

 A
g

en
ci

es
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 4
5

9
.1 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 4
5

9
.1.

1 
S

ch
o

o
ls

  .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 4

7

9
.2

 
C

S
F

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
..

 4
8

9
.3

  
A

cu
te

 T
ru

st
s 

 ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
 4

8

9
.4

 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
an

d
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
– 

 

L
B

 M
er

to
n

  ..
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..
 4

9

9
.5

 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 S

er
vi

ce
s,

 H
R

 L
B

 M
er

to
n

  .
...

...
...

...
...

 4
9

9
.6

 
M

et
ro

p
o

lit
an

 P
o

lic
e/

P
ro

b
at

io
n

/C
af

ca
ss

  .
...

..
 4

9

10
.0

 
V

ie
w

s 
o

f 
C

hi
ld

re
n,

 Y
o

un
g

 P
eo

p
le

  
an

d
 t

he
 C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 5
0

11
.0

 
C

o
nc

lu
si

o
ns

 a
nd

 P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

  
fo

r 
20

17
–2

0
19

 B
us

in
es

s 
Ye

ar
s 

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
 5

2

A
p

p
en

d
ic

es
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

 5
4

C
o

nt
ac

t 
d

et
ai

ls
  .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
. 

6
9

3

Page 8



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
5

20
16

-2
0

17
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 a
 b

u
sy

 a
n

d
 c

h
al

le
n

g
in

g
 y

ea
r 

fo
r 

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 (

M
S

C
B

) 
ye

t 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
ed

 t
o

 r
is

e 
to

 m
ee

t 
th

es
e 

ch
al

le
n

g
es

. O
ve

r 
th

e 
co

u
rs

e 
o

f 
th

is
 y

ea
r 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
h

as
 w

o
rk

ed
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

, p
ar

tn
er

s 
an

d
 s

ta
ke

h
o

ld
er

s 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

 t
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 W

el
l-

B
ei

n
g

 M
o

d
el

. W
e 

h
av

e 
al

so
 

re
co

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 a

n
d

 e
xt

en
d

ed
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 t

h
re

e 
ke

y 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
. 

W
e 

ar
e 

p
le

as
ed

 t
o

 s
ay

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 r
em

ai
n

s 
o

n
 a

 jo
u

rn
ey

 o
f 

co
n

ti
n

u
o

u
s 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
th

at
 

se
ek

s 
to

 p
la

ce
 c

h
ild

re
n

, t
h

e 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
w

h
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

em
 a

t 
th

e 
ve

ry
 

h
ea

rt
 o

f 
w

h
at

 w
e 

d
o

. T
h

e 
vi

si
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 is

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 w
o

rk
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 E
ve

ry
o

n
e 

in
 

M
er

to
n

 d
o

es
 E

ve
ry

th
in

g
 t

h
ey

 c
an

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 

E
ve

ry
 C

h
ild

 is
 S

af
e,

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 a

n
d

 S
u

cc
es

sf
u

l. 
T

h
is

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
o

rt
 is

 a
n

 e
va

lu
at

io
n

 o
f 

o
u

r 
p

ro
g

re
ss

 t
o

w
ar

d
s 

ac
h

ie
vi

n
g

 t
h

is
 a

im
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
an

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t 

o
f 

th
e 

o
ve

ra
ll 

im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
es

p
ec

ia
lly

 w
it

h
 r

eg
ar

d
s 

to
 o

u
r 

th
re

e 
ke

y 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
, l

ik
e 

o
th

er
 L

S
C

B
s,

 o
p

er
at

es
 in

 t
h

e 
co

n
te

xt
 o

f 
sh

ri
n

ki
n

g
 r

es
o

u
rc

es
 a

n
d

 e
xp

an
d

in
g

 
ex

p
ec

ta
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 c

o
m

m
it

m
en

ts
. W

e 
h

av
e 

w
o

rk
ed

 
h

ar
d

 w
it

h
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

to
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

se
 w

h
er

e 
lim

it
ed

 
re

so
u

rc
es

 c
an

 b
e 

ta
rg

et
ed

 in
 o

rd
er

 t
o

 h
av

e 
th

e 
m

ax
im

u
m

 im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
sy

st
em

. I
n

 O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
15

, t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 a
 S

er
io

u
s 

C
as

e 
R

ev
ie

w
 (

S
C

R
),

 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 a
n

 in
ci

d
en

t 
in

 w
h

ic
h

 a
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

 
w

h
o

 w
as

 k
n

o
w

n
 t

o
 M

er
to

n
 s

er
vi

ce
s,

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

d
 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
h

ar
m

 a
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

b
ei

n
g

 a
tt

ac
ke

d
 b

y 
a 

p
ar

en
t 

w
it

h
 a

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

. T
h

is
 r

ev
ie

w
 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

, t
h

e 
re

p
o

rt
 w

as
 p

u
b

lis
h

ed
 

in
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
17

 a
n

d
 w

e 
re

p
o

rt
 in

 d
et

ai
l o

n
 t

h
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 c

o
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

is
 S

C
R

 in
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 8
.5

.1.
 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 is

 c
o

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 le

ar
n

in
g

 t
h

e 
le

ss
o

n
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
is

 S
C

R
. 

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

ls
o

 t
o

o
k 

th
e 

d
ec

is
io

n
 t

o
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 

a 
L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

R
ev

ie
w

 (
L

iR
) 

in
to

 
a 

ca
se

 o
f 

lo
n

g
-t

er
m

 n
eg

le
ct

. T
h

is
 c

as
e 

d
id

 n
o

t 
m

ee
t 

th
e 

st
at

u
to

ry
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
 f

o
r 

a 
S

C
R

; h
o

w
ev

er
, 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 c
o

n
si

d
er

ed
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

w
as

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
le

ar
n

in
g

 f
o

r 
th

e 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
sy

st
em

 in
 t

h
is

 c
as

e.
 W

e 
re

p
o

rt
 in

 d
et

ai
l o

n
 t

h
e 

o
u

tc
o

m
es

 o
f 

th
e 

L
iR

 in
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 8
.5

.2

1.0 C
ha

ir
’s

 In
tr

o
d

uc
ti

o
n

u
s 

th
at

 o
u

r 
m

o
st

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 p
ar

en
ts

/f
am

ili
es

 a
re

 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
: 

 
■

E
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 p
o

o
r 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
, 

 
■

S
tr

u
g

g
le

 w
it

h
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
, 

 
■

A
re

 a
ff

ec
te

d
 b

y 
d

o
m

es
ti

c 
ab

u
se

, 

 
■

P
ar

en
ts

 w
it

h
 le

ar
n

in
g

 d
iffi

cu
lt

ie
s 

th
at

 
m

ay
 a

ff
ec

t 
th

ei
r 

ab
ili

ty
 t

o
 r

es
p

o
n

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

ch
an

g
in

g
 n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

.

2.
 S

up
p

o
rt

in
g

 V
ul

ne
ra

b
le

 A
d

o
le

sc
en

ts
 –

 
ad

o
le

sc
en

ce
 is

 a
 t

im
e 

o
f 

si
g

ni
fi

ca
nt

 c
ha

ng
e 

fo
r 

al
l y

o
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
. 

W
e 

kn
o

w
 t

h
at

, f
o

r 
so

m
e 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

, 
ad

o
le

sc
en

ce
 is

 a
 t

im
e 

o
f 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ty

. 
W

e 
ar

e 
d

et
er

m
in

ed
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

 w
h

o
 

ar
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f:

 
■

C
h

ild
 S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 (
C

S
E

) 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

h
o

 g
o

 m
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 h
o

m
e/

sc
h

o
o

l/
ca

re
 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 a
t 

ri
sk

 
ra

d
ic

al
is

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 v
io

le
n

t 
ex

tr
em

is
m

, 

 
■

Y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 h
ar

m
 o

th
er

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
se

ri
o

u
s 

yo
u

th
 v

io
le

n
ce

 
an

d
 g

an
g

s

 
■

S
el

f-
h

ar
m

 a
n

d
 p

o
o

r 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 p
ar

a-
su

ic
id

e.

3.
 E

ar
ly

 H
el

p
 –

 T
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

n 
ea

rl
y 

he
lp

 s
ys

te
m

 
th

at
 is

 r
es

p
o

ns
iv

e 
an

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly
 p

re
ve

nt
s 

es
ca

la
ti

o
n 

o
f 

co
nc

er
ns

. 

M
er

to
n

 h
as

 h
ad

 a
 lo

n
g

-e
st

ab
lis

h
ed

 c
h

ild
 a

n
d

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 W

el
l B

ei
n

g
 M

o
d

el
 w

h
ic

h
 w

e 
la

st
 

re
vi

ew
ed

 in
 2

0
13

. W
it

h
 c

h
an

g
es

 in
 lo

ca
l p

ro
vi

d
er

s 
an

d
 a

g
en

ci
es

 a
n

d
 w

it
h

 c
h

an
g

in
g

 le
ve

ls
 o

f 
re

so
u

rc
es

 a
va

ila
b

le
 w

e 
n

ee
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 o
u

r 
M

o
d

el
 

co
n

ti
n

u
es

 t
o

 b
e 

fi
t 

fo
r 

p
u

rp
o

se
. W

e 
re

p
o

rt
 in

 
d

et
ai

l o
n

 t
h

e 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

th
e 

m
o

d
el

 in
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 3
 o

f 
th

is
 r

ep
o

rt
.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
, i

n
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 w

it
h

 a
ll 

L
S

C
B

s,
 f

ac
es

 t
h

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

e 
fo

r 
al

l p
ar

tn
er

s 
o

f 
d

el
iv

er
in

g
 h

ig
h

 q
u

al
it

y 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

co
n

te
xt

 o
f 

in
cr

ea
si

n
g

 d
em

an
d

 
an

d
 r

ed
u

ce
d

 r
es

o
u

rc
es

. H
o

w
ev

er
, t

h
is

 r
ep

o
rt

 
d

em
o

n
st

ra
te

s 
h

o
w

 m
u

ch
 c

an
 b

e 
ac

h
ie

ve
d

 w
h

en
 

w
e 

w
o

rk
 t

o
g

et
h

er
, b

o
th

 a
s 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

 a
g

en
ci

es
 

an
d

 in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 e
ac

h
 o

th
er

. T
h

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 

sh
o

w
s 

th
at

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 h
av

in
g

 a
 m

o
re

 r
o

b
u

st
 

an
d

 r
ig

o
ro

u
s 

fo
cu

s 
o

n
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 is

 n
o

w
 

em
b

ed
d

ed
 a

n
d

 is
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
in

g
 t

o
 im

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e 

w
ay

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

yo
u

n
g

 a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
re

 p
ro

te
ct

ed
 a

n
d

 
th

ei
r 

w
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 is

 p
ro

m
o

te
d

. 

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 s
tr

en
g

th
s 

ar
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s:

 
■

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 is

 a
 m

at
u

re
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 t

h
at

 is
 

o
p

en
 t

o
 le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

h
al

le
n

g
e

 
■

S
en

io
r 

re
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
fr

o
m

 a
g

en
ci

es

 
■

A
 r

el
en

tl
es

s 
fo

cu
s 

o
n

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
g

et
h

er
 t

o
 

ke
ep

 c
h

ild
re

n
 s

af
e

 
■

A
 s

tr
o

n
g

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 f
o

cu
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
an

n
u

al
 Q

A
 p

ro
ce

ss

 
■

A
n

n
u

al
 c

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

 
■

A
n

 im
p

ro
ve

d
 c

o
n

n
ec

ti
o

n
 b

et
w

ee
n

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

n
d

 f
ro

n
tl

in
e 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

w
h

ic
h

 h
as

 
an

d
 w

ill
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 im

p
ro

ve
; t

h
is

 in
cl

u
d

es
 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 r

es
p

o
n

si
ve

n
es

s 
to

 a
n

d
 in

fl
u

en
ce

 
o

n
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 f
ro

n
tl

in
e 

p
ra

ct
ic

e

 
■

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 c

le
ar

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 a
lig

n
ed

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
th

ei
r 

d
el

iv
er

y.
 

O
u

r 
ag

re
ed

 a
re

as
 o

f 
fo

cu
s 

d
u

ri
n

g
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
 

in
cl

u
d

ed
:

1.
 T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily
 –

 t
o

 s
up

p
o

rt
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d

 a
d

ul
ts

 
in

 o
ur

 m
o

st
 v

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 f

am
ili

es
 t

o
 r

ed
uc

e 
ri

sk
 

an
d

 e
ns

ur
e 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 o

ut
co

m
es

. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 w

an
ts

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 o

u
r 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
en

ab
le

 t
h

e 
m

o
st

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 f
am

ili
es

 t
o

 b
e 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

; t
h

at
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 p

ar
en

ts
 a

re
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
ed

 
to

 c
ar

e 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
re

 in
 t

u
rn

 
su

p
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 t

h
ri

ve
 a

n
d

 a
ch

ie
ve

 t
h

ei
r 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

. 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 f
ro

m
 lo

ca
l a

n
d

 n
at

io
n

al
 r

es
ea

rc
h

 t
el

ls
 

T
h

e 
q

u
es

ti
o

n
s 

th
at

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

o
u

sl
y 

se
ek

in
g

 t
o

 a
n

sw
er

 a
re

:

 
■

Is
 t

h
er

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
ri

g
h

t 
st

an
d

ar
d

s,
 

p
o

lic
ie

s,
 g

u
id

an
ce

, p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s,
 p

ro
to

co
ls

 
ar

e 
in

 p
la

ce
?

 
■

Is
 t

h
er

e 
g

o
o

d
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 t
h

at
 t

h
es

e 
ar

e 
b

ei
n

g
 

im
p

le
m

en
te

d
 a

n
d

 a
p

p
lie

d
 c

o
n

si
st

en
tl

y?

 
■

W
h

at
 im

p
ac

t/
d

iff
er

en
ce

 d
o

es
 t

h
is

 m
ak

e 
in

 
ke

ep
in

g
 M

er
to

n
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 
sa

fe
 f

ro
m

 h
ar

m
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
ri

n
g

 t
h

at
 t

h
ei

r 
w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

 is
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
ed

?

T
h

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 s

h
o

w
s 

h
o

w
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 w

e 
ar

e 
d

o
in

g
 a

s 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 s

ee
ks

 t
o

 a
n

sw
er

 t
h

es
e 

q
u

es
ti

o
n

s.
 

S
h

o
rt

ly
 a

ft
er

 t
h

e 
en

d
 o

f 
th

e 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r 
20

16
/1

7 
an

d
 b

ef
o

re
 t

h
e 

p
u

b
lic

at
io

n
 o

f 
th

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 t

h
e 

L
A

 
w

er
e 

in
sp

ec
te

d
 u

n
d

er
 O

fs
te

d
’s

 S
in

g
le

 In
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 
F

ra
m

ew
o

rk
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 w

as
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 
al

o
n

g
si

d
e 

th
e 

in
sp

ec
ti

o
n

.

A
 c

o
p

y 
o

f 
O

fs
te

d
’s

 r
ep

o
rt

, fi
n

d
in

g
s 

an
d

 ju
d

g
m

en
ts

 
is

 a
p

p
en

d
ed

 t
o

 t
h

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 a

s 
an

 e
xt

er
n

al
 

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 w

o
rk

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
p

er
io

d
 

20
16

/1
7 

an
d

 in
to

 2
0

17
/8

.

In
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 w
o

rk
, m

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
re

 p
ro

u
d

 a
n

d
 p

le
as

ed
 w

it
h

 O
fs

te
d

’s
 

“O
u

ts
ta

n
d

in
g

” 
fi

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 t

h
ei

r 
ju

d
g

m
en

t 
th

at
 

o
u

r 
“W

o
rk

in
g

 T
o

g
et

h
er

” 
as

 a
g

en
ci

es
 o

n
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 is

 “
G

o
o

d
”.

T
h

es
e 

fi
n

d
in

g
s,

 w
h

ils
t 

w
el

co
m

e,
 d

o
 n

o
t 

re
d

u
ce

 
o

u
r 

am
b

it
io

n
s 

o
r 

o
u

r 
sh

ar
ed

 c
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 

co
n

ti
n

u
o

u
s 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
so

 t
h

at
 “

ev
er

y 
ch

ild
 is

 
S

af
e,

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 a

n
d

 s
u

cc
es

sf
u

l”
.

F
in

al
ly

 I 
w

o
u

ld
 li

ke
 t

o
 t

h
an

k 
al

l o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 
p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 f
o

r 
th

ei
r 

h
ar

d
 w

o
rk

 a
n

d
 

co
n

ti
n

u
ed

 c
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 m

ak
in

g
 a

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 f

o
r 

M
er

to
n

’s
 c

h
ild

re
n

, y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

.

K
ei

th
 M

ak
in

M
SC

B
 C

ha
ir

Ju
ly

 2
0

17

Page 9



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
7

A
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
o

u
r 

co
m

m
it

m
en

t 
to

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t,

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 t

o
o

k 
th

e 
d

ec
is

io
n

 t
o

 
ex

te
n

d
 t

h
e 

th
re

e 
ke

y 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

ro
m

 2
0

16
-2

0
17

 
to

 r
u

n
 f

ro
m

 2
0

16
-2

0
19

; a
s 

su
ch

, w
e 

ar
e 

h
al

f 
w

ay
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 f
o

u
r-

ye
ar

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e.
 T

h
is

 s
ec

ti
o

n
 is

 a
 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 u

p
d

at
e 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 w
ha

t 
ha

s 
b

ee
n 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 
so

 f
ar

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

an
 in

d
ic

at
io

n
 r

eg
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 

to
 b

e 
d

o
n

e 
in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
e 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

P
la

n
.

2.
1 

Th
in

k 
Fa

m
ily

 –
Su

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 f
am

ili
es

 w
it

h 
p

ar
ti

cu
la

r 
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

ti
es

2.
1.

1 
Fo

r 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 t
o 

co
nt

in
ue

 t
o 

b
e 

as
su

re
d

 
th

at
 t

he
re

 a
re

 r
ob

us
t 

an
d

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 s

tr
at

eg
ie

s,
 

p
ro

ce
d

ur
es

, p
ro

to
co

ls
 in

 p
la

ce
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 
sa

fe
g

ua
rd

in
g

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 c
as

es
 w

he
re

 p
ar

en
ta

l 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h 

is
 a

 s
ig

ni
fi

ca
nt

 f
ac

to
r.

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
an

d
 S

o
u

th
 W

es
t 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
an

d
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h
 N

H
S

 T
ru

st
 h

av
e 

w
o

rk
ed

 t
o

g
et

h
er

 a
ro

u
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
. A

 T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 a
p

p
o

in
te

d
, a

s 
a 

re
su

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 w

o
rk

. P
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ro

le
 o

f 
th

e 
T

h
in

k 
F

am
ily

 C
o

o
rd

in
at

o
r 

is
 t

o
 

en
su

re
 t

h
at

 T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 is

 e
m

b
ed

d
ed

 a
cr

o
ss

 
ch

ild
re

n
’s

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 T
h

is
 w

o
rk

 in
cl

u
d

es
 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

e 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

 P
ro

to
co

l t
o

 
en

su
re

 t
h

at
 t

h
er

e 
is

 c
le

ar
 a

g
re

em
en

t 
b

et
w

ee
n

 
ad

u
lt

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 
C

ar
e 

an
d

 t
h

at
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
re

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

ed
 in

 c
as

es
 

w
h

er
e 

p
ar

en
ta

l m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 is

 a
 f

ac
to

r.

2.
1.

2 
To

 c
on

ti
nu

e 
W

or
k 

W
it

h 
th

e 
VA

W
G

 B
oa

rd
 

to
 r

ev
ie

w
 a

nd
 r

ef
re

sh
 t

he
 D

om
es

ti
c 

A
b

us
e 

(D
A

) 
P

ro
to

co
l t

o 
in

cr
ea

se
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l a

w
ar

en
es

s 
an

d
 c

ap
ac

it
y 

to
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly
 in

te
rv

en
e 

in
 c

as
es

 o
f 

d
om

es
ti

c 
ab

us
e.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 w

o
rk

ed
 c

lo
se

ly
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
V

A
W

G
 

B
o

ar
d

 o
n

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
in

it
ia

ti
ve

s 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 

th
e 

V
A

W
G

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
is

 im
p

le
m

en
te

d
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
 d

et
ai

le
d

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

th
is

 
w

o
rk

 is
 in

cl
u

d
ed

 in
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 7
 o

f 
th

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 w

h
ic

h
 

o
u

tl
in

es
 t

h
e 

ke
y 

ac
h

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 o

f 
th

e 
V

A
W

G
 

B
o

ar
d

 in
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
. A

 t
as

k 
an

d
 fi

n
is

h
 g

ro
u

p
 h

as
 

b
ee

n
 e

st
ab

lis
h

ed
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p

 a
 D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
u

se
 

P
ro

to
co

l. 
T

h
is

 g
ro

u
p

 w
ill

 m
ee

t 
in

 t
h

e 
au

tu
m

n
 o

f 
20

17
 a

n
d

 p
re

se
n

t 
a 

p
ro

to
co

l f
o

r 
ap

p
ro

va
l b

y 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 in

 e
ar

ly
 2

0
18

.

2.
0

P
ro

g
re

ss
 o

f 
M

SC
B

 B
us

in
es

s 
P

la
n 

20
16

–1
7 

2.
1.

3 
Th

e 
B

oa
rd

 w
ill

 r
ev

ie
w

 it
s 

g
ui

d
an

ce
 t

o 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
ls

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 p
ar

en
ta

l s
ub

st
an

ce
 

m
is

us
e.

T
h

e 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 G
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 p

ar
en

ta
l 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
 is

 in
 p

ro
g

re
ss

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
w

o
rk

 
o

f 
th

e 
T

h
in

k 
F

am
ily

 C
o

o
rd

in
at

o
r 

an
d

 t
h

e 
P

o
lic

y 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

. I
t 

is
 e

xp
ec

te
d

 t
h

at
 a

 s
u

it
e 

o
f 

T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 P

ro
to

co
ls

, i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 p

ar
en

ta
l s

u
b

st
an

ce
 

m
is

u
se

, w
ill

 b
e 

p
re

se
n

te
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 f

o
r 

ap
p

ro
va

l b
y 

th
e 

3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

18
.

2.
1.

4
 M

er
to

n 
Sa

fe
g

ua
rd

in
g

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
B

oa
rd

, 
(M

SC
B

),
 is

 c
om

m
it

te
d

 t
o 

re
d

uc
in

g
 t

he
 in

ci
d

en
ce

 
of

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
 n

eg
le

ct
 w

it
hi

n 
th

e 
b

or
ou

g
h.

 T
hi

s 
is

 
a 

ke
y 

p
ri

or
it

y 
fo

r 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

.

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 u
nd

er
to

o
k 

a 
b

as
el

in
e 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 a

ud
it

 
o

f 
n

eg
le

ct
 c

as
es

 in
 2

0
15

-2
0

16
. A

 f
o

llo
w

-u
p

 a
u

d
it

 
o

f 
n

eg
le

ct
 c

as
es

 w
ill

 t
ak

e 
p

la
ce

 in
 e

ar
ly

 a
u

tu
m

n
 

20
17

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

N
eg

le
ct

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d
 a

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 b

ri
efi

n
g

 p
ac

k 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

b
le

 t
o

 p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

an
d

 t
h

ei
r 

m
an

ag
er

s.
 In

 
20

16
-2

0
17

 w
e 

sa
w

 a
n

 in
cr

ea
se

 o
f 

n
ea

rl
y 

10
%

 in
 

n
eg

le
ct

 c
as

es
 w

h
ic

h
 in

d
ic

at
es

 t
h

at
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 
re

co
g

n
it

io
n

 a
n

d
 id

en
ti

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 o

f 
n

eg
le

ct
 is

 
im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 s
ys

te
m

.

2.
1.

5 
Th

e 
M

SC
B

 is
 a

ss
ur

ed
 t

ha
t 

th
e 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

Fe
m

al
e 

G
en

it
al

 M
ut

ila
ti

on
 (

F
G

M
) 

St
ra

te
g

y 
is

 
b

ei
ng

 im
p

le
m

en
te

d
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

p
le

 a
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

F
G

M
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

nd
 s

up
p

or
te

d
.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

G
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 F

em
al

e 
G

en
it

al
 M

u
ti

la
ti

o
n

 (
F

G
M

) 
an

d
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
b

ri
efi

n
g

s 
an

d
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
o

n
 F

G
M

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

ls
o

 p
re

p
ar

ed
 a

n
 F

G
M

 
le

afl
et

 w
h

ic
h

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 m

ad
e 

av
ai

la
b

le
 t

o
 p

ar
en

ts
 

an
d

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

b
o

th
 o

n
lin

e 
an

d
 in

 p
ri

n
t.

 T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

ls
o

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 ‘r

ed
 a

le
rt

’ b
ri

efi
n

g
s 

to
 M

er
to

n
 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 a

ro
u

n
d

 E
as

te
r 

an
d

 S
u

m
m

er
 h

o
lid

ay
s,

 
w

h
ic

h
 h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 id

en
ti

fi
ed

 a
s 

ke
y 

ri
sk

 p
er

io
d

s 
fo

r 
F

G
M

 d
u

e 
to

 t
h

e 
le

n
g

th
 o

f 
th

e 
h

o
lid

ay
 p

er
io

d
.

2.
1.

6 
To

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

p
le

 
co

nt
in

ue
 t

o 
b

e 
p

ro
te

ct
ed

 f
ro

m
 r

ad
ic

al
is

at
io

n 
an

d
 

vi
ol

en
t 

ex
tr

em
is

m
.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

g
u

id
an

ce
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 t
o

 t
h

e 
m

es
sa

g
es

 o
f 

ra
d

ic
al

is
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 v

io
le

n
t 

ex
tr

em
is

m
. M

er
to

n
 h

as
 a

 
th

ri
vi

n
g

 m
u

lt
i-

cu
lt

u
ra

l a
n

d
 m

u
lt

i-
fa

it
h

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y.

 
T

h
e 

g
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 p

re
ve

n
ti

n
g

 r
ad

ic
al

is
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 

vi
o

le
n

t 
ex

tr
em

is
m

 is
 n

o
t 

ai
m

ed
 a

t 
an

y 
p

ar
ti

cu
la

r 
fa

it
h

, c
u

lt
u

ra
l o

r 
p

o
lit

ic
al

 g
ro

u
p

. W
e 

re
co

g
n

is
e 

th
at

 
ex

tr
em

is
m

 t
ak

es
 m

an
y 

fo
rm

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 f

ar
 r

ig
h

t 
ex

tr
em

is
ts

, l
ef

t 
w

in
g

 e
xt

re
m

is
t 

g
ro

u
p

s,
 e

xt
re

m
is

t 
an

im
al

 r
ig

h
ts

 g
ro

u
p

s 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

o
th

er
 t

er
ro

ri
st

 
g

ro
u

p
s.

 T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 P
ro

m
o

te
 P

ro
te

ct
 Y

o
u

n
g

 
P

eo
p

le
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 (
P

P
Y

P
S

) 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 w
o

rk
s 

w
it

h
 

S
af

er
 M

er
to

n
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

is
 s

tr
o

n
g

 g
ri

p
 

an
d

 c
le

ar
 o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
al

l p
re

ve
n

t 
ca

se
s 

in
vo

lv
in

g
 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

.

2.
1.

7 
Fo

r 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 t
o 

co
nt

in
ue

 t
o 

se
ek

 
as

su
ra

nc
e 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 t
he

 q
ua

lit
y 

of
 f

ro
nt

lin
e 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

em
ed

 m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 a

ud
it

s.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
th

em
ed

 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 a
u

d
it

s.
 D

u
ri

n
g

 2
0

16
-2

0
17

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

u
n

d
er

to
o

k 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 a
u

d
it

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 

th
em

es
:

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 D
is

ab
ili

ti
es

 a
n

d
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 
N

ee
d

s

 
■

C
h

ild
 S

ex
u

al
 A

b
u

se
 C

as
es

 a
n

d
 T

h
re

sh
o

ld
 

D
ec

is
io

n
s 

w
h

er
e 

S
ex

u
al

 A
b

u
se

 is
 a

 F
ac

to
r

 
■

D
o

m
es

ti
c 

V
io

le
n

ce
 (

th
is

 a
u

d
it

 t
o

o
k 

th
e 

fo
rm

 
o

f 
a 

liv
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 e

ve
n

t 
in

vo
lv

in
g

 m
u

lt
i-

 
ag

en
cy

 p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

an
d

 m
an

ag
er

s 
in

 t
w

o
 

d
o

m
es

ti
c 

vi
o

le
n

ce
 c

as
es

).

T
h

e 
le

ar
n

in
g

 f
ro

m
 e

ac
h

 o
f 

th
es

e 
au

d
it

s 
is

 
d

is
cu

ss
ed

 a
t 

a 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
; f

ro
m

 t
h

es
e 

d
is

cu
ss

io
n

s 
a 

vi
ew

 is
 t

ak
en

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

an
d

 
eff

ec
ti

ve
n

es
s 

o
f 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

ra
ct

ic
e.

 In
 e

ac
h

 
au

d
it

 w
e 

as
k 

ea
ch

 a
u

d
it

o
r 

to
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
:

 
■

H
o

w
 w

el
l h

av
e 

ag
en

ci
es

 w
o

rk
ed

 t
o

 e
n

g
ag

e 
d

iffi
cu

lt
 p

ar
en

ts
?

 
■

H
o

w
 d

o
 a

g
en

ci
es

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

e 
an

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 p

ar
en

ts
 w

it
h

 le
ar

n
in

g
 

d
iffi

cu
lt

ie
s?

 
■

H
o

w
 a

re
 w

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

in
g

 p
ar

en
ts

 a
ro

u
n

d
 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
?

 
■

H
o

w
 is

 t
h

e 
te

am
 a

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e 
ch

ild
 k

ee
p

in
g

 
th

e 
fo

cu
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

e 
ch

ild
 a

n
d

 n
o

t 
al

lo
w

in
g

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

e 
p

ar
en

ts
 t

o
 d

et
ra

ct
 

fr
o

m
 t

h
is

 t
as

k?

 
■

W
h

at
 is

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

ca
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

?

 
■

W
er

e 
th

er
e 

an
y 

g
ap

s 
o

r 
d

el
ay

s 
in

 c
as

e 
w

o
rk

 
an

d
 if

 s
o

 w
h

at
 im

p
ac

t 
d

id
 t

h
is

 h
av

e 
o

n
 o

u
r 

w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 t
h

is
 f

am
ily

?

T
h

e 
fi

n
d

in
g

s 
o

f 
ea

ch
 a

u
d

it
 a

re
 t

h
en

 g
at

h
er

ed
 

in
to

 a
 k

ey
 le

ar
n

in
g

 r
ep

o
rt

 w
h

ic
h

 m
ak

es
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

ra
ct

ic
e.

 T
h

es
e 

ar
e 

th
en

 
sh

ar
ed

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 le

ad
s 

in
 e

ac
h

 a
g

en
cy

; 
w

h
o

 t
h

en
 s

h
ar

es
 t

h
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
ea

m
 m

an
ag

er
s 

an
d

 f
ro

n
tl

in
e 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s.

 T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 a

ls
o

 

Page 10



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
8

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
9

p
ro

vi
d

es
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

b
ri

efi
n

g
s 

w
h

ic
h

 h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 t
h

e 
th

em
es

 a
n

d
 k

ey
 le

ar
n

in
g

 c
o

m
in

g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 a

u
d

it
s.

 L
ea

rn
in

g
 f

ro
m

 a
u

d
it

s 
is

 a
ls

o
 s

h
ar

ed
 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

L
ea

rn
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 

an
d

 is
 u

se
d

 t
o

 in
fo

rm
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 t

ra
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 

co
n

ti
n

u
ed

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o

ff
er

.

2.
1.

8
 T

o 
ex

p
lo

re
 t

he
 u

se
 a

nd
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n 

of
 S

ig
ns

 
of

 S
af

et
y 

an
d

 S
ig

ns
 o

f 
w

el
l-

b
ei

ng
 a

cr
os

s 
p

ar
tn

er
 

ag
en

ci
es

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
of

 t
he

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

M
er

to
n 

W
el

l-
B

ei
ng

 M
od

el
.

T
h

e 
S

ig
n

s 
o

f 
S

af
et

y 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 is
 b

ei
n

g
 e

m
b

ed
d

ed
 

in
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

w
it

h
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

b
ei

n
g

 
tr

ai
n

ed
 in

 t
h

e 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

. I
n

 o
rd

er
 t

o
 e

st
ab

lis
h

 c
le

ar
 

g
o

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 f

o
r 

th
e 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 

ro
ll 

o
u

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 a
 t

as
k 

an
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 s
et

 u
p

 in
 o

rd
er

 t
o

 a
g

re
e 

th
e 

te
rm

s 
o

f 
re

fe
re

n
ce

, g
o

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 a

n
d

 a
 p

ro
je

ct
 

p
la

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

. I
t 

is
 e

xp
ec

te
d

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
th

e 
ta

sk
 a

n
d

 fi
n

is
h

 
g

ro
u

p
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
18

.

2.
2 

Su
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 V

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

2.
2.

1 
St

ra
te

g
ic

 o
ve

rs
ig

ht
 o

f 
C

SE

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 w
o

rk
s 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 t

he
re

 is
 r

o
b

us
t 

g
ri

p
 

an
d

 c
o

ns
p

ic
uo

us
 o

ve
rs

ig
ht

 o
f 

al
l y

o
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

 a
nd

 t
o

 im
p

ro
ve

 t
he

 id
en

ti
fic

at
io

n 
an

d
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 o

f 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

 w
ho

 a
re

 v
ic

ti
m

s 
o

f 
C

S
E

. 
T

he
 B

o
ar

d
’s

 w
o

rk
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 C
S

E
 is

 c
ov

er
ed

 in
 

d
et

ai
l u

nd
er

 S
ec

ti
o

n 
4

.3
 in

 t
hi

s 
re

p
o

rt
.

2.
2.

2 
C

on
te

xt
ua

l S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
 a

nd
 Y

ou
ng

 
p

eo
p

le
 a

t 
ri

sk
 f

ro
m

 g
an

g
 a

nd
 s

er
io

us
 y

ou
th

 
vi

ol
en

ce
.

T
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

P
P

Y
P

S
, t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 m
ai

n
ta

in
s 

an
 o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
g

an
g

s 
an

d
 s

er
io

u
s 

yo
u

th
 v

io
le

n
ce

. 
A

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
is

 w
o

rk
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 p
ar

tn
er

ed
 w

it
h

 

T
h

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 o

f 
M

er
to

n
 is

 p
ar

t 
an

 
in

n
o

va
ti

o
n

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 o

f 
H

ac
kn

ey
 w

o
rk

in
g

 o
n

 t
h

e 
is

su
e 

o
f 

C
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
. T

h
is

 is
 a

n
 e

xc
it

in
g

 
n

ew
 p

ro
je

ct
, f

u
n

d
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

fo
r 

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 In

n
o

va
ti

o
n

 F
u

n
d

, w
h

ic
h

 w
ill

 r
u

n
 

fo
r 

tw
o

 y
ea

rs
. T

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
is

 p
ro

je
ct

 H
ac

kn
ey

 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

o
rk

in
g

 c
lo

se
ly

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

co
n

te
xt

u
al

 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 n

et
w

o
rk

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
th

e 
p

ro
je

ct
 

to
 s

h
ar

e 
le

ar
n

in
g

 w
it

h
 n

et
w

o
rk

 m
em

b
er

s.
 F

o
r 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
th

e 
C

o
n

te
xt

u
al

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
n

et
w

o
rk

, t
h

e 
p

ro
je

ct
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

ex
ce

lle
n

t 
le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 in

si
g

h
t 

in
to

 c
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

in
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

an
d

 lo
ca

l a
u

th
o

ri
ti

es
 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

co
u

n
tr

y.
 

C
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

ro
m

o
te

s 
th

e 
id

ea
 

th
at

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 b
eh

av
io

u
rs

, l
ev

el
s 

o
f 

vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 le

ve
ls

 o
f 

re
si

lie
n

ce
 a

re
 a

ll 
in

fo
rm

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
so

ci
al

/p
u

b
lic

, a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

p
ri

va
te

, 
co

n
te

xt
s 

in
 w

h
ic

h
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 s
p

en
d

 t
h

ei
r 

ti
m

e.
 D

ra
w

in
g

 u
p

o
n

 r
es

ea
rc

h
 in

to
 a

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 it
 r

ec
o

g
n

is
es

 t
h

at
 a

s 
ch

ild
re

n
 

g
ro

w
 t

h
ey

 s
p

en
d

 in
cr

ea
si

n
g

 a
m

o
u

n
ts

 o
f 

ti
m

e 
so

ci
al

is
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
ee

rs
, a

t 
sc

h
o

o
l a

n
d

 in
 p

u
b

lic
 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

ts
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
o

f 
p

ar
en

ta
l/

ca
re

r 
su

p
er

vi
si

o
n

. W
h

en
 s

p
en

d
in

g
 t

im
e 

in
 

th
es

e 
ex

tr
a-

fa
m

ili
al

 c
o

n
te

xt
s 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 
m

ay
 b

e 
ex

p
o

se
d

 t
o

 h
ea

lt
hy

 n
o

rm
s 

w
h

ic
h

 
p

ro
m

o
te

 p
ro

-s
o

ci
al

 r
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
s 

o
r 

th
ey

 m
ay

 
en

co
u

n
te

r 
h

ar
m

fu
l n

o
rm

s 
th

at
 a

re
 c

o
n

d
u

ci
ve

 

to
 a

b
u

si
ve

 a
n

d
 e

xp
lo

it
at

iv
e 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s.

 A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 lo
ca

l r
es

p
o

n
se

s 
n

ee
d

 t
o

 id
en

ti
fy

, a
ss

es
s,

 
an

d
 in

te
rv

en
e 

in
 a

ll 
o

f 
th

e 
so

ci
al

 e
nv

ir
o

n
m

en
ts

 
w

h
er

e 
th

e 
ab

u
se

 a
n

d
 e

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 o

cc
u

rs
 –

 in
 e

ss
en

ce
 t

o
 t

ak
e 

a 
‘c

o
n

te
xt

u
al

’ 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 t
o

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

.1

T
h

e 
C

o
n

te
xt

u
al

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 r
ec

o
g

n
is

es
 

th
at

 t
h

er
e 

ar
e 

a 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

sh
ar

e 
ca

te
g

o
ri

es
 o

f 
ad

o
le

sc
en

t 
ri

sk
 a

n
d

/o
r 

h
ar

m
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
:

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 g

o
in

g
 m

is
si

n
g

 
fr

o
m

 h
o

m
e,

 s
ch

o
o

l a
n

d
 c

ar
e

 
■

R
ad

ic
al

is
at

io
n

 
■

H
ar

m
fu

l s
ex

u
al

 b
eh

av
io

u
r

 
■

Te
en

ag
e 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
 a

b
u

se

 
■

G
an

g
s

 
■

S
er

io
u

s 
yo

u
th

 v
io

le
n

ce

 
■

O
n

lin
e 

ri
sk

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 g

ro
o

m
in

g
 f

o
r 

se
xu

al
, 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 o

r 
o

th
er

 f
o

rm
s 

o
f 

ex
p

lo
it

at
io

n
.

2.
2.

3 
Li

st
en

in
g

 t
o 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 Y

ou
ng

 P
eo

p
le

H
ea

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

vo
ic

e 
an

d
 r

efl
ec

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

vi
ew

s 
o

f 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 is

 a
 c

o
re

 v
al

u
e 

o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
es

 t
o

 s
ee

k 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
’s

 v
o

ic
es

 a
n

d
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
s 

ar
e 

h
ea

rd
 a

n
d

 
re

fl
ec

te
d

 in
 it

s 
w

o
rk

. A
 d

et
ai

le
d

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

th
e 

w
o

rk
 r

el
at

ed
 t

o
 li

st
en

in
g

 t
o

, r
efl

ec
ti

n
g

 a
n

d
 a

ct
in

g
 

u
p

o
n

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 v
o

ic
e 

an
d

 v
ie

w
s 

is
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 
in

 s
ec

ti
o

n
 1

0
 o

f 
th

is
 r

ep
o

rt
.

2.
3 

E
ns

ur
in

g
 t

he
 E

ff
ec

ti
ve

ne
ss

 E
ar

ly
 H

el
p

2.
3.

1 
F

in
al

is
e 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

, 
Yo

un
g

 P
er

so
n 

an
d

 F
am

ily
 W

el
l B

ei
ng

 M
od

el
. A

n 
ov

er
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

’s
 a

ct
io

ns
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

of
 t

hi
s 

re
vi

ew
 is

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 in

 d
et

ai
l u

nd
er

 s
ec

ti
on

 3
 o

f 
th

is
 r

ep
or

t.

2.
3.

2 
Th

e 
B

oa
rd

 w
ill

 o
ve

rs
ee

 t
he

 im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
on

 
of

 o
ur

 M
A

SH
 A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n.

T
h

e 
M

A
S

H
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

 is
 o

ve
rs

ee
n

 b
y 

th
e 

M
A

S
H

 
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 B
o

ar
d

 w
h

ic
h

 r
ep

o
rt

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
. T

h
e 

M
A

S
H

 A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 is

 b
ei

n
g

 im
p

le
m

en
te

d
 a

n
d

 w
e 

ar
e 

b
eg

in
n

in
g

 t
o

 s
ee

 im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 in

 s
er

vi
ce

 
d

el
iv

er
y 

an
d

 p
ar

tn
er

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
as

 a
 r

es
u

lt
 o

f 
th

es
e 

ch
an

g
es

.

2.
3.

3 
Th

e 
B

oa
rd

 w
ill

 o
ve

rs
ee

 t
he

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

off
er

 in
 e

ar
ly

 h
el

p
.

T
h

e 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

th
e 

ea
rl

y 
h

el
p

 s
er

vi
ce

 o
ff

er
 w

as
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
e 

w
id

er
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

, Y
o

u
n

g
 

P
er

so
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ily

 W
el

l B
ei

n
g

 M
o

d
el

. E
ar

ly
 h

el
p

 
is

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 a

t 
d

iff
er

en
t 

le
ve

ls
 o

f 
o

u
r 

lo
n

g
st

an
d

in
g

 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

 W
el

l-
B

ei
n

g
 M

o
d

el
 

d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 w
it

h
 o

u
r 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 B
o

ar
d

 a
n

d
 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 T
ru

st
 p

ar
tn

er
s.

 

In
 M

er
to

n 
w

e 
us

e 
th

e 
C

4
E

O
 d

efi
ni

ti
o

n 
o

f 
E

ar
ly

 H
el

p
: 

In
te

rv
en

in
g

 e
ar

ly
 a

n
d

 a
s 

so
o

n
 a

s 
p

o
ss

ib
le

 t
o

 
ta

ck
le

 e
m

er
g

in
g

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

, y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 a
n

d
 f

am
ili

es
…

.e
ar

ly
 h

el
p

 c
an

 t
ak

e 
p

la
ce

 
ea

rl
y 

in
 a

 c
h

ild
’s

 li
fe

 o
r 

ea
rl

y 
in

 t
h

e 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o

f 
a 

p
ro

b
le

m
…

.e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 e

ar
ly

 h
el

p
 p

re
ve

n
ts

 
es

ca
la

ti
o

n
 o

f 
n

ee
d

 a
n

d
 r

ed
u

ce
s 

se
ve

ri
ty

 o
f 

p
ro

b
le

m
s…

ea
rl

y 
h

el
p

 c
an

 b
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 t

o
 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

 f
am

ili
es

, p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 g

ro
u

p
s 

o
r 

w
h

o
le

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

s 
(C

4
E

O
 2

0
12

).
2

T
hi

s 
ap

p
ro

ac
h 

ai
m

s 
to

 e
na

b
le

 a
nd

 e
m

p
ow

er
 fa

m
ili

es
, 

re
d

uc
in

g
 a

n 
es

ca
la

tio
n 

o
f 

ne
ed

. M
er

to
n’

s 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
Tr

us
t 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 d
el

iv
er

s,
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

ns
 a

nd
 b

ro
ke

rs
 

ea
rly

 h
el

p
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
se

ct
o

r, 
sc

ho
o

ls
, P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lth
, M

er
to

n 
C

C
G

, S
af

er
 M

er
to

n,
 

th
e 

co
un

ci
l a

nd
 o

th
er

 k
ey

 p
ar

tn
er

s.
 

1  
W

h
at

 is
 C

o
n

te
xt

u
al

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

, C
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

N
et

w
o

rk
, 2

0
17

, h
tt

p
s:

//
co

n
te

xt
u

al
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
.o

rg
.u

k/
ab

o
u

t/
w

h
at

-i
s-

co
n

te
xt

u
al

-s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

2  
E

ar
ly

 in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 p
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 in

 t
h

e 
co

n
te

xt
 o

f 
in

te
g

ra
te

d
 s

er
vi

ce
s:

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 f

ro
m

 C
4

E
O

 a
n

d
 N

ar
ro

w
in

g
 

th
e 

G
ap

 r
ev

ie
w

s,
 C

en
tr

e 
fo

r 
E

xc
el

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 O
u

tc
o

m
es

 in
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
’s

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
(C

4
E

O
 2

0
12

)

Page 11



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
10

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
11

T
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

 W
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 

M
o

d
el

 (
M

C
Y

W
B

M
) 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 in

 p
la

ce
 s

in
ce

 2
0

13
. 

T
h

e 
M

o
d

el
 is

 o
w

n
 b

y 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s.
 T

h
er

e 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 a

 n
u

m
b

er
 

o
f 

d
em

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

, fi
n

an
ci

al
 a

n
d

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
al

 
ch

an
g

es
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

la
st

 4
 y

ea
rs

 t
h

at
 m

ea
n

t 
th

at
 a

 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

th
e 

m
o

d
el

 w
as

 t
im

el
y 

an
d

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
.

T
h

e 
ke

y 
ch

al
le

n
g

es
 in

cl
u

d
e:

 
■

D
em

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

 g
ro

w
th

 a
n

d
 c

h
an

g
es

 in
 

M
er

to
n

’s
 lo

ca
l p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

 
■

O
rg

an
is

at
io

n
al

 c
h

an
g

es
 in

 a
g

en
ci

es
 s

u
ch

 
as

 t
h

e 
M

et
ro

p
o

lit
an

 P
o

lic
e 

S
er

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 

ch
an

g
es

 in
 H

ea
lt

h
 s

er
vi

ce
s

 
■

In
cr

ea
si

n
g

 n
u

m
b

er
s 

o
f 

F
re

e 
S

ch
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 

A
ca

d
em

ie
s

 
■

In
cr

ea
si

n
g

 d
em

an
d

 o
n

 lo
ca

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

 t
h

e 
co

n
te

xt
 o

f 
co

n
tr

ac
ti

n
g

 b
u

d
g

et
s.

T
h

e 
d

ri
ve

rs
 f

o
r 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

e 
m

o
d

el
 in

cl
u

d
e 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 m

ax
im

is
e 

th
e 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 b

et
w

ee
n

 p
ar

tn
er

s,
 t

h
is

 in
cl

u
d

es
 a

 
sh

ar
ed

 a
 u

n
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 o
f 

o
u

r 
va

ry
in

g
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ti
es

 a
n

d
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
s 

fo
r 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
; 

al
so

, t
h

e 
n

ee
d

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
b

et
te

r 
to

o
ls

 a
n

d
 s

h
ar

ed
 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
es

 f
o

r 
im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 t

h
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
o

f 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
to

 e
n

g
ag

e 
in

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s 
w

it
h

 f
am

ili
es

. I
t 

is
 a

ls
o

 e
ss

en
ti

al
 t

h
at

 w
e 

ar
e 

ab
le

 
to

 w
o

rk
 t

o
g

et
h

er
 t

o
 m

ak
e 

th
e 

ve
ry

 b
es

t 
u

se
 o

f 
o

u
r 

co
lle

ct
iv

e 
re

so
u

rc
es

 t
o

 d
el

iv
er

 o
u

r 
co

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

ag
en

d
a,

 in
cl

u
d

in
g

 o
u

r 
h

ig
h

es
t 

am
b

it
io

n
s 

fo
r 

o
u

r 
ch

ild
re

n
, t

h
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
n

d
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
w

h
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

em
.

3
.0

E
ar

ly
 H

el
p

: T
he

 R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

M
er

to
n 

C
hi

ld
, Y

o
un

g
 P

er
so

n 
an

d
 

Fa
m

ily
 W

el
l-

b
ei

ng
 M

o
d

el
 

T
h

e 
M

C
Y

W
B

M
 t

as
k 

an
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 m
et

 t
h

re
e 

ti
m

es
. T

h
e 

ta
sk

 a
n

d
 fi

n
is

h
 g

ro
u

p
 c

o
n

si
st

ed
 o

f 
a 

b
ro

ad
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
:

– 
A

d
u

lt
 M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

 

– 
A

d
u

lt
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

– 
C

en
tr

al
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h
 C

ar
e 

– 
C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h
 

– 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

– 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 

– 
E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs

– 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 (
P

ri
m

ar
y,

 S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
an

d
 S

p
ec

ia
l 

S
ch

o
o

ls
)

– 
M

er
to

n
 C

lin
ic

al
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 G

ro
u

p

– 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

– 
M

er
to

n
 M

A
S

H
 a

n
d

 F
ir

st
 R

es
p

o
n

se

– 
M

er
to

n
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
 

– 
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 

– 
M

er
to

n
 Y

o
u

th
 In

cl
u

si
o

n
 

– 
S

af
er

 M
er

to
n

– 
T

h
e 

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e 
S

er
vi

ce
 (

M
P

S
) 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 C
o

m
m

an
d

– 
T

h
e 

M
P

S
 C

h
ild

 A
b

u
se

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n
 T

ea
m

 

– 
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 O

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s 
(i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 M
er

to
n

 
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 S

er
vi

ce
 C

o
u

n
ci

l)

M
er

to
n

’s
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
 e

ar
ly

 h
el

p
 o

ff
er

 in
cl

u
d

es
 

st
ro

n
g

 lo
ca

l p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
b

et
w

ee
n

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 e

ar
ly

 y
ea

r’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

. O
u

r 
ea

rl
y 

ye
ar

s 
se

ct
o

r 
in

cl
u

d
e 

10
0

%
 g

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 o
u

ts
ta

n
d

in
g

 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 C

en
tr

es
 a

n
d

 9
7%

 g
o

o
d

 a
n

d
 o

u
ts

ta
n

d
in

g
 

P
ri

va
te

 V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 a
n

d
 In

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

n
u

rs
er

ie
s.

 O
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

h
ea

lt
h

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

er
e 

re
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 

in
 2

0
16

 s
tr

en
g

th
en

in
g

 t
h

e 
u

n
iv

er
sa

l s
er

vi
ce

 o
ff

er
 

an
d

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
m

o
re

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
. O

u
r 

tr
an

sf
o

rm
at

iv
e 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 

d
el

iv
er

ed
 c

h
an

g
es

 in
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

re
co

n
fi

g
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 C
en

tr
es

 o
ff

er
 a

n
d

 
th

e 
co

-l
o

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

H
ea

lt
h

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
st

aff
 in

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 c

en
tr

es
 t

o
 e

n
ab

le
 b

et
te

r 
co

lla
b

o
ra

ti
ve

 w
o

rk
in

g
. W

e 
h

av
e 

ta
rg

et
ed

 t
h

e 
ta

ke
-

u
p

 o
f 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 C
en

tr
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
o

 f
am

ili
es

 f
ro

m
 

d
ep

ri
ve

d
 a

re
as

 in
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
n

d
 h

av
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 
o

u
r 

u
n

d
er

 5
s 

w
o

rk
 b

et
w

ee
n

 h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 

ce
n

tr
es

 t
o

 s
ec

u
re

 b
et

te
r 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

, h
ea

lt
h

 
an

d
 w

id
er

 o
u

tc
o

m
es

 f
o

r 
u

n
d

er
-fi

ve
s,

 in
cl

u
d

in
g

 
re

d
es

ig
n

in
g

 p
at

hw
ay

s 
an

d
 s

p
ec

ia
lis

t 
h

ea
lt

h
 

p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 a
n

d
 t

o
 f

u
n

d
 p

er
in

at
al

 a
d

u
lt

 m
en

ta
l 

h
ea

lt
h

 d
ir

ec
t 

w
o

rk
. 1

0
0

%
 o

f 
al

l c
h

ild
re

n
 w

h
o

 a
re

 
in

 r
ec

ei
p

t 
o

f 
fr

ee
 2

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 a

re
 p

la
ce

d
 

in
 g

o
o

d
 o

r 
o

u
ts

ta
n

d
in

g
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
. C

o
m

m
o

n
 A

n
d

 
S

h
ar

ed
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
w

o
rk

 u
n

d
er

ta
ke

n
 in

 o
u

r 
E

ar
ly

 
Y

ea
rs

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 F
am

ili
es

 S
er

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

 

C
en

tr
es

 is
 o

ve
rs

ee
n

 b
y 

a 
q

u
al

ifi
ed

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
 

Te
am

 M
an

ag
er

, b
ri

n
g

in
g

 a
d

d
it

io
n

al
 v

al
u

e 
an

d
 

ri
sk

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

to
 p

re
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
 

ca
se

w
o

rk
. B

o
th

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
r’

s 
se

tt
in

g
s 

an
d

 S
ch

o
o

ls
 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 w

it
h

 a
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

g
u

id
an

ce
 a

n
d

 a
u

d
it

 t
o

o
l w

h
ic

h
 is

 in
 g

o
o

d
 u

se
 

ac
ro

ss
 a

ll 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

an
d

 s
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
ls

. 

2.
3.

4
 T

he
 M

SC
B

’s
 E

sc
al

at
io

n 
P

ro
to

co
l

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

p
p

ro
ve

d
 a

n
 e

sc
al

at
io

n
 p

ro
to

co
l 

so
 t

h
at

 a
ll 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
sy

st
em

 h
av

e 
a 

cl
ea

r 
fr

am
ew

o
rk

 f
o

r 
re

so
lv

in
g

 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 d
iff

er
en

ce
s 

in
 a

 t
im

el
y 

w
ay

 s
o

 t
h

at
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
re

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
ly

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

ed
.

Page 12



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
12

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
13

O
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
ke

y 
th

em
es

 h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o

u
t 

th
es

e 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 w
er

e 
th

e 
in

cr
ea

si
n

g
 d

em
an

d
 a

n
d

 
p

re
ss

u
re

 o
n

 lo
ca

l s
er

vi
ce

s.
 F

o
r 

ex
am

p
le

 in
 M

A
S

H
 

an
d

 F
ir

st
 R

es
p

o
n

se
 T

ea
m

s,
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e:

 
■

56
6

2 
in

it
ia

l c
o

n
ta

ct
s 

in
 M

er
to

n

 
■

15
0

7 
re

fe
rr

al
s 

(2
7%

 o
f 

in
it

ia
l c

o
n

ta
ct

s)

 
■

13
11

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 (
8

7%
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

al
s)

 
■

R
es

u
lt

in
g

 in
 2

0
4

 n
ew

 C
h

ild
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

s 
an

d

 
■

12
8

 n
ew

 e
p

is
o

d
es

 o
f 

ca
re

.

A
n

o
th

er
 t

h
em

e 
w

as
 d

em
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
 c

h
an

g
es

 in
 t

h
e 

lo
ca

l p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

. F
o

r 
ex

am
p

le
, i

t 
w

as
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

at
 8

%
 o

f 
th

e 
ch

ild
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
, t

h
at

 is
, c

h
ild

re
n

 
an

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 u
n

d
er

 1
8

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 in
 M

er
to

n
 

(a
p

p
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
4

7,
4

9
9

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
) 

h
av

e 
h

ad
 

an
 in

it
ia

l c
o

n
ta

ct
 m

ad
e 

ab
o

u
t 

th
em

. M
er

to
n

 
h

as
 a

n
 E

as
t 

W
es

t 
d

iv
id

e 
in

 t
er

m
s 

o
f 

th
e 

in
d

ic
es

 
o

f 
d

ep
ri

va
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 5

 s
u

p
er

 o
u

tp
u

t 
ar

ea
s.

 T
h

e 
ch

ild
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 (

p
u

p
ils

 in
 M

er
to

n
 S

ch
o

o
ls

) 
is

 
ap

p
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
6

7%
 B

A
M

E
; t

h
is

 is
 h

ig
h

er
 t

h
an

 
M

er
to

n
’s

 a
d

u
lt

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 n

at
io

n
al

 a
ve

ra
g

es
. 

T
h

e 
to

p
 3

 n
o

n
-E

n
g

lis
h

 la
n

g
u

ag
es

 s
p

o
ke

 in
 M

er
to

n
 

ar
e 

Ta
m

il,
 P

o
lis

h
 a

n
d

 U
rd

u
.

It
 w

as
 n

o
te

d
 t

h
at

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
w

o
rk

s 
w

it
h

 8
0

0
 c

h
ild

re
n

 f
ro

m
 4

0
0

 f
am

ili
es

. T
h

er
e 

ar
e 

35
0

 C
h

ild
 in

 N
ee

d
 c

as
es

 (
10

0
 o

f 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 
w

it
h

 d
is

ab
ili

ti
es

 w
h

o
se

 s
it

u
at

io
n

s 
ar

e 
m

o
st

ly
 fi

xe
d

; 
50

 o
f 

th
es

e 
ca

se
s 

ar
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
it

h
 n

o
 r

ec
o

u
rs

e 
to

 
p

u
b

lic
 f

u
n

d
s)

. 1
0

0
 f

am
ili

es
 h

av
e 

a 
C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
P

la
n

. C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e’
s 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
m

ea
n

s 
th

at
 

th
ey

 c
an

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 6
6

 f
am

ili
es

 a
t 

a 
g

iv
en

 t
im

e.
 It

 
w

as
 n

o
te

d
 T

ra
n

sf
o

rm
in

g
 F

am
ili

es
 w

o
rk

s 
w

it
h

 6
0

 
fa

m
ili

es
 –

 h
o

w
ev

er
, f

u
n

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
is

 s
er

vi
ce

 is
 b

ei
n

g
 

re
d

u
ce

d
 b

y 
th

e 
g

o
ve

rn
m

en
t.

 T
h

is
 h

ig
h

lig
h

ts
 t

h
e 

fa
ct

 t
h

at
 M

er
to

n
’s

 s
o

ci
al

 c
ar

e 
sy

st
em

 is
 r

el
at

iv
el

y 
sm

al
l a

s 
a 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

w
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 im

p
ro

ve
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 e
ar

ly
 h

el
p

 a
n

d
 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 s

o
 t

h
at

 le
ve

ls
 o

f 
n

ee
d

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

ce
rn

s 
re

g
ar

d
in

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 w

el
fa

re
 d

o
 n

o
t 

es
ca

la
te

.

T
h

e 
M

C
Y

W
B

M
 t

as
k 

an
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 r

ea
ffi

rm
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

o
re

 v
al

u
es

 
o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

, w
h

ic
h

 
u

n
d

er
p

in
 o

u
r 

w
o

rk
. T

h
es

e 
re

affi
rm

ed
 v

al
u

es
 a

re
 

o
u

tl
in

ed
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

 
■

K
ee

p
in

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

 a
t 

th
e 

h
ea

rt
 o

f 
o

u
r 

w
o

rk

 
■

E
q

u
al

it
y,

 e
q

u
it

y,
 in

cl
u

si
o

n
 a

n
d

 v
al

u
in

g
 

d
iv

er
si

ty
 –

 ju
d

g
ed

 o
n

 o
u

r 
im

p
ac

t 
o

n
 t

h
e 

m
o

st
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 

 
■

L
o

ca
l a

cc
o

u
n

ta
b

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

 
■

M
ak

in
g

 a
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 –
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 a

n
d

 
co

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

 
■

P
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 a

 le
ar

n
in

g
 c

u
lt

u
re

 

 
■

P
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 a

 c
u

lt
u

re
 t

h
at

 v
al

u
es

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
. 

T
h

e 
M

C
Y

W
B

M
 t

as
k 

an
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 a
ls

o
 r

ev
is

ed
 

th
e 

vi
su

al
 r

ep
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e 

M
o

d
el

.

T
h

e 
ta

sk
 a

n
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 a
ls

o
 r

ec
o

m
m

en
d

ed
 

th
at

 t
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 
M

er
to

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

M
o

d
el

 (
se

e 
A

p
p

en
d

ix
 2

) 
an

d
 t

h
at

 S
ig

n
s 

o
f 

S
af

et
y 

is
 e

xt
en

d
ed

 
b

ey
o

n
d

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e.
 It

 w
as

 a
ls

o
 

p
ro

p
o

se
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
n

am
e 

o
f 

th
e 

M
o

d
el

 b
e 

ch
an

g
e 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

M
er

to
n

 C
h

ild
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 W

el
l-

B
ei

n
g

 M
o

d
el

, t
o

 t
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

, Y
o

u
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 

an
d

 F
am

ily
 W

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

 M
o

d
el

 t
o

 r
efl

ec
t 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 

fo
r 

al
l a

g
en

ci
es

 a
n

d
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 ‘t

h
in

k 
fa

m
ily

’ i
n

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 T

h
in

k 
F

am
ily

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
.

C
on

su
lta

tio
n

Se
rv

ic
es

 o
ffe

re
d 

in
 p

ar
al

le
l w

ith
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t o
f n

ee
d

Tw
o-

th
ird

s 
ch

ild
re

n 
or

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
ap

pr
ox

 h
av

e 
ne

ed
s 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
by

 U
ni

ve
rs

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Promoting well-b
ein

g o
f u

nb
or

n 
ba

bi
es

, i
nf

an
ts

, c
hi

ld
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

ple
 an

d t
he

ir f
amilies /carers

M
W

B
M

 B
lu

e
 T

ie
r 

o
f 

N
e
e
d

:
Pr

ev
en

tio
n

M
W

B
M

 R
e
d
 T

ie
r 

o
f 

N
e
e
d
:

Ac
ut

e 
/ S

pe
ci

al
is

t /
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

M
W

B
M

 G
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 
o
f 

N
e
e
d

:
Ea

rly
 H

el
p

M
W

B
M

 A
m

b
e
r 

T
ie

r 
o
f 

N
e
e
d
:

C
om

pl
ex

 / 
St

at
ut

or
y

M
er

to
n 

Ch
ild

, Y
ou

ng
 P

er
so

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ily

 W
el

l-B
ei

ng
 M

od
el

 (M
W

BM
) 2

01
7 

w
w

w.
m

er
to

n.
go

v.u
k/

m
w

bm
  

M
W

BM
 B

lu
e:

  
Pr

ev
en

tio
n 

Re
sp

on
se

s:
  

Un
ive

rs
al

 in
-h

ou
se

  
As

se
ss

m
en

t &
 S

up
po

rt 

M
W

BM
 G

re
en

:  
Ea

rly
 H

el
p:

 R
es

po
ns

es
 to

 lo
w/

 
m

od
er

at
e 

ad
di

tio
na

l n
ee

ds
 v

ia
  

CA
SA

/T
AC

/T
AF

 fo
r t

ar
ge

te
d 

or
  

m
ul

ti-
ag

en
cy

 c
oo

rd
in

at
ed

 s
up

po
rt

M
W

BM
 A

m
be

r: 
 

Re
sp

on
se

s 
to

 h
ig

he
r l

ev
el

 c
om

pl
ex

 n
ee

ds
  

su
ch

 a
s 

Ch
ild

 in
 N

ee
d;

 c
om

pl
ex

 S
pe

ci
al

 
Ed

uc
at

io
n 

Ne
ed

s 
or

 D
isa

bi
liti

es
; C

AM
HS

 T
ie

r 3
; 

Yo
ut

h 
Ca

ut
io

ns
-R

ef
er

ra
l O

rd
er

s

M
W

BM
 R

ed
: R

es
po

ns
es

 to
 a

cu
te

 o
r  

in
te

ns
ive

 n
ee

ds
 w

he
re

 c
hi

ld
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

 ri
sk

 

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s;

 H
os

pi
ta

lis
at

io
n,

; C
AM

HS
 T

ie
r 4

; 
Re

sid
en

tia
l, R

em
an

d,
 P

ub
lic

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n.

Page 13



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
14

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
15

4
.1

 M
er

to
n 

th
e 

p
la

ce

M
er

to
n

 h
as

 a
 t

o
ta

l p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

20
0

,5
4

3
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 4
7,

4
9

9
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
g

ed
 

0
-1

8
 (

C
en

su
s 

20
11

) 
b

et
w

ee
n

 2
0

12
 a

n
d

 2
0

16
 t

h
e 

0
-1

8
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 in

cr
ea

se
d

 b
y 

4
%

. T
h

is
 g

ro
w

th
 

is
 p

re
d

ic
te

d
 t

o
 in

cr
ea

se
 b

y 
b

et
w

ee
n

 4
%

 a
n

d
 

6
%

 b
y 

20
20

, b
as

ed
 r

es
p

ec
ti

ve
ly

 o
n

 t
h

e 
G

L
A

 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 p

ro
je

ct
io

n
s 

fo
r 

it
s 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 

L
an

d
 A

va
ila

b
ili

ty
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
an

d
 it

s 
al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
Tr

en
d

 f
o

re
ca

st
s,

 w
h

ic
h

 t
ak

e 
ad

d
it

io
n

al
 f

ac
to

rs
 

in
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t.

 W
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
w

h
o

le
 C

Y
P

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 
in

cr
ea

se
, t

h
er

e 
ar

e 
va

ri
at

io
n

s 
fo

r 
d

iff
er

en
t 

ag
e 

g
ro

u
p

s,
 b

et
w

ee
n

 2
0

11
 a

n
d

 2
0

20
 w

e 
ca

n
 e

st
im

at
e 

th
e 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

(b
as

ed
 o

n
 S

H
L

A
A

 2
0

15
):

 
■

P
ri

m
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l c

h
ild

re
n

 a
g

ed
 b

et
w

ee
n

 5
 

an
d

 1
0

 w
ill

 h
av

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 b
y 

20
%

 

 
■

S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l a

g
ed

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

g
ed

 1
1 

to
 

15
 w

ill
 h

av
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 b

y 
13

%
. 

H
is

to
ri

ca
lly

 t
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
 4

0
%

 n
et

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 b

ir
th

s 
fr

o
m

 2
,5

35
 in

 2
0

0
2 

to
 a

 p
ea

k 
o

f 
35

0
7 

in
 2

0
12

 a
n

d
 

4
.0

Lo
ca

l c
o

nt
ex

t 
an

d
 n

ee
d

 o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

ho
o

d
 p

o
p

ul
at

io
n 

fo
r 

M
er

to
n3

3
 

S
ta

ti
st

ic
al

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
d

em
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
 p

ro
fi

le
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 is

 b
as

ed
 o

n
 t

h
e 

20
11

 C
en

su
s.

M
o

st
 d

ep
ri

ve
d

 1
0

%

10
%

 t
o

 2
0

%

20
%

 t
o

 3
0

%

30
%

 t
o

 4
0

%

4
0

%
 t

o
 5

0
%

50
%

 t
o

 6
0

%

6
0

%
 t

o
 7

0
%

70
%

 t
o

 8
0

%

8
0

%
 t

o
 9

0
%

Le
as

t 
d

ep
ri

ve
d

 1
0

%

R
ay

ne
s 

P
ar

kV
ill

ag
e

W
im

b
le

d
o

n
P

ar
k

C
o

lli
er

s 
W

o
o

d

St
 H

el
ie

r

R
av

en
sb

ur
yC

ri
ck

et
G

re
en

F
ig

g
es

M
ar

sh

Lo
ng

th
o

rn
to

n

G
ra

ve
ne

y

La
ve

nd
er

F
ie

ld
s

A
b

b
ey

Tr
in

it
y

D
un

d
o

na
ld

H
ill

si
d

e

P
o

lla
rd

s 
H

ill
W

es
t 

B
ar

ne
s

Lo
w

er
 M

o
rd

en

C
an

no
n 

H
illM
er

to
n 

P
ar

k

R
ay

ne
s 

P
ar

kV
ill

ag
e

W
im

b
le

d
o

n
P

ar
k

C
o

lli
er

s 
W

o
o

d

St
 H

el
ie

r

R
av

en
sb

ur
yC

ri
ck

et
G

re
en

F
ig

g
es

M
ar

sh

Lo
ng

th
o

rn
to

n

G
ra

ve
ne

y

La
ve

nd
er

F
ie

ld
s

A
b

b
ey

Tr
in

it
y

D
un

d
o

na
ld

H
ill

si
d

e

P
o

lla
rd

s 
H

ill
W

es
t 

B
ar

ne
s

Lo
w

er
 M

o
rd

en

C
an

no
n 

H
illM
er

to
n 

P
ar

k

is
 a

p
p

ro
xi

m
at

ed
 a

t 
3

17
8

 b
y 

20
20

. T
h

is
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 
b

ir
th

s,
 t

o
g

et
h

er
 w

it
h

 o
th

er
 d

em
o

g
ra

p
h

ic
 f

ac
to

rs
 

su
ch

 a
s 

m
ig

ra
ti

o
n

 o
f 

fa
m

ili
es

 in
to

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
, h

as
 

al
re

ad
y 

cr
ea

te
d

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

 f
o

r 
m

o
re

 s
ch

o
o

l p
la

ce
s,

 
p

ut
 p

re
ss

ur
e 

o
n 

ea
rl

y 
ye

ar
s 

an
d

 p
re

-s
ch

o
o

l s
er

vi
ce

s,
 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 s

o
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

an
d

 e
ar

ly
 in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

. 

P
re

d
o

m
in

an
tl

y 
su

b
u

rb
an

 in
 c

h
ar

ac
te

r, 
M

er
to

n
 

is
 d

iv
id

ed
 in

to
 2

0
 w

ar
d

s 
an

d
 h

as
 t

h
re

e 
m

ai
n

 
to

w
n

 c
en

tr
es

; W
im

b
le

d
o

n
, M

it
ch

am
 a

n
d

 M
o

rd
en

. 
T

h
er

e 
ar

e 
a 

n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
p

o
ck

et
s 

o
f 

d
ep

ri
va

ti
o

n
 

w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 m

ai
n

ly
 in

 t
h

e 
ea

st
er

n
 w

ar
d

s 
an

d
 s

o
m

e 
sm

al
le

r 
p

o
ck

et
s 

in
 t

h
e 

ce
n

tr
al

 w
ar

d
s 

(M
it

ch
am

 a
n

d
 M

o
rd

en
 t

o
w

n
s)

. T
h

es
e 

w
ar

d
s 

h
av

e 
m

u
lt

ip
le

 d
ep

ri
va

ti
o

n
s,

 w
it

h
 h

ig
h

 s
co

re
s 

o
n

 
in

co
m

e 
d

ep
ri

va
ti

o
n

, u
n

em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

an
d

 li
m

it
ed

 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 a
tt

ai
n

m
en

t.
 F

iv
e 

o
f 

M
er

to
n

’s
 2

0
 w

ar
d

s 
ar

e 
am

o
n

g
st

 t
h

e 
3

0
%

 m
o

st
 d

ep
ri

ve
d

 a
re

as
 a

cr
o

ss
 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
. T

h
is

 m
ea

n
s 

37
%

 o
f 

M
er

to
n

 
sc

h
o

o
l p

u
p

ils
 a

re
 li

vi
n

g
 in

 a
n

 a
re

a 
o

f 
d

ep
ri

va
ti

o
n

 
(3

0
%

 m
o

st
 d

ep
ri

ve
d

, I
D

A
C

I 2
0

15
).

 S
in

ce
 2

0
10

 w
e 

h
av

e 
se

en
 a

n
 in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
3

2%
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 w

h
o

 a
re

 
el

ig
ib

le
 f

o
r 

fr
ee

 s
ch

o
o

l m
ea

ls
 (

20
10

, 2
8

8
1 

F
S

M
 

ch
ild

re
n

, 2
0

16
, 3

8
17

 F
S

M
 c

h
ild

re
n

).

Ta
b

le
 1

: M
er

to
n 

In
co

m
e 

D
ep

ri
va

ti
o

n 
A

ff
ec

ti
ng

 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

In
d

ex
 2

0
15

U
K

 In
d

ic
es

 o
f 

D
ep

ri
va

ti
o

n

G
re

at
er

 L
o

nd
o

n

Sc
ill

y

M
o

st
 

d
ep

ri
ve

d
 

10
%

Le
as

t 
d

ep
ri

ve
d

 
10

%

Page 14



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
16

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
17

T
h

ir
ty

 fi
ve

 p
er

 c
en

t 
o

f 
M

er
to

n
’s

 t
o

ta
l p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 

is
 B

la
ck

, A
si

an
 o

r 
M

in
o

ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 (
B

A
M

E
),

 t
h

is
 

is
 e

xp
ec

te
d

 t
o

 in
cr

ea
se

 f
u

rt
h

er
 t

o
 3

9
%

 b
y 

20
17

. 
P

u
p

ils
 in

 M
er

to
n

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 a

re
 m

o
re

 d
iv

er
se

 s
ti

ll,
 

w
it

h
 6

7%
 f

ro
m

 B
A

M
E

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s,
 4

4
%

 w
it

h
 a

 
fi

rs
t 

la
n

g
u

ag
e 

w
h

ic
h

 is
 n

o
t 

E
n

g
lis

h
, s

p
ea

ki
n

g
 o

ve
r 

12
0

 la
n

g
u

ag
es

 (
20

16
).

 T
h

e 
m

o
st

 p
ro

m
in

en
t 

fi
rs

t 
la

n
g

u
ag

es
 f

o
r 

p
ri

m
ar

y 
p

u
p

ils
 a

p
ar

t 
fr

o
m

 E
n

g
lis

h
 

ar
e 

Ta
m

il 
7%

, P
o

lis
h

 7
%

 a
n

d
 U

rd
u

 6
%

. 

T
h

e 
S

E
N

D
 R

es
id

en
t 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 h
as

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 

b
y 

16
%

 b
et

w
ee

n
 2

0
12

 a
n

d
 2

0
16

 (
10

78
 C

Y
P

 in
 

20
16

).
 T

h
e 

n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
p

u
p

ils
 a

tt
en

d
in

g
 M

er
to

n
 

m
ai

n
st

re
am

 (
in

c.
 A

ca
d

em
ie

s)
 a

n
d

 S
p

ec
ia

l S
ch

o
o

ls
 

w
it

h
 a

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

o
f 

S
E

N
 o

r 
E

H
C

 P
la

n
 h

as
 a

ls
o

 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

tl
y 

o
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 f

o
u

r 
ye

ar
s.

 
T

h
is

 c
o

h
o

rt
 is

 g
ro

w
in

g
 a

t 
a 

fa
st

er
 r

at
e 

th
an

 t
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 S

ch
o

o
l P

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
, w

it
h

 a
 1

4
 p

er
ce

n
ta

g
e 

p
o

in
t 

in
cr

ea
se

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 fi

ve
 y

ea
rs

. T
h

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

M
er

to
n

 p
u

p
ils

 w
it

h
 a

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

o
f 

S
E

N
 

o
r 

E
H

C
P

 h
as

 g
ro

w
n

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 fi

ve
 y

ea
rs

 a
t 

a 
fa

st
er

 r
at

e 
th

an
 L

o
n

d
o

n
, S

ta
ti

st
ic

al
 N

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rs
 

an
d

 N
at

io
n

al
. A

s 
at

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

16
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

11
4

8
 

p
u

p
ils

 a
tt

en
d

in
g

 M
er

to
n

 S
ch

o
o

ls
 w

it
h

 a
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 
o

f 
S

E
N

 o
r 

E
H

C
P.

4
.2

 M
er

to
n’

s 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

in
 N

ee
d

, C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

it
h 

a 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
P

la
n 

an
d

 t
ho

se
 L

o
o

ke
d

 A
ft

er

4
.2

.1
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

In
 N

ee
d

O
u

r 
p

u
b

lis
h

ed
 D

fE
 C

IN
 c

en
su

s 
d

at
a 

sh
o

w
s 

an
 

in
cr

ea
se

 in
 t

h
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
0

,0
0

0
 a

s 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

(2
0

15
-1

6
) 

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 o

u
r 

tr
en

d
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ti
st

ic
al

 
n

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rs
. T

h
is

 d
at

a 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 s
u

b
se

q
u

en
tl

y 
re

vi
ew

 a
n

d
 u

p
d

at
ed

, i
n

 f
ac

t 
M

er
to

n
’s

 C
h

ild
re

n
 

in
 N

ee
d

 (
C

IN
) 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
0

,0
0

0
 (

20
15

-2
0

16
, 

3
3

3
.3

) 
re

m
ai

n
s 

in
 li

n
e 

w
it

h
 2

0
14

-1
5

 (
3

3
8

.3
),

 a
n

d
 

st
at

is
ti

ca
l n

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rs
 (

3
3

6
.9

1)
, t

h
e 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
av

er
ag

e 
(3

5
5

.3
) 

an
d

 t
h

e 
N

at
io

n
al

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
(3

37
.7

).
 

S
ee

 T
ab

le
 2

 b
el

o
w

.

Ta
b

le
 2

: I
nc

re
as

es
 in

 C
IN

 r
at

e 
b

et
w

ee
n 

20
11

 a
nd

 2
0

16

Ta
b

le
 3

: R
at

e 
o

f 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

Su
b

je
ct

 t
o

 a
 C

hi
ld

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

P
la

n 

Y
ea

r
20

11
-1

2
20

12
-1

3
20

13
-1

4
20

14
-1

5
20

15
-1

6
SN

 
20

15
-1

6
Lo

nd
o

n 
20

15
-1

6
N

at
io

na
l 

20
15

-1
6

R
at

e 
p

er
 

10
,0

0
0

37
1.3

3
3

6
.8

35
5.

1
3

3
8

.3
3

3
3

.3
 R

3
3

6
.9

1
35

5.
3

3
37

.7

Y
ea

r
20

11
-1

2
20

12
-1

3
20

13
-1

4
20

14
-1

5
20

15
-1

6
SN

 
20

15
-1

6
Lo

nd
o

n 
20

15
-1

6
N

at
io

na
l 

20
15

-1
6

R
at

e 
p

er
 

10
,0

0
0

39
.8

37
.9

4
0

.3
3

8
.8

29
.9

3
6

.2
0

37
.9

4
3

.1

205
0 4
5

4
0 3
5

3
0 25

20
12

-1
3

20
11

-1
2

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

N
at

io
na

l
Lo

nd
o

n
M

er
to

n

Ta
b

le
 4

: C
hi

ld
re

n 
su

b
je

ct
 t

o
 a

 c
hi

ld
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
p

la
n

4
.2

.2
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

Su
b

je
ct

 t
o 

a 
C

hi
ld

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

P
la

n

R
at

e 
of

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
Su

bj
ec

t 
to

 a
 C

hi
ld

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 

T
h

e 
ra

te
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

 s
u

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
p

la
n

 o
n

 t
h

e 
3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

16
 (

29
.9

) 
w

as
 u

n
u

su
al

ly
 

lo
w

, c
o

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 M
er

to
n

’s
 t

re
n

d
 a

n
d

 a
g

ai
n

st
 

th
e 

b
en

ch
m

ar
k 

o
f 

S
N

 (
3

6
.2

0
),

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
(3

6
.2

0
) 

an
d

 n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

(4
3

.1)
. T

h
is

 w
as

 d
u

e 
to

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

la
rg

e 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

it
h

 m
u

lt
ip

le
 s

ib
lin

g
s 

o
n

 c
h

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 
b

ei
n

g
 d

er
eg

is
te

re
d

 d
ay

s 
b

ef
o

re
 t

h
e 

n
at

io
n

al
 C

h
ild

 In
 N

ee
d

 c
en

su
s 

w
as

 
ta

ke
n

. M
er

to
n

’s
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

C
P

 r
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 is
 4

0
 

w
it

h
 a

p
p

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

16
0

-1
8

0
 c

h
ild

 s
u

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n
 

at
 a

ny
 o

n
e 

ti
m

e.
 S

ee
 T

ab
le

s 
3

 a
n

d
 4

 b
el

o
w

.

C
hi

ld
re

n 
Su

b
je

ct
 t

o
 a

 p
la

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
se

co
nd

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

ue
nt

 t
im

e 

In
 t

h
e 

p
as

t 
5 

ye
ar

 t
o

 2
0

16
, l

o
ca

lly
, r

eg
io

n
al

ly
 a

n
d

 
n

at
io

n
al

ly
 t

h
e 

n
u

m
b

er
s 

o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 s
u

b
je

ct
 t

o
 a

 
p

la
n

 f
o

r 
th

e 
se

co
n

d
 o

r 
su

b
se

q
u

en
t 

ti
m

e 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 s

te
ad

ily
 in

cr
ea

si
n

g
. I

n
 M

er
to

n
 a

s 
at

 t
h

e 
en

d
 o

f 
20

15
/1

6
, 4

6
 c

h
ild

re
n

 o
r 

22
.5

%
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 

b
ec

am
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 f
o

r 
a 

se
co

n
d

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

u
en

t 
ti

m
e.

 W
h

ils
t 

b
o

th
 n

at
io

n
al

 
an

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 o

u
tt

u
rn

s 
h

av
e 

si
m

ila
rl

y 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 
g

ra
d

u
al

ly
 in

 p
re

ce
d

in
g

 y
ea

rs
, M

er
to

n
’s

 2
0

15
-1

6
 

o
u

tt
u

rn
 is

 n
o

ti
ce

ab
ly

 h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 S

N
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

(1
6

.2
%

),
 n

at
io

n
al

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
(1

7.
9

%
) 

an
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 
(1

4
%

) 
av

er
ag

e 
(2

0
15

/1
6

).
 

D
u

ri
n

g
 2

0
15

/1
6

 C
h

ild
re

n
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 
an

 e
xt

en
si

ve
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
al

l c
as

es
 w

h
er

e 
ch

ild
 

p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
s 

h
ad

 b
ee

n
 in

it
ia

te
d

 f
o

r 
a 

se
co

n
d

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

u
en

t 
ti

m
e,

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

w
er

e 
ag

re
ed

 t
o

 d
el

iv
er

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 2
0

16
/1

7.
 A

ct
io

n
s 

in
cl

u
d

ed
 

st
re

n
g

th
en

in
g

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

C
P

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 
fo

cu
se

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

 w
it

h
 C

P
 C

h
ai

rs
 a

n
d

 s
o

ci
al

 
w

o
rk

er
s 

in
 S

ig
n

s 
o

f 
S

af
et

y;
 m

o
re

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 s

af
et

y 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 p

ar
ti

cu
la

rl
y 

in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 d
o

m
es

ti
c 

vi
o

le
n

ce
; s

tr
en

g
th

en
ed

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 f

o
r 

co
n

su
lt

at
io

n
 

an
d

 r
ev

ie
w

 w
h

er
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 h
av

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

sl
y 

b
ee

n
 

su
b

je
ct

 t
o

 a
 p

la
n

. T
h

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

is
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

w
o

rk
 a

s 
ev

id
en

ce
d

 in
 t

h
e 

3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

 o
u

tt
u

rn
 

at
 w

h
ic

h
 p

o
in

t 
13

%
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
se

co
n

d
 o

r 
su

b
se

q
u

en
t 

C
P

 p
la

n
, d

ra
w

in
g

 t
h

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 b
ac

k 
in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e.

  
S

ee
 T

ab
le

 5
 o

ve
rl

ea
f.

Page 15



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
18

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
19

Ta
b

le
 8

: L
o

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
by

 1
0

,0
0

0
 p

o
p

ul
at

io
n

226
2

5
2

4
2

3
2

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

N
at

io
na

l
Lo

nd
o

n
M

er
to

n

Ta
b

le
 9

: E
th

ni
c 

G
ro

up
 o

f 
Lo

o
ke

d
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n 

4
0

%

5
0

%

6
0

%

3
0

%

20
%

10
%

0
%

W
hi

te
M

ix
ed

A
si

an
 o

r 
A

si
an

 B
ri

ti
sh

B
la

ck
 o

r 
B

la
ck

 B
ri

ti
sh

O
th

er
 E

th
ni

c 
G

ro
up

s

52
%

13
%

7%

19
%

10
%

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

M
er

to
n

3
0

.0
0

3
1.0

0
3

4
.0

0
3

4
.0

0
35

.0
0

L
o

n
d

o
n

57
.0

0
54

.0
0

54
.0

0
52

.0
0

51
.0

0

N
at

io
n

al
59

.0
6

0
.0

6
0

.0
6

0
.0

6
0

.0

Y
ea

r
20

12
-1

3
20

13
-1

4
20

14
-1

5
20

15
-1

6
SN

 
20

15
-1

6
Lo

nd
o

n 
20

15
-1

6
N

at
io

na
l 

20
15

-1
6

N
u

m
b

er
6

7
10

14
13

.2
9

4
0

0
24

10

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e
3

.5
%

3
.6

%
4

.3
%

5.
9

%
4

.4
%

4
.3

%
3

.8
%

Ta
b

le
 6

: C
hi

ld
re

n 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
la

st
in

g
 f

o
r 

2 
o

r 
m

o
re

 y
ea

rs
 (

ch
ild

re
n 

w
ho

 c
ea

se
d

 t
o

 b
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 
o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

p
la

n)

Ta
b

le
 7

: L
o

o
ke

d
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
In

 M
er

to
n

Ta
b

le
 5

: C
hi

ld
re

n 
Su

b
je

ct
 t

o
 a

 p
la

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
se

co
nd

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

ue
nt

 t
im

e 

Y
ea

r
20

11
-1

2
20

12
-1

3
20

13
-1

4
20

14
-1

5
20

15
-1

6
SN

 
20

15
-1

6
Lo

nd
o

n 
20

15
-1

6
N

at
io

na
l 

20
15

-1
6

N
u

m
b

er
15

17
24

37
4

6
4

9
.10

12
50

11
,3

50

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e
7.

8
%

10
.6

%
11

.3
%

16
.4

%
22

.5
%

16
.2

%
14

.0
%

17
.9

%

C
hi

ld
re

n 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
la

st
in

g
 f

o
r 

2 
o

r 
m

o
re

 
ye

ar
s 

(c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 c

ea
se

d
 t

o
 b

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

p
la

n)

N
at

io
n

al
ly

 3
.8

%
 (

20
15

/1
6

) 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

su
b

je
ct

 
o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
 la

st
in

g
 t

w
o

 y
ea

rs
 o

r 
m

o
re

, i
n

 M
er

to
n

 t
h

is
 w

as
 5

.9
%

 (
20

15
/1

6
) 

re
la

ti
n

g
 

to
 1

4
 c

h
ild

re
n

, w
h

ic
h

 is
 a

 4
0

%
 in

cr
ea

se
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
ye

ar
 2

0
14

-1
5.

 S
ee

 T
ab

le
 6

 b
el

o
w

.

4
.2

.3
 L

oo
ke

d
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n

A
t 

3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
16

, t
h

e 
lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 c
h

ild
re

n
 r

at
e 

p
er

 1
0

,0
0

0
 o

f 
th

e 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 a

g
ed

 u
n

d
er

 1
8

 
w

as
 3

5.
0

0
. T

h
is

 is
 in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
ra

te
 o

f 
3

4
.0

0
 

o
b

ta
in

ed
 in

 2
0

14
 a

n
d

 2
0

15
. S

im
ila

rl
y 

b
o

th
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

an
d

 n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
es

 h
el

d
 a

 s
te

ad
y 

co
u

rs
e 

at
 

51
.0

 a
n

d
 6

0
.0

 r
es

p
ec

ti
ve

ly
. O

ve
ra

ll,
 M

er
to

n
’s

 r
at

e 
is

 
lo

w
er

 t
h

an
 b

o
th

 n
at

io
n

al
 a

n
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 a
ve

ra
g

es
.

It
 is

 n
o

te
w

o
rt

h
y 

th
at

 a
lt

h
o

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 
10

,0
0

0
 h

as
 r

em
ai

n
ed

 s
ta

b
le

, d
u

e 
to

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 

o
ve

ra
ll 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

, t
h

e 
ac

tu
al

 n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 

co
m

in
g

 in
 t

o
 c

ar
e 

in
 M

er
to

n
 h

as
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
ed

 t
o

 
ri

se
 y

ea
r 

o
n

 y
ea

r 
th

u
s 

p
la

ci
n

g
 e

xt
ra

 p
re

ss
u

re
 o

n
 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
n

d
 c

as
el

o
ad

s.
 T

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

13
0

 lo
o

ke
d

 

af
te

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 M
er

to
n

 in
 2

0
12

 t
h

is
 in

cr
ea

se
d

 t
o

 
16

5
 in

 2
0

16
, a

n
 in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
27

%
. S

o
m

e 
th

is
 g

ro
w

th
 

ca
n

 a
ls

o
 b

e 
at

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t

o
 o

n
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

20
-2

5
 U

A
S

C
 

en
te

ri
n

g
 c

ar
e 

in
 M

er
to

n
 e

ac
h

 y
ea

r. 
S

ee
 T

ab
le

s 
7,

 8
 

an
d

 9
 a

b
o

ve
.

Page 16



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
20

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
21

S
o

u
rc

e:
 S

S
D

A
 9

0
3

 
N

o
te

: I
n

 2
0

14
 t

h
e 

D
fE

 e
xt

en
d

ed
 t

h
e 

ca
re

 le
av

er
 c

o
h

o
rt

 t
o

 in
cl

u
d

e 
20

 a
n

d
 2

1 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s.

 A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 t
h

e 
fi

g
u

re
s 

fo
r 

20
12

-2
0

13
 in

cl
u

d
e 

o
n

ly
 t

o
 1

9
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s 
w

h
ils

t 
th

e 
fi

g
u

re
s 

fo
r 

20
14

 -
 2

0
16

 in
cl

u
d

e 
C

ar
e 

L
ea

ve
rs

 o
f 

al
l a

g
es

.

Ta
b

le
 1

2:
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
o

f 
C

ar
e 

Le
av

er
s 

in
 E

d
uc

at
io

n,
 E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

o
r 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

20
12

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

13
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
14

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

15
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
16

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)

M
er

to
n

70
.6

%
6

0
.0

%
4

7.
0

%
4

5%
6

6
%

S
N

6
4

.3
%

6
7.

8
%

55
.15

%
52

.2
%

50
.10

%

N
at

io
n

al
58

%
58

%
4

5%
4

8
%

4
9

%

S
o

u
rc

e:
 S

S
D

A
 9

0
3

 
N

o
te

: I
n

 2
0

14
 t

h
e 

D
fE

 e
xt

en
d

ed
 t

h
e 

ca
re

 le
av

er
 c

o
h

o
rt

 t
o

 in
cl

u
d

e 
20

 a
n

d
 2

1 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s.

 A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 t
h

e 
fi

g
u

re
s 

fo
r 

20
12

-2
0

13
 in

cl
u

d
e 

o
n

ly
 t

o
 1

9
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

s 
w

h
ils

t 
th

e 
fi

g
u

re
s 

fo
r 

20
14

 -
 2

0
16

 in
cl

u
d

e 
C

ar
e 

L
ea

ve
rs

 o
f 

al
l a

g
es

.

Ta
b

le
 1

3:
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
o

f 
C

ar
e 

Le
av

er
s 

in
 S

ui
ta

b
le

 A
cc

o
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

20
12

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

13
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
14

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

15
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
16

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)

M
er

to
n

8
8

%
8

5%
6

6
%

76
%

9
6

%

S
N

8
9

.8
6

%
8

9
.3

0
%

8
5.

3
3

%
8

3
.2

0
%

8
1.1

0
%

N
at

io
n

al
8

8
%

8
8

%
78

%
8

1%
8

3
%

S
o

u
rc

e:
 S

S
D

A
 9

0
3

 
N

o
te

: T
h

e 
p

er
ce

n
ta

g
e 

o
f 

C
h

ild
re

n
 L

o
o

ke
d

 A
ft

er
 a

g
ed

 u
n

d
er

 1
6

 a
t 

3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

 w
h

o
 h

ad
 b

ee
n

 lo
o

ke
d

 a
ft

er
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
o

u
sl

y 
fo

r 
at

 le
as

t 
2.

5 
ye

ar
s,

 w
h

o
 w

er
e 

liv
in

g
 in

 t
h

e 
sa

m
e 

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

at
 le

as
t 

2 
ye

ar
s,

 o
r 

ar
e 

p
la

ce
d

 f
o

r 
ad

o
p

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

ad
o

p
ti

ve
 p

la
ce

m
en

t 
to

g
et

h
er

 w
it

h
 t

h
ei

r 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
p

la
ce

m
en

t 
la

st
 f

o
r 

at
 le

as
t 

2 
ye

ar
s.

S
o

u
rc

e:
 S

S
D

A
 9

0
3

Ta
b

le
 1

0
: P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
o

f 
Lo

o
ke

d
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

it
h 

St
ab

ili
ty

 in
 t

he
ir

 p
la

ce
m

en
t

20
11

-1
2

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

12
-1

3
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
13

-1
4

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)
20

14
-1

5
(3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
)

20
15

-1
6

(3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

)

M
er

to
n

6
8

%
6

4
%

55
%

54
%

6
8

%

N
at

io
n

al
6

8
%

6
7%

6
7%

6
7%

6
8

%

Ta
b

le
 1

1:
 C

ar
e 

Le
av

er
s 

in
 T

o
uc

h

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

M
er

to
n

N
um

b
er

%
N

um
b

er
%

Y
es

72
77

%
13

2
8

9
%

N
o

9
10

%
3

2%

S
er

vi
ce

 N
o

 L
o

n
g

er
 R

eq
u

ir
ed

7
8

%
3

2%

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 R

ef
u

se
s 

C
o

n
ta

ct
3

3
%

7
5%

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 R

et
u

rn
ed

 H
o

m
e

2
2%

3
2%

Lo
o

ke
d

 A
ft

er
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

w
it

h 
St

ab
ili

ty
 in

 t
he

ir
 

p
la

ce
m

en
t

A
s 

at
 3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
16

, 6
8

%
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

 w
h

o
 h

ad
 

b
ee

n
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

o
u

sl
y 

fo
r 

at
 le

as
t 

2.
5 

ye
ar

s,
 w

er
e 

liv
in

g
 in

 t
h

e 
sa

m
e 

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

at
 

le
as

t 
2 

ye
ar

s.
 T

h
is

 is
 a

n
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

o
n

 t
h

e 
54

%
 

o
u

tt
u

rn
 in

 2
0

15
 a

n
d

 p
la

ce
s 

M
er

to
n

 o
n

 p
ar

 w
it

h
 

n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
es

. S
ee

 T
ab

le
 1

0
 b

el
o

w
.

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

th
is

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 f

o
cu

s 
an

d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
al

 
re

so
u

rc
e 

w
e 

h
av

e 
se

en
 s

o
m

e 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

in
 

re
sp

ec
t 

o
f 

o
u

tc
o

m
es

 f
o

r 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 in

 t
h

is
 a

re
a.

W
e 

w
er

e 
in

 w
er

e 
in

 t
o

u
ch

 w
it

h
 8

9
%

 o
f 

o
u

r 
yo

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 d
u

ri
n

g
 2

0
15

/1
6

. S
ee

 T
ab

le
 1

1 
b

el
o

w
.

6
6

%
 o

f 
o

u
r 

ca
re

 le
av

er
s 

ar
e 

in
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, 
em

p
lo

ym
en

t 
o

r 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 (
20

15
/1

6
) 

th
is

 is
 a

 
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
o

n
 2

0
14

/1
5,

 4
5%

 a
n

d
 c

an
 

b
e 

at
tr

ib
u

te
d

 t
o

 a
ct

io
n

s 
d

el
iv

er
ed

 a
g

ai
n

st
 o

u
r 

C
ar

e 
L

ea
ve

rs
 S

tr
at

eg
y,

 p
la

ci
n

g
 u

s 
w

el
l a

b
o

ve
 t

h
e 

n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

o
f 

4
9

%
. S

ee
 T

ab
le

 1
2 

o
p

p
o

si
te

.

9
6

%
 o

f 
ca

re
 le

av
er

s 
(a

g
ed

 1
9

, 2
0

, 2
1)

 w
er

e 
liv

in
g

 
in

 ‘s
u

it
ab

le
 a

cc
o

m
m

o
d

at
io

n
’ i

n
 2

0
15

/1
6

 t
h

is
 is

 a
 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

o
n

 2
0

13
/1

4
 (

6
6

%
) 

an
d

 
b

et
te

r 
th

an
 t

h
e 

n
at

io
n

al
 a

ve
ra

g
e 

8
1%

 (
20

14
/1

5)
. 

S
ee

 T
ab

le
 1

3
 o

p
p

o
si

te
.

4
.3

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
at

 R
is

k 
o

f 
Se

xu
al

 E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n

F
ro

m
 1

 A
p

ri
l 2

0
16

 t
o

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

 4
0

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 w
er

e 
p

re
se

n
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
u

lt
i-

A
g

en
cy

 
S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 (
M

A
S

E
) 

P
an

el
. T

h
e 

m
aj

o
ri

ty
 

o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 d
is

cu
ss

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
M

A
S

E
 a

re
 a

g
ed

 1
3

 
to

 1
6

, d
u

ri
n

g
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
; t

h
es

e 
ar

e 
fu

rt
h

er
 b

ro
ke

n
 

d
o

w
n

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 
■

9
6

%
 w

er
e 

fe
m

al
e 

 
■

6
2%

 w
er

e 
fr

o
m

 B
la

ck
 A

si
an

 o
r 

M
in

o
ri

ty
 

E
th

n
ic

 B
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
 (

B
A

M
E

) 

 
■

39
%

 o
f 

th
es

e 
w

h
o

 h
ad

 a
 M

A
S

E
 r

ef
er

ra
l 

al
so

 h
ad

 a
 M

is
si

n
g

 e
p

is
o

d
e,

 h
o

w
ev

er
 t

h
is

 is
 

o
n

ly
 a

 s
m

al
l p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

 o
f 

al
l t

h
o

se
 w

h
o

 g
o

 
m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e 
o

r 
ca

re
 

 
■

T
h

e 
m

aj
o

ri
ty

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 k
n

o
w

n
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
A

S
E

 li
ve

 in
 o

u
r 

m
o

st
 d

ep
ri

ve
d

 w
ar

d
s 

P
o

lla
rd

s 
H

ill
, F

ig
g

es
 M

ar
ch

, R
av

en
sb

u
ry

 a
n

d
 

S
t 

H
el

ie
r 

 
■

A
s 

at
 3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

 4
0

 c
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

O
p

en
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
A

S
E

 

 
■

25
%

 w
er

e 
L

A
C

 (
10

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
) 

 
■

20
%

 w
er

e 
ca

re
 le

av
er

s 
(8

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
) 

an
d

 

 
■

10
%

 w
er

e 
C

P
 (

4
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

) 

 
■

T
h

e 
m

aj
o

ri
ty

 o
f 

C
S

E
 c

as
es

 a
re

 o
p

en
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
A

S
E

 p
an

el
 f

o
r 

a 
ye

ar
.  

M
er

to
n

’s
 C

h
ild

 S
ex

u
al

 E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 (

C
S

E
) 

st
ra

te
g

y 
w

as
 r

e-
la

u
n

ch
ed

 in
 2

0
13

 a
n

d
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 in
 2

0
15

 
an

d
 2

0
17

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 b

y 
in

te
lli

g
en

ce
 f

ro
m

 o
u

r 
Jo

in
t 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 N

ee
d

s 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
an

d
 p

ee
r 

re
vi

ew
 o

n
 C

S
E

. O
u

r 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

p
ro

vi
d

es
 c

le
ar

 a
n

d
 

p
ra

ct
ic

al
 g

u
id

an
ce

 f
o

r 
so

ci
al

 w
o

rk
er

s 
an

d
 o

th
er

 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
d

ea
lin

g
 w

it
h

 c
as

es
 w

h
er

e 
th

er
e 

is
 

su
sp

ec
te

d
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
fi

rm
ed

 c
h

ild
/y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

 
se

xu
al

 e
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
. 

Page 17



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
22

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
23

M
er

to
n

’s
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 

w
h

o
 a

re
 a

t 
ri

sk
/s

u
b

je
ct

 o
f 

se
xu

al
 e

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

, 
ch

ild
re

n
 m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e 
o

r 
ca

re
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

m
is

si
n

g
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 is
 m

ai
n

ta
in

ed
 a

t 
th

re
e 

m
u

lt
i 

ag
en

cy
 p

an
el

s 
w

h
er

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 is

 s
h

ar
ed

 
an

d
 t

ri
an

g
u

la
te

d
. O

ffi
ce

rs
 jo

in
 u

p
 t

h
e 

‘r
is

k 
d

o
ts

’ 
b

et
w

ee
n

 t
h

es
e 

p
an

el
s.

 

 
■

M
u

lt
i A

g
en

cy
 S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 P
an

el
 

(M
A

S
E

) 

 
■

M
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 H
o

m
e 

o
r 

C
ar

e 
P

an
el

 (
M

u
lt

i 
ag

en
cy

 r
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
)

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 M

is
si

n
g

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 P

an
el

 (
M

u
lt

i 
ag

en
cy

 r
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
).

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 t

h
em

at
ic

 is
su

es
 a

re
 id

en
ti

fi
ed

 b
y 

o
ffi

ce
rs

 
an

d
 d

u
ri

n
g

 a
u

d
it

s.
 T

h
es

e 
ar

e 
d

is
cu

ss
ed

 a
n

d
 

ch
al

le
n

g
ed

 a
t 

a 
se

n
io

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
le

ve
l a

n
d

 a
t 

th
e 

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

n
d

 P
ro

te
ct

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 (

P
Y

P
P

),
 

a 
th

em
at

ic
 s

u
b

g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
n

d
 a

t 
th

e 
E

xe
cu

ti
ve

 g
ro

u
p

 o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 in
 M

er
to

n
 r

ef
er

re
d

 
to

 a
s 

th
e 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

Im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 G

ro
u

p
 (

B
IG

).
 

4
.3

.1
 S

um
m

ar
y 

A
ct

iv
it

y 
to

 a
d

d
re

ss
 C

SE
 in

 2
0

16
 

an
d

 2
0

17
:

 
■

R
ef

re
sh

ed
 a

n
d

 r
e-

la
u

n
ch

ed
 s

tr
at

eg
y,

 
p

ro
to

co
l a

n
d

 t
o

o
ls

 in
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

15
 a

n
d

 
re

fr
es

h
ed

 in
 2

0
17

 

 
■

In
cr

ea
se

d
 id

en
ti

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 o

f 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

t 
ri

sk
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 m
o

re
 m

al
es

, r
ef

er
re

d
 t

o
 a

n
d

 
d

is
cu

ss
ed

 a
t 

M
A

S
E

 
■

L
ea

rn
ed

 f
ro

m
 o

u
r 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 C
S

E
 p

ee
r 

re
vi

ew
s 

an
d

 d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 a
 J

S
N

A
 C

S
E

 c
h

ap
te

r:
 

re
fr

es
h

ed
 o

u
r 

C
S

E
 s

tr
at

eg
y,

 g
u

id
an

ce
 a

n
d

 
su

p
p

o
rt

 t
o

o
ls

 

 
■

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 c
o

n
n

ec
ti

vi
ty

 b
et

w
ee

n
 C

S
E

 
an

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

 M
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 H
o

m
e,

 C
ar

e 
o

r 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

; s
tr

en
g

th
en

ed
 d

at
a,

 t
ra

ck
in

g
 

&
 t

ri
an

g
u

la
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 a

p
p

o
in

ti
n

g
 a

 C
S

E
 

o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 le

ad

 
■

A
p

p
o

in
te

d
 C

S
E

 O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 L

ea
d

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
th

e 
C

S
E

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 L

ea
d

 in
 a

u
tu

m
n

 2
0

16

 
■

D
el

iv
er

ed
 C

S
E

 c
h

am
p

io
n

s 
in

 S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
S

ch
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 w

it
h

in
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

g
en

ci
es

 

 
■

U
n

d
er

ta
ke

n
 e

xt
en

si
ve

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

ra
is

in
g

 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
: C

S
E

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

w
ee

ks
, t

ar
g

et
ed

 
ev

en
ts

 f
o

r 
F

o
st

er
 C

ar
er

s 
an

d
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

fo
r 

P
ri

m
ar

y 
an

d
 S

ec
o

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

ls
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

ra
in

in
g

 t
o

 H
ea

d
s/

D
es

ig
n

at
ed

 t
ea

ch
er

s 
an

d
 h

ea
lt

h
 c

h
am

p
io

n
s

 
■

S
tr

en
g

th
en

ed
 M

S
C

B
 P

P
Y

P
 li

n
ks

 t
o

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

m
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 h
o

m
e,

 c
ar

e 
an

d
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

 
■

A
u

d
it

ed
 c

as
es

 t
o

 in
fo

rm
 o

u
r 

C
S

E
 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
ag

en
d

a 
an

d
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 a
n

d
 

st
re

n
g

th
en

ed
 d

at
as

et
 

 
■

C
o

n
ti

n
u

ed
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 R

ed
th

re
ad

 in
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

es
 H

o
sp

it
al

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 h

av
e 

p
re

se
n

te
d

 w
it

h
 in

ju
ri

es
 

fr
o

m
 k

n
ife

/g
u

n
sh

o
ts

 a
n

d
 C

S
E

/S
ex

u
al

 
in

ju
ri

es
. N

ew
 s

cr
ee

n
in

g
 p

ro
ce

ss
 in

 p
la

ce
 

b
et

w
ee

n
 lo

ca
l S

ex
u

al
 H

ea
lt

h
 G

U
M

 c
lin

ic
s 

an
d

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

 
■

M
O

PA
C

 f
u

n
d

ed
 Y

o
u

n
g

 W
o

m
en

 a
n

d
 G

ir
ls

 
W

o
rk

er
 in

 p
la

ce
 –

 w
it

h
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
ca

se
lo

ad
 o

f 
ve

ry
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 y

o
u

n
g

 w
o

m
en

 
■

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

G
an

g
s 

an
d

 C
S

E
 v

ic
ti

m
s 

m
ap

p
in

g
 w

h
ic

h
 in

cl
u

d
es

 c
ro

ss
-b

o
rd

er
 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 
■

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 C
S

E
 s

el
f-

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 
in

 t
h

e 
co

n
te

xt
 o

f 
O

fs
te

d
 g

u
id

an
ce

 o
n

 
th

e 
‘d

ee
p

 d
iv

e’
 t

h
em

e 
fo

r 
ta

rg
et

ed
 lo

ca
l 

au
th

o
ri

ty
 in

sp
ec

ti
o

n
s 

 
■

O
n

g
o

in
g

 c
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 S

ch
o

o
ls

 P
o

lic
e 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 w
it

h
 a

 p
ro

ac
ti

ve
 p

re
ve

n
ti

o
n

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

an
d

 k
ey

 li
n

k 
ro

le
 

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 C

S
E

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 

 
■

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 s

er
vi

ce

 
■

E
xt

en
d

ed
 c

ro
ss

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

 li
ai

so
n

 lo
ca

lly
 in

 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
ri

n
g

 s
p

ec
ifi

c 
lia

is
o

n
 w

it
h

 
au

th
o

ri
ti

es
 in

 w
h

o
se

 a
re

as
 M

er
to

n
 L

A
C

 a
re

 
p

la
ce

d

 
■

P
ar

ti
ci

p
at

in
g

 in
 n

ew
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ts
 –

 a
 ‘c

h
ild

 
h

o
u

se
’. 

4
.3

.2
 C

SE
 a

nd
 L

oo
ke

d
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n

T
h

er
e 

is
 a

 s
tr

o
n

g
 g

ri
p

 o
n

 t
h

e 
is

su
e 

o
f 

lo
o

ke
d

 
af

te
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 C

S
E

. S
ev

en
te

en
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 
ch

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
b

ei
n

g
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

. 
T

h
e 

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

n
d

 P
ro

te
ct

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 (
P

P
Y

P
S

) 
h

as
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 o
ve

rs
ig

h
t 

o
f 

C
S

E
 a

n
d

 lo
o

ke
d

 a
ft

er
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 o

f 
th

is
 is

su
e 

at
 e

ac
h

 
m

ee
ti

n
g

. I
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

is
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

w
h

o
 a

re
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

 a
re

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

t 
ea

ch
 M

A
S

E
 

m
ee

ti
n

g
. T

en
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

er
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
b

ei
n

g
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

.

4
.3

.3
 C

SE
 a

nd
 O

ut
 o

f 
B

or
ou

g
h 

LA
C

 C
as

es

W
e 

h
av

e 
p

la
ce

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
w

ay
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 b

ec
au

se
 o

f 
o

u
r 

co
n

ce
rn

s 
ab

o
u

t 
L

A
C

. 
F

o
r 

so
m

e 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

w
ay

 f
ro

m
 

th
ei

r 
h

o
m

e 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

ar
e 

a 
ke

y 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
e 

ca
re

 
p

la
n

 a
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

an
ti

-s
o

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

u
r 

an
d

 o
r 

ri
sk

 t
ak

in
g

 b
eh

av
io

u
rs

. F
o

r 
so

m
e 

th
e 

n
ee

d
s 

o
f 

th
e 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
re

 s
u

ch
 t

h
at

 t
h

ey
 r

eq
u

ir
e 

sp
ec

ia
lis

t 
p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 n

o
t 

av
ai

la
b

le
 in

 
M

er
to

n
 o

r 
su

rr
o

u
n

d
in

g
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
s.

 F
o

r 
al

l c
h

ild
re

n
 

b
ei

n
g

 p
la

ce
d

 o
u

ts
id

e 
o

f 
th

e 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

D
C

S
 is

 
re

q
u

ir
ed

 t
o

 s
ig

n
 o

ff
 a

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
th

e 
p

la
ce

m
en

t.
 

C
ar

e 
p

la
n

s 
fo

r 
th

es
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 
ar

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 w
h

er
e 

p
o

ss
ib

le
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
ed

 t
o

 r
et

u
rn

 t
o

 t
h

ei
r 

h
o

m
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
at

 t
h

e 
ea

rl
ie

st
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y.

 D
u

ri
n

g
 

20
16

-2
0

17
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

16
5 

lo
o

ke
d

 a
ft

er
 c

h
ild

re
n

 
w

h
o

 w
er

e 
p

la
ce

d
 o

u
t 

o
f 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 w
h

o
 w

er
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
b

ei
n

g
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

.

4
.4

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
M

is
si

ng
 f

ro
m

 H
o

m
e 

an
d

 S
ch

o
o

l

O
n

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
4

0
0

 t
o

 5
0

0
 e

p
is

o
d

es
 o

f 
m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 

h
o

m
e 

o
r 

ca
re

 a
re

 r
ep

o
rt

ed
 e

ac
h

 y
ea

r 
in

 M
er

to
n

. 
T

h
is

 e
q

u
at

es
 t

o
 b

et
w

ee
n

 6
0

 a
n

d
 8

0
 u

n
iq

u
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 e

ac
h

 q
u

ar
te

r 
w

it
h

 s
o

m
e 

se
as

o
n

al
 

ep
is

o
d

e 
in

cr
ea

se
s 

ar
o

u
n

d
 s

ch
o

o
l h

o
lid

ay
s.

 T
h

e 
m

aj
o

ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
h

o
 g

o
 m

is
si

n
g

 a
re

 a
g

ed
 

14
 t

o
 1

7,
 m

al
e 

an
d

 W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

. A
 la

rg
e 

n
u

m
b

er
 

o
f 

m
is

si
n

g
 e

p
is

o
d

es
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 in
 M

er
to

n
 r

el
at

e 
to

 
ch

ild
re

n
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 b
y 

o
th

er
 L

o
ca

l A
u

th
o

ri
ti

es
, 

b
u

t 
ar

e 
p

la
ce

d
 in

 M
er

to
n

. A
 s

m
al

l p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 g

o
 m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e 
ar

e 
kn

o
w

n
 t

o
 

b
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f 

ch
ild

 s
ex

u
al

 e
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 o

r 
ar

e 
kn

o
w

n
 

to
 b

e 
m

is
si

n
g

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, h

o
w

ev
er

 a
lm

o
st

 h
al

f 
o

f 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 g

o
 m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 c

ar
e 

ar
e 

kn
o

w
n

 t
o

 b
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

th
es

e 
o

th
er

 v
u

ln
er

ab
ili

ti
es

. 

A
ct

io
ns

 t
o

 A
d

d
re

ss
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

M
is

si
ng

 F
ro

m
 H

o
m

e 
an

d
 C

ar
e

 
■

O
n

g
o

in
g

 s
tr

en
g

th
en

in
g

 o
f 

‘M
u

lt
i A

g
en

cy
 

M
is

si
ng

 fr
o

m
 C

ar
e 

an
d

 H
o

m
e 

P
an

el
’ s

up
p

o
rt

ed
 

b
y 

a 
‘M

is
si

n
g

 d
at

as
et

’ w
h

ic
h

 id
en

ti
fi

es
 o

th
er

 
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

ti
es

 in
cl

u
d

in
g

 C
S

E
 a

n
d

 C
M

E

 
■

‘W
ee

kl
y 

M
is

si
n

g
 M

ee
ti

n
g

’ e
st

ab
lis

h
ed

 in
 

A
p

ri
l 2

0
16

 a
n

d
 e

m
b

ed
d

ed
 in

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 
to

 a
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 s
tr

en
g

th
en

 m
u

lt
i a

g
en

cy
 

o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 w

o
rk

in
g

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 c

h
ild

re
n

 
re

ce
iv

e 
ti

m
el

y 
su

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 a

 r
et

u
rn

 h
o

m
e 

in
te

rv
ie

w

 
■

P
o

lic
ie

s 
an

d
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

ar
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 t
o

 
d

el
iv

er
 a

 w
el

l-
co

o
rd

in
at

ed
 r

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
h

o
 a

re
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 a
s 

m
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 
h

o
m

e 
o

r 
ca

re
 (

R
ef

re
sh

ed
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

16
)

 
■

O
n

g
o

in
g

 u
ti

lit
y 

o
f 

P
o

lic
e 

M
is

si
n

g
 P

er
so

n
 C

o
-

o
rd

in
at

o
rs

 a
n

al
ys

is
 o

f 
re

p
ea

t 
lo

ca
ti

o
n

s 
an

d
 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

s 
fo

r 
M

B
C

 m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

 
■

Tw
o

 t
h

em
at

ic
 a

u
d

it
s 

o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
g

ed
 1

1 
to

 
14

 w
h

o
 w

er
e 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 a

s 
m

is
si

n
g

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

(N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0

13
 a

n
d

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
15

) 
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 
b

as
el

in
e 

in
te

lli
g

en
ce

 a
n

d
 r

ea
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 

 
■

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

 (
Ji

g
sa

w
4

U
) 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

a 
w

id
er

 
in

te
ra

g
en

cy
 t

ea
m

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
p

ra
ct

ic
al

 a
n

d
 

em
o

ti
o

n
al

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 p

re
ve

n
t/

re
d

u
ce

 
ep

is
o

d
es

 o
f 

g
o

in
g

 m
is

si
n

g
. J

ig
sa

w
4

U
 a

ls
o

 
p

ro
vi

d
e 

‘re
tu

rn
 h

o
m

e 
in

te
rv

ie
w

s’

 
■

W
it

h
 r

eg
ar

d
s 

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

/y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 

kn
o

w
n

 t
o

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e,
 c

as
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
f 

C
IN

/C
P

 C
Y

P
 m

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 

h
o

m
e 

is
 im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 a

n
d

 r
ec

o
rd

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

as
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
f 

L
o

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 C
h

ild
re

n
 

m
is

si
n

g
 o

r 
ab

se
n

t 
h

as
 im

p
ro

ve
d

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 1

2 
to

 1
8

 m
o

n
th

s 

 
■

A
ll 

in
-h

o
u

se
 f

o
st

er
 c

ar
er

s 
h

av
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

 
‘m

is
si

n
g

 a
n

d
 a

b
se

n
t’

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

 
■

‘C
h

ild
re

n
 M

is
si

n
g

’ p
o

lic
ie

s 
an

d
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

ar
e 

ch
ec

ke
d

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
p

la
ce

m
en

t 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 p
ro

ce
ss

. A
g

en
cy

 f
o

st
er

 
ca

re
rs

 a
n

d
 r

es
id

en
ti

al
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

re
 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 t

o
 r

ep
o

rt
 m

is
si

n
g

 e
p

is
o

d
es

 in
 a

 
ti

m
el

y 
w

ay
 t

o
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l a

n
d

 P
o

lic
e 

an
d

 
ar

e 
re

q
u

ir
ed

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l t
o

 
im

p
le

m
en

t 
sa

fe
ty

 p
la

n
s.

 

Page 18



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
24

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
25

C
hi

ld
re

n 
M

is
si

ng
 E

d
uc

at
io

n(
C

M
E

)

O
n

 a
ve

ra
g

e 
13

0
 t

o
 1

50
 O

ff
 R

o
ll 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 d

is
cu

ss
ed

 a
t 

th
e 

C
M

E
 P

an
el

 e
ac

h
 y

ea
r 

ac
ad

em
ic

 y
ea

r. 
D

u
ri

n
g

 2
0

15
/1

6
 t

h
e 

o
ff

 r
o

ll 
C

M
E

 
ar

e 
su

m
m

ar
is

ed
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

 
■

T
h

e 
m

aj
o

ri
ty

 w
er

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 in
 y

ea
rs

 7
 t

o
 1

0
 

 
■

55
%

 w
er

e 
m

al
e 

 
■

O
n

ly
 5

%
 w

er
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
S

E
N

 S
ta

te
m

en
t 

o
r 

E
H

C
P

 

 
■

5%
 w

er
e 

M
er

to
n

 L
A

C
, n

o
n

e 
w

er
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 a
n

d
 

 
■

3
%

 w
er

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

C
h

ild
 in

 N
ee

d
 P

la
n

 

 
■

9
6

%
 o

f 
al

l C
M

E
 O

ff
 r

o
ll 

ca
se

s 
d

u
ri

n
g

 2
0

15
/1

6
 

w
er

e 
ac

ti
o

n
ed

 a
n

d
 c

lo
se

d
 b

y 
th

e 
p

an
el

 
w

it
h

in
 t

h
re

e 
m

o
n

th
s.

 

C
M

E
 p

o
lic

ie
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s,
 c

o
m

p
ly

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

re
vi

se
d

 S
ta

tu
to

ry
 G

u
id

an
ce

 (
Ja

n
u

ar
y 

20
15

).
 

M
er

to
n

’s
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 W
el

fa
re

 S
er

vi
ce

 (
E

W
S

) 
p

ro
m

o
te

 a
n

d
 e

n
fo

rc
e 

re
g

u
la

r 
an

d
 p

u
n

ct
u

al
 

sc
h

o
o

l a
tt

en
d

an
ce

. E
W

S
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

ch
o

o
ls

, 
p

ar
en

ts
 a

n
d

 s
tu

d
en

ts
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 a
 c

h
ild

 o
f 

co
m

p
u

ls
o

ry
 s

ch
o

o
l a

g
e 

h
as

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 
an

d
 a

tt
en

d
s 

sc
h

o
o

l r
eg

u
la

rl
y 

an
d

 p
u

n
ct

u
al

ly
 

o
r 

re
ce

iv
es

 a
 s

u
it

ab
le

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 o

th
er

 t
h

an
 a

t 
sc

h
o

o
l a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
en

su
ri

n
g

 t
h

at
 r

is
ks

 a
re

 w
el

l 
u

n
d

er
st

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 m
in

im
is

ed
. 

C
M

E
 M

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 p
an

el
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

al
l c

h
ild

re
n

 
w

h
o

 a
re

 m
is

si
n

g
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 t

ra
ck

s 
ac

ti
o

n
s 

to
 r

et
u

rn
 t

h
em

 t
o

 f
u

ll 
ti

m
e 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

, t
h

is
 p

an
el

 
m

ee
ts

 m
o

n
th

ly
.

A
ll 

re
fe

rr
al

s 
to

 t
h

e 
M

A
S

H
 a

re
 s

cr
ee

n
ed

 b
y 

an
 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 o
ffi

ce
r 

to
 c

h
ec

k 
if

 t
h

ey
 a

re
 k

n
o

w
n

 t
o

 
b

e 
m

is
si

n
g

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, t

h
is

 in
te

lli
g

en
ce

 f
ac

to
rs

 
in

to
 M

A
S

H
 R

A
G

 r
at

in
g

. B
ri

efi
n

g
s 

ar
e 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 t

o
 

p
ri

m
ar

y 
an

d
 s

ec
o

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l h
ea

d
 t

ea
ch

er
s 

o
n

 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 r

is
ks

 a
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 w
it

h
 a

b
se

n
ce

 f
ro

m
 

sc
h

o
o

l a
n

d
 a

re
 r

ei
n

fo
rc

ed
 in

 t
er

m
ly

 d
es

ig
n

at
ed

 
te

ac
h

er
s’

 e
ve

n
ts

.

A
ct

io
n 

Ta
ke

n 
To

 A
d

d
re

ss
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

M
is

si
ng

 f
ro

m
 

Sc
ho

o
l

 
■

S
tr

en
g

th
en

ed
 t

h
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 
o

f 
th

e 
m

u
lt

i-
d

is
ci

p
lin

ar
y 

H
ar

d
 t

o
 P

la
ce

 a
n

d
 

C
M

E
 P

an
el

s

 
■

Im
p

le
m

en
te

d
 a

 C
h

ro
n

ic
 A

b
se

n
ce

 P
ro

je
ct

 in
 

re
sp

o
n

se
 t

o
 a

n
 S

C
R

 fi
n

d
in

g
 w

it
h

 a
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 

p
u

p
ils

 w
it

h
 c

h
ro

n
ic

 a
b

se
n

ce
 p

re
-t

ra
n

si
ti

o
n

 
to

 s
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l. 

U
n

d
er

to
o

k 
a 

p
o

st
 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 im

p
ac

t 
re

vi
ew

 t
o

 t
ak

e 
fo

rw
ar

d
 t

h
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 

 
■

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 o
u

r 
st

ro
n

g
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 w

it
h

 
lo

w
 le

ve
ls

 o
f 

N
E

E
T

 a
n

d
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
re

d
u

ct
io

n
 o

f 
n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 in

 
th

e 
“N

o
t 

K
n

o
w

n
” 

ca
te

g
o

ry

 
■

C
M

E
/P

A
 p

ro
to

co
ls

 b
et

w
ee

n
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 
an

d
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 s
tr

en
g

th
en

ed
 

w
it

h
 r

eg
u

la
r 

re
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
o

 C
S

F
 C

o
n

ti
n

u
o

u
s 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
B

o
ar

d

 
■

B
ri

efi
n

g
s 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 t

o
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

an
d

 
S

ec
o

n
d

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

l h
ea

d
 t

ea
ch

er
s 

o
n

 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 r

is
ks

 a
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 w
it

h
 a

b
se

n
ce

 
fr

o
m

 s
ch

o
o

l a
n

d
 r

ei
n

fo
rc

ed
 a

s 
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

in
 t

er
m

ly
 d

es
ig

n
at

ed
 t

ea
ch

er
s’

 e
ve

n
ts

 
■

S
p

ec
ifi

c 
g

u
id

an
ce

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 t

o
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 o
n

 
fo

rc
ed

 m
ar

ri
ag

e,
 f

em
al

e 
g

en
it

al
 m

u
ti

la
ti

o
n

, 
ch

ild
 t

ra
ffi

ck
in

g
 a

n
d

 P
re

ve
n

t

 
■

C
o

n
ti

n
u

ed
 t

o
 im

p
ro

ve
 s

ch
o

o
l a

tt
en

d
an

ce
 

an
d

 m
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 o
u

r 
st

ro
n

g
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 

p
re

ve
n

ti
n

g
 p

er
m

an
en

t 
ex

cl
u

si
o

n
s

 
■

D
ev

el
o

p
ed

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 a

n
d

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
r’

s 
se

tt
in

g
s 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
u

d
it

 t
o

o
l a

n
d

 g
u

id
an

ce

 
■

A
d

o
p

te
d

 a
 v

ig
ila

n
t 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 

in
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 

n
o

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

u
n

re
g

is
te

re
d

 s
ch

o
o

ls

 
■

S
tr

en
g

th
en

ed
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 W
el

fa
re

 S
er

vi
ce

 
fo

cu
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
h

o
m

e 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
 p

ro
ce

ss
 

w
h

er
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 o
p

t 
to

 e
d

u
ca

te
 c

h
ild

re
n

 o
th

er
 

th
an

 a
t 

sc
h

o
o

l (
E

O
TA

S
).

 A
ct

io
n

 is
 t

ak
en

 
b

y 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 u
n

re
g

is
te

re
d

 
sc

h
o

o
ls

, w
e 

ar
e 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 a
n

d
 

lia
is

in
g

 w
it

h
 O

fs
te

d
 w

h
er

e 
n

ec
es

sa
ry

 

 
■

O
n

g
o

in
g

 c
o

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 S

ch
o

o
ls

 P
o

lic
e 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 w
it

h
 a

 p
ro

ac
ti

ve
 p

re
ve

n
ti

o
n

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

an
d

 k
ey

 li
n

k 
ro

le
 

 
■

R
o

lle
d

 o
u

t 
ch

an
g

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 P

u
p

il 
R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

 R
eg

u
la

ti
o

n
s 

20
16

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 o
n

 
an

d
 o

ff
 r

o
lli

n
g

 
■

F
u

rt
h

er
 d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 t

h
e 

C
M

E
 p

an
el

 d
at

as
et

 
an

d
 in

te
lli

g
en

ce
 a

n
al

ys
is

 

 
■

C
o

n
so

lid
at

ed
 s

ch
o

o
l p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

an
d

 
fu

rt
h

er
 d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 t

h
e 

M
er

to
n

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

, u
se

d
 f

o
ru

m
s 

to
 h

ig
h

lig
h

t 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
. D

ev
el

o
p

ed
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 e

ar
ly

 
ye

ar
s 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
u

d
it

 t
o

o
l a

n
d

 g
u

id
an

ce
 

(I
n

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
rs

 a
ll 

fu
n

d
ed

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 

ta
rg

et
ed

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 s
et

ti
n

g
s)

.

4
.5

 P
re

ve
nt

 

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

g
u

id
an

ce
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 t
o

 t
h

e 
m

es
sa

g
es

 
o

f 
ra

d
ic

al
is

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 v
io

le
n

t 
ex

tr
em

is
m

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 w

o
rk

s 
w

it
h

 S
af

er
 

M
er

to
n

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 t

h
er

e 
is

 s
tr

o
n

g
 g

ri
p

 a
n

d
 

cl
ea

r 
o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
al

l p
re

ve
n

t 
ca

se
s 

in
vo

lv
in

g
 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

. T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 w

o
rk

ed
 h

ar
d

, a
lo

n
g

 
w

it
h

 S
af

er
 a

n
d

 S
tr

o
n

g
er

, t
o

 a
ch

ie
ve

d
 s

tr
o

n
g

 
en

g
ag

em
en

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
‘P

re
ve

n
t’

 a
g

en
d

a 
in

vo
lv

in
g

 
ke

y 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 p
o

lic
e,

 s
ch

o
o

ls
, e

ar
ly

 y
ea

rs
 

se
tt

in
g

s 
an

d
 w

it
h

 f
ai

th
, v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

ec
to

r 
an

d
 

w
id

er
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s.

 

4
.6

 F
em

al
e 

G
en

it
al

 M
ut

ila
ti

o
n

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

G
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 F

em
al

e 
G

en
it

al
 M

u
ti

la
ti

o
n

 (
F

G
M

) 
an

d
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
b

ri
efi

n
g

s 
an

d
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

es
si

o
n

s 
o

n
 F

G
M

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

ls
o

 p
re

p
ar

ed
 a

n
 F

G
M

 
le

afl
et

 t
h

at
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

b
le

 t
o

 p
ar

en
ts

 
an

d
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
b

o
th

 o
n

lin
e 

an
d

 in
 p

ri
n

t.
 T

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ls

o
 p

ro
vi

d
es

 ‘r
ed

 a
le

rt
’ b

ri
efi

n
g

s 
to

 M
er

to
n

 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 a
ro

u
n

d
 E

as
te

r 
an

d
 S

u
m

m
er

 h
o

lid
ay

s,
 

w
h

ic
h

 h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
ke

y 
ri

sk
 p

er
io

d
s 

fo
r 

F
G

M
 d

u
e 

to
 t

h
e 

le
n

g
th

 o
f 

th
e 

h
o

lid
ay

 p
er

io
d

. 
T

h
er

e 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 t

w
o

 c
as

es
 w

h
er

e 
F

G
M

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
a 

ri
sk

 f
ac

to
r.

Page 19



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
26

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
27

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 (

M
S

C
B

) 
is

 t
h

e 
L

o
ca

l S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 f

o
r 

M
er

to
n

. L
o

ca
l S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

s 
(L

S
C

B
s)

 h
av

e 
a 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

ro
le

s 
an

d
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 
fu

n
ct

io
n

s.
 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

3
 o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 A
ct

 2
0

0
4

 r
eq

u
ir

es
 e

ac
h

 
lo

ca
l a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 t

o
 e

st
ab

lis
h

 a
 L

o
ca

l S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 f
o

r 
th

ei
r 

ar
ea

 a
n

d
 s

p
ec

ifi
es

 t
h

e 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s 
an

d
 in

d
iv

id
u

al
s 

(o
th

er
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 
lo

ca
l a

u
th

o
ri

ty
) 

th
at

 t
h

e 
S

ec
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te
 

m
ay

 p
re

sc
ri

b
e 

in
 r

eg
u

la
ti

o
n

s 
th

at
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e 

re
p

re
se

n
te

d
 o

n
 L

S
C

B
s.

 

C
h

ild
re

n
 A

ct
 2

0
0

4
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
4

 s
et

s 
o

u
t 

th
e 

o
b

je
ct

iv
es

 o
f 

L
S

C
B

s,
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
: 

(a
) 

to
 c

o
o

rd
in

at
e 

w
h

at
 is

 d
o

n
e 

b
y 

ea
ch

 p
er

so
n

 o
r 

b
o

d
y 

re
p

re
se

n
te

d
 o

n
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 f
o

r 
th

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

s 
o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

w
el

fa
re

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 t

h
e 

ar
ea

; a
n

d
 

(b
) 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s 
o

f 
w

h
at

 is
 d

o
n

e 
b

y 
ea

ch
 s

u
ch

 p
er

so
n

 o
r 

b
o

d
y 

fo
r 

th
o

se
 p

u
rp

o
se

s.
 

T
h

e 
L

S
C

B
 is

 n
o

t 
an

 o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 b

o
d

y 
an

d
 h

as
 n

o
 

d
ir

ec
t 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 f
o

r 
th

e 
p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

, f
am

ili
es

 o
r 

ad
u

lt
s.

 It
s 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 

ar
e 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 p

la
n

n
in

g
, c

o
-o

rd
in

at
io

n
, a

d
vi

so
ry

, 
p

o
lic

y,
 g

u
id

an
ce

, s
et

ti
n

g
 o

f 
st

an
d

ar
d

s 
an

d
 

m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

. I
t 

ca
n

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 b

u
t 

is
 n

o
t 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 t

o
 d

o
 s

o
. 

T
h

e 
d

el
iv

er
y 

o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
o

 c
h

ild
re

n
, f

am
ili

es
 a

n
d

 
ad

u
lt

s 
is

 t
h

e 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 
an

d
 p

ro
vi

d
er

 a
g

en
ci

es
, t

h
e 

P
ar

tn
er

s,
 n

o
t 

th
e 

L
S

C
B

 it
se

lf.
 

5.
0

St
at

ut
o

ry
 a

nd
 L

eg
is

la
ti

ve
 C

o
nt

ex
t R

eg
u

la
ti

o
n

 5
 o

f 
th

e 
Lo

ca
l S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
B

oa
rd

s 
R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 2

0
0

6 
se

ts
 o

ut
 L

S
C

B
 d

ut
ie

s 
as

: 

5.
1 

(a
) 

 d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 p

o
lic

ie
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
fo

r 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

w
el

fa
re

 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 t
h

e 
ar

ea
 o

f 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 p

o
lic

ie
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
in

 
re

la
ti

o
n

 t
o

:

(i
) 

 t
h

e 
ac

ti
o

n
 t

o
 b

e 
ta

ke
n

 w
h

er
e 

th
er

e 
ar

e 
co

n
ce

rn
s 

ab
o

u
t 

a 
ch

ild
’s

 s
af

et
y 

o
r 

w
el

fa
re

, i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
s 

fo
r 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
; 

(i
i)

  
tr

ai
n

in
g

 o
f 

p
er

so
n

s 
w

h
o

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 
ch

ild
re

n
 o

r 
in

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
aff

ec
ti

n
g

 t
h

e 
sa

fe
ty

 a
n

d
 w

el
fa

re
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
;

(i
ii)

  r
ec

ru
it

m
en

t 
an

d
 s

u
p

er
vi

si
o

n
 o

f 
p

er
so

n
s 

w
h

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

;

(i
v)

 in
ve

st
ig

at
io

n
 o

f 
al

le
g

at
io

n
s 

co
n

ce
rn

in
g

 
p

er
so

n
s 

w
h

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

;

(v
) 

 s
af

et
y 

an
d

 w
el

fa
re

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
h

o
 a

re
 

p
ri

va
te

ly
 f

o
st

er
ed

;

5.
1 

(b
) 

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

in
g

 t
o

 p
er

so
n

s 
an

d
 b

o
d

ie
s 

in
 t

h
e 

ar
ea

 o
f 

th
e 

au
th

o
ri

ty
 t

h
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
w

el
fa

re
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
, r

ai
si

n
g

 t
h

ei
r 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
o

f 
h

o
w

 
th

is
 c

an
 b

es
t 

b
e 

d
o

n
e 

an
d

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

in
g

 
th

em
 t

o
 d

o
 s

o
; 

5
.1 

(c
) 

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 a
n

d
 e

va
lu

at
in

g
 t

h
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s 
o

f 
w

h
at

 is
 d

o
n

e 
b

y 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 a
n

d
 t

h
ei

r 
B

o
ar

d
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

ly
 a

n
d

 c
o

lle
ct

iv
el

y 
to

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

 
an

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
w

el
fa

re
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
ad

vi
si

n
g

 t
h

em
 o

n
 w

ay
s 

to
 im

p
ro

ve

5.
1 

(d
) 

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

in
g

 in
 t

h
e 

p
la

n
n

in
g

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 

R
eg

u
la

ti
o

n
 5

 (
2)

 r
el

at
es

 t
o

 t
h

e 
L

S
C

B
 S

er
io

u
s 

C
as

e 
R

ev
ie

w
s 

fu
n

ct
io

n
 a

n
d

 r
eg

u
la

ti
o

n
 6

 r
el

at
es

 t
o

 t
h

e 
L

S
C

B
 C

h
ild

 D
ea

th
 f

u
n

ct
io

n
s.

 

R
eg

u
la

ti
o

n
 5

 (
3

) 
o

ff
er

s 
th

at
 a

n
 L

S
C

B
 m

ay
 a

ls
o

 
en

g
ag

e 
in

 a
ny

 o
th

er
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

th
at

 f
ac

ili
ta

te
s,

 o
r 

is
 

co
n

d
u

ci
ve

 t
o

, t
h

e 
ac

h
ie

ve
m

en
t 

o
f 

it
s 

o
b

je
ct

iv
es

.

T
h

es
e 

d
u

ti
es

 a
re

 f
u

rt
h

er
 c

la
ri

fi
ed

 in
 t

h
e 

st
at

u
to

ry
 

g
u

id
an

ce
: W

o
rk

in
g

 T
o

g
et

h
er

 t
o

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

 
C

h
ild

re
n

: A
 g

u
id

e 
to

 in
te

r-
ag

en
cy

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
w

el
fa

re
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
, 

20
15

, C
h

ap
te

r 
3

 (
W

T
 2

0
15

) 

L
S

C
B

 d
u

ti
es

 a
re

 s
p

ec
ifi

ed
 in

 W
T

 2
0

15
, C

h
ap

te
rs

 3
, 

4
 a

n
d

 5
, w

it
h

 a
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 t
o

 h
av

e 
o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
si

n
g

le
 a

g
en

cy
 a

n
d

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 
p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 w

el
fa

re
 (

u
n

d
er

 C
h

ild
re

n
 

A
ct

 2
0

0
4

, s
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1, 
se

e 
th

e 
fo

o
tn

o
te

 o
n

 p
ag

e 
3

3
) 

as
 s

et
 o

u
t 

in
 W

T
 c

h
ap

te
rs

 1
 a

n
d

 2
. 

T
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

A
ct

 2
0

17
 r

ec
ei

ve
d

 
R

o
ya

l A
sc

en
t 

o
n

 2
7t

h
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

17
. T

h
e 

A
ct

 w
ill

 
ab

o
lis

h
 L

S
C

B
s,

 r
ep

la
ci

n
g

 t
h

em
 w

it
h

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s,

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

20
0

4
 le

g
is

la
ti

ve
 f

ra
m

ew
o

rk
. 

It
 is

 e
xp

ec
te

d
 t

h
at

 a
 r

ev
is

ed
 W

o
rk

in
g

 T
o

g
et

h
er

 t
o

 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 r
eg

u
la

ti
o

n
s 

w
ill

 
b

e 
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 in
 la

te
 2

0
17

 o
r 

ea
rl

y 
20

18
.

Page 20



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
28

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
29

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

 r
o

lli
n

g
 2

4
-m

o
n

th
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
P

la
n

, 
to

 b
e 

re
fr

es
h

ed
 e

ac
h

 M
ar

ch
 f

o
r 

th
e 

b
u

si
n

es
s 

ye
ar

 
st

ar
ti

n
g

 e
ac

h
 A

p
ri

l. 
T

h
e 

u
p

d
at

e 
o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

P
la

n
 f

o
r 

20
17

-2
0

19
, a

g
re

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

in
 J

u
n

e 
20

16
, i

s 
at

ta
ch

ed
 a

s 
A

p
p

en
d

ix
 1

. T
h

e 
B

u
si

n
es

s 
P

la
n

 o
u

tl
in

es
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

20
17

-2
0

19
 a

n
d

 w
as

 a
g

re
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
t 

it
s 

an
n

u
al

 A
w

ay
 D

ay
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

. P
ri

o
ri

ty
 it

em
s 

ca
n

 
b

e 
ad

d
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
ye

ar
. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 m

ee
ts

 t
h

re
e 

ti
m

es
 p

er
 y

ea
r 

in
 h

al
f-

d
ay

 
b

u
si

n
es

s 
m

ee
ti

n
g

s;
 a

n
d

 in
 a

 B
u

si
n

es
s 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 
A

w
ay

 D
ay

 o
n

ce
 p

er
 y

ea
r, 

in
 M

ar
ch

. T
h

e 
B

u
si

n
es

s 
Im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 G
ro

u
p

 o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 m
ee

ts
 f

o
u

r 
ti

m
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r. 
T

h
e 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 o

f 
th

e 
ac

ti
o

n
s 

ag
re

ed
 

in
 t

h
e 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

P
la

n
 is

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

t 
ea

ch
 m

ee
ti

n
g

. 
E

ac
h

 S
u

b
 G

ro
u

p
 h

as
 a

n
 a

g
re

ed
 W

o
rk

 P
la

n
 a

n
d

 
ea

ch
 S

u
b

 G
ro

u
p

 r
ep

o
rt

s 
to

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 a

t 
ea

ch
 

B
o

ar
d

 m
ee

ti
n

g
.

M
em

b
er

sh
ip

4
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 in

cl
u

d
es

 t
h

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 
st

at
u

to
ry

 p
ar

tn
er

s:

 
■

T
h

e 
M

et
ro

p
o

lit
an

 P
o

lic
e 

S
er

vi
ce

, B
o

ro
u

g
h

 
C

o
m

m
an

d
er

 

 
■

T
h

e 
N

at
io

n
al

 P
ro

b
at

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

R
eh

ab
ili

ta
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
p

an
ie

s 

 
■

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 O

ff
en

d
in

g
 T

ea
m

 

 
■

N
H

S
 E

n
g

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 M
er

to
n

 C
lin

ic
al

 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 
re

p
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

 f
ro

m
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 H
ea

lt
h

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

 
■

C
A

F
C

A
S

S
. 

 

M
em

b
er

sh
ip

 o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ls

o
 in

cl
u

d
es

:

 
■

A
ss

is
ta

n
t 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

an
d

 Y
o

u
th

 In
cl

u
si

o
n

 
■

A
ss

is
ta

n
t 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 
■

T
h

e 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

, M
er

to
n

 
■

R
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 a

n
d

 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

ec
to

r

 
■

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

 
■

R
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
ve

s 
fr

o
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

, i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
s.

 T
h

er
e 

is
 a

ls
o

 s
tr

o
n

g
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

n
d

 in
fl

u
en

ce
 

b
et

w
ee

n
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

an
d

 t
h

ei
r 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
s:

 
■

T
h

e 
H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
el

l-
B

ei
n

g
 B

o
ar

d
 

 
■

T
h

e 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

ar
en

ti
n

g
 B

o
ar

d
 

 
■

T
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 

 
■

T
h

e 
S

af
er

 a
n

d
 S

tr
o

n
g

er
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
.

6
.0

M
SC

B
 In

te
r-

re
la

ti
o

ns
hi

p
s 

an
d

 In
fl

ue
nc

e 
w

it
h 

o
th

er
 K

ey
 P

ar
tn

er
s

4
 

T
h

e 
st

ru
ct

u
re

 a
n

d
 m

em
b

er
sh

ip
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 in
cl

u
d

ed
 in

 
th

is
 r

ep
o

rt
 a

s 
A

p
p

en
d

ic
es

 4
 a

n
d

 5
.

T
h

e 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 a
n

d
 o

ve
rs

ee
n

 
th

ro
u

g
h

 e
ac

h
 o

f 
it

s 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

s.

7.
1 

Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
 S

ub
-G

ro
up

T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

Q
u

al
it

y 
A

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 (

Q
A

) 
S

u
b

-
G

ro
u

p
 is

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

ed
 a

n
d

 p
ro

te
ct

ed
 b

y 
o

ve
rs

ee
in

g
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
si

n
g

le
 a

n
d

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 w

o
rk

 c
ar

ri
ed

 
o

u
t 

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

cr
o

ss
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 s

ec
to

r. 

T
h

e 
Q

A
 S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 u
n

d
er

to
o

k 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 in
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
:

 
■

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
 3

 t
h

em
ed

 m
u

lt
i a

g
en

cy
 a

u
d

it
s.

 
T

h
e 

th
em

es
 f

o
r 

ea
ch

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 a

u
d

it
 a

re
 

as
 f

o
llo

w
s:

– 
C

h
ild

re
n

 W
it

h
 D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
 M

ay
 2

0
17

– 
C

h
ild

 S
ex

u
al

 A
b

u
se

 a
n

d
 T

h
re

sh
o

ld
 

D
ec

is
io

n
s 

in
 C

h
ild

 S
ex

u
al

 A
b

u
se

 C
as

e 
O

ct
o

b
er

 2
0

17

– 
L

iv
e 

L
ea

rn
in

g
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

A
u

d
it

 o
n

 t
h

e 
T

h
em

e 
o

f 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
u

se
 J

an
u

ar
y 

20
17

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 M

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 D

at
as

et

 
■

M
o

n
it

o
re

d
 le

ar
n

in
g

 f
ro

m
 S

C
R

s,
 L

iR
s,

 a
n

d
 

th
e 

A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
s 

co
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

 B
 

S
C

R
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
B

ab
y 

C
 L

iR
 

 
■

D
is

se
m

in
at

ed
 le

ar
n

in
g

 f
ro

m
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
au

d
it

s 

 
■

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 a
n

 o
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
es

ca
la

ti
o

n
s 

to
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

. 

7.
2 

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

nd
 P

ro
te

ct
 Y

o
un

g
 P

eo
p

le
 S

ub
-

G
ro

up

T
h

e 
P

ro
m

o
te

 a
n

d
 P

ro
te

ct
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 (
P

P
Y

P
) 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 m

et
 8

 t
im

es
 in

 2
0

16
-2

0
17

. T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 
o

f 
th

e 
P

P
Y

P
 is

 t
o

 t
ak

e 
o

ve
ra

ll 
le

ad
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 
o

n
 b

eh
al

f 
o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

ar
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 u

p
-t

o
-d

at
e 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

o
lic

ie
s,

 
p

ro
to

co
ls

 a
n

d
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
re

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

ed
 a

n
d

 p
ro

te
ct

ed
 

an
d

 t
h

ei
r 

w
el

fa
re

 is
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
; c

o
n

ce
n

tr
at

in
g

 
o

n
 e

xt
ra

-f
am

ili
al

 a
b

u
se

 w
h

er
e 

th
er

e 
is

 r
is

k 
o

f 
ab

u
se

 o
u

ts
id

e 
th

e 
fa

m
ily

. P
P

Y
P

 is
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

le
 

fo
r 

p
o

lic
ie

s 
re

la
ti

n
g

 t
o

 is
su

es
 li

ke
 C

S
E

, c
h

ild
re

n
 

7.
0

M
SC

B
 S

ub
-G

ro
up

s

m
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 h
o

m
e,

 c
ar

e 
o

r 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
, c

h
ild

 o
n

 
ch

ild
 a

b
u

se
, o

th
er

 f
o

rm
s 

o
f 

ex
p

lo
it

at
io

n
 (

su
ch

 
as

 r
ad

ic
al

iz
at

io
n

),
 e

-s
af

et
y,

 t
ra

ffi
ck

in
g

, a
b

u
se

 
b

y 
th

o
se

 in
 a

 p
o

si
ti

o
n

 o
f 

tr
u

st
 o

r 
in

 in
st

it
u

ti
o

n
s 

– 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 f

ai
th

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s 

an
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s;

 a
n

d
 p

o
lic

ie
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
in

 
re

la
ti

o
n

 t
o

 a
lle

g
at

io
n

s 
ag

ai
n

st
 t

h
o

se
 in

 a
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 

o
f 

tr
u

st
 (

L
o

ca
l A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 D

es
ig

n
at

ed
 O

ffi
ce

r 
(L

A
D

O
) 

re
fe

rr
al

s)
. 

In
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
 P

P
Y

P
 u

n
d

er
to

o
k 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 p

ie
ce

s 
o

f 
w

o
rk

 o
n

 b
eh

al
f 

o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

:

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
at

ed
 G

u
id

an
ce

 f
o

r 
P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
W

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 M
ay

 B
e 

V
u

ln
er

ab
le

 t
o

 
th

e 
M

es
sa

g
es

 o
f 

R
ad

ic
al

is
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 V

io
le

n
t 

E
xt

re
m

is
m

 
■

O
ve

rs
aw

 t
h

e 
w

o
rk

 t
h

e 
M

A
S

E
 P

an
el

 a
n

d
 

P
er

so
n

s 
o

f 
C

o
n

ce
rn

 P
an

el

 
■

M
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

 
M

is
si

n
g

 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e,
 s

ch
o

o
l a

n
d

 c
ar

e

 
■

O
ve

rs
aw

 t
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

R
ev

ie
w

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
at

ed
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 C

S
E

 
P

ro
to

co
l f

o
r 

ap
p

ro
va

l b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
at

ed
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 C

S
E

 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

fo
r 

ap
p

ro
va

l b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
■

M
o

n
it

o
re

d
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
re

d
 t

h
e 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

o
f 

th
e 

C
S

E
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

 
■

E
n

su
re

d
 t

h
e 

d
el

iv
er

y 
o

f 
th

e 
C

S
E

 A
w

ar
en

es
s 

E
ve

n
ts

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
B

o
ro

u
g

h

 
■

R
ev

is
ed

 a
n

d
 U

p
d

at
ed

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
’s

 M
is

si
n

g
 

P
an

el
 T

er
m

s 
o

f 
R

ef
er

en
ce

 f
o

r 
ap

p
ro

va
l b

y 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
at

ed
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 O

n
lin

e 
S

af
et

y 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

fo
r 

ap
p

ro
va

l b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
■

P
re

p
ar

ed
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

’s
 H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 

B
eh

av
io

u
r 

P
ro

to
co

l f
o

r 
ap

p
ro

va
l b

y 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
. 

7.
3 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

Su
b

 G
ro

up

T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

Le
ar

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 is

 t
o

 t
ak

e 
th

e 
o

ve
ra

ll 
le

ad
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

, 
o

n
 b

eh
al

f 
o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
, t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

ar
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 in

 p
la

ce
 s

o
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 w
o

rk
fo

rc
e 

is
 u

p
 t

o
 d

at
e 

in
 k

n
o

w
le

d
g

e 
an

d
 

Page 21



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

0
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

3
1

sk
ill

s 
fo

r 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 
th

ei
r 

w
el

fa
re

. T
h

e 
Le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 a
ls

o
 p

la
n

s 
an

d
 d

el
iv

er
s 

th
e 

Jo
in

t 
M

S
C

B
/C

S
C

/C
S

F
 M

u
lt

i-
A

g
en

cy
 A

n
n

u
al

 C
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
 

fo
r 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

an
d

 m
an

ag
er

s.
 T

h
e 

ai
m

 o
f 

th
e 

co
n

fe
re

n
ce

 is
 t

o
 in

cr
ea

se
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ts
 

in
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 t
o

 e
n

g
ag

e 
in

 d
ia

lo
g

u
e 

w
it

h
 

fr
o

n
tl

in
e 

p
ra

ct
ic

e.
 W

e 
al

so
 a

im
, w

h
er

e 
p

o
ss

ib
le

, t
o

 
in

vo
lv

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
.

7.
3.

1 
M

SC
B

 J
oi

nt
 C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
W

it
h 

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

an
d

 C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

Sc
ho

ol
s 

an
d

 F
am

ili
es

 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 a

n
d

 C
S

F
 J

o
in

t 
C

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

, B
eh

in
d

 
C

lo
se

d
 D

o
o

rs
: W

o
rk

in
g

 t
h

e 
C

o
m

p
le

xi
ti

es
 o

f 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
u

se
 in

cl
u

d
ed

 o
ve

r 
14

0
 a

tt
en

d
ee

s 
fr

o
m

 
a 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 b

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

s,
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

h
ea

lt
h

, t
h

at
 is

, t
h

e 
C

lin
ic

al
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
, 

C
en

tr
al

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

H
ea

lt
h

 C
ar

e,
 P

u
b

lic
 

H
ea

lt
h

, e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, y

o
u

th
 in

cl
u

si
o

n
, c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 

so
ci

al
 c

ar
e,

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
d

u
lt

s,
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

, 
p

ro
b

at
io

n
, t

h
e 

m
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e 
S

er
vi

ce
, a

n
d

 
vo

lu
n

ta
ry

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s.

T
he

 e
ve

nt
 f

ea
tu

re
d

 a
 K

ey
no

te
 A

d
d

re
ss

 f
ro

m
 J

o
 

K
eo

g
h 

M
B

E
. J

o
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

co
m

m
it

te
d

 t
o

 s
up

p
o

rt
in

g
 

th
e 

vi
ct

im
s 

an
d

 s
ur

vi
vo

rs
 o

f 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
us

e 
fo

r 
ov

er
 1

5 
ye

ar
s.

 S
he

 w
as

 a
w

ar
d

ed
 a

n 
M

B
E

 in
 2

0
13

 
an

d
 t

he
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

ne
rs

 C
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
us

e 
A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t 

aw
ar

d
s 

in
 2

0
14

. J
o

’s
 

ad
d

re
ss

 f
o

cu
se

d
 o

n 
co

er
ci

ve
 c

o
nt

ro
l a

nd
 t

he
 n

ee
d

 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

o
 b

e 
se

ns
it

iv
e 

to
 t

he
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

es
 o

f 
vi

ct
im

s 
w

ho
 s

ho
ul

d
 b

e 
re

co
g

ni
se

d
 a

s 
su

rv
iv

o
rs

. 
Jo

’s
 p

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

ca
m

e 
al

iv
e 

w
it

h 
th

e 
co

nt
ri

b
ut

io
n

 
o

f 
V

ic
to

ri
a,

 w
ho

 is
 a

 s
ur

vi
vo

r 
o

f 
d

o
m

es
ti

c 
ab

us
e.

 
V

ic
to

ri
a 

b
ra

ve
ly

 s
ha

re
d

 h
er

 s
to

ry
 w

it
h 

th
e 

co
nf

er
en

ce
 a

nd
 e

xp
la

in
ed

 t
he

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 b

al
an

ce
 

co
m

p
as

si
o

n 
w

it
h 

a 
ro

b
us

t 
ap

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 w

o
rk

in
g

 
w

it
h 

b
o

th
 v

ic
ti

m
s 

an
d

 p
er

p
et

ra
to

rs
. S

he
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

ed
 

th
e 

ne
ed

 t
o

 b
ui

ld
 t

ru
st

, a
nd

 f
o

r 
p

ra
ct

it
io

ne
rs

 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d

 t
he

 le
ve

l o
f 

co
nt

ro
l e

xe
rt

ed
 b

y 
p

er
p

et
ra

to
rs

 a
nd

 t
he

 le
ve

l o
f 

fe
ar

 a
nd

 t
ra

um
a 

ex
p

er
ie

nc
ed

 b
y 

su
rv

iv
o

rs
 a

nd
 t

o
 b

e 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
lly

 
cu

ri
o

us
 a

nd
 a

sk
 t

he
 d

iffi
cu

lt
 q

ue
st

io
ns

.

T
h

e 
co

n
fe

re
n

ce
 a

ls
o

 f
ea

tu
re

d
 s

ix
 w

o
rk

sh
o

p
s 

b
y 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

an
d

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

h
ic

h
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 

fa
m

ili
es

 in
 t

h
e 

M
er

to
n

 a
re

a:

Ta
b

le
 1

1:
 M

SC
B

 T
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

20
16

-2
0

17

A
p

ri
l

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

A
ug

Se
p

t
O

ct
N

ov
D

ec
Ja

n
Fe

b
M

ar
To

ta
l

P
la

n
n

ed
 e

ve
n

ts
6

7
13

6
0

10
8

11
3

7
7

9
8

7

A
d

d
ed

 e
ve

n
ts

1
2

1
1

1
6

C
an

ce
lle

d
 e

ve
n

ts
4

2
5

0
0

0
2

4
1

1
0

4
23

A
ct

u
al

 e
ve

n
ts

2
5

8
6

0
10

7
9

2
7

8
5

6
9

B
o

o
ke

d
28

59
9

3
77

0
20

0
12

1
14

4
20

10
7

11
3

18
5

11
4

7

A
ct

ua
l n

um
b

er
 o

f 
at

te
nd

ee
s

20
6

9
6

9
53

0
16

7
9

0
11

5
23

9
8

9
8

19
1

9
9

3

 
■

W
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 M
u

lt
i-

A
g

en
cy

 R
is

k 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
C

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

s 
(M

A
R

A
C

) 
H

ig
h

 
R

is
k 

V
ic

ti
m

s 
an

d
 R

es
p

o
n

se
 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
Im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
D

V
 o

n
 

F
am

ily
 L

ife
 

 
■

W
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 P
er

p
et

ra
to

rs
, B

u
ild

in
g

 B
et

te
r 

R
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
s

 
■

H
o

u
si

n
g

 f
o

r 
W

o
m

en
 –

 L
ife

 in
 t

h
e 

R
ef

u
g

e

 
■

D
o

m
es

ti
c 

V
io

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h
 –

 
S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 V

ic
ti

m
s 

o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

jo
u

rn
ey

 

 
■

D
o

m
es

ti
c 

V
io

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 H
ea

lt
h

 O
u

tc
o

m
es

 –
 

Im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

D
V

 o
n

 H
ea

lt
h

. 

T
h

e 
C

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

 w
as

 c
o

n
cl

u
d

ed
 w

it
h

 a
 D

ra
m

at
ic

 
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 b

y 
A

lt
er

E
g

o
 C

re
at

iv
e 

S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s.
 T

h
e 

d
ra

m
a,

 e
n

ti
tl

ed
 B

eh
in

d
 C

lo
se

d
 D

o
o

rs
, h

el
p

ed
 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

to
 u

n
d

er
st

an
d

:

 
■

T
h

e 
co

m
p

le
xi

ti
es

 o
f 

D
o

m
es

ti
c 

A
b

u
se

, 
C

o
er

ci
ve

 C
o

n
tr

o
l &

 S
ta

lk
in

g

 
■

T
h

e 
W

ar
n

in
g

 S
ig

n
s/

R
is

k 
F

ac
to

rs

 
■

W
hy

 v
ic

ti
m

s 
m

ay
 n

o
t 

te
ll 

an
yo

n
e,

 m
ay

 n
o

t 
w

is
h

 t
o

 p
ro

se
cu

te
, m

ay
 r

et
ra

ct
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, 

m
ay

 ju
st

if
y 

w
h

at
 is

 h
ap

p
en

in
g

 t
o

 t
h

em
, 

m
ay

 n
o

t 
ev

en
 s

ee
 t

h
em

se
lv

es
 a

s 
vi

ct
im

s 
in

 
th

e 
fi

rs
t 

p
la

ce
 a

n
d

 m
ay

 fi
g

h
t 

ag
ai

n
st

 a
ny

 
in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

 
■

T
h

e 
im

p
o

rt
an

ce
 o

f 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 R

is
k 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

 
■

H
o

w
 t

o
 s

ig
n

-p
o

st
 t

o
 r

el
ev

an
t 

se
rv

ic
es

.

S
o

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

co
m

m
en

ts
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
co

n
fe

re
n

ce
 

st
at

e 
th

at
:

 
■

“M
er

to
n

 is
 d

o
in

g
 s

o
m

e 
ex

ce
lle

n
t 

w
o

rk
 

in
 t

ac
kl

in
g

 D
V

 is
su

es
 a

n
d

 in
 r

ec
o

g
n

is
in

g
 

p
eo

p
le

’s
 li

ve
d

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

d
 a

n
d

 im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 
se

rv
ic

es
’ r

es
p

o
n

se
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

ra
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t”

 
■

“T
h

an
ks

 f
o

r 
an

 e
xc

el
le

n
t 

d
ay

”

 
■

“E
xc

el
le

n
t 

C
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
 -

 …
p

o
w

er
fu

l a
cc

o
u

n
t 

b
y 

V
ic

to
ri

a…
”

 
■

“P
o

w
er

fu
l…

 E
m

o
ti

o
n

al
”

7.
3.

2 
M

SC
B

 T
ra

in
in

g

T
h

e 
ta

b
le

 b
el

o
w

 g
iv

es
 a

 q
u

ic
k 

o
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

p
la

n
n

ed
 a

n
d

 r
u

n
 t

ra
in

in
g

 e
ve

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 

A
p

ri
l 2

0
16

 t
o

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

.

T
h

e 
ta

b
le

s 
o

ve
rl

ea
f 

in
d

ic
at

e 
at

te
n

d
an

ce
 p

er
 

co
u

rs
e 

an
d

 p
er

 a
g

en
cy

.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 a

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 m

o
n

it
o

r 
an

d
 

ev
al

u
at

e 
th

e 
eff

ec
ti

ve
n

es
s 

o
f 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 t

ra
in

in
g

 t
o

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

 a
n

d
 

p
ro

m
o

te
 t

h
e 

w
el

fa
re

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

. A
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

is
 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 o

ff
er

s 
a 

co
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

o
f 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 t

ra
in

in
g

.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
’s

 L
ea

rn
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
o

u
tl

in
es

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
’s

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 t
o

 M
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 

L
ea

rn
in

g
 a

n
d

 P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t.
 

Page 22



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

2
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

3
3

T
h

e 
p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 o

f 
le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
b

as
ed

 o
n

: 

 
■

L
es

so
n

s 
fr

o
m

 s
er

io
u

s 
ca

se
 r

ev
ie

w
s,

 le
ar

n
in

g
 

an
d

 im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
re

vi
ew

s,
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
re

vi
ew

s

 
■

L
ea

rn
in

g
 n

ee
d

s 
id

en
ti

fi
ed

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 a
u

d
it

s

 
■

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 k

ey
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 a

s 
o

u
tl

in
ed

 
in

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 b

u
si

n
es

s 
p

la
n

 a
n

d
 o

th
er

 
re

q
u

ir
em

en
ts

 a
s 

ar
is

in
g

 d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

co
u

rs
e 

o
f 

th
e 

ye
ar

 

 
■

It
 w

ill
 a

ls
o

 li
n

k 
to

 r
eq

u
ir

em
en

ts
 f

ro
m

 o
th

er
 

B
o

ar
d

s 
(e

.g
. S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 A

d
u

lt
 B

o
ar

d
, 

th
e 

H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

el
l-

B
ei

n
g

 B
o

ar
d

 e
tc

.)
 

an
d

 w
h

er
e 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
sh

ar
e 

w
it

h
 o

th
er

 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 B

o
ar

d
s 

an
d

 a
g

en
ci

es
 s

o
 a

s 
to

 a
vo

id
 d

u
p

lic
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 s

in
g

le
 a

g
en

cy
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

es
 a

n
d

 m
ax

im
is

e 
th

e 
u

se
 o

f 
re

so
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 s

h
ar

ed
 e

xp
er

ti
se

 
■

S
ys

te
m

 w
id

e 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ts
 in

 m
u

lt
i 

ag
en

cy
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

ra
ct

ic
e,

 f
o

r 
ex

am
p

le
, 

th
e 

M
er

to
n

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

M
o

d
el

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

m
u

lt
i a

g
en

cy
 im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 
o

f 
S

ig
n

s 
o

f 
S

af
et

y 
an

d
 t

h
e 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 F

am
ily

 W
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 M

o
d

el
)

 
■

M
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 t

ra
in

in
g

 n
ee

d
s 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

re
vi

ew
s 

an
d

/o
r 

in
sp

ec
ti

o
n

s.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
’s

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
is

 o
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
m

o
st

 
co

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

es
 in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

, o
ff

er
in

g
 a

 w
id

e 
ra

n
g

e 
o

f 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s.

T
h

e 
L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 
re

vi
ew

ed
 t

h
e 

fi
g

u
re

s 
fr

o
m

 2
0

15
-2

0
16

 a
n

d
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt
 t

h
e 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 t

o
o

k 
th

e 
d

ec
is

io
n

 t
o

 r
ef

re
sh

 
th

e 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

an
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 o

ff
er

. T
h

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
tr

ai
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
is

 a
lig

n
ed

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 k
ey

 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 a

n
d

 r
efl

ec
ts

 t
h

e 
le

ar
n

in
g

 c
o

m
in

g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

o
u

r 
S

C
R

 a
n

d
 L

iR
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
le

ar
n

in
g

 e
m

er
g

in
g

 
fr

o
m

 a
n

al
ys

is
 o

f 
S

C
R

s 
n

at
io

n
al

ly
. 

W
e 

ar
e 

w
o

rk
in

g
 c

lo
se

ly
 w

it
h

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
in

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 
S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

(C
S

C
) 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

is
 

co
n

si
st

en
cy

 a
n

d
 m

in
im

al
 o

ve
rl

ap
 b

et
w

ee
n

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 t

ra
in

in
g

 o
ff

er
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
C

S
C

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

es
.

7.
3.

3 
E

-L
ea

rn
in

g
 

M
er

to
n 

S
C

B
 r

en
ew

ed
 t

he
ir

 m
em

b
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 

V
ir

tu
al

 C
o

lle
g

e 
in

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0

16
 a

nd
 p

ai
d

 
£

8
,0

0
0

 f
o

r 
th

ei
r 

e-
Le

ar
ni

ng
 p

ac
ka

g
e 

an
d

 s
el

f-
re

g
is

tr
at

io
n 

sy
st

em
, a

llo
w

in
g

 le
ar

ne
rs

 a
nd

 
in

st
it

ut
io

ns
 t

o
 c

re
at

e 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n 
e-

Le
ar

ni
ng

 a
cc

o
un

t.

In
 O

ct
o

b
er

 2
0

16
, M

er
to

n
 S

C
B

 u
p

g
ra

d
ed

 t
h

ei
r 

m
em

b
er

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 V

ir
tu

al
 C

o
lle

g
e 

an
d

 u
p

g
ra

d
ed

 t
o

 
u

n
lim

it
ed

 li
ce

n
ce

s 
to

 t
h

e 
To

ta
l T

ra
in

in
g

 P
ac

ka
g

e,
 

p
ay

in
g

 a
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

al
 £

8
,0

0
0

. T
h

e 
m

em
b

er
sh

ip
 

d
at

es
 r

u
n

 f
ro

m
 3

0
/0

9
/2

0
16

 t
o

 2
9

/0
9

/2
0

17
. 

7.
4

. P
o

lic
y 

Su
b

-G
ro

up

T
h

e 
P

o
lic

y 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 is
 f

o
cu

se
d

 o
n

 p
o

lic
ie

s 
an

d
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

an
d

 t
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 is

 t
o

 t
ak

e 
o

ve
ra

ll 
le

ad
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 
o

n
 b

eh
al

f 
o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

ar
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 u

p
-t

o
-d

at
e 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 g

u
id

an
ce

, 
p

o
lic

ie
s,

 p
ro

to
co

ls
 a

n
d

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
to

 e
n

su
re

 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
ed

 a
n

d
 

p
ro

te
ct

ed
 a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

w
el

fa
re

 is
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
. T

h
e 

P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
 G

ro
u

p
 a

ls
o

 h
as

 le
ad

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 

fo
r 

p
o

lic
ie

s 
in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 
fr

o
m

 h
ar

m
 a

n
d

 n
eg

le
ct

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

 
o

r 
su

b
st

it
u

te
 f

am
ili

es
. T

h
is

 in
cl

u
d

es
 c

o
re

 e
ar

ly
 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

an
d

 lo
o

ke
d

 a
ft

er
 c

h
ild

re
n

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s;
 p

ri
va

te
 

fo
st

er
in

g
; t

h
e 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 a

ls
o

 le
ad

s 
o

n
 s

p
ec

ia
lis

t 
ar

ea
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

p
ar

en
ta

l m
en

ta
l i

ll-
h

ea
lt

h
, p

ar
en

ta
l 

al
co

h
o

l a
n

d
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 a

b
u

se
, a

n
d

 p
ar

en
ta

l 
d

is
ab

ili
ti

es
; F

G
M

, c
u

lt
u

ra
l-

b
as

ed
 a

b
u

se
 a

n
d

 s
o

-
ca

lle
d

 ‘h
o

n
o

u
r’

 v
io

le
n

ce
.

In
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
 t

h
e 

P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 d

ra
ft

ed
 o

r 
re

fr
es

h
ed

 t
h

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 p
o

lic
ie

s/
st

ra
te

g
ie

s/
p

ro
to

co
ls

 f
o

r 
ap

p
ro

va
l b

y 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d

 
■

T
h

e 
F

G
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y

 
■

T
h

e 
N

eg
le

ct
 S

tr
at

eg
y

 
■

T
h

e 
B

ru
is

in
g

 in
 P

re
-m

o
b

ile
 B

ab
ie

s 
P

ro
to

co
l

 
■

T
h

e 
M

u
lt

i-
A

g
en

cy
 E

sc
al

at
io

n
 P

ro
to

co
l.

A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 p
er

 A
g

en
cy

 2
0

16
-1

7

A
tt

en
d

an
ce

 p
er

 C
o

ur
se

 2
0

16
-1

7

0

15
0

5
0

20
0

3
0

0

25
0

10
0

CAFCASS

Health – CCG

Health – Central London
Community Health Care

Health – Epsom and St Helier
University Hospitals NHS Trust

Health – GP Practices

Health – Other/Private

Health – St George’s Healthcare NHS Trust

Independent/Private Schools

LB Merton – Chief Executive/
Corporate Services

LB Merton – Community & Housing

LB Merton – Environment & Regeneration

LB Merton CSF – Children's Social
Care/Youth Inclusion

LB Merton CSF – Commissioning
Strategy & Performance

LB Merton CSF – Early Years

LB Merton CSF – Education

LB Merton CSF – Schools

LB Merton CSF Other

Other Boroughs

Police

Private Organisation – Company

Probation

Voluntary – Community – Faith Groups

2
3

8
9

9
7

5
14

28
1

16
38

24
9

2

8
1

4
1

13
0

13
0

5
2

5
30

9

0

10
0

14
0

12
0

8
0

6
0

4
0 20

13

13
3

9

4
5

9
8

9
6

4
5

39

10
19

9

28

15
6

15
14

35
24

6

27
20

28
31

24
26

14
20

8
16

18
6

Prevent (WRAP)

Annual Conference – Behind Closed Doors

Assessing Risk in Domestic Abuse

CASA

Child Protection Awareness

Child Protection Briefing for DoE

Child Protection Refresher

CSE Briefing

Domestic Abuse Awareness

Enhancing Analysis and Critical Thinking
 within the CASA and TAC/F

Enhancing Engagement Skills with Families

Equality and Diversity

Fabricated and Induced Illness in
 Children and Young People

Female Genital Mutilation

Honour Based Violence and Forced Marriage

Improving Practice in Working with
 Families A�ected by Substance Misuse

Introduction to Human Tra�cking

Merton Gangs and Sexual Expolitation

Safeguarding Disabled Children

Safer Recruitment Training

Self-Harm of Young People and
 Promoting Resilience

Sexual Health Relationships and Education

Substance Misuse and Young People

Talking to Young People about Drugs,
Alcohol and Sexual Health...

The Child Protection Process

The Impact of Domestic Abuse on
 Children and Young People

The Impact of Parental Mental Illness on
Children and Young People

Understanding and Managing Neglect

Using MWBM Additional Needs
Indicators to Identify Risk

Working with Resistant families

LADO

Page 23



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

4
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

35

7.
5 

M
er

to
n 

C
hi

ld
 D

ea
th

 O
ve

rv
ie

w
 P

an
el

 (
C

D
O

P
)

In
 J

an
u

ar
y 

20
17

, t
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

D
O

P
 t

o
o

k 
th

e 
d

ec
is

io
n

 t
o

 d
is

ag
g

re
g

at
e 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 o

f 
S

u
tt

o
n

. M
er

to
n

 C
D

O
P

 e
st

ab
lis

h
ed

 
lo

ca
l a

rr
an

g
em

en
ts

 t
o

 r
es

p
o

n
d

 t
o

 a
n

d
 r

ev
ie

w
 c

h
ild

 
d

ea
th

s 
in

 M
er

to
n

; t
h

es
e 

in
cl

u
d

e:

 
■

A
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
al

l c
h

ild
 d

ea
th

s 
(u

n
d

er
 1

8
 y

ea
rs

, 
ex

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
o

se
 b

ab
ie

s 
w

h
o

 a
re

 s
ti

llb
o

rn
) 

in
 

th
e 

L
S

C
B

 a
re

a 
u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 b
y 

a 
p

an
el

 (
P

ar
a 

5.
8

 –
 5

.9
);

 a
n

d

 
■

A
 r

ap
id

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 b
y 

a 
g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
ke

y 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
w

h
o

 c
o

m
e 

to
g

et
h

er
 f

o
r 

th
e 

p
u

rp
o

se
 o

f 
en

q
u

ir
in

g
 in

to
 a

n
d

 e
va

lu
at

in
g

 
ea

ch
 u

n
ex

p
ec

te
d

 d
ea

th
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 (
P

ar
a 

5.
12

-5
.2

0
).

In
 a

ll,
 3

6
 c

as
es

 w
er

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 b

y 
th

e 
C

D
O

P
 d

u
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
p

er
io

d
 1

st
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

15
 t

o
 3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
16

. 1
5 

C
as

es
 w

er
e 

fr
o

m
 M

er
to

n
 a

n
d

 2
1 

C
as

es
 f

ro
m

 S
u

tt
o

n
. F

ro
m

 1
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

15
 t

o
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 
20

16
, t

h
er

e 
w

er
e 

28
 c

h
ild

 d
ea

th
s 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 

th
e 

S
u

tt
o

n
 a

n
d

 M
er

to
n

 C
D

O
P.

 1
6

 d
ea

th
s 

w
er

e 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 r

es
id

en
t 

in
 S

u
tt

o
n

 a
n

d
 1

2 
in

 M
er

to
n

. 

In
 2

0
15

-1
6

 t
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
n

o
 o

u
t 

o
f 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 d
ea

th
s 

o
f 

S
u

tt
o

n
 o

r 
M

er
to

n
 c

h
ild

re
n

.

T
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
fo

u
r 

C
D

O
P

 m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

h
el

d
 in

 2
0

15
– 

20
16

 a
n

d
 3

6
 c

as
es

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 in

 t
o

ta
l, 

as
 p

er
 t

h
e 

b
re

ak
d

o
w

n
 in

 T
ab

le
 2

 b
el

o
w

. T
h

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 in
 

b
ra

ck
et

s 
b

es
id

e 
th

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ca
se

s 
re

vi
ew

ed
 

in
d

ic
at

es
 in

 w
h

ic
h

 y
ea

r 
th

e 
ch

ild
 d

ie
d

: (
13

) 
fo

r 
a 

ch
ild

 d
ea

th
 f

ro
m

 1
st

 A
p

ri
l 2

0
13

 –
 3

1s
t 

M
ar

ch
 2

0
14

 
(1

4
) 

fo
r 

a 
ch

ild
 d

ea
th

 f
ro

m
 1

st
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

14
 –

 3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

15
, a

n
d

 (
15

) 
fo

r 
a 

ch
ild

 d
ea

th
 t

h
at

 w
as

 
re

vi
ew

ed
 in

 A
p

ri
l 2

0
15

- 
to

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
16

 y
ea

r. 

T
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
9

 u
n

ex
p

ec
te

d
 d

ea
th

s 
in

 S
u

tt
o

n
 a

n
d

 
M

er
to

n
 in

 t
h

e 
20

15
-2

0
16

 C
D

O
P

 y
ea

r. 
N

in
e 

ra
p

id
 

re
sp

o
n

se
 m

ee
ti

n
g

s 
w

er
e 

h
el

d
. W

h
er

e 
a 

ra
p

id
 

re
sp

o
n

se
 m

ee
ti

n
g

 w
as

 h
el

d
, 1

 c
as

e 
w

as
 r

ef
er

re
d

 
to

 M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 B
o

ar
d

 f
o

r 
co

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
 a

s 
a 

le
ar

n
in

g
 r

ev
ie

w
. T

h
e 

ca
se

 
cu

rr
en

tl
y 

aw
ai

ts
 t

h
e 

C
o

ro
n

er
’s

 In
q

u
es

t 
an

d
 r

ev
ie

w
.

T
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
8

 n
eo

n
at

al
 d

ea
th

s 
re

vi
ew

ed
 in

 t
h

is
 

p
er

io
d

. O
f 

th
es

e 
n

o
n

e 
h

ad
 m

o
d

ifi
ab

le
 f

ac
to

rs
 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
. H

al
f 

o
f 

th
es

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 d

ie
d

 o
n

 t
h

e 

n
eo

n
at

al
 u

n
it

. T
h

re
e 

b
ab

ie
s 

d
ie

d
 in

 t
h

e 
d

el
iv

er
y 

su
it

e 
an

d
 o

n
e 

d
ie

d
 in

 p
ae

d
ia

tr
ic

 in
te

n
si

ve
 c

ar
e,

 
th

re
e 

o
f 

ei
g

h
t 

b
ab

ie
s 

w
er

e 
u

n
d

er
 2

3
 w

ee
ks

 
g

es
ta

ti
o

n
. M

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 c
o

n
ce

rn
s 

w
er

e 
id

en
ti

fi
ed

 
w

it
h

 t
h

re
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
n

d
 o

n
e 

se
t 

o
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 
w

er
e 

co
n

sa
n

g
u

in
eo

u
s.

 In
 a

ll 
ei

g
h

t 
ca

se
s 

n
o

 
re

co
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s 
w

er
e 

m
ad

e 
b

y 
th

e 
P

an
el

. 

N
o

 c
as

es
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 t
h

is
 y

ea
r 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 c
la

ss
ifi

ed
 

as
 S

u
d

d
en

 U
n

ex
p

ec
te

d
 D

ea
th

 in
 a

n
 in

fa
n

t 
fo

r 
M

er
to

n
. 

T
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
14

 d
ea

th
s 

cl
as

si
fi

ed
 a

s 
“e

xp
ec

te
d

” 
re

vi
ew

ed
 in

 t
h

is
 p

er
io

d
, a

ll 
o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 w

er
e 

co
n

si
d

er
ed

 t
o

 h
av

e 
“n

o
 m

o
d

ifi
ab

le
 f

ac
to

rs
”.

 In
 

1 
ca

se
, t

h
e 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
re

 c
o

n
sa

n
g

u
in

eo
u

s 
an

d
 

d
ec

lin
ed

 g
en

et
ic

 t
es

ti
n

g
 a

n
te

n
at

al
ly

. T
h

er
e 

w
er

e 
3

 s
et

s 
o

f 
tw

in
s.

 O
n

e 
si

b
lin

g
 s

u
rv

iv
ed

 o
f 

IV
F

 T
w

in
s.

 
E

ig
h

t 
ch

ild
re

n
 h

ad
 li

fe
 li

m
it

in
g

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s.

 N
o

 
re

co
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

 w
as

 m
ad

e 
in

 a
ny

 o
f 

th
es

e 
ca

se
s.

7.
6

 Y
o

ut
h 

C
ri

m
e 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

o
ar

d
 (

YC
E

B
)

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 C

ri
m

e 
an

d
 P

re
ve

n
ti

o
n

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

o
ar

d
 

(Y
C

P
E

B
) 

is
 c

h
ai

re
d

 b
y 

th
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
, 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 a

n
d

 F
am

ili
es

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 t

h
e 

vi
ce

 
ch

ai
r 

is
 t

h
e 

C
h

ie
f 

In
sp

ec
to

r 
o

f 
th

e 
M

et
ro

p
o

lit
an

 
P

o
lic

e 
(M

er
to

n
).

 T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

 is
 t

h
e 

g
o

ve
rn

an
ce

 
st

ru
ct

u
re

 f
o

r 
M

er
to

n
 in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
th

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 (
th

e 
lo

ca
l Y

o
u

th
 O

ff
en

d
in

g
 

Te
am

),
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
A

n
n

u
al

 P
la

n
, 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d
 Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

. I
t 

al
so

 
o

ve
rs

ee
s 

th
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 t
o

 S
er

io
u

s 
Y

o
u

th
 V

io
le

n
ce

, G
an

g
s 

an
d

 T
ro

u
b

le
d

 F
am

ili
es

 
(k

n
o

w
n

 lo
ca

lly
 a

s 
Tr

an
sf

o
rm

in
g

 F
am

ili
es

) 
(T

F
).

 
M

em
b

er
sh

ip
 in

cl
u

d
es

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
ch

o
o

ls
 a

n
d

 
F

am
ili

es
 (

C
S

F
):

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
(C

S
C

);
 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e;
 L

A
C

, E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 In

cl
u

si
o

n
, P

o
lic

e,
 

P
ro

b
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

C
lin

ic
al

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 
(C

C
G

).
 T

h
e 

Y
C

P
E

B
 r

ep
o

rt
s 

to
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

. T
h

e 
S

af
er

 a
n

d
 S

tr
o

n
g

er
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

, t
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

w
id

er
 y

o
u

th
 c

ri
m

e 
is

su
es

. 

T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

’s
 k

ey
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

p
as

t 
ye

ar
 h

av
e 

in
vo

lv
ed

 m
ai

n
ta

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 t
h

e 
st

ro
n

g
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

YJ
T,

 p
ar

ti
cu

la
rl

y 
in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 

th
e 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 t
h

re
e 

ke
y 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
in

d
ic

at
o

rs
 o

f 
re

d
u

ci
n

g
 fi

rs
t 

ti
m

e 
en

tr
an

ts
 t

o
 t

h
e 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
sy

st
em

, s
u

st
ai

n
in

g
 lo

w
 n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 s
en

te
n

ce
d

 t
o

 c
u

st
o

d
y 

an
d

 

re
d

u
ci

n
g

 t
h

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 a
n

d
 r

at
e 

o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 
w

h
o

 r
eo

ff
en

d
. T

h
e 

Y
C

P
E

B
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 h

av
e 

al
so

 
b

ee
n

 in
 r

eg
ar

d
 t

o
 d

el
iv

er
in

g
 t

h
e 

T
F

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
an

d
 r

ed
u

ci
n

g
 t

h
e 

se
ri

o
u

s 
yo

u
th

 v
io

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 g
an

g
 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 in
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

. 

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

an
d

 T
ra

n
sf

o
rm

in
g

 F
am

ili
es

 
Te

am
s 

ar
e 

p
la

ce
d

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
F

am
ily

 a
n

d
 

A
d

o
le

sc
en

t 
S

er
vi

ce
, w

h
ic

h
 is

 a
 s

tr
an

d
 w

it
h

in
 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
an

d
 Y

o
u

th
 In

cl
u

si
o

n
 t

h
at

 
d

el
iv

er
s 

a 
ra

n
g

e 
o

f 
g

o
ve

rn
m

en
t 

p
re

sc
ri

b
ed

 a
n

d
 

le
g

is
la

te
d

 f
u

n
ct

io
n

s 
to

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
h

ar
m

, 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 c
ar

e,
 c

ar
e 

le
av

er
s 

an
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 o

ff
en

d
er

s,
 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
w

id
er

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es
. A

 n
u

m
b

er
 

o
f 

th
e 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
s 

ar
e 

ta
rg

et
ed

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

ai
m

 
o

f 
p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 a

n
 in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

 b
ef

o
re

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

es
ca

la
te

 w
it

h
in

 a
 f

am
ily

 o
r 

th
at

 o
f 

a 
yo

u
n

g
 p

er
so

n
. 

T
h

is
 in

vo
lv

es
 w

o
rk

in
g

 c
lo

se
ly

 w
it

h
 s

ch
o

o
ls

, 
ac

ad
em

ie
s,

 t
h

e 
P

o
lic

e 
an

d
 t

h
e 

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 W

el
fa

re
 

S
er

vi
ce

. T
h

is
 w

o
rk

 h
as

 in
cl

u
d

ed
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

n
g

 t
o

 
th

e 
C

S
F

 E
q

u
al

it
ie

s 
A

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 a
n

d
 a

ct
io

n
s 

ar
e 

n
o

w
 in

 p
la

ce
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 f

ro
m

 
d

ep
ri

ve
d

 w
ar

d
s 

in
 t

h
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
. A

n
 

ex
am

p
le

 o
f 

th
is

 w
o

rk
 is

 t
h

e 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 R

ew
ar

d
 

G
ra

n
t 

(P
R

G
) 

P
h

ip
p

s 
B

ri
d

g
e 

(w
ar

d
) 

w
o

rk
, w

h
ic

h
 is

 
fo

cu
se

d
 o

n
 r

ea
ch

in
g

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 y

o
u

n
g

 m
en

 
fr

o
m

 B
la

ck
, A

si
an

 a
n

d
 m

in
o

ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 (
B

A
M

E
) 

an
d

 W
h

it
e 

w
o

rk
in

g
 c

la
ss

 b
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
s

Y
C

P
E

B
 o

ve
rs

ee
s 

M
er

to
n

’s
 r

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 n

ew
 

le
g

is
la

ti
o

n
, t

h
e 

In
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 r
eg

im
e,

 it
s 

lo
ca

l c
ri

m
e 

re
d

u
ct

io
n

 &
 p

re
ve

n
ti

o
n

 in
it

ia
ti

ve
s,

 m
o

n
it

o
r 

is
su

es
 

co
n

ce
rn

in
g

 r
is

k 
an

d
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
re

 
st

aff
 &

 r
es

o
u

rc
in

g
 le

ve
ls

 a
re

 in
 p

la
ce

 t
o

 m
ai

n
ta

in
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
n

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s 
w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

d
el

iv
er

y 
o

f 
th

e 
yo

u
th

 c
ri

m
e 

an
d

 p
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 
A

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

o
u

r 
co

m
m

it
m

en
t 

to
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
o

u
s 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t,
 t

h
e 

Y
C

P
E

B
 m

o
n

it
o

rs
 t

h
e 

d
el

iv
er

y 
o

f 
an

y 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

p
la

n
s 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 in

sp
ec

ti
o

n
s 

o
r 

au
d

it
s.

 In
 2

0
16

 a
n

 a
u

d
it

 w
as

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 o

n
 

20
 c

as
es

 b
y 

C
o

rd
is

 B
ri

g
h

t,
 w

h
o

 h
av

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
au

d
it

ed
 t

h
e 

te
am

. T
h

is
 w

as
 in

 li
g

h
t 

o
f 

an
ti

ci
p

at
ed

 
ch

an
g

es
 t

o
 H

er
 M

aj
es

ty
’s

 In
sp

ec
to

ra
te

 o
f 

P
ro

b
at

io
n

 (
H

M
IP

) 
fr

am
ew

o
rk

 f
o

r 
in

sp
ec

ti
o

n
 

o
f 

Y
o

u
th

 O
ff

en
d

in
g

 T
ea

m
s 

an
d

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 
im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 b
y 

th
e 

YJ
T

 o
f 

th
e 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 n
ew

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t 

fr
am

ew
o

rk
, A

ss
et

P
lu

s,
 in

 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

16
. T

h
e 

au
d

it
 e

vi
d

en
ce

d
 a

n
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

si
n

ce
 t

h
ei

r 
la

st
 v

is
it

 in
 A

u
g

u
st

 2
0

13
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
su

b
se

q
u

en
t 

S
Q

S
 in

 O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
13

. T
h

ey
 e

xa
m

in
ed

 
8

 Y
R

O
s 

an
d

 1
1 

R
ef

er
ra

l O
rd

er
s.

 T
h

ey
 p

re
se

n
te

d
 

th
e 

re
su

lt
s 

se
p

ar
at

el
y 

as
 t

h
e 

re
su

lt
s 

w
er

e 
d

iff
er

en
t 

fo
r 

ea
ch

 c
o

h
o

rt
. A

ll 
Y

R
O

s 
h

ad
 s

u
ffi

ci
en

t 
ri

sk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 o
ve

rs
ig

h
t 

b
y 

m
an

ag
er

s 
an

d
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 w
er

e 
id

en
ti

fi
ed

 
in

 r
eg

ar
d

 t
o

 h
o

m
e 

vi
si

ts
 a

n
d

 in
 a

 n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ar

ea
s 

fo
r 

R
ef

er
ra

l O
rd

er
s.

 A
n

 A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 w

as
 

d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 a
n

d
 is

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

. C
o

rd
is

 
B

ri
g

h
t 

al
so

 r
ec

o
m

m
en

d
ed

 t
h

e 
Tr

au
m

a 
R

ec
o

ve
ry

 
M

o
d

el
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e 

te
am

’s
 p

ro
ac

ti
ve

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 
w

it
h

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 b

u
t 

to
 h

av
e 

a 
st

ru
ct

u
re

 f
o

r 
re

sp
o

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 m
o

re
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
/ 

ch
ao

ti
c 

ca
se

s 
an

d
 

in
cr

ea
se

 t
h

e 
u

se
 o

f 
o

u
tr

ea
ch

 a
n

d
 h

o
m

e 
vi

si
ts

. 

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 a

n
n

u
al

 N
at

io
n

al
 

S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
au

d
it

 w
as

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

 
m

o
st

 s
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
m

et
 o

r 
m

et
 w

it
h

 s
o

m
e 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 r

eq
u

ir
ed

. T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

 h
as

 
en

d
o

rs
ed

 r
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

s,
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 s
ee

k 
a 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 f
ro

m
 S

er
vi

ce
 M

an
ag

er
s 

fo
r 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e,
 E

m
er

g
en

cy
 D

u
ty

 a
n

d
 A

cc
es

s 
to

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 T
ea

m
s 

to
 c

re
at

e 
a 

p
la

n
 f

o
r 

h
o

w
 

L
A

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ti
es

 f
o

r 
a 

‘P
A

C
E

 b
ed

’ c
an

 b
e 

m
et

, w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
re

m
it

 o
f 

p
ra

ct
ic

ab
le

 a
n

d
 f

u
lly

 
su

p
er

vi
se

d
 c

ar
e,

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 b

y 
tr

an
sp

o
rt

. T
ra

in
in

g
 

fo
r 

E
D

T
 a

n
d

 f
ro

n
tl

in
e 

so
ci

al
 w

o
rk

er
s 

w
ill

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
aw

ar
en

es
s 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 d

u
ri

n
g

 d
iff

er
en

t 
st

ag
es

 o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

’s
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t 
in

 t
h

e 
cr

im
in

al
 ju

st
ic

e 
sy

st
em

.

T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

 r
em

ai
n

s 
co

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

co
re

 
va

lu
e 

o
f 

en
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

vo
ic

e 
o

f 
th

e 
ch

ild
 (

V
O

C
) 

an
d

 t
h

at
 t

h
is

 is
 c

ap
tu

re
d

 a
n

d
 a

ct
ed

 u
p

o
n

. T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

A
n

n
u

al
 P

la
n

 in
cl

u
d

es
 a

n
 A

ct
io

n
 

P
la

n
 d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 a

n
d

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 b

y 
a 

yo
u

th
 

b
o

ar
d

 c
o

n
si

st
in

g
 o

f 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 c

u
rr

en
tl

y 
o

r 
p

re
vi

o
u

sl
y 

o
n

 o
rd

er
s 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

te
am

. T
h

e 
la

te
st

 y
o

u
th

 b
o

ar
d

 r
ep

o
rt

ed
 p

o
si

ti
ve

ly
 o

n
 

th
e 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 t

o
 t

h
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s,

 
w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 s

h
ar

ed
 in

 t
ea

m
 m

ee
ti

n
g

s.
 T

h
e 

O
n

lin
e 

V
ie

w
p

o
in

t 
Q

u
es

ti
o

n
n

ai
re

 w
as

 a
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

o
f 

H
M

IP
 a

n
d

 h
as

 n
o

w
 c

ea
se

d
. T

h
e 

la
st

 r
ep

o
rt

 f
ro

m
 

V
ie

w
p

o
in

t 
sh

o
w

ed
 f

av
o

u
ra

b
le

 s
at

is
fa

ct
io

n
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

e 
d

el
iv

er
y.

 A
n

 ‘e
xi

t 
q

u
es

ti
o

n
n

ai
re

’ a
s 

b
ee

n
 

d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

te
am

 t
o

 c
ap

tu
re

 t
h

e 
vi

ew
s 

o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
s 

th
ey

 e
n

d
 t

h
ei

r 
o

rd
er

s 
an

d
 t

h
e 

re
su

lt
s 

w
ill

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 b
e 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 t

h
e 

Y
C

P
E

B
 

an
d

 Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
P

la
n

 r
ev

ie
w

s.
 

T
he

 Y
C

P
E

B
 c

o
nt

in
ue

s 
to

 h
av

e 
a 

fo
cu

s 
o

n 
th

e 
E

nd
in

g
 S

er
io

us
 Y

o
ut

h 
V

io
le

nc
e 

ag
en

d
a 

an
d

 t
hi

s 
ye

ar
 M

er
to

n 
w

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
 L

o
ca

l A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

Page 24



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

6
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

37

P
ro

ce
ss

, d
el

iv
er

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
In

st
it

ut
e 

o
f 

C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
S

af
et

y.
 T

he
 r

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

ns
 f

ro
m

 t
hi

s 
re

p
o

rt
 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
p

re
se

nt
ed

 t
o

 b
o

th
 Y

C
P

E
B

 a
nd

 S
af

er
 a

nd
 

S
tr

o
ng

er
. T

he
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
to

 c
o

ns
id

er
 s

en
io

r 
le

ad
er

sh
ip

 o
ve

rs
ig

ht
 a

nd
 c

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

o
n 

in
 r

eg
ar

d
 t

o
 

th
e 

lo
ca

l p
ro

fil
e 

an
d

 m
ap

p
in

g
 o

f 
g

an
g

s,
 v

io
le

nc
e 

an
d

 e
xp

lo
it

at
io

n.
 T

hi
s 

w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e 

ov
er

si
g

ht
 o

f 
th

e 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 C
o

un
ty

 L
in

es
 d

ru
g

 d
ea

lin
g

 a
nd

 
a 

p
ilo

t 
p

ro
je

ct
 f

un
d

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
H

o
m

e 
O

ffi
ce

 t
o

 
en

g
ag

e 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

 t
hr

o
ug

h 
o

ff
er

in
g

 a
lt

er
na

ti
ve

 
p

at
hw

ay
s 

an
d

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 le

g
it

im
at

e 
in

co
m

e 
th

ro
ug

h 
ap

p
re

nt
ic

es
hi

p
s.

 T
he

 Y
C

P
E

B
 h

as
 a

ls
o

 
en

d
o

rs
ed

 t
he

 c
o

m
b

in
in

g
 o

f 
th

e 
Yo

ut
h 

O
ff

en
d

in
g

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
P

an
el

 (
Y

O
M

P
) 

w
it

h 
th

e 
G

an
g

s 
M

ul
ti

-
A

g
en

cy
 P

an
el

 (
G

M
A

P
) 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
a 

st
re

am
lin

ed
 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 o

ve
rs

ig
ht

, w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 a

ls
o

 r
ed

uc
e 

d
up

lic
at

io
n 

o
f 

co
m

p
le

x 
ca

se
s 

p
re

vi
o

us
ly

 d
is

cu
ss

ed
 

at
 b

o
th

 p
an

el
s.

 R
ep

o
rt

s 
fr

o
m

 Y
O

M
-G

M
A

P
 a

nd
 c

as
e 

ex
am

p
le

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

re
p

re
se

nt
ed

 t
o

 Y
C

P
E

B
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 
se

ni
o

r 
st

ra
te

g
ic

 o
ve

rs
ig

ht
. 

M
O

PA
C

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 f
o

r 
th

e 
g

an
g

s,
 r

es
to

ra
ti

ve
 ju

st
ic

e 
an

d
 C

S
E

 w
o

rk
er

s 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 r
et

ai
n

ed
, t

h
is

 is
 

n
o

w
 m

o
n

it
o

re
d

 b
y 

th
e 

S
af

er
 M

er
to

n
 m

an
ag

er
, 

w
h

ic
h

 h
as

 s
ee

n
 a

n
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 jo
in

ed
 u

p
 w

o
rk

in
g

 
b

et
w

ee
n

 t
h

e 
re

le
va

n
t 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
n

d
 S

af
er

 M
er

to
n

 
an

d
 t

h
is

 jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 w
ill

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 b
e 

fo
st

er
ed

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 n
et

w
o

rk
in

g
 e

ve
n

ts
, 

re
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 a

t 
re

le
va

n
t 

p
an

el
s 

an
d

 r
es

p
o

n
d

in
g

 
to

 t
h

e 
L

A
P

 r
ev

ie
w

. 

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 h
as

 w
o

rk
ed

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 o
n

 a
 H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r 
P

ro
to

co
l, 

w
h

ic
h

 a
im

s 
to

 im
p

ro
ve

 a
 m

u
lt

ia
g

en
cy

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 t
o

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 in

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
o

r 
h

ar
m

fu
l s

ex
u

al
 b

eh
av

io
u

r 
w

it
h

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

ro
u

te
s.

 T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 
Q

A
 S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 w
er

e 
si

g
h

te
d

 o
n

 a
n

d
 a

p
p

ro
ve

d
 

th
e 

ac
ti

o
n

s 
fr

o
m

 a
 C

ri
ti

ca
l L

ea
rn

in
g

 R
ep

o
rt

 in
 

re
g

ar
d

 t
o

 a
 c

ri
ti

ca
l i

n
ci

d
en

t 
in

vo
lv

in
g

 a
 R

ap
e 

ch
ar

g
e,

 w
h

ic
h

 in
cl

u
d

es
 t

h
e 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 o

f 
a 

co
n

su
lt

an
cy

 s
er

vi
ce

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 w
o

rk
er

s 
o

n
 a

 
re

g
u

la
r 

b
as

is
 in

 r
eg

ar
d

 t
o

 t
h

ei
r 

en
g

ag
em

en
t 

an
d

 
su

p
er

vi
si

o
n

 o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 h

ar
m

fu
l 

se
xu

al
 b

eh
av

io
u

r 
(w

h
et

h
er

 o
n

 c
o

u
rt

 o
rd

er
s 

o
r 

u
n

d
er

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
).

 T
h

e 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
In

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 M

o
vi

n
g

 o
n

 (
A

IM
) 

to
o

l w
ill

 
co

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 b
e 

u
ti

lis
ed

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 s
cr

ee
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t.

 O
th

er
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
fr

am
ew

o
rk

s 
ar

e 
al

so
 b

ei
n

g
 c

o
n

si
d

er
ed

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 
an

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e.
 

M
er

to
n

 C
S

F
 a

ls
o

 f
o

cu
se

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

C
h

ild
 S

ex
u

al
 

E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 a

g
en

d
a 

es
p

ec
ia

lly
 w

it
h

 r
eg

ar
d

s 
to

 r
ed

u
ci

n
g

 t
h

e 
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

ty
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
. T

h
is

 is
 d

o
n

e 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e 

M
u

lt
i-

A
g

en
cy

 S
ex

u
al

 E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 (

M
A

S
E

) 
P

an
el

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

P
er

so
n

s 
o

f 
C

o
n

ce
rn

 P
an

el
 (

P
O

C
).

 
T

h
es

e 
p

an
el

s 
re

p
o

rt
 t

o
 t

h
e 

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

n
d

 P
ro

te
ct

 
M

S
C

B
 S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

. T
h

e 
Y

C
P

E
B

 a
ls

o
 h

as
 o

ve
rs

ig
h

t 
o

f 
th

is
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

w
o

rk
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 M
an

ag
er

 e
n

su
re

s 
re

p
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

 f
ro

m
 

th
e 

YJ
T

 is
 m

ai
n

ta
in

ed
 a

t 
al

l p
an

el
s 

an
d

 g
ro

u
p

s.
 

T
h

e 
cr

o
ss

-o
ve

r 
o

f 
th

e 
se

ri
o

u
s 

yo
u

th
 v

io
le

n
ce

 
an

d
 C

S
E

 a
g

en
d

as
 w

ill
 in

cr
ea

se
 n

ex
t 

ye
ar

 w
it

h
 

th
e 

YJ
T

 M
an

ag
er

 b
ei

n
g

 t
h

e 
le

ad
 f

o
r 

‘C
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

’ a
g

en
d

a 
an

d
 h

av
in

g
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

th
e 

C
S

E
 L

ea
d

. 

7.
7 

V
io

le
nc

e 
A

g
ai

ns
t 

W
o

m
en

 a
nd

 G
ir

ls
 (

VA
W

G
) 

Su
b

-G
ro

up

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 is

 c
o

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 a

d
d

re
ss

in
g

 t
h

e 
vi

o
le

n
ce

 a
g

ai
n

st
 w

o
m

en
 a

n
d

 g
ir

ls
. T

h
e 

V
A

W
G

 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 is
 C

h
ai

re
d

 b
y 

th
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

, 
S

ch
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
V

ic
e-

C
h

ai
r 

is
 f

ro
m

 
th

e 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 P

o
lic

e.
 T

h
e 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 a

im
s 

o
u

tl
in

e 
fo

u
r 

p
ri

o
ri

ty
 a

re
as

 in
 t

ac
kl

in
g

 V
A

W
G

 a
n

d
 d

o
m

es
ti

c 
ab

u
se

, w
h

ic
h

 a
re

: 

1. 
P

ro
vi

d
in

g
 a

cc
es

si
b

le
, e

vi
d

en
ce

-b
as

ed
, h

o
lis

ti
c 

su
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 h
av

e 
ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
d

 o
r 

ar
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f 

V
A

W
G

2.
 Im

p
le

m
en

ti
n

g
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 s
ys

te
m

s 
an

d
 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
er

p
et

ra
to

rs
.

3
. F

o
st

er
in

g
 a

n
 in

te
g

ra
te

d
 a

n
d

 c
o

o
rd

in
at

ed
 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 t

ac
kl

in
g

 V
A

W
G

.

4
. I

n
 o

rd
er

 t
o

 d
el

iv
er

 t
h

e 
fo

u
r 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 a

im
s 

th
is

 
ac

ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 is
 s

p
lit

 in
to

 t
o

 f
o

u
r 

p
ri

o
ri

ty
 t

h
em

es
; 

1.
 C

o
o

rd
in

at
io

n:
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p

 a
 c

o
o

rd
in

at
ed

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 b

y 
en

su
ri

n
g

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

re
sp

o
n

se
 

to
 V

A
W

G
 is

 s
h

ar
ed

 b
y 

al
l s

ta
ke

h
o

ld
er

s,
 e

m
b

ed
d

ed
 

in
to

 s
er

vi
ce

 p
la

n
s 

an
d

 c
o

o
rd

in
at

ed
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly
. 

2.
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n:
 t

o
 c

h
an

g
e 

at
ti

tu
d

es
 a

n
d

 p
re

ve
n

t 
vi

o
le

n
ce

 b
y 

ra
is

in
g

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 c

am
p

ai
g

n
s;

 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 e
d

u
ca

ti
n

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
; e

ar
ly

 id
en

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

, i
n

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 

tr
ai

n
in

g
. 

3.
 P

ro
vi

si
o

n:
 t

o
 im

p
ro

ve
 p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 a

n
d

 s
p

ec
ia

lis
t 

su
p

p
o

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

w
h

ic
h

 a
re

 e
ss

en
ti

al
 in

 e
n

ab
lin

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 e
n

d
 v

io
le

n
ce

 in
 t

h
ei

r 
liv

es
 a

n
d

 r
ec

o
ve

r 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
d

am
ag

in
g

 e
ff

ec
ts

 o
f 

ab
u

se
 b

y 
p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 

a 
ra

n
g

e 
o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

o
 m

ee
t 

th
e 

n
ee

d
s 

o
f 

vi
ct

im
s 

an
d

 s
u

rv
iv

o
rs

; p
ra

ct
ic

al
 a

n
d

 e
m

o
ti

o
n

al
 

su
p

p
o

rt
, e

m
er

g
en

cy
 a

n
d

 a
cu

te
 s

er
vi

ce
s;

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 le

g
al

 a
d

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
, r

ef
u

g
e 

an
d

 s
af

e 
ac

co
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

. 

4
. P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 t

o
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

eff
ec

ti
ve

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 t
o

 
p

er
p

et
ra

to
rs

 o
u

ts
id

e 
o

f 
an

d
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

cr
im

in
al

 
ju

st
ic

e 
sy

st
em

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 in

ve
st

ig
at

io
n

; 
p

ro
se

cu
ti

o
n

; v
ic

ti
m

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
; 

p
er

p
et

ra
to

r 
in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s.

K
ey

 a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t 
hi

g
hl

ig
ht

s 
fo

r 
20

16
-2

0
17

T
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 V

A
W

G
 b

o
ar

d
 o

ve
rs

aw
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

w
o

rk
 d

u
ri

n
g

 2
0

16
-1

7.
 A

s 
th

e 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e 

fo
u

r 
ye

ar
 

st
ra

te
g

y 
w

as
 o

ve
rs

ee
n

 a
n

d
 y

ea
r 

o
n

e 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
 

d
el

iv
er

ed
 w

e 
d

is
ch

ar
g

ed
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
:

 
■

T
he

 L
o

nd
o

n 
B

o
ro

ug
h 

o
f 

M
er

to
n 

is
 n

ow
 a

 f
ul

ly
 

ac
cr

ed
it

ed
 p

ar
tn

er
 in

 a
 n

at
io

na
l c

am
p

ai
g

n 
to

 
ta

ck
le

 D
o

m
es

ti
c 

an
d

 S
ex

ua
l V

io
le

nc
e

 
■

W
o

rk
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

 M
er

to
n

 
b

ec
o

m
in

g
 t

h
e 

se
co

n
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

 t
o

 
ad

o
p

t 
th

e 
U

K
 S

ay
s 

N
O

 M
O

R
E

 c
am

p
ai

g
n

. 
M

er
to

n
 is

 t
h

e 
b

ig
g

es
t 

su
p

p
o

rt
er

 o
f 

th
is

 w
o

rk
 

an
d

 n
o

w
 h

as
 a

n
 e

m
p

lo
ye

e 
as

 o
n

e 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

fa
ce

s 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

n
at

io
n

al
 2

0
17

-1
8

 c
am

p
ai

g
n

 
■

M
er

to
n

 w
as

 a
ls

o
 t

h
e 

fi
rs

t 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 

to
 a

d
o

p
t 

th
e 

“A
sk

 A
n

g
el

a”
 c

am
p

ai
g

n
 w

h
ic

h
 

w
o

rk
s 

to
 a

d
d

re
ss

 s
ex

u
al

 v
io

le
n

ce
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

n
ig

h
t 

ti
m

e 
ec

o
n

o
m

y.
 B

as
ed

 o
n

 o
u

r 
w

o
rk

 
th

is
 c

am
p

ai
g

n
 h

as
 n

o
w

 b
ee

n
 a

d
o

p
te

d
 b

y 
th

e 
M

et
ro

p
o

lit
an

 P
o

lic
e 

w
h

o
 a

re
 n

o
w

 r
o

lli
n

g
 

th
is

 o
u

t 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
ci

ty

 
■

T
h

e 
S

af
er

 M
er

to
n

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 t
o

 la
u

n
ch

 o
u

r 
re

vi
se

d
 V

A
W

G
 m

is
si

o
n

 s
ta

te
m

en
t

 
■

W
o

rk
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

in
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

 o
f 

a 
fo

u
r 

ye
ar

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 a

n
d

 s
ig

n
ed

 o
ff

 
in

 c
o

n
ju

n
ct

io
n

 w
it

h
 p

ar
tn

er
s

 
■

T
h

e 
S

af
er

 M
er

to
n

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 
vi

ct
im

s 
o

f 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
V

io
le

n
ce

 a
n

d
 A

b
u

se
 

(D
V

A
) 

an
d

 e
n

co
u

ra
g

e 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 o

f 
in

ci
d

en
ts

 
to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 o
u

r 
am

b
it

io
n

 o
f 

in
cr

ea
si

n
g

 
vi

ct
im

s’
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
ye

ar
 o

n
 y

ea
r

 
■

W
o

rk
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
ca

m
p

ai
g

n
s 

re
su

lt
ed

 in
 s

o
m

e 
in

cr
ea

se
s 

in
 r

ep
o

rt
s 

fo
r 

q
u

ar
te

rs
 1

-3
 h

o
w

ev
er

 r
ep

o
rt

in
g

 in
 q

u
ar

te
r 

4
 

re
d

u
ce

d
. T

h
e 

re
d

u
ct

io
n

 m
ay

 c
o

in
ci

d
e 

w
it

h
 

th
er

e 
b

ei
n

g
 n

o
 s

u
st

ai
n

ed
 p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 d
u

ri
n

g
 

th
es

e 
m

o
n

th
s 

to
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
 a

 f
u

ll 
D

V
A

 
p

ro
fi

le
 f

o
r 

th
e 

b
o

ro
u

g
h

.

A
lo

n
g

si
d

e 
th

is
 w

e 
su

cc
es

sf
u

lly
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 w
o

rk
 

ar
o

u
n

d
:

 
■

M
er

to
n

’s
 P

o
lic

e 
ac

h
ie

ve
 4

0
%

 S
D

 r
at

e 
fo

r 
V

io
le

n
ce

 w
it

h
 In

ju
ry

 (
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
u

se
) 

th
e 

se
co

n
d

 b
es

t 
in

 t
h

e 
M

P
S

 

 
■

M
o

re
 D

o
m

es
ti

c 
V

io
le

n
ce

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 O
rd

er
s 

ar
e 

b
ei

n
g

 a
p

p
lie

d
 f

o
r 

an
d

 g
ra

n
te

d
 

 
■

P
o

lic
e 

M
A

R
A

C
 r

ef
er

ra
ls

 a
re

 u
p

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

tl
y 

 
■

O
p

er
at

io
n

 D
au

n
tl

es
s 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 w

it
h

 h
ig

h
er

 
ri

sk
 s

u
sp

ec
ts

 is
 n

o
w

 r
o

u
ti

n
e 

 
■

A
ll 

re
p

ea
t 

ca
se

s 
ar

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 r

eg
u

la
rl

y 
b

y 
th

e 
P

o
lic

e

 
■

M
A

R
A

C
 le

ar
n

in
g

 d
ay

s 
h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 c

ar
ri

ed
 

o
u

t 
an

d
 t

h
e 

m
o

st
 r

ec
en

t 
M

A
R

A
C

 s
el

f-
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 s
o

m
e 

p
o

si
ti

ve
 r

es
u

lt
s

 
■

P
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
an

n
u

al
 M

S
C

B
 

co
n

fe
re

n
ce

 w
h

ic
h

 w
as

 f
o

cu
se

d
 o

n
 D

V
A

 
■

D
el

iv
er

ed
 a

 f
u

ll 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

o
f 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 f

o
r 

th
e 

16
 D

ay
s 

o
f 

A
ct

iv
is

m
 2

0
16

.

A
s 

w
e 

m
o

ve
 f

o
rw

ar
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 2
0

17
-1

8
 w

e 
w

ill
 

co
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 b

u
ild

 o
n

 t
h

is
 w

o
rk

 b
y:

 
■

R
ec

ru
it

in
g

 a
 V

A
W

G
 c

o
-o

rd
in

at
o

r 
to

 e
n

su
re

 
th

at
 a

ll 
n

in
e 

st
ra

n
d

s 
o

f 
V

A
W

G
 a

re
 f

u
lly

 
d

ev
el

o
p

ed
 a

n
d

 e
m

b
ed

d
ed

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip

 
■

C
o

m
p

le
ti

n
g

 a
n

 o
ve

rv
ie

w
 p

ro
fi

le
 o

f 
al

l V
A

W
G

 
st

ra
n

d
s 

in
 M

er
to

n
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
at

in
g

 t
h

e 
D

V
A

 
p

ro
fi

le

 
■

D
is

ch
ar

g
in

g
 o

u
r 

ye
ar

 t
w

o
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
V

A
W

G
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d

 d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 t

h
e 

d
et

ai
l 

ar
o

u
n

d
 o

u
r 

ye
ar

 t
h

re
e 

am
b

it
io

n
s

 
■

C
o

nt
in

ue
 t

o
 b

ui
ld

 o
n 

o
ur

 s
uc

ce
ss

es
 o

f 
th

e 
N

O
 

M
O

R
E

 a
nd

 A
sk

 A
ng

el
a 

ca
m

p
ai

g
ns

 t
o

 f
ur

th
er

 
im

p
ro

ve
 r

ep
o

rt
in

g
 r

at
es

 w
it

hi
n 

th
e 

b
o

ro
ug

h

Page 25



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
3

8
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

39

 
■

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 a
 n

ew
 D

V
A

 s
er

vi
ce

 f
o

r 
20

18
-

20
20

1 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 M

er
to

n
 c

an
 m

ee
t 

th
e 

n
ee

d
s 

o
f 

o
u

r 
D

V
A

 v
ic

ti
m

s 
m

o
vi

n
g

 f
o

rw
ar

d

 
■

D
ev

el
o

p
 a

n
d

 d
el

iv
er

 a
n

 im
p

ro
ve

d
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
o

f 
ev

en
ts

 d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

16
 D

ay
s 

o
f 

A
ct

iv
is

m
 c

am
p

ai
g

n
 2

0
17

, d
el

iv
er

 a
 r

o
b

u
st

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

o
f 

ev
en

ts
 f

o
r 

N
O

 M
O

R
E

 w
ee

k 
20

18
 a

n
d

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

V
A

W
G

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 
ac

kn
o

w
le

d
g

e 
al

l i
n

te
rn

at
io

n
al

, n
at

io
n

al
 a

n
d

/
o

r 
lo

ca
l d

ay
s 

ar
o

u
n

d
 V

A
W

G
.

7.
8 

M
A

SH
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 B
o

ar
d

T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

M
A

S
H

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 B

o
ar

d
 (

M
S

B
) 

is
 o

u
tl

in
ed

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 
■

To
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
A

S
H

 
L

ea
d

er
sh

ip
 G

ro
u

p
 

 
■

To
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

h
e 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
f 

M
A

S
H

 a
g

ai
n

st
 

in
d

iv
id

u
al

 a
g

en
cy

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 F
ra

m
ew

o
rk

 
an

d
 M

A
S

H
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 F

ra
m

ew
o

rk

 
■

To
 R

ev
ie

w
 t

h
e 

fu
n

ct
io

n
 o

f 
th

e 
h

u
b

 
■

To
 id

en
ti

fy
 f

u
tu

re
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t/
ch

an
g

es
 f

o
r 

th
e 

h
u

b
.

T
h

e 
M

S
B

 m
ee

ts
 e

ac
h

 m
o

n
th

 a
n

d
 m

em
b

er
sh

ip
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 in

cl
u

d
es

:

 
■

M
er

to
n

 A
d

u
lt

 S
er

vi
ce

s

 
■

M
er

to
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 P
o

lic
e

 
■

M
er

to
n

 C
S

F
: C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e,

 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 &
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs

 
■

M
er

to
n

 C
C

G
: C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

 o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
h

ea
lt

h
 s

er
vi

ce
s

 
■

M
er

to
n

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
er

vi
ce

s.

T
h

e 
M

S
B

 is
 a

cc
o

u
n

ta
b

le
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

. A
n

 a
n

n
u

al
 

re
p

o
rt

 w
ill

 b
e 

su
b

m
it

te
d

 a
n

d
 p

re
se

n
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
A

S
H

 G
ro

u
p

 b
y 

th
e 

C
h

ai
r 

w
h

o
 

sh
al

l b
ri

n
g

s 
to

 t
h

e 
at

te
n

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

n
d

 
th

e 
M

A
S

H
 L

ea
d

er
sh

ip
 G

ro
u

p
 is

su
es

 r
el

at
in

g
 t

o
 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

, t
h

e 
fu

tu
re

 d
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e 

M
A

S
H

, 
o

p
er

at
io

n
s,

 is
su

es
, b

lo
ck

ag
es

 e
tc

.

5  
In

 2
0

16
-2

0
17

, t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 e
xc

ee
d

ed
 in

co
m

e 
fr

o
m

 
A

g
en

cy
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s;
 L

B
 M

er
to

n
 t

h
er

ef
o

re
 s

u
p

p
le

m
en

te
d

 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 B

u
d

g
et

.

7.
9

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
 a

nd
 E

ff
ec

ti
ve

ne
ss

 o
f 

th
e 

M
SC

B
 

In
 2

0
14

-2
0

15
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 u
n

d
er

to
o

k 
a 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
it

s 
st

ru
ct

u
re

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

st
it

u
ti

o
n

. T
h

e 
fo

cu
s 

o
f 

th
is

 
re

vi
ew

 w
as

 t
o

 s
tr

ea
m

lin
e 

th
e 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

fo
r 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s 
(s

ee
 a

p
p

en
d

ix
 3

).
 

T
h

es
e 

ch
an

g
es

 w
er

e 
em

b
ed

d
ed

 in
 2

0
15

-2
0

16
 a

n
d

 
th

er
e 

is
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 t
h

at
 t

h
es

e 
ch

an
g

es
 b

eg
in

n
in

g
 t

o
 

p
ay

 d
iv

id
en

d
s 

in
 t

er
m

s 
o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 

eff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s 
an

d
 im

p
ac

t.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 1

0
0

%
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 w
it

h
 it

s 
se

ct
io

n
 1

1 
p

ro
ce

ss
 f

o
r 

st
at

u
to

ry
 a

g
en

ci
es

. T
h

is
 

w
as

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 b

y 
a 

ri
g

o
ro

u
s 

P
ee

r 
R

ev
ie

w
 a

n
d

 
C

h
al

le
n

g
e 

p
ro

ce
ss

 t
o

 w
h

ic
h

 c
h

al
le

n
g

ed
 e

ac
h

 
ag

en
cy

 t
o

 d
em

o
n

st
ra

te
 t

h
ei

r 
eff

ec
ti

ve
n

es
s 

in
 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 t
h

e 
w

el
fa

re
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 lo

ca
lly

. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 c

le
ar

 t
h

re
sh

o
ld

s 
w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 c

le
ar

ly
 

u
n

d
er

st
o

o
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
th

e 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 s

ys
te

m
. 

T
h

is
 is

 k
n

o
w

n
 lo

ca
lly

 a
s 

th
e 

M
er

to
n

 W
el

l-
B

ei
n

g
 

M
o

d
el

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

m
o

n
 A

n
d

 S
h

ar
ed

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t)

.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 a

 r
o

b
u

st
 M

u
lt

i-
A

g
en

cy
 T

ra
in

in
g

 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

w
h

ic
h

 w
o

rk
s 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 c
h

ild
re

n
’s

 w
o

rk
fo

rc
e 

h
as

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 h

ig
h

 
q

u
al

it
y,

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 t

ra
in

in
g

. T
h

is
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

is
 

ev
al

u
at

ed
 a

s 
b

ei
n

g
 v

er
y 

g
o

o
d

 b
y 

th
e 

m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
st

aff
 a

tt
en

d
in

g
 c

o
u

rs
es

.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 a
ss

u
re

d
 b

y 
p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 
re

g
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
ei

r 
re

cr
u

it
m

en
t 

an
d

 s
u

p
er

vi
si

o
n

 
o

f 
p

er
so

n
s 

w
h

o
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
o

u
r 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
p

ro
ce

ss
. T

h
er

e 
ar

e 
ar

ra
n

g
em

en
ts

 
in

 p
la

ce
 f

o
r 

th
e 

L
A

D
O

 a
n

d
 t

h
er

e 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 
a 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 L
A

D
O

 r
ef

er
ra

ls
 a

n
d

 
co

n
su

lt
at

io
n

 in
 2

0
15

-2
0

16
. T

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ls

o
 r

ec
ei

ve
s 

th
e 

p
ri

va
te

 f
o

st
er

in
g

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
o

rt
 in

 J
an

u
ar

y 
ea

ch
 y

ea
r.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 w

o
rk

s 
in

 c
o

o
p

er
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 n

ei
g

h
b

o
ri

n
g

 
ch

ild
re

n
’s

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 p

ee
r 

re
vi

ew
; j

o
in

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

it
h

 S
u

tt
o

n
, c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

n
g

 t
o

 S
C

R
s 

an
d

 
le

ar
n

in
g

 (
C

ro
yd

o
n

, W
an

d
sw

o
rt

h
, K

in
g

st
o

n
 a

n
d

 
S

u
tt

o
n

)

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

at
es

 w
it

h
 p

er
so

n
s 

an
d

 
b

o
d

ie
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 s
ch

o
o

ls
, p

ar
en

ts
, e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
 

se
tt

in
g

s,
 t

em
p

le
s,

 c
h

u
rc

h
es

, M
o

sq
u

es
, o

th
er

 
vo

lu
n

ta
ry

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
s,

 h
ea

lt
h

 p
ro

vi
d

er
s 

an
d

 a
 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

o
th

er
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 a
n

d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

b
y 

te
le

p
h

o
n

e,
 o

n
lin

e,
 in

 p
er

so
n

, t
h

ro
u

g
h

 c
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
s,

 
ev

en
ts

, b
ri

efi
n

g
s 

et
c.

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 e

lic
it

s 
fe

ed
b

ac
k 

o
n

 it
s 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
s 

to
 

en
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

is
 is

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

ls
o

 q
u

al
it

y 
as

su
re

s 
th

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 w

el
fa

re
, 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 o
f 

ke
y 

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 d
at

a;
 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
, s

in
g

le
 a

g
en

cy
 a

u
d

it
s 

en
su

ri
n

g
 

th
at

 t
h

e 
le

ar
n

in
g

 f
ro

m
 a

u
d

it
s 

an
d

 o
th

er
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

is
 c

as
ca

d
ed

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
ch

ild
re

n
’s

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 s
ys

te
m

.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

s 
to

 t
h

e 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 h

ig
h

lig
h

ti
n

g
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

d
el

iv
er

y 
an

d
 s

er
vi

ce
 d

es
ig

n
. F

o
r 

ex
am

p
le

, t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 A
n

n
u

al
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
P

la
n

 is
 in

fo
rm

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Jo

in
t 

N
ee

d
s 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t

S
in

ce
 t

h
e 

la
st

 in
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 (
Ja

n
u

ar
y 

20
12

),
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 h
as

: 

 
■

7 
se

ri
o

u
s 

in
ci

d
en

t 
n

o
ti

fi
ca

ti
o

n
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 
su

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 O

fs
te

d
 b

y 
th

e 
M

S
C

B

 
■

co
m

p
le

te
d

 t
w

o
 S

C
R

s 
(t

h
e 

T
ia

 S
h

ar
p

e 
S

C
R

 
an

d
 t

h
e 

C
h

ild
 B

 S
C

R
)

 
■

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

av
e 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 3
 le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
re

vi
ew

s 
(C

h
ild

 J
, B

ab
y 

P
P

 a
n

d
 

B
ab

y 
C

).
 

7.
10

 M
SC

B
 B

ud
g

et

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 a

n
 a

g
re

ed
 b

u
d

g
et

 a
n

d
 a

ll 
ag

en
ci

es
 

co
n

tr
ib

u
te

. I
ts

 in
co

m
e 

fo
r 

20
16

/1
7 

w
as

 £
24

8
,4

70
. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 B

u
d

g
et

 f
o

r 
20

16
-2

0
17

 is
 d

et
ai

le
d

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

B
ro

u
g

h
t 

fo
rw

ar
d

 f
ro

m
 2

0
14

-2
0

15
 

£
18

,6
4

2

In
co

m
e 

fo
r 

20
15

-2
0

16

A
g

en
cy

 C
o

nt
ri

b
ut

io
ns

C
A

F
C

A
S

S
  

£
55

0

L
o

n
d

o
n

 C
R

C
 

£
1,0

0
0

L
o

n
d

o
n

 P
ro

b
at

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

 
£

1,0
0

0

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

M
er

to
n

 
£

14
2,

0
3

0

M
er

to
n

 C
C

G
 

£
55

,0
0

0

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e 
£

5,
0

0
0

Su
b

-t
o

ta
l 

£2
0

4
,5

80

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

M
er

to
n

  
 

B
as

el
in

e 
su

p
p

le
m

en
t5 

£
4

3
,8

9
0

To
ta

l  
£2

4
8,

4
70

  E
xp

en
d

it
ur

e

S
ta

ffi
n

g
 

£
14

4
,17

0

P
re

m
is

es
 

£
20

0
0

S
u

p
p

lie
s 

an
d

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
£

10
0

,4
6

0

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
 

£
1,8

4
0

To
ta

ls
 

£2
4

8,
4

70

B
ro

u
g

h
t 

fo
rw

ar
d

 f
ro

m
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
  

£
0

.0
0

Page 26



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

0
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

4
1

8.
1 

H
ar

m
fu

l S
ex

ua
l B

eh
av

io
ur

 T
as

k 
an

d
 F

in
is

h 
G

ro
up

T
he

 P
P

Y
P

S
 S

ub
-G

ro
up

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
ne

d
 a

 t
as

k 
an

d
 

fin
is

h 
g

ro
up

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 p

ro
to

co
l t

o
 

ad
d

re
ss

 t
he

 is
su

e 
o

f 
ha

rm
fu

l s
ex

ua
l b

eh
av

io
ur

. T
he

 
ta

sk
 a

nd
 fi

ni
sh

 g
ro

up
 in

cl
ud

ed
 r

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
fr

o
m

:

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

 
■

H
ea

lt
h

 
■

T
h

e 
P

o
lic

e

 
■

T
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 
■

C
h

ild
 a

n
d

 A
d

o
le

sc
en

t 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

 
P

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e 

Te
am

 
■

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n

T
h

e 
ta

sk
 a

n
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n

su
lt

ed
 w

it
h

 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

. T
h

e 
H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 

B
eh

av
io

u
r 

w
as

 d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 in
 a

cc
o

rd
an

ce
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
re

le
va

n
t 

ch
ap

te
rs

 in
 t

h
e 

Lo
n

d
o

n
 C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s6

, d
ra

w
in

g
 u

p
o

n
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 lo

ca
l a

n
d

 
n

at
io

n
al

 g
u

id
an

ce
:

 
■

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
’s

 C
h

ild
 

S
ex

u
al

 E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

20
17

 
■

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
’s

 C
h

ild
 

S
ex

u
al

 E
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 P

ro
to

co
l 2

0
17

 
■

H
ar

m
fu

l S
ex

u
al

 B
eh

av
io

u
r 

A
m

o
n

g
 Y

o
u

n
g

 
P

eo
p

le
, G

u
id

el
in

e 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 2

0
16

 (
N

at
io

n
al

 
in

st
it

u
te

 f
o

r 
H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 C
ar

e)

 
■

H
ac

ke
tt

, S
, H

o
lm

es
, D

 a
n

d
 B

ra
n

ig
an

, P
 

(2
0

16
) 

O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 F

ra
m

ew
o

rk
 f

o
r 

C
h

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 D

is
p

la
yi

n
g

 H
ar

m
fu

l 
S

ex
u

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

rs
, L

o
n

d
o

n
, N

S
P

C
C

 

 
■

A
IM

2 
M

o
d

el
 o

f 
In

it
ia

l A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

(G
-M

ap
, 

20
12

).

8
.0

Su
b

-G
ro

up
 T

as
k 

an
d

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up
  

Su
m

m
ar

y 
R

ep
o

rt
s/

E
ff

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss

T
h

e 
H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r 
P

ro
to

co
l w

as
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

ed
 t

o
 P

P
Y

P
S

 a
n

d
 w

as
 p

re
se

n
te

d
 t

o
 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 f
o

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l i
n

 J
u

n
e 

20
17

.

8.
2 

C
SE

 P
ro

to
co

l a
nd

 C
SE

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
Ta

sk
 a

nd
 

Fi
ni

sh
 G

ro
up

T
h

e 
P

P
Y

P
S

 a
ls

o
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 a
 t

as
k 

an
d

 fi
n

is
h

 
g

ro
u

p
 t

o
 r

ev
is

e 
M

er
to

n
’s

 C
S

E
 P

ro
to

co
l a

n
d

 o
u

r 
C

S
E

 S
tr

at
eg

y.
 T

h
e 

ta
sk

 a
n

d
 fi

n
is

h
 g

ro
u

p
 in

cl
u

d
ed

 
th

e 
C

S
E

 L
ea

d
 P

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

, r
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 
th

e 
P

o
lic

e,
 H

ea
lt

h
 (

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 M
er

to
n

 C
C

G
),

 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e,

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s

8
.2

.1
 T

he
 C

SE
 P

ro
to

co
l

T
h

e 
C

S
E

 P
ro

to
co

l h
as

 b
ee

n
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 
th

at
 it

 is
 in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

C
h

ap
te

r 
7 

in
 li

g
h

t 
o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n
 

co
n

te
xt

. T
h

e 
re

vi
se

d
 p

ro
to

co
l h

ig
h

lig
h

ts
 p

ee
r 

o
n

 
p

ee
r 

ab
u

se
 a

n
d

 m
ak

es
 r

ef
er

en
ce

 t
o

 c
o

n
te

xt
u

al
 

C
S

E
 a

n
d

 h
ar

m
 in

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
p

u
b

lic
 e

nv
ir

o
n

m
en

ts
/

co
n

te
xt

s.
 T

h
e 

p
ro

to
co

l h
as

 a
d

d
ed

 a
d

d
it

io
n

al
 

cl
ar

it
y 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
s 

at
 e

ac
h

 le
ve

l o
f 

n
ee

d
. A

s 
a 

re
su

lt
, w

e 
h

av
e 

o
u

tl
in

ed
 o

u
r 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
 

in
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
:

 
■

C
as

es
 t

h
at

 a
re

 p
re

-t
h

re
sh

o
ld

 in
 e

ar
ly

 h
el

p
 

an
d

 t
h

at
 r

eq
u

ir
e 

en
h

an
ce

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt

 
■

C
IN

 C
as

es

 
■

C
P

 C
as

es

 
■

L
A

C
 C

as
es

T
h

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
th

e 
p

ro
to

co
l w

e 
h

av
e 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 t

h
e 

ro
le

 o
f 

th
e 

C
S

E
 L

ea
d

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
co

n
su

lt
at

io
n

s 
to

 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
o

n
 a

ll 
ca

se
s 

re
la

ti
n

g
 t

o
 C

S
E

. T
h

e 
re

vi
se

d
 C

S
E

 P
ro

to
co

l w
as

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
in

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
17

.

8
.2

.2
 T

he
 C

SE
 S

tr
at

eg
y

T
he

 C
S

E
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

w
as

 la
st

 u
p

d
at

ed
 in

 J
an

ua
ry

 
20

15
. S

in
ce

 t
ha

t 
ti

m
e 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 it

s 
C

S
E

 p
ro

to
co

l, 
th

e 
D

fE
 h

as
 a

ls
o

 r
efi

ne
d

 it
s 

d
efi

ni
ti

o
n

 
o

f 
C

S
E

, t
he

 L
o

nd
o

n 
C

hi
ld

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

P
ro

ce
d

ur
es

 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

up
d

at
ed

, a
nd

 t
he

re
 is

 a
ls

o
 a

 g
ro

w
in

g
 

b
o

d
y 

o
f 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
nd

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
ar

o
un

d
 c

o
nt

ex
tu

al
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

. T
he

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
se

ts
 

o
ut

 t
he

 M
S

C
B

’s
 r

es
p

o
ns

e 
to

 C
S

E
.

T
h

e 
st

at
u

to
ry

 d
efi

n
it

io
n

 o
f 

C
S

E
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 
u

p
d

at
ed

. T
h

e 
st

ra
te

g
y 

m
ak

es
 t

h
e 

lin
k 

b
et

w
ee

n
 

C
S

E
, H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r 
an

d
 o

th
er

 s
h

ar
ed

 
ca

te
g

o
ri

es
 o

f 
h

ar
m

/e
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 m

is
si

n
g

; 
H

ar
m

fu
l S

ex
u

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r, 
te

en
ag

e 
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

 
ab

u
se

, s
er

io
u

s 
yo

u
th

 v
io

le
n

ce
, C

S
E

 a
n

d
 

ra
d

ic
al

is
at

io
n

 (
se

e 
p

ag
es

 5
-7

).
 T

h
e 

C
S

E
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

w
as

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 in
 M

ay
 2

0
17

.

T
h

e 
st

ra
te

g
y 

al
so

 h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 t
h

e 
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
ce

 
o

f 
co

n
te

xt
u

al
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
 d

ra
w

in
g

 o
n

 t
h

e 
w

o
rk

 
o

f 
C

ar
le

n
e 

F
ir

m
in

 (
20

13
 a

n
d

 2
0

16
).

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n

 
re

g
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

lo
ca

l c
o

n
te

xt
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 u
p

d
at

ed
. 

R
el

at
ed

 t
o

 t
h

is
 is

 a
 n

ew
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 o
n

 w
o

rk
in

g
 

w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
ff

ec
te

d
 b

y 
C

S
E

 d
ra

w
in

g
 o

n
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
U

n
iv

er
si

ty
 o

f 
B

ed
fo

rd
sh

ir
e,

 t
h

e 
In

te
rn

at
io

n
al

 C
en

tr
e 

fo
r 

R
es

ea
rc

h
in

g
 C

S
E

, V
io

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 T
ra

ffi
ck

in
g

 a
n

d
 

R
es

ea
rc

h
 In

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
(2

0
17

).

8.
3 

O
nl

in
e 

Sa
fe

ty
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

Ta
sk

 a
nd

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up

T
h

e 
P

o
lic

y 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 a

 t
as

k 
an

d
 

fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 t
o

 r
ev

is
e 

an
d

 u
p

d
at

e 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
’s

 
O

n
lin

e 
S

af
et

y 
S

tr
at

eg
y.

 W
e 

w
er

e 
g

ra
te

fu
l f

o
r 

th
e 

su
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 e
xp

er
ti

se
 o

f 
D

er
ek

 C
ra

b
tr

ee
, 

th
e 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 IC

T
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 M

an
ag

er
 w

h
o

 w
o

rk
ed

 
o

n
 d

ra
ft

in
g

 t
h

e 
st

ra
te

g
y.

 T
h

e 
ta

sk
 a

n
d

 fi
n

is
h

 
g

ro
u

p
 in

cl
u

d
ed

 r
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
ve

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
P

o
lic

e,
 

H
ea

lt
h

, C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e,
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, 
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 O

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s.
 T

h
e 

ai
m

 o
f 

th
is

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
is

 t
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
g

u
id

an
ce

 a
n

d
 in

fo
rm

 f
ro

n
tl

in
e 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

to
:

 
■

G
u

id
e 

ch
ild

re
n

, y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 o
th

er
s 

to
 t

h
e 

b
es

t 
so

u
rc

es
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 
su

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 n

o
t 

d
u

p
lic

at
e 

th
e 

g
re

at
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
ad

vi
ce

 a
n

d
 r

es
o

u
rc

es
 a

lr
ea

d
y 

av
ai

la
b

le

 
■

H
el

p
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s 
to

 d
ev

el
o

p
 t

h
ei

r 
o

w
n

 
so

lu
ti

o
n

s,
 a

n
d

 in
co

rp
o

ra
te

 t
h

e 
p

ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

an
d

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 in
 t

h
is

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
in

to
 t

h
o

se

 
■

Id
en

ti
fy

 t
h

o
se

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 p

o
te

n
ti

al
ly

 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 
■

M
ak

e 
su

re
 t

h
at

 r
is

k 
is

 a
ss

es
se

d
 a

n
d

 
m

an
ag

ed
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly

 
■

M
ak

e 
su

re
 t

h
at

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 u

n
d

er
st

an
d

 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n
 r

is
ks

 in
 u

si
n

g
 o

n
lin

e 
se

rv
ic

es
.

T
h

e 
st

ra
te

g
y 

co
ve

rs
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

sp
ec

ts
 o

f 
o

n
lin

e 
sa

fe
ty

:

 
■

In
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

co
n

te
n

t

 
■

C
yb

er
-b

u
lly

in
g

, i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 s

ex
u

al
 b

u
lly

in
g

 
■

O
n

lin
e 

G
ro

o
m

in
g

 
■

Y
o

u
th

 P
ro

d
u

ce
d

 S
ex

u
al

 Im
ag

es

 
■

O
n

lin
e 

R
ep

u
ta

ti
o

n

 
■

P
ri

va
cy

 
■

S
el

f-
H

ar
m

 
■

O
n

lin
e 

P
o

rn
o

g
ra

p
hy

 
■

R
ad

ic
al

is
at

io
n

T
h

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

w
as

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 in
  

Ju
n

e 
20

17
.

6
 

T
h

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s,
 5

th
 E

d
it

io
n

: 
C

h
ap

te
r 

7.
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 f
ro

m
 S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 
(P

ar
t 

B
3

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

G
u

id
an

ce
);

 
C

h
ap

te
r 

8
. O

rg
an

is
ed

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

p
le

x 
A

b
u

se
 (

P
ar

t 
A

: C
o

re
 

P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s)
. I

n
 c

as
es

 w
h

er
e 

th
er

e 
is

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 o
n

e 
vi

ct
im

 a
n

d
/o

r 
p

er
p

et
ra

to
r 

C
h

ap
te

r 
8

 m
u

st
 b

e 
fo

llo
w

ed
; 

C
h

ap
te

r 
10

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 S
ex

u
al

ly
 A

ct
iv

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 (
P

ar
t 

B
3

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 P

ra
ct

ic
e 

G
u

id
an

ce
) 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

 
C

h
ild

re
n

 H
ar

m
in

g
 O

th
er

s 
(P

ar
t 

B
3

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 

P
ra

ct
ic

e 
G

u
id

an
ce

).
 

Page 27



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

2
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

4
3

8.
4

 B
ru

is
in

g
 In

 N
o

n-
In

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
M

o
b

ile
 

In
fa

nt
s 

an
d

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
Ta

sk
 a

nd
 F

in
is

h 
G

ro
up

T
h

e 
P

o
lic

y 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 a

 t
as

k 
an

d
 

fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 t
o

 p
re

p
ar

e 
a 

p
ro

to
co

l o
n

 B
ru

is
in

g
 In

 
N

o
n

-I
n

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
M

o
b

ile
 In

fa
n

ts
 a

n
d

 C
h

ild
re

n
. 

T
h

e 
ta

sk
 a

n
d

 fi
n

is
h

 g
ro

u
p

 m
et

 a
n

d
 p

re
p

ar
ed

 
g

u
id

an
ce

 d
es

ig
n

ed
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s’
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
in

 t
h

e 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
an

d
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
o

f 
b

ru
is

in
g

 in
 n

o
n

-i
n

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
m

o
b

ile
 in

fa
n

ts
 

(u
su

al
ly

 le
ss

 t
h

an
 6

 m
o

n
th

s 
o

ld
).

 T
h

e 
ai

m
s 

o
f 

th
e 

g
u

id
an

ce
 a

re
 t

o
: 

 
■

O
u

tl
in

e 
p

at
hw

ay
s 

in
 M

er
to

n
 f

o
r 

th
e 

re
fe

rr
al

 
an

d
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
o

f 
b

ru
is

in
g

 in
 n

o
n

-
in

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
in

fa
n

ts
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
re

n

 
■

E
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 a

ll 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

ar
e 

re
sp

o
n

d
in

g
 

to
 b

ru
is

in
g

 in
 n

o
n

-i
n

d
ep

en
d

en
tl

y 
m

o
b

ile
 

in
fa

n
ts

 a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 in
 a

 c
o

n
si

st
en

t 
w

ay

 
■

S
up

p
o

rt
 p

ra
ct

iti
o

ne
rs

 t
o

 e
ff

ec
tiv

el
y 

re
sp

o
nd

 t
o

 
co

nc
er

ns
 a

b
o

ut
 n

o
n 

–a
cc

id
en

ta
l i

nj
ur

y 
in

 n
o

n-
in

d
ep

en
d

en
tly

 m
o

b
ile

 in
fa

nt
s 

an
d

 c
hi

ld
re

n.

T
h

e 
g

u
id

an
ce

 is
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

M
S

C
B

’s
 im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 
o

f 
re

co
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

 5
 o

f 
th

e 
B

ab
y 

C
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
R

ev
ie

w
. T

h
e 

g
u

id
an

ce
 w

as
 a

p
p

ro
ve

d
 

b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 in
 J

u
n

e 
20

17
.

8.
5 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 Im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
R

ev
ie

w
s 

(L
iR

) 
an

d
 S

er
io

us
 C

as
e 

R
ev

ie
w

s 
(S

C
R

)

8
.5

.1
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 f
ro

m
 t

he
 C

hi
ld

 B
 S

C
R

In
 2

0
15

-2
0

16
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 a

 S
er

io
u

s 
C

as
e 

R
ev

ie
w

, k
n

o
w

n
 lo

ca
lly

 a
s 

th
e 

C
h

ild
 B

 S
er

io
u

s 
C

as
e 

R
ev

ie
w

 (
S

C
R

).
 In

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 2
0

15
, B

 (
ag

e 
16

) 
w

as
 s

er
io

u
sl

y 
as

sa
u

lt
ed

 b
y 

h
er

 M
o

th
er

 d
u

ri
n

g
 

th
e 

n
ig

h
t 

w
h

ile
 B

 w
as

 a
sl

ee
p

. T
h

e 
su

st
ai

n
ed

 a
tt

ac
k 

re
su

lt
ed

 in
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

d
am

ag
e,

 r
eq

u
ir

in
g

 s
u

rg
er

y.
 

B
’s

 M
o

th
er

 h
ad

 a
 lo

n
g

 h
is

to
ry

 o
f 

m
en

ta
l i

lln
es

s,
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 in
-p

at
ie

n
t 

an
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

b
as

ed
 m

en
ta

l 
h

ea
lt

h
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

C
h

ild
 B

 w
as

 s
er

io
u

sl
y 

h
ar

m
ed

 b
y 

h
er

 M
o

th
er

 
w

h
o

 h
ad

 a
n

 o
n

-g
o

in
g

 h
is

to
ry

 o
f 

p
o

o
r 

m
en

ta
l i

ll-
h

ea
lt

h
; a

t 
ti

m
es

, s
h

e 
w

as
 w

el
l a

n
d

, a
t 

ti
m

es
, s

h
e 

d
et

er
io

ra
te

d
 r

ap
id

ly
. T

h
e 

w
o

rk
 s

h
o

w
s 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 

to
 u

n
d

er
st

an
d

 p
ar

en
ta

l m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
, a

lc
o

h
o

l, 
an

d
 p

o
ss

ib
le

 d
o

m
es

ti
c 

vi
o

le
n

ce
 a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
. T

h
es

e 
ar

e 
n

o
t 

n
ew

 t
h

em
es

 

in
 s

er
io

u
s 

ca
se

 r
ev

ie
w

s.
 T

h
is

 r
ev

ie
w

 h
el

p
ed

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 t

o
 id

en
ti

fy
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 t

h
at

 n
ee

d
s 

to
 b

e 
d

o
n

e 
lo

ca
lly

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
re

co
g

n
is

e 
an

d
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 t

h
is

 ‘t
ri

g
g

er
’ t

ri
o

.7

T
h

e 
K

ey
 L

es
so

n
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

S
C

R
 a

re
 o

u
tl

in
ed

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

 
■

Em
be

dd
in

g 
Th

in
k 

Fa
m

ily
 in

 A
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 
an

d 
W

or
k 

w
it

h 
Fa

m
ili

es
. W

o
rk

 w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n
 

an
d

 f
am

ili
es

 n
ee

d
s 

to
 t

ak
e 

in
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

fa
m

ily
 d

yn
am

ic
s 

o
f 

fa
m

ily
 h

is
to

ry
, 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s,

 d
iff

er
en

t 
b

el
ie

f 
sy

st
em

s,
 o

r 
cu

ltu
re

. P
ra

ct
iti

o
ne

rs
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
e 

eq
ui

p
p

ed
 a

nd
 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

 t
hr

o
ug

h 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 a

nd
 s

up
er

vi
si

o
n 

to
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 t

h
e 

p
o

ss
ib

le
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

cu
lt

u
ra

l a
n

d
 r

el
ig

io
u

s 
d

yn
am

ic
s.

 

 
■

U
nd

er
st

an
d

in
g

 t
he

 n
ee

d
s 

o
f 

Yo
un

g
 C

ar
er

s.
 

T
h

e 
n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
Y

o
u

n
g

 c
ar

er
s 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 b

e 
re

co
g

n
is

ed
, u

n
d

er
st

o
o

d
 a

n
d

 a
tt

en
d

ed
 t

o
 

b
y 

th
e 

w
h

o
le

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 s

ys
te

m
. T

h
is

 
re

q
u

ir
es

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

jo
in

t 
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 

 
■

Th
e 

us
e 

o
f 

w
ri

tt
en

 a
g

re
em

en
ts

. T
h

er
e 

is
 a

 
n

ee
d

 f
o

r 
cl

ar
it

y 
re

g
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

u
se

 o
f 

w
ri

tt
en

 
ag

re
em

en
ts

. T
h

is
 in

cl
u

d
es

 e
n

su
ri

n
g

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

u
se

 o
f 

su
ch

 a
g

re
em

en
ts

 f
o

llo
w

s 
th

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 

C
h

ild
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

an
d

 b
es

t 
p

ra
ct

ic
e 

g
u

id
an

ce
. 

 
■

Le
ad

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 Q

ua
lit

y 
A

ss
ur

an
ce

 o
f 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 m

ee
ti

ng
s 

an
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
. 

S
te

p
-d

o
w

n
 f

ro
m

 c
h

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
e 

w
el

l p
la

n
n

ed
 a

n
d

 c
ar

ef
u

lly
 m

an
ag

ed
 f

ro
m

 
a 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

er
sp

ec
ti

ve
. T

h
is

 in
cl

u
d

es
 

cl
ar

it
y 

ab
o

u
t 

w
h

o
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e 

in
vo

lv
ed

, w
h

at
 

th
e 

g
o

al
s 

w
er

e 
an

d
 t

im
in

g
 o

f 
m

ee
ti

n
g

s.
 

T
h

e 
re

p
o

rt
 o

f 
th

is
 w

as
 p

u
b

lis
h

ed
 in

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

17
 a

n
d

 is
 a

va
ila

b
le

 o
n

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 w

eb
si

te
.8
 T

h
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

co
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

e 
S

C
R

 a
re

 
in

cl
u

d
ed

 in
 t

h
is

 r
ep

o
rt

 a
s 

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 1
.  

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

n
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 in
 p

la
ce

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

co
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

is
 

S
C

R
 a

re
 im

p
le

m
en

te
d

. I
n

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

is
, t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

b
ri

efi
n

g
s 

to
 o

ve
r 

12
0

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 m

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

st
aff

; t
o

 D
es

ig
n

at
ed

 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 L

ea
d

s 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

an
d

 
se

co
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l s

ec
to

r, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 a

ca
d

em
ie

s;
 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 a
ls

o
 b

ri
ef

ed
 c

o
lle

ag
u

es
 in

 t
h

e 
p

ri
va

te
 a

n
d

 v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 s
ec

ti
o

n
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 
m

es
sa

g
es

 a
b

o
u

t 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 w
o

rk
in

g
 

ar
e 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
ed

. T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 in
 t

h
e 

p
ro

ce
ss

 o
f 

re
vi

ew
in

g
 it

s 
Y

o
u

n
g

 C
ar

er
s’

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d
 a

 M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lt
h

 P
ro

to
co

l.

8
.5

.2
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 f
ro

m
 B

ab
y 

C
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
nd

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

R
ev

ie
w

T
h

is
 w

as
 a

 c
as

e 
w

h
ic

h
 w

as
 e

sc
al

at
ed

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 b

y 
th

e 
N

am
ed

 N
u

rs
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

H
ea

lt
h

 P
ro

vi
d

er
. T

h
e 

co
n

ce
rn

s 
in

cl
u

d
ed

 n
eg

le
ct

 
(i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 p
hy

si
ca

l n
eg

le
ct

 a
n

d
 f

ai
lu

re
 t

o
 a

tt
en

d
 

m
ed

ic
al

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

en
ts

),
 p

ar
en

ta
l m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

, 
p

ar
en

ta
l l

ea
rn

in
g

 d
iffi

cu
lt

ie
s,

 a
n

d
 p

ar
en

ta
l 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
. 

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 m

et
 in

 N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0

15
 t

o
 c

o
n

si
d

er
 if

 
th

e 
th

re
sh

o
ld

 f
o

r 
a 

S
C

R
 w

as
 m

et
 o

r 
if

 t
h

er
e 

w
as

 
a 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 a

n
o

th
er

 t
yp

e 
o

f 
le

ar
n

in
g

 
re

vi
ew

. A
t 

th
at

 m
ee

ti
n

g
 it

 w
as

 a
g

re
ed

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

cr
it

er
ia

 f
o

r 
a 

se
ri

o
u

s 
ca

se
 r

ev
ie

w
 w

er
e 

n
o

t 
m

et
 

h
o

w
ev

er
, t

h
is

 c
as

e 
w

o
u

ld
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

an
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y 

fo
r 

a 
L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

R
ev

ie
w

.

T
h

is
 R

ev
ie

w
 h

as
 d

em
o

n
st

ra
te

d
 t

h
e 

im
p

o
rt

an
ce

 o
f 

re
co

g
n

is
in

g
 t

h
e 

in
d

ic
at

o
rs

 a
n

d
 im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
ch

ro
n

ic
 

n
eg

le
ct

 o
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
. T

h
e 

n
ee

d
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

to
 v

ie
w

 a
 h

o
m

e 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

’s
 

p
er

sp
ec

ti
ve

 c
an

n
o

t 
b

e 
o

ve
re

m
p

h
as

is
ed

. T
h

is
 

ca
se

 h
as

 h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 t

h
e 

im
p

o
rt

an
ce

 o
f 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

to
 t

ak
e 

ac
co

u
n

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ch

ild
h

o
o

d
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
s 

o
f 

a 
p

ar
en

t 
w

it
h

 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 c
o

n
ce

rn
s 

an
d

 t
h

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
su

ch
 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 r
is

k 
to

 c
h

ild
re

n
. 

S
u

ch
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 n

ee
d

s 
to

 b
e 

sh
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 o
th

er
 

ag
en

ci
es

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
fa

m
ily

.

7  
T

h
e 

te
rm

 ‘T
ri

g
g

er
 T

ri
o

’ i
s 

u
se

d
 in

 M
er

to
n

 t
o

 d
es

cr
ib

e 
th

e 
is

su
es

 o
f 

d
o

m
es

ti
c 

ab
u

se
, m

en
ta

l i
ll-

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 

m
is

u
se

.

8
 

h
tt

p
s:

//
w

w
w

2.
m

er
to

n
.g

o
v.

u
k/

h
ea

lt
h

-s
o

ci
al

-c
ar

e/
ch

ild
re

n
-

fa
m

ily
-h

ea
lt

h
-s

o
ci

al
-c

ar
e/

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

ch
ild

re
n

/l
sc

b
/s

er
io

u
s_

ca
se

_r
ev

ie
w

s.
h

tm

Page 28



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

4
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

4
5

9.
1 

Se
ct

io
n 

11

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

o
ld

s 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

to
 a

cc
o

u
n

t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 it
s 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 a
n

d
 P

ee
r 

C
h

al
le

n
g

e 
P

ro
ce

ss
. T

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ls

o
 r

ec
ei

ve
s 

an
n

u
al

 r
ep

o
rt

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

, t
h

e 
V

A
W

G
 G

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

 
P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
.9

 

A
t 

th
e 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

Im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 h
el

d
 

o
n

 2
n

d
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
16

 it
 w

as
 a

g
re

ed
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

p
ro

ce
ss

 f
o

r 
20

15
-2

0
16

 w
o

u
ld

 in
vo

lv
e 

a 
re

vi
ew

 a
n

d
 u

p
d

at
e 

o
f 

ea
ch

 a
g

en
cy

’s
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

S
el

f-
A

u
d

it
 f

o
r 

20
14

-2
0

15
. A

 Q
u

al
it

y 
A

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 a

n
d

 
P

ee
r 

C
h

al
le

n
g

e 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e 

co
n

si
d

er
ed

 f
o

r 
th

e 
n

ew
 h

ea
lt

h
 p

ro
vi

d
er

 f
o

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
(C

en
tr

al
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h
 

C
ar

e;
 w

h
ic

h
 s

ta
rt

ed
 in

 M
er

to
n

 in
 A

p
ri

l 2
0

16
) 

an
d

 
th

o
se

 a
g

en
ci

es
 w

h
er

e 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

is
su

es
 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 in

 t
h

ei
r 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
se

lf
-a

u
d

it
 r

et
u

rn
.

9
.0

A
g

en
cy

 E
ff

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 in

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
 –

 r
ep

o
rt

s 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 k

ey
 

ag
en

cy
 d

ra
w

in
g

 o
n 

Se
ct

io
n 

11
 a

nd
 Q

A
 a

nd
 C

ha
lle

ng
e 

M
ee

ti
ng

s

9
 

E
vi

d
en

ce
 in

cl
ud

es
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f 
B

o
ar

d
 M

ee
ti

ng
s,

 t
he

 n
o

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

S
ec

ti
o

n 
11

 C
ha

lle
ng

e 
M

ee
ti

ng
s,

 S
ec

ti
o

n 
11

 R
et

ur
ns

, Q
A

 M
in

ut
es

, 
no

te
s 

o
f 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 a

ud
it

s,
 t

he
 B

o
ar

d
’s

 B
us

in
es

s 
P

la
n.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

g
re

ed
 t

o
 u

se
 t

h
e 

P
an

-L
o

n
d

o
n

 
S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

A
u

d
it

 T
o

o
l, 

d
ev

el
o

p
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

. T
h

e 
au

d
it

 t
o

o
l 

al
lo

w
s 

ea
ch

 a
g

en
cy

 o
r 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
 t

o
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

it
s 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
ag

ai
n

st
 

ei
g

h
t 

ag
re

ed
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 s

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 
su

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 e
vi

d
en

ce
 w

h
er

e 
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e.

 T
h

es
e 

st
an

d
ar

d
s 

ar
e 

as
 f

o
llo

w
s:

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 1

 –
 S

en
io

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
h

av
e 

co
m

m
it

m
en

t 
to

 t
h

e 
im

p
o

rt
an

ce
 o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 

an
d

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 w

el
fa

re

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 2

 –
 T

h
er

e 
is

 a
 c

le
ar

 s
ta

te
m

en
t 

o
f 

th
e 

ag
en

cy
’s

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 t

o
w

ar
d

s 
ch

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 t
h

is
 is

 a
va

ila
b

le
 t

o
 a

ll 
st

aff

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 3

 –
 T

h
er

e 
is

 a
 c

le
ar

 li
n

e 
o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ta

b
ili

ty
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

w
o

rk
 

o
n

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

 w
el

fa
re

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 4

 –
 S

er
vi

ce
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
ta

ke
s 

in
to

 
ac

co
u

n
t 

th
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
 a

n
d

 p
ro

m
o

te
 

w
el

fa
re

 a
n

d
 is

 in
fo

rm
ed

, w
h

er
e 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e,
 b

y 
th

e 
vi

ew
s 

o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 &
 f

am
ili

es

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 5

 –
 T

h
er

e 
is

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 t

ra
in

in
g

 
o

n
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 &

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 t

h
e 

w
el

fa
re

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 f
o

r 
al

l s
ta

ff
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
 o

r, 
d

ep
en

d
in

g
 

o
n

 t
h

e 
ag

en
cy

’s
 p

ri
m

ar
y 

fu
n

ct
io

n
s,

 in
 c

o
n

ta
ct

 
w

it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n
 &

 f
am

ili
es

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 6

 –
 S

af
er

 r
ec

ru
it

m
en

t 
p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 v
et

ti
n

g
 p

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

an
d

 t
h

o
se

 f
o

r 
m

an
ag

in
g

 a
lle

g
at

io
n

s 
ar

e 
in

 p
la

ce

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 7

 –
 T

h
er

e 
is

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 in

te
r-

ag
en

cy
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
 &

 p
ro

m
o

te
 t

h
e 

w
el

fa
re

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

ST
A

N
D

A
R

D
 8

 –
 T

h
er

e 
is

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
 

S
h

ar
in

g

T
h

e 
ke

y 
le

ar
n

in
g

 c
o

m
in

g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 is

 
su

m
m

ar
is

ed
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

 
■

Th
e 

ne
ed

 t
o 

un
d

er
st

an
d

 N
eg

le
ct

: T
he

 s
ig

ns
 

an
d

 in
d

ic
at

o
rs

 o
f 

ch
ro

ni
c 

ne
g

le
ct

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 

b
e 

re
co

g
ni

se
d

 a
nd

 a
ct

ed
 u

p
o

n 
b

y 
m

ul
ti

-
ag

en
cy

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
. N

eg
le

ct
 r

em
ai

ns
 t

he
 

th
em

e 
ru

nn
in

g
 a

cr
o

ss
 e

ac
h 

o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 

th
re

e 
ke

y 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
. T

he
 B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 
an

d
 u

p
d

at
ed

 it
s 

N
eg

le
ct

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d
 w

ill
 

b
e 

co
nd

uc
ti

ng
 a

n 
au

d
it

 o
f 

ne
g

le
ct

 c
as

es
 in

 
ea

rl
y 

au
tu

m
n 

20
17

. W
e 

ar
e 

al
so

 d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 a

 
ne

g
le

ct
 t

o
o

lk
it

 w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 a

ss
is

t 
p

ra
ct

it
io

ne
rs

 
in

 id
en

ti
fy

in
g

 a
nd

 a
ss

es
si

ng
 c

as
es

 o
f 

ne
g

le
ct

.

 
■

P
hy

si
ca

l A
b

us
e:

 U
n

ex
p

la
in

ed
 p

hy
si

ca
l 

in
ju

ri
es

 in
 c

h
ild

re
n

 s
h

o
u

ld
 t

ri
g

g
er

 c
h

ild
 

p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s;
 e

sp
ec

ia
lly

 w
h

en
 

th
er

e 
ar

e 
co

n
fl

ic
ti

n
g

 a
cc

o
u

n
ts

 g
iv

en
 b

y 
th

e 
ch

ild
, t

h
e 

p
ar

en
ts

. T
h

er
e 

al
so

 n
ee

d
s 

to
 b

e 
cl

ea
r 

g
u

id
an

ce
 r

eg
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

ce
 

o
f 

b
ru

is
in

g
 in

 p
re

-m
o

b
ile

 o
r 

n
o

n
-m

o
b

ile
 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 w

h
at

 t
o

 d
o

 in
 c

as
es

 o
f 

u
n

ex
p

la
in

ed
 in

ju
ri

es
. A

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 

co
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

is
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 
ap

p
ro

ve
d

 m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 g

ui
d

an
ce

 o
n 

b
ru

is
in

g
 

in
 p

re
-m

o
b

ile
 a

n
d

 n
o

n
-a

m
b

u
la

n
t 

ch
ild

re
n

.

 
■

C
hi

ld
 S

ex
ua

l A
b

us
e:

 D
is

cl
o

su
re

s 
o

f 
se

xu
al

 a
b

u
se

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 b

e 
ac

te
d

 u
p

o
n

 
an

d
 in

ve
st

ig
at

ed
 a

s 
fu

lly
 in

ve
st

ig
at

ed
 a

s 
p

o
ss

ib
le

. I
n

 o
rd

er
 e

st
ab

lis
h

 a
 b

as
el

in
e 

o
f 

th
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

in
 r

el
at

io
n

 
to

 c
h

ild
 s

ex
u

al
 a

b
u

se
; t

h
e 

Q
u

al
it

y 
A

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 u

n
d

er
to

o
k 

a 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
au

d
it

 o
f 

ch
ild

 s
ex

u
al

 a
b

u
se

. A
s 

a 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
is

 a
u

d
it

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
re

vi
ew

ed
 t

w
o

 c
h

ild
 

p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 c
as

es
 a

n
d

 1
2 

th
re

sh
o

ld
 c

as
es

 
th

at
 d

id
 n

o
t 

re
su

lt
 in

 a
 c

h
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
. 

T
h

e 
fi

n
d

in
g

s 
o

f 
th

is
 a

u
d

it
 w

er
e 

sh
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

an
d

 p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s.

 
■

Sa
fe

g
ua

rd
in

g
 A

d
ul

ts
: T

h
e 

re
p

o
rt

 f
o

u
n

d
 

th
at

 t
h

e 
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

ty
 o

f 
p

ar
en

ts
 t

o
 

ex
p

lo
it

at
io

n
 b

y 
o

th
er

 a
d

u
lt

s 
n

ee
d

s 
to

 b
e 

re
co

g
n

is
ed

 b
y 

p
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s;

 t
h

is
 in

cl
u

d
es

 
re

co
g

n
it

io
n

 t
h

at
 a

d
u

lt
s 

w
it

h
 a

d
d

it
io

n
al

 
n

ee
d

s,
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

, c
an

 b
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f 

ab
u

se
 a

n
d

 e
xp

lo
it

at
io

n
. T

h
es

e 
fa

ct
o

rs
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
e 

co
n

si
d

er
ed

 h
o

lis
ti

ca
lly

 
b

y 
th

o
se

 a
g

en
ci

es
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it

h
 f

am
ili

es
. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 a
d

u
lt

s 
is

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 a
n

d
 a

 T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 a
p

p
o

in
te

d
 

to
 a

ss
is

t 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
 e

m
b

ed
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
th

in
k 

fa
m

ily
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 a

cr
o

ss
 a

d
u

lt
s 

an
d

 
ch

ild
re

n
’s

 s
er

vi
ce

s.
 

 
■

C
hi

ld
ho

o
d

 E
xp

er
ie

nc
es

 o
f 

P
ar

en
ts

: W
e 

kn
o

w
 f

ro
m

 r
es

ea
rc

h
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
ch

ild
h

o
o

d
 

h
is

to
ry

 o
f 

n
eg

le
ct

, a
b

u
se

 a
n

d
 p

o
o

r 
m

en
ta

l 
h

ea
lt

h
 c

an
 h

av
e 

an
 a

d
ve

rs
e 

im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 
p

ar
en

ta
l c

ap
ac

it
y 

an
d

 t
h

e 
ab

ili
ty

 o
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 
to

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
g

o
o

d
 e

n
o

u
g

h
 c

ar
e 

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

. 
It

 is
 e

ss
en

ti
al

 t
h

at
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 t

ak
e 

in
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

ch
ild

h
o

o
d

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 
o

f 
p

ar
en

ts
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o

f 
ad

ve
rs

e 
ch

ild
h

o
o

d
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
 o

n
 p

ar
en

ts
’ a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
g

o
o

d
 e

n
o

u
g

h
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

.

 
■

Th
re

sh
o

ld
s 

an
d

 M
o

ni
to

ri
ng

: T
h

e 
re

vi
ew

 
h

ig
h

lig
h

te
d

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

 t
h

at
 a

ll 
p

la
n

s 
to

 
m

o
n

it
o

r 
ca

se
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 h
av

e:

a.
 

a 
n

am
ed

 le
ad

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
;

b
. 

a 
cl

ea
r 

su
p

p
o

rt
 p

la
n

 o
u

tl
in

in
g

 w
h

ic
h

 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 
ex

p
ec

te
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
es

;

c.
 

su
ch

 p
la

n
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 a
ls

o
 s

ta
te

 h
o

w
 c

as
es

 
w

ill
 b

e 
es

ca
la

te
d

 w
h

er
e 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 

h
av

e 
n

o
t 

b
ee

n
 m

ad
e 

o
r 

su
st

ai
n

ed
, a

n
d

d
. 

P
la

n
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 h
av

e 
cl

ea
r 

ti
m

es
ca

le
s 

an
d

 
re

vi
ew

 p
er

io
d

s.

 
■

Th
e 

Im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

th
e 

H
o

m
e 

E
nv

ir
o

nm
en

t 
o

n 
a 

C
hi

ld
’s

 L
if

e:
 t

h
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 v

ie
w

 a
 h

o
m

e 
en

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

’s
 p

er
sp

ec
ti

ve
 is

 
cr

u
ci

al
 t

o
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

’s
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
. T

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 is
 a

d
d

re
ss

in
g

 
th

is
 fi

n
d

in
g

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
it

s 
w

o
rk

 o
n

 t
h

e 
is

su
e 

o
f 

n
eg

le
ct

.

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 a

n
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 in
 p

la
ce

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

co
m

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
th

is
 

B
ab

y 
C

 L
iR

 a
re

 im
p

le
m

en
te

d
. I

n
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
is

, 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
b

ri
efi

n
g

s 
to

 o
ve

r 
12

0
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 m
em

b
er

s 
o

f 
st

aff
; 

to
 D

es
ig

n
at

ed
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 L

ea
d

s 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

an
d

 s
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l s

ec
to

r, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

ac
ad

em
ie

s;
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 a
ls

o
 b

ri
ef

ed
 c

o
lle

ag
u

es
 

in
 t

h
e 

p
ri

va
te

 a
n

d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 
th

at
 m

es
sa

g
es

 a
b

o
u

t 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
re

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

ed
. A

s 
a 

re
su

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 

L
iR

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 h

as
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 it
s 

N
eg

le
ct

 S
tr

at
eg

y,
 

ap
p

ro
ve

d
 a

 p
ro

to
co

l f
o

r 
B

ru
is

in
g

 In
 P

re
-M

o
b

ile
 

B
ab

ie
s 

an
d

 N
o

n
-a

m
b

u
la

n
t 

C
h

ild
re

n
.

Page 29



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

6
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

4
7

A
g

en
cy

 R
et

ur
ns

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 h

as
 r

ec
ei

ve
d

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 r

et
u

rn
s 

fr
o

m
 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

g
en

ci
es

:

1. 
C

A
F

C
A

S
S

2.
 

C
ar

er
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 M

er
to

n

3
. 

L
B

M
 A

d
u

lt
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e

4
. 

L
B

M
 C

S
F

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

5.
 

L
B

M
 E

ar
ly

 In
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

6
. 

L
B

M
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
, C

h
ild

ca
re

 a
n

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 

C
en

tr
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s

7.
 

L
B

M
 E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 In
cl

u
si

o
n

8
. 

L
B

M
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h

9
. 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 N
ee

d
s

10
. 

L
B

M
 S

af
er

 M
er

to
n

11
. 

L
B

M
 Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e

12
. 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 C
R

C
 P

ro
b

at
io

n

13
. 

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e 
S

er
vi

ce
 (

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 a
n

d
 

C
A

IT
) 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 R
ep

o
rt

 (
S

er
vi

ce
 W

id
e)

14
. 

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e 
S

er
vi

ce
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

R
ep

o
rt

 (
S

O
E

C
A

 S
er

vi
ce

 W
id

e)

15
. 

M
er

to
n

 V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

 C
o

u
n

ci
l (

M
V

S
C

)

16
. 

N
H

S
 C

en
tr

al
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h
 

C
ar

e

17
. 

N
H

S
 E

p
so

m
 a

n
d

 S
t 

H
el

ie
r 

N
H

S
 T

ru
st

18
. 

N
H

S
 M

er
to

n
 C

C
G

19
. 

N
H

S
 S

o
u

th
 W

es
t 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 a
n

d
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h
 N

H
S

 T
ru

st
 (

C
A

M
H

s)

20
. N

H
S

 S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
H

o
sp

it
al

 (
S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

R
ep

o
rt

)

21
. 

N
at

io
n

al
 P

ro
b

at
io

n
 S

er
vi

ce
 (

a 
re

g
io

n
al

, p
an

-
L

o
n

d
o

n
 r

et
u

rn
)

22
. L

o
n

d
o

n
 A

m
b

u
la

n
ce

 S
er

vi
ce

 (
an

n
u

al
 r

ep
o

rt
 

ad
d

re
ss

in
g

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
)

O
ve

ra
ll,

 t
h

e 
S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

re
tu

rn
s 

p
ro

vi
d

e 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

w
it

h
 g

o
o

d
 a

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 r

eg
ar

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

ac
ro

ss
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
. 

T
h

e 
se

ct
io

n
 1

1 
se

lf
-a

u
d

it
 r

et
u

rn
s 

re
ce

iv
ed

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 w

it
h

 g
o

o
d

 a
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
q

u
al

it
y 

o
f 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
ac

ro
ss

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
. W

h
er

e 
ag

en
ci

es
 a

ss
es

se
d

 
th

at
 s

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

w
er

e 
m

et
 t

h
er

e 
w

er
e,

 in
 m

o
st

 
ca

se
s,

 a
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
s,

 w
it

h
 c

le
ar

 t
im

es
ca

le
s 

an
d

 
n

am
ed

 p
er

so
n

s 
to

 a
d

d
re

ss
 t

h
is

.

N
at

io
n

al
 o

r 
re

g
io

n
al

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
(s

u
ch

 a
s,

 C
A

F
C

A
S

S
 

an
d

 P
ro

b
at

io
n

) 
su

b
m

it
te

d
 m

o
re

 ‘g
lo

b
al

’ s
el

f-
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 w

er
e 

as
ke

d
 t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 t
h

er
e 

is
 

an
 a

d
d

en
d

u
m

 w
h

ic
h

 g
iv

es
 a

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 f

o
r 

M
er

to
n

. 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 w

er
e 

n
o

t 
as

ke
d

 s
p

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 t
o

 c
o

m
p

le
te

 
a 

se
ct

io
n

 1
1 

au
d

it
 in

 t
h

is
 r

o
u

n
d

. A
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

sy
st

em
s 

au
d

it
 f

o
r 

ea
ch

 s
ch

o
o

l h
ad

 b
ee

n
 

u
n

d
er

ta
ke

n
 in

 t
h

e 
au

tu
m

n
 t

er
m

 2
0

16
 a

n
d

 
re

p
o

rt
ed

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 in

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

17
. 

It
 w

as
 a

g
re

ed
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
P

ee
r 

C
h

al
le

n
g

e 
w

as
 

h
el

p
fu

l a
n

d
 t

h
at

 it
 w

as
 v

al
u

ab
le

 t
o

 in
vo

lv
e 

a 
L

ay
 

M
em

b
er

, w
h

er
e 

p
o

ss
ib

le
. T

h
e 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t 

o
f 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

er
s 

w
as

 a
ls

o
 s

ee
n

 a
s 

h
el

p
fu

l a
s 

it
 

en
ab

le
d

 t
h

e 
C

h
ai

r 
an

d
 t

h
e 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

, 
S

ch
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 t

o
 c

h
al

le
n

g
e 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 
se

rv
ic

es
 r

eg
ar

d
in

g
 im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 p
ra

ct
ic

e.

9.
1.

1 
Sc

ho
ol

s

O
fs

te
d

 in
sp

ec
ti

o
n 

o
ut

co
m

es
 r

at
ed

 G
o

o
d

 o
r 

O
ut

st
an

d
in

g

0
%

20
%

4
0

%
6

0
%

8
0

%
10

0
%

P
er

so
na

l d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 

an
d

 w
el

fa
re

 –
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls

N
at

io
na

l
L

o
nd

o
n

P
er

so
na

l d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 

an
d

 w
el

fa
re

 –
 S

ec
o

nd
ar

y 
S

ch
o

o
ls

(i
nc

lu
d

in
g

 A
ca

d
em

ie
s)

P
er

so
na

l d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 

an
d

 w
el

fa
re

 –
 S

p
ec

ia
lS

ch
o

o
ls

P
er

so
na

l d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 

an
d

 w
el

fa
re

 –
 P

up
il 

R
ef

er
ra

l U
ni

ts

O
ve

ra
ll 

E
�

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 –

 A
ll 

S
ch

o
o

ls
(M

ai
nt

ai
ne

d
 &

 A
ca

d
em

ie
s)

O
ve

ra
ll 

E
�

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 –

 
P

ri
m

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls

O
ve

ra
ll 

E
�

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 –

 S
ec

o
nd

ar
y 

S
ch

o
o

ls
(i

nc
lu

d
in

g
 A

ca
d

em
ie

s)

O
ve

ra
ll 

E
�

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 –

S
p

ec
ia

l S
ch

o
o

ls
 &

 P
R

U

O
ve

ra
ll 

E
�

ec
ti

ve
ne

ss
 –

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

C
en

tr
es

B
en

ch
m

ar
ki

ng
as

 a
t 

31
/0

3/
20

15

B
en

ch
m

ar
ki

ng
as

 a
t 

31
/1

2/
20

16

as
 a

t 
31

/0
8

/2
0

15

F
in

al
 O

ut
co

m
e 

20
15

-2
0

16

La
te

st
 O

ut
co

m
e 

20
16

-2
0

17

88
% 9

5%
9

4
%

9
6

%

87
%

9
2%

9
3%

9
8%

86
%

9
5%

89
%

9
4

%

9
1%

9
4

%

79
%

9
1%

9
0

%
9

4
%

6
6

%
72

%

89
% 9
1%

85
%

88
%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

10
0

%

Page 30



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
4

8
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

4
9

9.
2 

C
hi

ld
re

n,
 S

ch
o

o
ls

 a
nd

 F
am

ili
es

 (
C

SF
) 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

C
S

F
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

au
d

it
s 

fo
r 

C
S

C
; E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
; t

h
e 

Y
o

u
th

 S
er

vi
ce

, E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 

In
cl

u
si

o
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

FA
S

 (
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 Y

o
u

th
 J

u
st

ic
e)

.

T
h

e 
C

S
F

 h
as

 e
vo

lv
ed

 o
u

r 
st

ru
ct

u
re

s 
to

 d
el

iv
er

 
to

 la
rg

er
 n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 

an
d

 m
ee

t 
th

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

es
 o

f 
a 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s.

 
W

e 
h

av
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 o

u
r 

n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
so

ci
al

 w
o

rk
er

s,
 

p
ro

vi
d

ed
 r

ea
so

n
ab

le
 c

as
el

o
ad

s 
an

d
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 

fo
cu

s 
o

n
 r

ed
u

ci
n

g
 a

g
en

cy
 r

at
es

. W
e 

w
ill

 m
ai

n
ta

in
 

o
u

r 
sh

ar
p

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 t
h

is
 g

o
in

g
 f

o
rw

ar
d

.

T
h

er
e 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 a

 v
er

y 
ch

al
le

n
g

in
g

 r
ec

ru
it

m
en

t 
an

d
 r

et
en

ti
o

n
 c

o
n

te
xt

 n
at

io
n

al
ly

, i
n

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 
an

d
 p

ar
ti

cu
la

rl
y 

fo
r 

S
W

 L
o

n
d

o
n

. D
es

p
it

e 
th

es
e 

ch
al

le
n

g
es

 M
er

to
n

 h
as

 a
p

p
o

in
te

d
 o

ve
r 

50
 

p
er

m
an

en
t 

so
ci

al
 w

o
rk

er
s 

si
n

ce
 J

an
u

ar
y 

20
15

. 
M

er
to

n
 h

as
 e

n
d

ea
vo

u
re

d
 t

o
 m

ai
n

ta
in

 g
o

o
d

 q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
re

cr
u

it
s 

an
d

 d
es

p
it

e 
th

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

es
 h

av
e 

re
je

ct
ed

 a
 n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ca
n

d
id

at
es

 p
o

st
 r

ef
er

en
ce

s 
o

ve
r 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
p

er
io

d
.

T
h

er
e 

is
 r

ec
ru

it
m

en
t 

an
d

 r
et

en
ti

o
n

 a
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
 in

 
p

la
ce

 a
n

d
 M

er
to

n
 w

ill
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 m

ai
n

ta
in

 o
u

r 
fo

cu
s 

g
en

er
al

ly
 b

u
t 

w
ill

 a
ls

o
 f

o
cu

s 
o

n
 s

p
ec

ifi
c 

h
o

ts
p

o
t 

re
cr

u
it

m
en

t 
ar

ea
s 

su
ch

 a
s:

 C
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 
D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
, M

A
S

H
, Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 (
Q

A
).

 W
e 

n
o

w
 h

av
e 

a 
st

ro
n

g
 p

ip
el

in
e 

o
f 

st
u

d
en

t 
so

ci
al

 
w

o
rk

er
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 F
ro

n
tl

in
e 

co
lle

ag
u

es
 a

n
d

 a
 

su
ffi

ci
en

t 
fl

o
w

 o
f 

A
S

Y
E

s.
 W

e 
w

ill
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

to
 

m
ai

n
ta

in
 o

u
r 

st
ro

n
g

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 t
h

is
 w

o
rk

.

O
u

r 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

ac
ti

vi
ty

 a
n

d
 

st
re

n
g

th
en

ed
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 t

o
 Q

A
, c

o
m

b
in

ed
 w

it
h

 
ac

ti
ve

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t,

 a
re

 in
cr

ea
si

n
g

ly
 

en
ab

lin
g

 t
h

e 
ch

al
le

n
g

e 
an

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

im
p

ro
vi

n
g

 
p

ra
ct

ic
e.

 W
e 

w
an

t 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 a

ll 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
ar

e 
su

p
p

o
rt

ed
 a

n
d

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 t

h
e 

h
ig

h
es

t 
le

ve
ls

 
o

f 
co

m
p

et
en

ce
 in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 o
u

r 
am

b
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 

ex
p

ec
ta

ti
o

n
s;

 w
e 

b
o

th
 in

ve
st

 in
 t

h
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

o
u

r 
w

o
rk

er
s 

an
d

 t
ac

kl
e 

u
n

d
er

p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

. 
O

u
r 

d
ev

el
o

p
in

g
 u

se
 o

f 
“S

ig
n

s 
o

f 
S

af
et

y”
 a

n
d

 
m

o
ti

va
ti

o
n

al
 in

te
rv

ie
w

in
g

 t
ec

h
n

iq
u

es
 a

re
 

p
ro

vi
d

in
g

 u
se

fu
l t

o
o

ls
 f

o
r 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 f
am

ili
es

 
an

d
 a

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

en
ab

lin
g

 a
ct

iv
e 

d
is

cu
ss

io
n

 w
it

h
 r

eg
ar

d
 t

o
 p

ed
ag

o
g

y 
an

d
 p

ra
ct

ic
e.

 
T

h
is

 w
o

rk
 w

ill
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
e 

su
st

ai
n

ed
 g

o
in

g
 f

o
rw

ar
d

.

T
h

e 
im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e 

m
aj

o
r 

ch
an

g
es

 
ar

is
in

g
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 A

ct
 2

0
14

 
re

la
ti

n
g

 t
o

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, h

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 c
ar

e 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
it

h
 S

E
N

 a
n

d
 d

is
ab

ili
ti

es
 r

em
ai

n
 

o
n

-g
o

in
g

. W
it

h
 s

tr
o

n
g

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
o

f 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

N
H

S
, c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s 
se

ct
o

rs
 

an
d

 p
ar

en
ts

/c
ar

er
s,

 w
e 

h
av

e 
es

ta
b

lis
h

ed
 a

n
 

in
te

g
ra

te
d

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 C
ar

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
an

d
 

p
u

b
lis

h
ed

 o
u

r 
L

o
ca

l O
ff

er
. W

e 
ar

e 
n

o
w

 f
o

cu
si

n
g

 
o

n
 e

m
b

ed
d

in
g

 n
ew

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
an

d
 w

ay
s 

o
f 

co
lla

b
o

ra
ti

ve
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
h

ic
h

 w
ill

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 m
o

re
 

in
te

g
ra

te
d

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 m

o
re

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 w

o
rk

in
g

 
w

it
h

 t
h

is
 g

ro
u

p
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
, y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
n

d
 

th
ei

r 
fa

m
ili

es
.

To
 d

el
iv

er
 o

u
r 

sh
ar

ed
 a

m
b

it
io

n
s 

w
e 

w
ill

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
le

ad
er

sh
ip

 a
n

d
 g

o
ve

rn
an

ce
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

o
u

r 
M

S
C

B
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 id

en
ti

fy
in

g
 a

n
d

 a
d

d
re

ss
in

g
 

o
u

r 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t.
 T

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 u

s 
in

 
th

is
 w

e 
w

ill
 u

ti
lis

e 
o

u
r 

an
ti

ci
p

at
ed

 n
ew

 c
as

ew
o

rk
 

sy
st

em
 t

o
 f

u
rt

h
er

 d
ev

el
o

p
 o

u
r 

u
se

 o
f 

d
at

a 
b

o
th

 
fo

r 
id

en
ti

fy
in

g
 u

n
d

er
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

t 
a 

ca
se

, t
ea

m
 

o
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

le
ve

l a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t,

 
co

m
m

is
si

o
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

sa
ti

o
n

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

. W
e 

w
ill

 u
se

 o
u

r 
co

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

ag
en

d
a 

to
 

d
el

iv
er

 s
u

st
ai

n
ed

 im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 w

h
er

e 
is

su
es

 a
re

 
id

en
ti

fi
ed

 a
n

d
 t

o
 m

ai
n

ta
in

 o
u

r 
am

b
it

io
n

s 
fo

r 
al

l 
o

u
r 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
o

 b
e 

g
o

o
d

 o
r 

b
et

te
r.

C
S

F
 s

ta
rt

ed
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
 w

it
h

 a
 m

o
re

 s
ta

b
le

 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e 
an

d
 t

h
e 

ex
p

ec
ta

ti
o

n
 t

o
 a

cc
el

er
at

e 
th

e 
p

ac
e 

o
f 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
an

d
 w

ill
 a

ls
o

 b
e 

lo
o

ki
n

g
 t

o
 

im
p

le
m

en
t 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 f

ro
m

 a
 r

ec
en

t 
ex

te
rn

al
 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
o

u
r 

M
A

S
H

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

p
la

n
s 

to
 r

ev
ie

w
 

o
u

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

s 
W

el
l-

B
ei

n
g

 
M

o
d

el
, t

h
e 

st
ep

 u
p

, s
te

p
 d

o
w

n
 p

ro
ce

ss
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
co

n
ti

n
u

u
m

 o
f 

sp
ec

ia
lis

t,
 e

n
h

an
ce

d
 a

n
d

 w
id

er
 

se
rv

ic
es

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 f
am

ili
es

 in
 li

n
e 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

em
er

g
in

g
 M

S
C

B
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 2

0
16

-2
0

17
. 

9.
3 

A
cu

te
 T

ru
st

s

M
er

to
n

 d
o

es
 n

o
t 

h
av

e 
an

 a
cu

te
 t

ru
st

 lo
ca

te
d

 
in

 t
h

e 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 h

o
w

ev
er

 t
h

er
e 

is
 a

n
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

 w
it

h
 a

cu
te

 t
ru

st
s 

in
 t

h
e 

n
ei

g
h

b
o

u
ri

n
g

 
b

o
ro

u
g

h
s 

o
f 

S
u

tt
o

n
, W

an
d

sw
o

rt
h

, C
ro

yd
o

n
, 

L
am

b
et

h
 a

n
d

 K
in

g
st

o
n

 

9.
3.

1 
SW

 L
on

d
on

 &
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lt

h 
Tr

us
t

S
o

u
th

 W
es

t 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
M

en
ta

l 
H

ea
lt

h
 T

ru
st

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

S
el

f-
au

d
it

; 
th

is
 w

as
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 a
t 

a 
ti

m
e 

o
f 

co
n

si
d

er
ab

le
 

o
rg

an
is

at
io

n
al

 c
h

an
g

e 
d

u
e 

to
 a

 m
aj

o
r 

tr
an

sf
o

rm
at

io
n

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e.
 

9.
3.

2 
E

p
so

m
 a

nd
 S

t 
H

el
ie

r 
N

H
S 

Tr
us

t

T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

p
ro

vi
d

er
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 
a 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
S

el
f-

au
d

it
 a

n
d

 a
tt

en
d

ed
 Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 C
h

al
le

n
g

e 
m

ee
ti

n
g

s,
 w

h
ic

h
 g

av
e 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

Tr
u

st
 is

 f
u

lfi
lli

n
g

 it
s 

st
at

u
to

ry
 d

u
ti

es
 u

n
d

er
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

o
f 

th
e 

C
h

ild
re

n
 

A
ct

 2
0

0
4

.

9.
3.

3 
N

H
S 

M
er

to
n 

C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

 G
ro

up
 

(C
C

G
)

T
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 C

C
G

 h
as

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

 S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
S

el
f-

au
d

it
 a

n
d

 h
as

 a
tt

en
d

ed
 Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 
an

d
 C

h
al

le
n

g
e 

m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

w
h

ic
h

 g
av

e 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
C

C
G

 is
 f

u
lfi

lli
n

g
 it

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 u

n
d

er
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 
A

ct
 2

0
0

4
.

9.
3.

4
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

H
os

p
it

al
 N

H
S 

Tr
us

t

T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 s
u

rv
ey

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
su

b
m

is
si

o
n

 t
o

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
. 

T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 a
ls

o
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
su

p
p

le
m

en
ta

ry
 

ev
id

en
ce

 w
h

ic
h

 g
av

e 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 t

h
at

 
th

e 
Tr

u
st

 w
as

 f
u

lfi
lli

n
g

 it
s 

st
at

u
to

ry
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 

in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 A
ct

 2
0

0
4

.

9.
3.

5 
C

en
tr

al
 L

on
d

on
 C

om
m

un
it

y 
H

ea
lt

hc
ar

e 
N

H
S 

Tr
us

t

T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 w
as

 a
w

ar
d

ed
 t

h
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
h

ea
lt

h
 

ca
re

 c
o

n
tr

ac
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

fi
rs

t 
o

f 
A

p
ri

l 2
0

16
. T

h
e 

tr
u

st
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 t
h

ei
r 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
su

b
m

is
si

o
n

 t
o

 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 f

o
r 

20
16

. T
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 a
ls

o
 p

ro
vi

d
ed

 
su

p
p

le
m

en
ta

ry
 e

vi
d

en
ce

 w
h

ic
h

 g
av

e 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
Tr

u
st

 w
as

 f
u

lfi
lli

n
g

 it
s 

st
at

u
to

ry
 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ti

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

o
f 

th
e 

C
h

ild
re

n
 A

ct
 2

0
0

4
.

9.
3.

5 
P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lt
h 

T
h

e 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 s
it

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 
an

d
 is

 a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 p
ar

tn
er

. T
h

e 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

C
h

ild
re

n
, 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 a

n
d

 F
am

ili
es

 is
 a

ls
o

 a
 m

em
b

er
 o

f 
th

e 
H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
el

l-
b

ei
n

g
 B

o
ar

d
. T

h
e 

JS
N

A
 a

ls
o

 
in

fo
rm

s 
th

e 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 B
i-

A
n

n
u

al
 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

P
la

n
. P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 a
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 
11

 S
el

f-
au

d
it

 t
h

at
 g

av
e 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 is
 f

u
lfi

lli
n

g
 it

s 
st

at
u

to
ry

 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ti
es

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

1 
o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 A
ct

 2
0

0
4

. 

9.
4

 C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
an

d
 H

o
us

in
g

 D
ep

t.
 –

 L
o

nd
o

n 
B

o
ro

ug
h 

o
f 

M
er

to
n

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

an
d

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 
S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

A
u

d
it

s 
fo

r 
P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
lt

h
, A

d
u

lt
 S

o
ci

al
 

C
ar

e 
an

d
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 a

n
d

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 in

 t
h

e 
Q

u
al

it
y 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 C
h

al
le

n
g

e 
M

ee
ti

n
g

s.
 R

ep
re

se
n

ta
ti

ve
s 

o
f 

th
e 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 N
ee

d
s 

te
am

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
M

an
ag

er
 o

f 
C

ir
cl

e 
A

n
g

lia
, M

er
to

n
’s

 la
rg

es
t 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 
p

ro
vi

d
er

 a
tt

en
d

s 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

9.
5 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 S
er

vi
ce

 –
 H

R
 –

 L
o

nd
o

n 
B

o
ro

ug
h 

o
f 

M
er

to
n

A
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

au
d

it
 o

f 
th

e 
co

u
n

ci
l’s

 s
af

er
 

re
cr

u
it

m
en

t 
an

d
 e

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

p
ra

ct
ic

es
 w

as
 

u
n

d
er

ta
ke

n
. T

h
e 

co
u

n
ci

l h
as

 a
ls

o
 r

e-
is

su
ed

 a
d

vi
ce

 
to

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 in

 t
h

e 
p

er
io

d
 c

o
ve

ri
n

g
 r

ev
is

io
n

s 
to

 t
h

e 
ve

tt
in

g
 a

n
d

 b
ar

ri
n

g
 a

rr
an

g
em

en
ts

 a
n

d
 o

n
 t

h
e 

n
ew

 
D

fE
 g

u
id

an
ce

 o
n

 d
is

q
u

al
ifi

ca
ti

o
n

 b
y 

as
so

ci
at

io
n

. I
n

 
ad

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 t
h

is
, t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 p
ro

vi
d

es
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 t

o
 a

ll 
n

ew
 m

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

st
aff

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 In

d
u

ct
io

n
 p

ro
ce

ss
.

9.
6

 M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 P

o
lic

e/
P

ro
b

at
io

n/
C

af
ca

ss

R
eg

io
n

al
 S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
1 

re
tu

rn
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

b
y 

al
l t

h
re

e 
o

rg
an

is
at

io
n

s.
 T

h
e 

M
et

ro
p

o
lit

an
 

P
o

lic
e 

h
av

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 r

et
u

rn
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 
C

o
m

m
an

d
 a

n
d

 C
A

IT
. T

h
e 

P
o

lic
e 

h
av

e 
in

cl
u

d
ed

 
lo

ca
l i

n
fo

rm
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 a

n
al

ys
is

. T
h

e 
B

o
ro

u
g

h
 

C
o

m
m

an
d

 a
n

d
 C

A
IT

 a
re

 s
tr

o
n

g
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
 t

h
e 

w
o

rk
 o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 a

n
d

 it
s 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
s.

Page 31



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
50

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
51

10
.1

. T
he

 H
el

p
 K

ee
p

 U
s 

Sa
fe

 R
es

ea
rc

h 
P

ro
je

ct
 

w
it

h 
th

e 
Lo

nd
o

n 
So

ut
h 

B
an

k 
U

ni
ve

rs
it

y

M
er

to
n

’s
 L

o
ca

l S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 B
o

ar
d

 
an

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 S

o
u

th
 B

an
k 

U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

ed
 

a 
re

se
ar

ch
 p

ro
je

ct
 in

to
 h

ea
ri

n
g

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 
co

n
ce

rn
s 

ab
o

u
t 

th
ei

r 
sa

fe
ty

 a
n

d
 w

el
l-

b
ei

n
g

. I
t 

ai
m

ed
 t

o
 g

at
h

er
 t

h
e 

vi
ew

s 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 in
 M

er
to

n 
ab

o
ut

 t
he

ir 
sa

fe
g

ua
rd

in
g

 c
o

nc
er

ns
. 

T
h

e 
re

se
ar

ch
 w

as
 c

o
n

d
u

ct
ed

 in
 t

w
o

 p
ar

ts
: P

ar
t 

1 
co

n
si

st
ed

 o
f 

a 
su

rv
ey

 o
f 

o
n

e 
h

u
n

d
re

d
 a

n
d

 f
o

rt
y 

ei
g

h
t 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 in
 t

h
e 

g
en

er
al

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 w
h

o
 

at
te

n
d

 s
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 in
 t

h
e 

ar
ea

. P
ar

t 
tw

o
 

co
n

si
st

ed
 o

f 
se

m
i-

st
ru

ct
u

re
d

 in
te

rv
ie

w
s 

w
it

h
 t

en
 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 w

er
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
ch

ild
 

p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
.

T
he

 m
o

st
 c

o
m

m
o

nl
y 

ci
te

d
 s

o
ur

ce
 o

f 
fe

ar
 w

as
 g

an
g

s 
o

r 
g

ro
up

s 
o

f 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

. F
o

ur
 o

f 
te

n 
p

ar
ti

ci
p

an
ts

 
(4

2%
) 

sa
id

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 w

er
e 

af
ra

id
 o

f 
g

an
g

s 
o

r 
g

ro
up

s 
o

f 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

 s
o

m
et

im
es

, o
ft

en
 o

r 
ve

ry
 o

ft
en

. 
T

he
 s

ec
o

nd
 m

o
st

 c
ite

d
 s

o
ur

ce
 o

f 
fe

ar
 w

as
 b

ul
ly

in
g

. 
O

ne
 q

ua
rt

er
 (

25
%

) 
sa

id
 t

ha
t 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
af

ra
id

 o
f 

b
ul

ly
in

g
 s

o
m

et
im

es
, o

ft
en

 o
r 

ve
ry

 o
ft

en
.

R
an

ke
d

 in
 t

h
ir

d
 p

la
ce

 w
as

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
ri

sk
s 

th
at

 
w

er
e 

ra
te

d
 a

t 
a 

si
m

ila
r 

le
ve

l (
b

et
w

ee
n

 8
%

 t
o

 1
3

%
).

 
T

h
es

e 
ca

n
 b

e 
ca

te
g

o
ri

se
d

 in
to

 s
ev

er
al

 c
lu

st
er

s.

a)
 O

n
lin

e 
vi

ct
im

is
at

io
n

.

b
) 

C
h

ild
 s

ex
u

al
 e

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

.

c)
 P

hy
si

ca
l h

ar
m

.

d
) 

R
is

ks
 r

el
at

ed
 t

o
 t

h
ei

r 
o

w
n

 b
eh

av
io

u
r.

O
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
st

ro
n

g
es

t 
th

em
es

 w
as

 t
h

at
 y

o
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 s

aw
 o

th
er

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

s 
th

e 
g

re
at

es
t 

so
u

rc
e 

o
f 

th
re

at
. B

y 
co

n
tr

as
t,

 a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 m
aj

o
ri

ty
 

st
at

ed
 t

h
at

 t
h

ey
 ‘n

ev
er

’ o
r 

‘ra
re

ly
’ f

el
t 

af
ra

id
 o

f 
ad

u
lt

s,
 w

h
et

h
er

 t
h

is
 w

as
 in

 r
el

at
io

n
 t

o
 b

ei
n

g
 

h
u

rt
 (

ap
p

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

9
0

%
) 

o
r 

b
ei

n
g

 f
o

rc
ed

 t
o

 d
o

 
th

in
g

s 
se

xu
al

ly
 (

8
9

%
).

 T
h

e 
P

P
Y

P
S

 S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
 is

 
o

ve
rs

ee
in

g
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 r

es
p

o
n

se
 t

o
 t

h
is

 r
es

ea
rc

h
.

10
.2

 M
er

to
n’

s 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
Tr

us
t 

U
se

r 
V

o
ic

e 
St

ra
te

g
y

M
er

to
n

’s
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 U
se

r 
V

o
ic

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

im
p

le
m

en
ts

 o
n

e 
o

f 
th

e 
co

re
 a

m
b

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

M
er

to
n

’s
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 n
am

el
y,

 

10
.0

V
ie

w
s 

o
f 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 Y

o
un

g
 P

eo
p

le
 a

nd
 t

he
 C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

d
em

o
n

st
ra

ti
n

g
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
vi

ew
s 

an
d

 a
m

b
it

io
n

s 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 h

av
e 

in
fo

rm
ed

 a
n

d
 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 o

u
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

o
ff

er
.

T
h

e 
st

ra
te

g
y 

is
 a

ls
o

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

’s
 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
ke

y 
le

g
is

la
ti

o
n

, p
o

lic
y 

an
d

 
g

u
id

an
ce

: T
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 A
ct

 1
9

8
9

 a
n

d
 2

0
0

4
 

re
co

g
n

is
es

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

s 
ci

ti
ze

n
s 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

ri
g

h
t 

to
 b

e 
h

ea
rd

 a
n

d
 r

eq
u

ir
es

 t
h

at
 w

h
en

 w
o

rk
in

g
 

w
it

h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

, t
h

ei
r 

w
is

h
es

 a
n

d
 f

ee
lin

g
s 

sh
o

u
ld

 b
e 

as
ce

rt
ai

n
ed

 a
n

d
 u

se
d

 t
o

 in
fo

rm
 

m
ak

in
g

 d
ec

is
io

n
s.

 T
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 

A
ct

 2
0

14
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 1
9

 r
eq

u
ir

es
 t

h
at

 c
h

ild
re

n
, 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
n

d
 f

am
ili

es
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e 

in
vo

lv
ed

 
in

 d
ec

is
io

n
 m

ak
in

g
 a

t 
ev

er
y 

le
ve

l o
f 

th
e 

sy
st

em
. 

A
n

d
, W

o
rk

in
g

 T
o

g
et

h
er

 2
0

15
 s

ta
te

s 
th

at
 o

n
e 

o
f 

th
e 

ke
y 

p
ri

n
ci

p
le

s 
fo

r 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 

ar
ra

n
g

em
en

ts
 in

 a
 lo

ca
l a

re
a 

is
 t

o
 t

ak
e 

a 
ch

ild
 

ce
n

tr
ed

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

: ‘
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

o
 b

e 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 

th
ey

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
b

as
ed

 o
n

 a
 c

le
ar

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 

o
f 

th
e 

n
ee

d
s 

an
d

 v
ie

w
s 

o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

’. 

M
er

to
n

’s
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

’s
 P

la
n

 
20

16
-1

9
 id

en
ti

fi
es

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 a

re
as

 o
f 

w
o

rk
 t

o
 c

lo
se

 
g

ap
s 

an
d

 im
p

ro
ve

 o
u

tc
o

m
es

 f
o

r 
M

er
to

n
’s

 m
o

st
 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 g

ro
u

p
s.

 T
h

is
 y

ea
r, 

w
e 

ca
n

 r
ep

o
rt

 o
n

 
u

se
r 

vo
ic

e 
ac

ti
vi

ty
 w

h
ic

h
 h

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 e

ac
h

 o
f 

th
e 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 c

o
h

o
rt

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
: t

h
o

se
 in

 n
ee

d
 o

f 
ea

rl
y 

h
el

p
; c

h
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

 o
f 

h
el

p
 a

n
d

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

; 
lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 c
ar

e 
le

av
er

s;
 c

h
ild

re
n

 
w

it
h

 s
p

ec
ia

l e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 n
ee

d
s 

an
d

 d
is

ab
ili

ti
es

; 
th

o
se

 a
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

d
is

en
g

ag
in

g
 f

ro
m

 s
ch

o
o

l a
n

d
 

b
ey

o
n

d
; a

n
d

 t
h

o
se

 a
t 

ri
sk

 o
f 

o
ff

en
d

in
g

.

T
h

is
 y

ea
r 

w
e 

h
av

e 
en

su
re

d
 t

h
at

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 v
ie

w
s 

ar
e 

ce
n

tr
al

 t
o

 d
ec

is
io

n
s 

ab
o

u
t 

th
ei

r 
ca

re
. A

 v
er

y 
h

ig
h

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
vi

si
ts

 
(9

4
%

) 
an

d
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

(1
0

0
%

) 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 s

u
b

je
ct

 
to

 a
 c

h
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
, a

n
d

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
(9

9
%

) 
fo

r 
th

o
se

 w
h

o
 a

re
 lo

o
ke

d
 a

ft
er

 h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 c
o

n
d

u
ct

ed
 

w
it

h
in

 t
im

es
ca

le
s 

w
it

h
 9

0
%

 C
Y

P
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

at
io

n
 a

t 
L

A
C

 r
ev

ie
w

s.
 

In
 o

rd
er

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

vi
ew

s 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
, w

it
h

 
al

l l
ev

el
s 

o
f 

ab
ili

ty
, a

n
d

 t
h

ei
r 

fa
m

ili
es

 in
fo

rm
 t

h
e 

C
P

 
p

ro
ce

ss
 s

o
ci

al
 w

o
rk

er
s 

h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 t
ra

in
ed

 in
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

/ 
fa

m
ily

 c
en

tr
ed

 S
ig

n
s 

o
f 

S
af

et
y 

ap
p

ro
ac

h
, 

an
d

 h
av

e 
al

so
 b

ee
n

 t
ra

in
ed

 in
 g

at
h

er
in

g
 t

h
e 

vi
ew

s,
 

w
is

h
es

 a
n

d
 f

ee
lin

g
s 

o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 w
it

h
 d

is
ab

ili
ti

es
/

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 d

iffi
cu

lt
ie

s.
 In

 a
d

d
it

io
n

 w
e 

h
av

e 
co

n
ti

n
u

ed
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

 

to
 p

ar
ti

ci
p

at
e 

in
 C

P
 C

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

s 
ei

th
er

 b
y 

at
te

n
d

in
g

, o
r 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

n
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

ad
vo

ca
te

.

N
in

et
y 

p
er

 c
en

t 
o

f 
L

A
C

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
at

ed
 in

 t
h

ei
r 

L
A

C
 

re
vi

ew
 e

it
h

er
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 a

tt
en

d
an

ce
, c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

f 
co

n
su

lt
at

io
n

 p
ap

er
s,

 o
r 

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

n
 a

d
vo

ca
te

.

P
ro

vi
d

in
g

 o
p

p
o

rt
un

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d
 y

o
un

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 t
o

 in
fl

ue
nc

e 
ke

y 
d

ec
is

io
n 

m
ak

er
s 

T
h

ro
u

g
h

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
fo

ru
m

s 
an

d
 g

ro
u

p
s 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 
th

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

 in
 C

ar
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l, 

M
er

to
n

 Y
o

u
th

 
P

ar
lia

m
en

t,
 Y

o
u

n
g

 in
sp

ec
to

rs
, t

h
e 

Y
o

u
r 

S
h

o
u

t 
G

ro
u

p
 f

o
r 

le
ar

n
in

g
 d

is
ab

le
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 
sc

h
o

o
l c

o
u

n
ci

ls
, M

er
to

n
’s

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 v
o

ic
es

 
h

av
e 

in
fo

rm
ed

 a
n

d
 im

p
ac

te
d

 o
n

 a
 b

ro
ad

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

is
su

es
 w

h
ic

h
 a

ff
ec

t 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
’s

 li
ve

s 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
:

 
■

re
vi

ew
 a

n
d

 r
ef

re
sh

 o
f 

lic
en

si
n

g
 p

o
lic

y 
in

 
to

w
n

 c
en

tr
es

 

 
■

fe
ed

b
ac

k 
to

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 f
o

r 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 f

o
r 

d
is

ab
le

d
 p

eo
p

le
 

 
■

th
e 

n
ew

 ‘C
h

ild
 H

o
u

se
’ s

u
p

p
o

rt
 m

o
d

el
 f

o
r 

th
o

se
 a

ff
ec

te
d

 b
y 

se
xu

al
 a

b
u

se
 

 
■

L
A

C
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 a

n
d

 C
ar

e 
le

av
er

s 
ac

co
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

 

 
■

sc
h

o
o

l r
ev

ie
w

s 
an

d
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

p
la

n
s 

 
■

Y
o

u
th

 G
en

er
at

o
r 

fu
n

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

’s
 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 

 
■

M
er

to
n

’s
 C

h
ild

 a
n

d
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lt
h

 S
er

vi
ce

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
(C

A
M

H
S

) 

 
■

th
e 

A
n

ti
-B

u
lly

in
g

 O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 G

ro
u

p
 

re
fr

es
h

ed
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 

 
■

su
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

yo
u

n
g

 L
G

B
T

 p
eo

p
le

 
■

an
d

 r
ec

ru
it

m
en

t 
to

 s
en

io
r 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

s 
in

 
sc

h
o

o
ls

 a
n

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 M
er

to
n’

s 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

er
 fo

ru
m

s 
an

d
 t

ar
g

et
 c

o
ho

rt
s 

ha
ve

 
b

ee
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 f

ee
d

b
ac

k 
o

n
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
o

u
r 

o
ff

er
 t

o
 t

he
m

, a
nd

 t
o

 e
ff

ec
t 

p
o

si
ti

ve
 im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 
to

 o
u

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
p

ro
vi

si
o

n
. N

o
ta

b
le

 e
xa

m
p

le
s 

in
cl

u
d

e:
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 in

 n
ee

d
 o

f 
h

el
p

 a
n

d
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 –

 u
se

r 
vi

ew
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
 o

f 
o

u
r 

S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
 

In
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 s

er
vi

ce
 is

 u
se

d
 t

o
 in

fo
rm

 q
u

ar
te

rl
y 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
p

la
n

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e.
 V

ie
w

s 
o

f 
a 

n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
, w

h
o

 h
av

e 
u

se
d

 t
h

e 

co
m

m
is

si
o

n
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

 f
o

r 
m

is
si

n
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
, h

av
e 

b
ee

n
 u

se
d

 t
o

 in
fo

rm
 r

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

P
o

lic
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

an
d

 t
h

e 
H

o
m

e 
O

ffi
ce

 a
s 

fe
at

u
re

d
 

in
 t

h
e 

H
M

IC
 r

ep
o

rt
 M

is
si

n
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
: w

h
o

 c
ar

es
? 

F
ee

d
b

ac
k 

fr
o

m
 u

se
rs

 o
f 

o
u

r 
C

o
n

ta
ct

 S
er

vi
ce

 h
as

 
in

fo
rm

ed
 r

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

fo
r 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 t

o
 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 im
p

ro
ve

d
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

an
d

 s
ch

ed
u

lin
g

 o
f 

co
n

ta
ct

, a
n

d
 in

cr
ea

se
d

 o
p

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

co
n

ta
ct

 a
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 w

it
h

 o
ld

er
 t

ee
n

ag
er

s.

F
ee

d
b

ac
k 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
en

ts
 o

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 S
p

ec
ia

l 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
 N

ee
d

s 
an

d
 D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
 (

S
E

N
D

) 
sh

o
w

s 
th

at
 o

u
r 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 A

d
vi

ce
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
 

fo
r 

S
E

N
D

 is
 in

va
lu

ab
le

 f
o

r 
h

el
p

in
g

 f
am

ili
es

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 
th

e 
E

H
C

P
 p

ro
ce

ss
 a

n
d

 p
re

ve
n

ti
n

g
 t

ri
b

u
n

al
s.

 Y
o

u
n

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 w
er

e 
co

n
su

lt
ed

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

‘lo
o

k 
an

d
 f

ee
l’ 

o
f 

th
e 

re
fr

es
h

ed
 F

am
ily

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
D

ir
ec

to
ry

 w
h

ic
h

 in
cl

u
d

es
 M

er
to

n
’s

 ‘L
o

ca
l O

ff
er

’.

O
th

er
 v

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 c

o
ho

rt
s 

o
f 

Yo
un

g
 P

eo
p

le

 
■

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

fe
ed

b
ac

k 
fr

o
m

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 

in
 t

h
e 

Y
o

u
th

 J
u

st
ic

e 
S

ys
te

m
, i

n
 t

h
ei

r 
se

ss
io

n
s 

w
it

h
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

, w
o

rk
er

s 
h

av
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 t

h
ei

r 
to

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

e 
yo

u
n

g
 p

er
so

n
, i

d
en

ti
fy

in
g

 t
h

e 
sk

ill
s 

th
ey

 
n

ee
d

 a
n

d
 s

ig
n

p
o

st
in

g
 t

o
 lo

ca
l p

ro
je

ct
s 

th
at

 
ca

n
 h

el
p

 b
u

ild
 t

h
es

e 
sk

ill
s

 
■

F
ee

d
b

ac
k 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

fo
ru

m
 f

o
r 

yo
u

n
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, T
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 
te

am
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

 t
h

at
 s

ta
ff

 h
av

e 
an

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 t

h
at

 u
se

r 
vi

ew
s 

ar
e 

ke
y 

to
 

en
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
at

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 a
n

d
 p

la
n

s 
ar

e 
as

 
co

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 a

s 
p

o
ss

ib
le

 

 
■

In
 r

es
p

o
ns

e 
to

 fe
ed

b
ac

k 
fr

o
m

 p
ar

en
ts

 in
vo

lv
ed

 
in

 t
h

e 
Tr

an
sf

o
rm

in
g

 F
am

ili
es

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
ar

e 
n

o
w

 r
ev

is
it

in
g

 t
h

e 
‘fa

m
ily

 
p

la
n’

 a
t 

m
o

re
 r

eg
ul

ar
 in

te
rv

al
s 

so
 t

ha
t 

fa
m

ili
es

 
ar

e 
fu

lly
 a

w
ar

e 
o

f 
ta

rg
et

s 
an

d
 e

xp
ec

ta
ti

o
n

s 

 
■

LG
B

TQ
I+

 y
o

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

 a
tt

en
d

ed
 a

 m
ee

ti
ng

 
o

f 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 in

 o
rd

er
 t

o
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

 is
su

es
 

aff
ec

ti
ng

 t
he

m
. Y

o
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

ed
 

th
e 

ne
ed

 f
o

r 
a 

p
er

so
n 

ce
nt

re
d

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

 
an

d
 t

he
 im

p
o

rt
an

ce
 o

f 
lis

te
ni

ng
 t

o
 L

G
B

TQ
I+

 
yo

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

 w
it

h 
re

g
ar

d
 t

o
 t

he
 u

se
 o

f 
p

er
so

na
l p

ro
no

un
s 

an
d

 in
 u

nd
er

st
an

d
in

g
 

g
en

d
er

 n
o

n-
co

nf
o

rm
it

y 
an

d
 t

he
 n

ee
d

 f
o

r 
no

n-
b

in
ar

y 
un

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
se

x 
an

d
 g

en
d

er
.

Page 32



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
52

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
53

T
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 is

 o
n

 a
 jo

u
rn

ey
 o

f 
co

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t;

 s
ee

ki
n

g
 t

o
 s

h
ar

p
en

 o
u

r 
fo

cu
s 

an
d

 s
tr

ea
m

lin
e 

o
u

r 
p

ro
ce

ss
es

 s
o

 t
h

at
 w

e 
ar

e 
in

cr
ea

si
n

g
ly

 a
b

le
 t

o
 f

u
lfi

l o
u

r 
st

at
u

to
ry

 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ti
es

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

an
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 t

h
ei

r 
w

el
fa

re
.

O
u

r 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 is

 m
at

u
re

 a
n

d
 r

o
b

u
st

 a
n

d
 is

 
ch

ar
ac

te
ri

se
d

 b
y 

re
sp

ec
tf

u
l c

h
al

le
n

g
e 

an
d

 
ac

co
u

n
ta

b
ili

ty
. T

h
e 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
s 

ar
e 

p
u

rp
o

se
fu

l 
an

d
 t

ar
g

et
ed

 o
n

 d
el

iv
er

in
g

 o
n

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
’s

 a
g

re
ed

 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
. T

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 D

at
as

et
 a

llo
w

s 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 t

o
 a

n
al

ys
e 

tr
en

d
s 

an
d

 id
en

ti
fy

 r
is

k 
o

r 
g

ap
s 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
p

ri
o

ri
ti

se
 a

re
as

 f
o

r 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t.

A
t 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 A

n
n

u
al

 A
w

ay
 D

ay
 it

 w
as

 a
g

re
ed

 
th

at
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 w
o

u
ld

 f
o

cu
s 

o
n

 f
ew

er
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 

w
h

ils
t 

co
n

ti
n

u
in

g
 t

o
 d

el
iv

er
 o

n
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

ke
y 

‘B
u

si
n

es
s 

a 
U

su
al

’ s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 is
su

es
. I

n
 a

g
re

ei
n

g
 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

20
16

-2
0

18
, t

h
er

e 
w

as
 a

 
ro

b
u

st
 d

is
cu

ss
io

n
 w

it
h

 p
re

se
n

ta
ti

o
n

s 
fr

o
m

 p
ar

tn
er

 
ag

en
ci

es
 o

n
 t

h
ei

r 
ag

en
cy

’s
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

. 
M

em
b

er
s 

o
f 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 t
h

en
 a

g
re

ed
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

’s
 

ag
re

ed
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

20
16

-2
0

18
 b

e 
ex

te
n

d
ed

 a
n

d
 

d
ee

p
en

ed
 t

o
 f

o
r 

th
e 

p
er

io
d

 2
0

17
-2

0
19

.

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 w

an
ts

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 o

u
r 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
co

n
ti

n
u

e 
en

ab
le

 t
h

e 
m

o
st

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 f
am

ili
es

 
to

 b
e 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

; s
o

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 p
ar

en
ts

 a
re

 
su

p
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 

ar
e 

in
 t

u
rn

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

ed
 t

o
 t

h
ri

ve
 a

n
d

 a
ch

ie
ve

 
th

ei
r 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

. E
vi

d
en

ce
 f

ro
m

 lo
ca

l a
n

d
 n

at
io

n
al

 
re

se
ar

ch
 t

el
ls

 u
s 

th
at

 o
u

r 
m

o
st

 v
u

ln
er

ab
le

 
p

ar
en

ts
/f

am
ili

es
 a

re
 t

h
o

se
 w

h
o

: 

 
■

E
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 p
o

o
r 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 

 
■

S
tr

u
g

g
le

 w
it

h
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
 

 
■

A
re

 a
ff

ec
te

d
 b

y 
d

o
m

es
ti

c 
ab

u
se

 

 
■

P
ar

en
ts

 w
it

h
 le

ar
n

in
g

 d
iffi

cu
lt

ie
s 

o
r 

le
ar

n
in

g
 

d
is

ab
ili

ti
es

 t
h

at
 m

ay
 a

ff
ec

t 
th

ei
r 

ab
ili

ty
 t

o
 

re
sp

o
n

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

ch
an

g
in

g
 n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

ei
r 

ch
ild

re
n

.

11
.0

C
o

nc
lu

si
o

ns
 a

nd
 P

ri
o

ri
ti

es
 f

o
r 

20
16

–1
8 

B
us

in
es

s 
Ye

ar
s 

T
h

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 n

at
io

n
al

ly
 a

n
d

 lo
ca

lly
 a

ls
o

 s
h

o
w

s 
th

at
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 f

am
ili

es
 a

re
 b

es
t 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

 w
h

en
 

th
er

e 
is

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 jo

in
t 

w
o

rk
in

g
 b

et
w

ee
n

 a
d

u
lt

 
an

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 f
ac

in
g

 s
er

vi
ce

s.
 W

h
en

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
s 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 t

h
e 

u
n

d
er

ly
in

g
 c

au
se

s 
o

f 
is

su
es

 li
ke

 
ne

g
le

ct
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 f
o

rm
 o

f 
ab

us
e 

an
d

 o
ff

er
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

 
su

p
p

o
rt

 e
ar

ly
 b

ef
o

re
 t

h
es

e 
p

ro
b

le
m

s 
g

et
 w

o
rs

e.

2.
 S

up
p

o
rt

in
g

 V
ul

ne
ra

b
le

 A
d

o
le

sc
en

ts
 –

 
ad

o
le

sc
en

ce
 is

 a
 t

im
e 

o
f 

si
g

ni
fi

ca
nt

 c
ha

ng
e 

fo
r 

al
l y

o
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
. 

W
e 

kn
o

w
 t

h
at

, f
o

r 
so

m
e 

yo
u

n
g

 p
eo

p
le

, 
ad

o
le

sc
en

ce
 is

 a
 t

im
e 

o
f 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ty

. 
W

e 
ar

e 
d

et
er

m
in

ed
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

 w
h

o
 

ar
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f

 
■

C
h

ild
 S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 (
C

S
E

) 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 w

h
o

 g
o

 m
is

si
n

g
 f

ro
m

 h
o

m
e/

sc
h

o
o

l/
ca

re
 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 w

h
o

 a
re

 a
t 

ri
sk

 
ra

d
ic

al
is

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 v
io

le
n

t 
ex

tr
em

is
m

 

 
■

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
se

ri
o

u
s 

yo
u

th
 v

io
le

n
ce

 
an

d
 g

an
g

s

 
■

S
el

f-
h

ar
m

 a
n

d
 p

o
o

r 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 

 
■

Y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

t 
ri

sk
 o

f 
su

ic
id

e.

3.
 E

ar
ly

 H
el

p
 –

 T
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

n 
ea

rl
y 

he
lp

 s
ys

te
m

 
th

at
 is

 r
es

p
o

ns
iv

e 
an

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly
 p

re
ve

nt
s 

es
ca

la
ti

o
n 

o
f 

co
nc

er
ns

. 

M
er

to
n 

ha
s 

ha
d

 a
 lo

ng
-e

st
ab

lis
he

d
 c

hi
ld

 a
nd

 y
o

un
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 W

el
l B

ei
ng

 M
o

d
el

 w
hi

ch
 w

e 
la

st
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 in
 

20
13

. W
it

h 
ch

an
g

es
 in

 lo
ca

l p
ro

vi
d

er
s 

an
d

 a
g

en
ci

es
 

an
d

 w
it

h
 c

h
an

g
in

g
 le

ve
ls

 o
f 

re
so

u
rc

es
 a

va
ila

b
le

 
w

e 
n

ee
d

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 o
u

r 
M

o
d

el
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
es

 t
o

 b
e 

fi
t 

fo
r 

p
u

rp
o

se
. T

h
e 

ev
id

en
ce

 s
h

o
w

s 
th

at
 t

im
el

y 
an

d
 p

u
rp

o
se

fu
l h

el
p

 o
r 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 a

t 
al

l s
ta

g
es

 
o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 o
r 

yo
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

’s
 jo

u
rn

ey
 is

 t
h

e 
m

o
st

 
eff

ec
ti

ve
 w

ay
 im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 im

p
ac

t 
an

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

es
 f

o
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 c

h
ild

re
n

, y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 f
am

ili
es

.  
A

s 
p

ar
t 

o
f 

o
ur

 r
ev

ie
w

 w
e 

w
ill

:

 
■

Ta
ke

 f
o

rw
ar

d
 t

h
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 f

ro
m

 o
u

r 
re

ce
n

t 
M

A
S

H
 r

ev
ie

w

 
■

C
o

n
si

d
er

 t
h

e 
in

te
rf

ac
e 

b
et

w
ee

n
 o

u
r 

M
A

S
H

 
an

d
 E

H
 a

rr
an

g
em

en
ts

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

 o
u

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
o

ff
er

 a
t 

al
l l

ev
el

s 
o

f 
th

e 
M

o
d

el
 a

n
d

 E
n

g
ag

e 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
 d

is
cu

ss
io

n
 

o
n

 t
h

re
sh

o
ld

s,
 S

te
p

-U
p

 S
te

p
 D

o
w

n
 

p
ro

ce
ss

es
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
to

o
ls

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 e
ar

ly
 

h
el

p
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
C

A
S

A
 a

n
d

 in
te

rv
en

ti
o

n
 

(S
ig

n
s 

o
f 

S
af

et
y/

si
g

n
s 

o
f 

w
el

l b
ei

n
g

)

 
■

R
ev

ie
w

 o
u

r 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 o

f 
E

ar
ly

 H
el

p

T
h

is
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
P

la
n

 c
o

n
ta

in
s 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 

ac
ti

o
n

s.
 T

h
e 

o
n

-g
o

in
g

 w
o

rk
 o

f 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 a

n
d

 it
s 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
s 

an
d

 T
as

k 
G

ro
u

p
s 

co
n

ti
n

u
es

 a
lo

n
g

si
d

e 
it

 a
n

d
 w

ill
 b

e 
in

co
rp

o
ra

te
d

 in
to

 t
h

e 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

s’
 

an
nu

al
 w

o
rk

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 r

ep
o

rt
in

g
 c

yc
le

 t
o

 t
he

 M
S

C
B

. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
es

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 d

ri
ve

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 in
 t

h
e 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
in

 M
er

to
n

. T
h

e 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 r

em
ai

n
s 

st
ro

n
g

 a
n

d
 is

 w
el

l p
o

si
ti

o
n

ed
 t

o
 m

ee
t 

th
e 

ch
al

le
n

g
es

 a
h

ea
d

.

1.
 

Th
in

k 
Fa

m
ily

 –
 t

o
 s

up
p

o
rt

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 a

d
ul

ts
 

in
 o

ur
 m

o
st

 v
ul

ne
ra

b
le

 f
am

ili
es

 t
o

 r
ed

uc
e 

ri
sk

 
an

d
 e

ns
ur

e 
im

p
ro

ve
d

 o
ut

co
m

es
. 

Page 33



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
54

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
55

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 1
a

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
ns

 f
ro

m
 t

he
 C

hi
ld

 B
 S

er
io

us
 C

as
e 

R
ev

ie
w

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 1
b

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
ns

 f
ro

m
 t

he
 B

ab
y 

Li
R

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

1:
 T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
n

d
 it

s 
P

ar
tn

er
 

A
g

en
ci

es
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
ev

ie
w

 h
o

w
 t

h
e 

p
ri

n
ci

p
le

s 
o

f 
th

e 
h

o
lis

ti
c 

T
h

in
k 

C
h

ild
, T

h
in

k 
P

ar
en

ts
, T

h
in

k 
F

am
ily

 
ap

p
ro

ac
h

 a
re

 o
p

er
at

in
g

 in
 M

er
to

n
 a

n
d

 h
o

w
 t

h
ey

 
ar

e 
em

b
ed

d
ed

 in
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 le
ad

er
sh

ip
 

o
f 

fr
o

n
t-

lin
e 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
an

d
 it

s 
m

an
ag

em
en

t,
 w

it
h

 
jo

in
t-

w
o

rk
in

g
 a

n
d

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
m

en
ta

l i
ll-

h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 p

ar
en

ti
n

g
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

2:
 T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 s
h

o
u

ld
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 T

ru
st

 t
h

at
 it

 s
h

o
u

ld
 

re
vi

ew
 t

h
e 

M
er

to
n

 Y
o

u
n

g
 C

ar
er

s’
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d

 
d

ra
w

 u
p

 a
 c

le
ar

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 Y

o
u

n
g

 C
ar

er
s’

 
P

ro
to

co
l, 

fo
r 

al
l s

ec
to

rs
, t

o
 c

la
ri

fy
 t

h
e 

n
at

u
re

 a
n

d
 

ar
ra

n
g

em
en

ts
 f

o
r 

Y
o

u
n

g
 C

ar
er

’s
 A

ss
es

sm
en

ts
, 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e 

d
u

ti
es

 s
et

 o
u

t 
in

 T
h

e 
Y

o
u

n
g

 C
ar

er
s 

(N
ee

d
s 

A
ss

es
sm

en
ts

) 
R

eg
u

la
ti

o
n

s 
20

15
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

3:
 T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 a
n

d
 it

s 
P

ar
tn

er
 

A
g

en
ci

es
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
ev

ie
w

 t
h

ei
r 

p
ro

ce
ss

es
 

fo
r 

en
su

ri
n

g
 s

ta
ff

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

in
 a

n
al

ys
in

g
 

fa
m

ily
 h

is
to

ry
 a

n
d

 d
yn

am
ic

s,
 in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
h

o
w

 c
u

lt
u

re
 a

n
d

 b
el

ie
f 

sy
st

em
s 

im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 (
ri

sk
) 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

 o
f 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 p
ar

en
ti

n
g

. T
h

is
 

sh
o

u
ld

 in
cl

u
d

e 
st

aff
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
o

f 
lis

te
n

in
g

 t
o

 
fa

m
ily

 m
em

b
er

s.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

4
: C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

sh
o

u
ld

 
re

vi
ew

 t
h

e 
co

m
p

et
en

cy
 o

f 
st

aff
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

le
 f

o
r 

d
ra

ft
in

g
 w

ri
tt

en
 a

g
re

em
en

ts
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
d

et
ai

le
d

 
C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
s,

 in
 t

h
e 

lig
h

t 
o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

re
se

ar
ch

, g
u

id
an

ce
 a

n
d

 c
as

e 
la

w
; t

o
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 
su

ch
 s

ta
ff

 a
n

d
 t

h
ei

r 
su

p
er

vi
so

rs
 a

re
 w

el
l-

eq
u

ip
p

ed
 

to
 n

eg
o

ti
at

e 
an

d
 d

ra
w

 u
p

 r
ea

lis
ti

c 
an

d
 a

ch
ie

va
b

le
 

ag
re

em
en

ts
, b

as
ed

 o
n

 t
h

o
ro

u
g

h
 r

is
k 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

5:
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

an
d

 
th

e 
S

W
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

 T
ru

st
 s

h
o

u
ld

 s
ee

k 
to

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

st
aff

 (
an

d
 t

h
ei

r 
im

m
ed

ia
te

 li
n

e-
m

an
ag

er
s)

 w
h

o
 h

av
e 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

ili
ty

 f
o

r 
ch

ai
ri

n
g

 
m

u
lt

i-
ag

en
cy

 m
ee

ti
n

g
s,

 p
ar

ti
cu

la
rl

y 
C

o
re

 G
ro

u
p

s,
 

C
h

ild
 in

 N
ee

d
 a

n
d

 C
ar

e 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

A
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
 

m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

ar
e 

co
m

p
et

en
t 

in
 t

h
e 

fa
ci

lit
at

io
n

 o
f 

m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

an
d

 h
av

e 
an

 u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e 
h

o
lis

ti
c 

T
h

in
k 

F
am

ily
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
 a

n
d

 t
h

e 
p

ri
n

ci
p

le
s 

se
t 

o
u

t 
in

 t
h

e 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
fo

r 
C

o
re

 G
ro

u
p

s 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s,

 P
ar

t 
B

, s
ec

ti
o

n
 9

.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

6
: T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
 G

ro
u

p
 

sh
o

u
ld

 r
ev

ie
w

 g
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 ‘s

te
p

 d
o

w
n

’ f
ro

m
 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 o
r 

ch
ild

 in
 n

ee
d

 t
h

re
sh

o
ld

s 
to

 
en

su
re

 t
h

at
 it

 c
o

ve
rs

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e 
re

le
va

n
t 

ca
se

 
h

is
to

ry
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
o

ri
g

in
al

 r
is

k 
an

d
 a

ny
 o

th
er

 
ri

sk
s 

su
b

se
q

u
en

tl
y 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
, n

o
t 

o
n

ly
 r

ec
en

t 
p

ro
g

re
ss

; a
n

d
 a

n
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
o

f 
ri

sk
 o

r 
n

ee
d

 in
 

th
e 

lo
n

g
er

 t
er

m
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
ri

sk
 o

f 
re

la
p

se
 a

n
d

 
co

n
ti

n
g

en
cy

 p
la

n
s 

– 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

re
co

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
p

o
te

n
ti

al
 b

re
ak

d
o

w
n

 o
r 

n
o

n
-c

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

; o
r 

fu
tu

re
 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
ch

an
g

es
 in

 t
h

e 
fa

m
ily

 c
o

m
p

o
si

ti
o

n
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

7:
 T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 P
o

lic
y 

S
u

b
 G

ro
u

p
 

sh
o

u
ld

 r
ev

ie
w

 g
u

id
an

ce
 o

n
 ‘s

te
p

 d
o

w
n

’ f
ro

m
 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 o
r 

ch
ild

 in
 n

ee
d

 t
h

re
sh

o
ld

s 
to

 
en

su
re

 t
h

at
 it

 c
o

ve
rs

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e 
re

le
va

n
t 

ca
se

 
h

is
to

ry
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
o

ri
g

in
al

 r
is

k 
an

d
 a

ny
 o

th
er

 
ri

sk
s 

su
b

se
q

u
en

tl
y 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
, n

o
t 

o
n

ly
 r

ec
en

t 
p

ro
g

re
ss

; a
n

d
 a

n
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
o

f 
ri

sk
 o

r 
n

ee
d

 in
 

th
e 

lo
n

g
er

 t
er

m
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
ri

sk
 o

f 
re

la
p

se
 a

n
d

 
co

n
ti

n
g

en
cy

 p
la

n
s 

– 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

re
co

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
p

o
te

n
ti

al
 b

re
ak

d
o

w
n

 o
r 

n
o

n
-c

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

; o
r 

fu
tu

re
 

si
g

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
ch

an
g

es
 in

 t
h

e 
fa

m
ily

 c
o

m
p

o
si

ti
o

n
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

1:
 M

S
C

B
 t

o
 g

iv
e 

co
n

si
d

er
at

io
n

 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

in
g

 a
n

d
 r

ef
re

sh
in

g
 it

s 
N

eg
le

ct
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

in
 

th
e 

lig
h

t 
o

f 
th

e 
le

ar
n

in
g

 c
o

m
in

g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

th
is

 r
ev

ie
w

. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

2:
 M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 t
h

e 
le

ve
l o

f 
p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 a
w

ar
en

es
s 

o
f 

th
e 

N
eg

le
ct

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d
 it

s 
im

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

fo
r 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
in

 c
as

es
 o

f 
n

eg
le

ct
. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

3:
 M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 a

ll 
p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

re
 

em
b

ed
d

ed
 in

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
an

d
 u

n
d

er
p

in
n

ed
 b

y 
p

o
lic

y:
 

 
■

P
ra

ct
it

io
n

er
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 f
am

ili
es

, 
yo

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

cc
es

s 
re

g
u

la
r 

sa
fe

g
u

ar
d

in
g

 s
u

p
er

vi
si

o
n

 f
ro

m
 a

 t
ra

in
ed

 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
in

g
 s

u
p

er
vi

so
r 

 
■

S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 s
u

p
er

vi
si

o
n

 in
cl

u
d

es
 c

as
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 le

ar
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

an
d

 p
ro

m
o

te
s 

re
fl

ec
ti

ve
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 

 
■

C
hr

o
no

lo
g

ie
s 

ar
e 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d

 a
nd

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 

as
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

cl
in

ic
al

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
an

d
 a

t 
su

p
er

vi
si

o
n.

 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

4
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 g

iv
e 

co
n

si
d

er
at

io
n

 
to

 u
n

d
er

ta
ki

n
g

 a
n

 a
u

d
it

 o
f 

‘p
hy

si
ca

l a
b

u
se

’ w
it

h
 

th
e 

ai
m

 o
f 

g
ai

n
in

g
 a

 b
et

te
r 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e 
p

ic
tu

re
 o

f 
p

hy
si

ca
l a

b
u

se
 in

 M
er

to
n

. T
h

e 
re

m
it

 o
f 

th
e 

w
o

rk
 t

o
 b

e 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 M
er

to
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

s 
h

av
in

g
 e

xp
er

ie
n

ce
d

 p
hy

si
ca

l a
b

u
se

, t
h

o
se

 w
h

o
 

ar
e 

at
 r

is
k 

o
f 

p
hy

si
ca

l a
b

u
se

 a
n

d
 t

h
o

se
 c

h
ild

re
n

 
w

h
er

e 
th

e 
ri

sk
 o

f 
p

hy
si

ca
l a

b
u

se
 is

 ‘m
as

ke
d

’ b
y 

o
th

er
 c

o
n

ce
rn

s.
 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

5:
 M

S
C

B
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

p
o

lic
y 

su
b

g
ro

u
p

 t
o

 o
ve

rs
ee

 t
h

e 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o

f 
a 

m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 p

ro
to

co
l f

o
r 

b
ru

is
in

g
 in

 p
re

-m
o

b
ile

 b
ab

ie
s 

an
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

6
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 a

ll 
p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

im
p

o
rt

an
ce

 
o

f 
lis

te
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 t

ak
in

g
 s

er
io

u
sl

y 
an

y 
d

is
cl

o
su

re
 

o
f 

ab
u

se
 b

y 
a 

ch
ild

 is
 e

m
b

ed
d

ed
 in

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
an

d
 

u
n

d
er

p
in

n
ed

 b
y 

p
o

lic
y.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

7:
 M

S
C

B
 a

n
d

 M
S

A
B

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 

to
g

et
h

er
 p

ro
m

o
te

 c
lo

se
r 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
b

et
w

ee
n

 
ag

en
ci

es
 o

n
 b

o
th

 a
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 a
n

d
 o

p
er

at
io

n
al

 le
ve

l. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

8:
 M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
w

o
rk

in
g

 
w

it
h

 f
am

ili
es

, c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

eo
p

le
 a

re
 

tr
ai

n
ed

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
ed

 t
o

 r
ec

o
g

n
is

e 
th

e 
si

g
n

s 
an

d
 in

d
ic

at
o

rs
 t

h
at

 a
n

 a
d

u
lt

 is
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
, f

u
lly

 
u

n
d

er
st

an
d

 t
h

e 
n

ee
d

 t
o

 s
h

ar
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 

ad
u

lt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d

, w
h

er
e 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 m

ak
e 

a 
re

fe
rr

al
 

to
 a

d
u

lt
 s

o
ci

al
 c

ar
e.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

9
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s,
 in

 
ad

d
it

io
n

 t
o

 in
te

rn
al

 a
g

en
cy

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 
su

p
er

vi
si

o
n

, h
av

e 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o

 s
p

ec
ia

lis
t 

ad
vi

ce
 

an
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 in
 m

an
ag

in
g

 c
as

es
 w

h
er

e 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

co
m

p
le

x 
is

su
es

, s
u

ch
 a

s 
p

ar
en

ta
l l

ea
rn

in
g

 
d

iffi
cu

lt
ie

s,
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 A

D
H

D
.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

10
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 w

h
er

e 
an

 a
d

u
lt

 is
 

kn
o

w
n

 h
av

e 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 is
su

es
 o

r 
le

ar
n

in
g

 
d

is
ab

ili
ti

es
 a

n
d

 is
 a

 p
ar

en
t,

 t
h

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o

n
 t

h
ei

r 
p

ar
en

ti
n

g
 r

o
le

 a
n

d
 r

is
k 

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

 is
 c

o
n

si
d

er
ed

 
as

 p
ar

t 
o

f 
an

y 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
is

 is
 

sh
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 o
th

er
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s 
w

o
rk

in
g

 in
vo

lv
ed

 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
fa

m
ily

. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

11
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 p

ra
ct

it
io

n
er

s 
w

o
rk

in
g

 
w

it
h

 a
d

u
lt

s 
w

h
o

 a
re

 k
n

o
w

n
 t

o
 h

av
e 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 

is
su

es
 o

r 
le

ar
n

in
g

 d
is

ab
ili

ti
es

, a
n

d
 w

h
o

 a
re

 p
ar

en
ts

 
u

n
d

er
st

an
d

 t
h

e 
p

o
te

n
ti

al
 r

is
k 

to
 c

h
ild

re
n

, t
h

e 
n

ee
d

 
to

 s
h

ar
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 a

d
u

lt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d

 w
h

er
e 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 m

ak
e 

a 
re

fe
rr

al
 t

o
 C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e.

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

12
: M

S
C

B
 t

o
 s

ee
k 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
:

 
■

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 E

sc
al

at
io

n
 P

ro
ce

d
u

re
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 
ca

sc
ad

ed
 t

o
 s

ta
ff

 a
n

d
 is

 a
cc

es
si

b
le

 
■

E
sc

al
at

io
n

 is
 in

cl
u

d
ed

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
ea

ch
 

ag
en

cy
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 p

o
lic

y/
p

ro
ce

d
u

re
. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n 

13
: M

S
B

C
 t

o
 r

ei
n

fo
rc

e 
to

 
p

ar
tn

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

 t
h

at
 t

h
e 

sh
ar

in
g

 o
f 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

 
o

n
 a

 m
u

lt
i-

ag
en

cy
 b

as
is

 is
 c

ru
ci

al
, i

f 
ch

ild
re

n
 a

re
 

to
 b

e 
sa

fe
g

u
ar

d
ed

.

Page 34



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
56

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
57

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 2
M

er
to

n 
Sa

fe
g

ua
rd

in
g

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
B

o
ar

d
B

us
in

es
s 

P
la

n 
20

17
–1

9

P
ro

g
re

ss
 o

f 
th

is
 P

la
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

up
d

at
ed

 m
o

nt
hl

y 
&

 m
o

ni
to

re
d

 a
t 

ea
ch

 M
SC

B
 M

ee
ti

ng
. 

A
p

p
ro

ve
d

 b
y 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 2
7t

h 
Ju

ne
 2

0
17

.

O
b

je
ct

iv
es

O
ut

co
m

es
A

ct
io

ns
(w

ho
 a

nd
 w

ha
t)

R
es

o
ur

ce
s

W
ho

?
(G

ov
er

na
nc

e/
ov

er
si

g
ht

)

W
he

n?

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

: T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

: A
n 

E
ff

ec
ti

ve
, S

ea
m

le
ss

 A
p

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 S

up
p

o
rt

in
g

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 F

am
ili

es

1.1
To

 e
m

b
ed

 t
he

 
T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily
 

A
p

p
ro

ac
h 

ac
ro

ss
 

th
e 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

F
o

r 
a 

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 
C

o
-o

rd
in

at
o

r 
to

 w
o

rk
 a

cr
o

ss
 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 A

d
ul

t 
fa

ci
ng

 s
er

vi
ce

s

W
ha

t
W

ho
P

P
Y

P
S

 S
ub

-
G

ro
up

 a
nd

 
B

IG

P
au

l A
ng

el
i &

 
G

ill
ia

n 
M

o
o

re

M
ar

ch
 1

8

To
 a

p
p

o
in

t 
a 

T
hi

nk
 

F
am

ily
 C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r

F
o

r 
a 

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 T
as

k 
an

d
 F

in
is

h 
G

ro
up

 t
o

 
d

ev
el

o
p

 M
ul

ti
 A

g
en

cy
 

P
ro

to
co

ls
 f

o
r 

ap
p

ro
va

l

C
S

C
 a

nd
 

S
o

ut
hw

es
t 

Lo
nd

o
n 

an
d

 S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
M

en
ta

l 
H

ea
lt

h 
Tr

us
t

To
 d

el
iv

er
 a

 s
ui

te
 o

f 
T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily
 M

ul
ti

 
A

g
en

cy
 P

ro
to

co
ls

 
fo

r 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h,

 
S

ub
st

an
ce

 
M

is
us

e,
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 
D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
, 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 D
iffi

cu
lt

ie
s 

an
d

 D
o

m
es

ti
c 

A
b

us
e

P
ro

to
co

ls
 s

ho
ul

d
 in

cl
ud

e 
a 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

st
ra

te
g

y,
 a

 le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
p

la
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e 

an
d

 a
n 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n 
p

la
n

P
P

Y
P

S
 a

nd
 B

IG

C
S

C

A
S

C

C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h

C
C

G

P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lt

h

C
S

F
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
ne

rs

M
S

C
B

P
o

lic
y 

S
ub

-
G

ro
up

 a
nd

 
B

IG

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 
C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r 
C

hr
is

 M
cC

re
e

M
ar

ch
 1

8

To
 L

au
nc

h 
th

e 
T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily
 

P
ro

to
co

ls
 a

t 
th

e 
Jo

in
t 

C
S

F
 a

nd
 

M
S

C
B

 A
nn

ua
l 

C
o

nf
er

en
ce

M
S

C
B

 J
o

in
t 

C
o

nf
er

en
ce

 
ar

o
un

d
 ‘T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily
’ 

w
it

h 
re

fe
re

nc
e 

to
 n

eg
le

ct
 

an
d

 t
he

 t
ri

g
g

er
 t

ri
o?

M
S

C
B

 a
nd

 C
S

C
 

P
D

 T
ea

m

C
T

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 
C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r

Le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
S

ub
-G

ro
up

M
ar

ch
 1

8

To
 e

m
b

ed
 T

hi
nk

 
F

am
ily

 in
to

 t
he

 
b

ro
ad

er
 c

ul
tu

re
 

o
f 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

w
o

rk
in

g

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 
C

o
o

rd
in

at
o

r 
to

 le
ad

 o
n 

p
ro

m
o

ti
ng

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 

T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

 W
o

rk

A
ll 

p
ar

tn
er

s

T
he

 L
ea

d
s 

fr
o

m
 

ea
ch

 a
g

en
cy

P
o

lic
y 

S
ub

-
G

ro
up

M
ar

ch
 1

9

O
b

je
ct

iv
es

O
ut

co
m

es
A

ct
io

ns
(w

ho
 a

nd
 w

ha
t)

R
es

o
ur

ce
s

W
ho

?
(G

ov
er

na
nc

e/
ov

er
si

g
ht

)

W
he

n?

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

: T
hi

nk
 F

am
ily

: A
n 

E
ff

ec
ti

ve
, S

ea
m

le
ss

 A
p

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 S

up
p

o
rt

in
g

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 F

am
ili

es

1.
2

T
he

 M
S

C
B

 is
 

as
su

re
d

 o
f 

th
e 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
o

f 
ne

g
le

ct
 a

nd
 it

s 
im

p
ac

t 
an

d
 t

he
 

q
ua

lit
y 

o
f 

fr
o

nt
lin

e 
p

ra
ct

ic
e 

in
 c

as
es

 
o

f 
ne

g
le

ct

F
o

r 
th

e 
M

S
C

B
 t

o
 

un
d

er
ta

ke
 a

 r
e-

au
d

it
 o

f 
ne

g
le

ct

To
 f

ee
d

b
ac

k 
ke

y 
p

ra
ct

ic
e 

le
ss

o
ns

 
fr

o
m

 t
he

 a
ud

it

To
 in

te
g

ra
te

 
th

es
e 

le
ss

o
ns

 in
to

 
cu

rr
en

t 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 

an
d

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
in

it
ia

ti
ve

s 

W
ha

t
W

ho
Q

A
 S

ub
-

G
ro

up
 a

nd
 

B
IG

H
ea

d
 C

S
C

 
&

Y
I Q

A
 C

ha
ir

 
P

au
l A

ng
el

i

M
ar

ch
 1

8

Q
A

 S
ub

-G
ro

up
 a

nd
 

M
S

C
B

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 
co

nd
uc

t 
a 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

au
d

it
 o

f 
ne

g
le

ct
 c

as
es

To
 a

d
d

 N
eg

le
ct

 t
o

 t
he

 
S

ec
ti

o
n 

11
 S

el
f-

au
d

it

A
ll 

re
le

va
nt

 
M

S
C

B
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g
H

ea
lt

h 
(C

C
G

, 
C

LC
H

, a
cu

te
 

tr
us

ts
, M

en
ta

l 
H

ea
lt

h 
Tr

us
t)

, 
E

d
uc

at
io

n,
 

P
o

lic
e,

 C
S

C
, 

V
o

lu
nt

ar
y 

O
rg

s

To
 h

av
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 a
 

ra
ng

e 
o

f 
ap

p
ro

ve
d

 
p

ra
ct

ic
e 

to
o

ls
 

to
 a

d
d

re
ss

 t
he

 
in

ci
d

en
ce

 o
f 

ne
g

le
ct

M
S

C
B

 t
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
an

d
 

p
ro

m
o

te
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
to

o
ls

 t
o

 a
d

d
re

ss
 

ne
g

le
ct

C
ar

la
 T

ho
m

as

C
S

C

H
ea

lt
h 

P
o

lic
e

E
d

uc
at

io
n

E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

P
o

lic
y 

an
d

 
Le

ar
ni

ng
 a

nd
 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

S
ub

-G
ro

up
s 

M
S

C
B

 B
S

U

M
ar

ch
 1

8

F
o

r 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 t

o
 

b
e 

as
su

re
d

 t
ha

t 
th

er
e 

is
 a

 c
le

ar
 

lin
k 

b
et

w
ee

n 
th

e 
w

o
rk

 o
n 

ne
g

le
ct

 
in

cl
ud

in
g

 t
he

 
tr

ig
g

er
 t

ri
o

 a
nd

 
T

hi
nk

 F
am

ily

M
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

to
 d

em
o

ns
tr

at
e 

an
 

un
d

er
st

an
d

in
g

 n
eg

le
ct

 
as

 a
n 

eff
ec

t,
 w

it
h 

th
e 

tr
ig

g
er

 t
ri

o
, i

n 
m

an
y 

ca
se

s,
 b

ei
ng

 t
he

 c
au

se

M
S

C
B

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
in

cl
ud

in
g

, S
A

B
H

ea
lt

h 
(C

C
G

, 
C

LC
H

, a
cu

te
 

tr
us

ts
, M

en
ta

l 
H

ea
lt

h 
Tr

us
t)

, 
P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lt
h 

E
d

uc
at

io
n,

 
P

o
lic

e,
 C

S
C

, 
V

o
lu

nt
ar

y 
O

rg
s

P
o

lic
y 

an
d

 
Q

ua
lit

y 
A

ss
ur

an
ce

 
S

ub
-G

ro
up

C
ha

ir

M
ar

ch
 1

8

1.
3

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 is
 

se
ek

in
g

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 

re
g

ar
d

in
g

 t
he

 
q

ua
lit

y 
o

f 
m

ul
ti

-
ag

en
cy

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 
D

o
m

es
ti

c 
V

io
le

nc
e 

&
 A

b
us

e

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 
in

 p
la

ce
 a

 m
ul

ti
-

ag
en

cy
 D

o
m

es
ti

c 
A

b
us

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y

A
 T

as
k 

an
d

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up
 

to
 D

ev
el

o
p

 a
 m

ul
ti

-
ag

en
cy

 D
o

m
es

ti
c 

A
b

us
e 

S
tr

at
eg

y

V
A

W
G

C
S

C

H
ea

lt
h

P
o

lic
e

V
o

lu
nt

ar
y 

O
rg

s

P
o

lic
y 

S
ub

-
G

ro
up

 w
it

h,
 

M
S

C
B

 C
ha

ir

M
ar

ch
 1

9

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 
ap

p
ro

ve
d

 a
 r

an
g

e 
o

f 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
an

d
 

p
ra

ct
ic

e 
to

o
ls

 t
o

 
b

e 
us

ed
 a

cr
o

ss
 

th
e 

m
ul

ti
-a

g
en

cy
 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

To
 d

ev
el

o
p

/a
d

ap
t 

an
 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
ch

ild
-

ce
nt

re
d

 t
o

o
l f

o
r 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

in
 D

V
A

 c
as

es

M
S

C
B

 T
ra

in
er

 
an

d
 M

S
C

B
 

P
ar

tn
er

s

C
S

C
 &

 Y
I

M
ar

ch
 1

9

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 
as

su
ra

nc
e 

th
at

 t
he

 
st

ra
te

g
y 

is
 b

ei
ng

 
im

p
le

m
en

te
d

 
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 m
ul

ti
-

ag
en

cy
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip

A
ll 

A
g

en
ci

es
P

o
lic

y 
S

ub
-

G
ro

up
 w

it
h,

 
M

S
C

B
 C

ha
ir

M
ar

ch
 1

9

Page 35



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
58

M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
59

O
b

je
ct

iv
es

O
ut

co
m

es
A

ct
io

ns
(w

ho
 a

nd
 w

ha
t)

R
es

o
ur

ce
s

W
ho

?
(G

ov
er

na
nc

e/
ov

er
si

g
ht

)

W
he

n?

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

: S
up

p
o

rt
in

g
 V

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

2.
1

To
 M

ai
nt

ai
n 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 g

ri
p

 o
n 

C
S

E
 a

nd
 r

el
at

ed
 

fo
rm

s 
o

f 
ha

rm
 

in
cl

ud
in

g
 M

is
si

ng
 

fr
o

m
 H

o
m

e 
E

d
uc

at
io

n 
an

d
 C

ar
e

T
he

 B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 
co

ns
p

ic
uo

us
 

ov
er

si
g

ht
 o

n 
th

e 
is

su
e 

o
f 

C
S

E
 lo

ca
lly

 

W
ha

t
W

ho
P

P
Y

P
S

O
n-

g
o

in
g

To
 r

ev
ie

w
 m

ul
ti

-a
g

en
cy

 
re

sp
o

ns
es

 t
o

 C
S

E
C

S
E

 L
ea

d
C

S
C

 a
nd

 Y
I 

M
A

S
E

, S
D

 N
C

To
 d

ev
el

o
p

 a
 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 r

es
p

o
ns

e 
to

 H
ar

m
fu

l S
ex

ua
l 

B
eh

av
io

ur
; w

it
h 

a 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

g
y 

an
d

 
im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n 

p
la

n

To
 d

ev
el

o
p

 g
ui

d
an

ce
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
, p

ar
en

ts
 

an
d

 y
o

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

H
ar

m
fu

l S
ex

ua
l 

B
eh

av
io

ur
 T

as
k 

an
d

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up

To
 in

cl
ud

e 
C

S
C

, 
YJ

T,
 C

C
G

, P
o

lic
e,

 
E

d
uc

at
io

n,
 S

D
 

N
C

P
P

Y
P

S
 

Ju
ly

 1
7

To
 r

ev
ie

w
 a

nd
 

re
fr

es
h 

th
e 

M
S

C
B

 
O

nl
in

e 
S

af
et

y 
S

tr
at

eg
y,

 w
it

h 
a 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

st
ra

te
g

y 
an

d
 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n 
p

la
n

To
 d

ev
el

o
p

 g
ui

d
an

ce
 f

o
r 

p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
, p

ar
en

ts
 

an
d

 y
o

un
g

 p
eo

p
le

M
S

C
B

 M
an

ag
er

 
an

d
 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 IC

T
 

S
up

p
o

rt
 

M
an

ag
er

, D
C

/
M

S
C

B
 B

S
U

P
P

Y
P

S

C
ha

ir
 

Ju
ly

 1
7 

To
 c

o
m

m
un

ic
at

e 
cl

ea
rl

y 
to

 
p

ra
ct

it
io

ne
rs

 
an

d
 p

ar
en

ts
 t

he
 

p
ar

en
ti

ng
 s

up
p

o
rt

 
av

ai
la

b
le

 lo
ca

l f
o

r 
p

ar
en

t 
o

f 
ch

ild
re

n 
ag

es
 1

0
-1

5

To
 in

cr
ea

se
 c

o
m

m
un

it
y 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
an

d
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 
su

p
p

o
rt

F
am

ily
 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

S
er

vi
ce

, B
o

nd
 

R
o

ad

M
S

C
B

P
P

Y
P

S
 

O
ct

o
b

er
 

17

To
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

a 
st

ra
te

g
ic

 g
ri

p
 o

n 
ch

ild
re

n 
m

is
si

ng
 

fr
o

m
 h

o
m

e,
 

ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d
 c

ar
e

F
o

r 
P

P
Y

P
 t

o
 r

ec
ei

ve
 a

nd
 

A
nn

ua
l r

ep
o

rt
 o

n 
th

e 
w

o
rk

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 m
is

si
ng

 
ch

ild
re

n

C
S

C
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g
 

LA
C

, M
A

S
H

,)

E
d

uc
at

io
n

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
ne

d
 

se
rv

ic
es

 N
M

N
C

P
P

Y
P

S
Ju

ne
 1

7

To
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 

th
er

e 
is

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
o

f 
th

e 
ra

ng
e 

o
f 

ri
sk

s 
fa

ce
d

 
b

y 
ad

o
le

sc
en

ts

E
xp

lo
re

 t
he

 f
ea

si
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

an
 a

ud
it

 o
f 

co
nt

ex
tu

al
 

sa
fe

g
ua

rd
in

g
 t

o
 r

ev
ie

w
 

th
e 

in
te

rs
ec

ti
o

ns
 

b
et

w
ee

n 
C

S
E

,H
S

B
, 

ra
d

ic
al

is
at

io
n,

 S
Y

V
 a

nd
 

g
an

g
s

M
S

C
B

 a
nd

 
p

ar
tn

er
s

P
P

Y
P

S
 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

 
b

y 
Le

ar
ni

ng
 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

an
d

 Q
A

 S
ub

-
G

ro
up

M
ar

ch
 1

9

F
o

r 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 

to
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

co
ns

p
ic

uo
us

 
ov

er
si

g
ht

 o
f 

m
ul

ti
-

ag
en

cy
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

ch
ild

re
n 

m
is

si
o

n 
ho

m
e 

ed
uc

at
io

n/
sc

ho
o

l a
nd

 c
ar

e

To
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

he
 M

S
C

B
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 D
at

as
et

 t
o

 
in

cl
ud

e 
d

at
a 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 

ad
o

le
sc

en
ts

 in
cl

ud
in

g
 

C
S

C
/C

M
E

/M
is

si
ng

H
ea

d
 o

f 
P

o
lic

y,
 

P
la

nn
in

g
 a

nd
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

P
P

Y
P

S

H
ea

d
 o

f 
R

 &
 I

Ju
ne

 1
7

O
b

je
ct

iv
es

O
ut

co
m

es
A

ct
io

ns
(w

ho
 a

nd
 w

ha
t)

R
es

o
ur

ce
s

W
ho

?
(G

ov
er

na
nc

e/
ov

er
si

g
ht

)

W
he

n?

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

: S
up

p
o

rt
in

g
 V

ul
ne

ra
b

le
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
ts

2.
2

To
 M

ai
nt

ai
n 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 g

ri
p

 
o

n 
se

lf
-h

ar
m

, 
p

ar
a-

su
ic

id
e 

an
d

 
ad

o
le

sc
en

t 
m

en
ta

l 
he

al
th

To
 e

ns
ur

e 
ov

er
si

g
ht

 
se

lf
-h

ar
m

, p
ar

a-
su

ic
id

e 
an

d
 

ad
o

le
sc

en
t 

m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 

W
ha

t
W

ho
P

P
Y

P
S

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

M
ar

ch
 1

8

C
A

M
H

s 
an

d
 

co
m

m
is

si
o

ne
d

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 r
ep

o
rt

 o
n 

th
ei

r 
w

o
rk

 
w

it
h 

yo
un

g
 p

eo
p

le

F
o

r 
ac

ut
e 

tr
us

ts
 

to
 r

ep
o

rt
 o

n 
Y

P
 in

 
E

m
er

g
en

cy
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
 

p
re

se
nt

in
g

 w
it

h 
se

lf
 

ha
rm

C
A

M
H

s
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

ne
d

 
se

rv
ic

es

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
N

H
S

 
Tr

us
t 

N
am

ed
 

N
ur

se

E
p

so
m

 a
nd

 S
t 

H
el

ie
r 

N
am

ed
 

N
ur

se

2.
3

To
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 

th
e 

B
o

ar
d

 h
as

 a
 

st
ra

te
g

ic
 m

ul
ti

-
ag

en
cy

 r
es

p
o

ns
e 

to
 h

ig
h-

ri
sk

, 
hi

g
h 

co
nc

er
n 

ad
o

le
sc

en
ts

 (
i.e

. 
o

ld
 L

A
C

 y
o

un
g

 
p

eo
p

le
, y

o
un

g
 

p
eo

p
le

 w
ho

 
re

p
ea

te
d

ly
 g

o
 

m
is

si
ng

, t
ho

se
 a

 
ri

sk
 o

f 
C

S
E

, y
o

un
g

 
p

eo
p

le
 k

no
w

n 
to

 
C

ri
m

in
al

 J
us

ti
ce

 
S

ys
te

m
)

M
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

d
 

st
re

ng
th

en
 

ov
er

si
g

ht
 o

f 
m

is
si

ng
 

yo
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
 in

 
M

er
to

n

To
 c

o
nt

in
ue

 t
o

 im
p

ro
ve

 
p

ra
ct

ic
e 

ar
o

un
d

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 y

o
un

g
 p

eo
p

le
 

m
is

si
ng

 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e/
sc

ho
o

l/
ca

re

C
S

C
 &

 Y
I

YJ
T

C
S

E
 L

ea
d

FA
S

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
ne

d
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

P
o

lic
e

P
P

Y
P

S

R
E

 (
Y

O
T

)
C

S
E

 L
ea

d
 

M
ar

ch
 1

8

2.
4

F
o

r 
th

e 
B

o
ar

d
 t

o
 

d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 r
an

g
e 

o
f 

re
sp

o
ns

es
 

to
 a

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

ri
sk

 t
hr

o
ug

h 
th

e 
ad

o
p

ti
ng

 
a 

C
o

nt
ex

tu
al

 
ap

p
ro

ac
h 

to
 

sa
fe

g
ua

rd
in

g

To
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h 
p

ar
tn

er
s 

in
 t

he
 

Lo
nd

o
n 

B
o

ro
ug

h 
o

f 
H

ac
kn

ey
 a

nd
 

th
e 

U
ni

ve
rs

it
y 

o
f 

B
ed

fo
rd

sh
ire

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o

f 
th

e 
In

no
va

ti
o

n 
P

ro
je

ct

To
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

 a
n 

au
d

it
 o

f 
co

nt
ex

tu
al

 s
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g

To
 p

ilo
t 

a 
ra

ng
e 

o
f 

to
o

ls
 

an
d

 a
p

p
ro

ac
he

s

M
S

C
B

 P
ar

tn
er

s
Le

d
 b

y 
C

S
C

R
E

 (
YJ

T
)

P
P

Y
P

S
 

M
ar

ch
 1

9
 

Page 36



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

0
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

6
1

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 3
Lo

nd
o

n 
B

o
ro

ug
h 

o
f 

M
er

to
n 

So
ci

al
 W

o
rk

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
M

o
d

el

M
er

to
n 

Sa
fe

g
ua

rd
in

g
 C

o
nt

ex
t

T
h

is
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
tr

en
d

s 
an

d
 p

ro
g

re
ss

 
w

it
h

 s
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 h
ig

h
 le

ve
ls

 o
f 

vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ty

. T
h

is
 in

cl
u

d
es

 c
h

ild
re

n
 w

h
o

 n
ee

d
 t

o
 

b
e 

su
p

p
o

rt
ed

 b
y 

a 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
o

se
 

w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
e 

in
 t

h
e 

ca
re

 o
f 

th
e 

lo
ca

l a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 
to

 k
ee

p
 t

h
em

 s
af

e.
 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 n
ee

d
 p

o
p

ul
at

io
n 

T
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

in
cr

ea
se

 in
 o

p
en

 c
h

ild
 

in
 n

ee
d

 e
p

is
o

d
es

 a
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

16
, 1

9
0

1 
co

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 1
54

4
 (

M
ar

ch
 2

0
15

).
 T

h
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 
10

,0
0

0
 4

13
 w

as
 a

ls
o

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

tl
y 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 

N
at

io
n

al
 3

37
, L

o
n

d
o

n
 3

70
 a

n
d

 M
er

to
n

 t
re

n
d

 o
ve

r 
la

st
 t

h
re

e 
ye

ar
s 

3
3

6
, 3

35
, 3

3
8

.

T
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
n

 in
cr

ea
se

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
b

o
ar

d
 w

it
h

 o
u

r 
S

ta
ti

st
ic

al
 N

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rs
 r

ec
o

rd
in

g
 a

n
 in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
23

.2
7 

fr
o

m
 a

 r
at

e 
o

f 
31

3.
6

4
 in

 2
0

15
 t

o
 3

36
.9

1 
in

 2
0

16
.

T
h

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

 e
p

is
o

d
es

 s
ta

rt
in

g
 

in
 t

h
e 

ye
ar

 h
as

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 b

y 
10

.6
%

 in
 M

er
to

n
 a

n
d

 
b

y 
1.9

%
 in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 w
h

ils
t 

d
ec

re
as

in
g

 b
y 

0
.4

%
 

n
at

io
n

al
ly

 f
ro

m
 la

st
 y

ea
r 

to
 2

0
15

-1
6

. 

E
p

is
o

d
es

 o
f 

n
ee

d
 a

re
 la

st
in

g
 lo

n
g

er
 in

 M
er

to
n

 t
h

an
 

n
at

io
n

al
ly

 a
n

d
 in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

. O
f 

th
e 

ep
is

o
d

es
 e

n
d

in
g

 
in

 t
h

e 
ye

ar
 2

0
15

-1
6

, 3
4

%
 la

st
ed

 a
 y

ea
r 

o
r 

m
o

re
 

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 n

at
io

n
al

 2
1.1

%
 a

n
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 2
0

.6
%

.

‘A
b

u
se

 o
r 

n
eg

le
ct

’ i
s 

th
e 

m
o

st
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 p

ri
m

ar
y 

n
ee

d
 a

t 
fi

rs
t 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

in
 M

er
to

n
 w

it
h

 4
7%

 o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

 a
t 

th
e 

3
1s

t 
M

ar
ch

 2
0

16
. T

h
is

 
is

 f
ra

ct
io

n
al

ly
 b

el
o

w
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 (

4
8

%
) 

an
d

 u
n

d
er

 
n

at
io

n
al

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
s 

o
f 

51
%

. N
at

io
n

al
ly

 a
n

d
 in

 
M

er
to

n
, ‘

F
am

ily
 d

ys
fu

n
ct

io
n

’ i
s 

th
e 

se
co

n
d

 m
o

st
 

co
m

m
o

n
 n

ee
d

, y
et

 M
er

to
n

 (
21

%
) 

ex
ce

ed
s 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
(1

3
%

) 
an

d
 n

at
io

n
al

 (
17

%
) 

p
er

ce
n

ta
g

es
.

In
 M

er
to

n
, t

h
e 

g
en

d
er

 g
ap

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n

 in
 n

ee
d

 h
as

 
n

ar
ro

w
ed

 f
ro

m
 2

0
15

 fi
g

u
re

s 
o

f 
54

%
 m

al
e 

an
d

 4
5%

 
fe

m
al

e 
to

 2
0

16
 w

it
h

 5
3

%
 m

al
e 

4
7%

 f
em

al
e.

 T
h

is
 is

 
b

ro
ad

ly
 r

efl
ec

ti
ve

 o
f 

n
at

io
n

al
 fi

g
u

re
s.

 N
at

io
n

al
ly

 
th

er
e 

h
as

 b
ee

n
 li

tt
le

 m
o

ve
m

en
t 

in
 t

h
e 

g
en

d
er

 
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

s 
fr

o
m

 2
0

15
 t

o
 2

0
16

 w
it

h
 5

2.
5%

 m
al

e 
an

d
 4

5.
5%

 f
em

al
e 

in
 2

0
15

 t
o

 5
2.

7%
 m

al
e 

an
d

 
4

5.
3

%
 f

em
al

e 
in

 2
0

16
.

R
ef

er
ra

ls
 

T
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
 s

m
al

l i
n

cr
ea

se
 in

 r
ef

er
ra

ls
 1

50
7 

in
 

20
15

/1
6

 f
ro

m
 1

4
77

 in
 2

0
14

/1
5.

 R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 
(3

28
) 

re
m

ai
n

s 
in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 M
er

to
n

’s
 u

su
al

 t
re

n
d

 
b

u
t 

lo
w

er
 t

h
an

 N
at

io
n

al
 (

54
8

) 
an

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 (

4
77

) 
b

en
ch

m
ar

k.

R
ef

er
ra

ls
 s

o
u

rc
es

, t
o

p
 r

ef
er

re
r 

P
o

lic
e 

(3
1%

) 
is

 
in

 li
n

e 
w

it
h

 N
at

io
n

al
 (

27
%

),
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 (

26
%

) 
an

d
 

M
er

to
n

 t
re

n
d

s 
(3

2%
).

 R
ef

er
re

r 
“o

th
er

” 
(3

1%
) 

o
u

tl
ie

r 
co

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 N
at

io
n

al
 (

7%
),

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 (
7%

) 
an

d
 M

er
to

n
 2

0
14

/1
5 

(1
3

%
)

Si
ng

le
 A

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 

T
h

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

co
m

p
le

te
d

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 in
 li

n
e 

w
it

h
 la

st
 y

ea
r 

(1
6

3
0

 2
0

15
/1

6
, c

o
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 1

6
58

 
20

14
/1

5)
. R

at
e 

p
er

 1
0

,0
0

0
 (

35
4

) 
re

m
ai

n
s 

in
 li

n
e 

w
it

h
 M

er
to

n
’s

 u
su

al
 t

re
n

d
, l

o
w

er
 t

h
an

 N
at

io
n

al
 

(4
75

) 
an

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 (

4
4

2)
.

A
n

d
 o

f 
th

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 s

in
g

le
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
, 9

2%
 

w
er

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

in
 4

5 
d

ay
s,

 w
h

ic
h

 is
 b

et
te

r 
th

an
 M

er
to

n
’s

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 la
st

 y
ea

r 
9

0
%

 a
n

d
 

b
et

te
r 

th
an

 N
at

io
n

al
 (

8
0

%
) 

an
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 (
8

2%
)

D
o

m
es

ti
c 

vi
o

le
n

ce
, w

h
ic

h
 in

cl
u

d
es

 t
h

at
 a

im
ed

 a
t 

ch
ild

re
n

 o
r 

o
th

er
 a

d
u

lt
s 

in
 t

h
e 

h
o

u
se

h
o

ld
, w

as
 

th
e 

m
o

st
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 f

ac
to

r 
id

en
ti

fi
ed

, fl
ag

g
ed

 in
 

58
.6

%
 o

f 
ep

is
o

d
es

 a
ss

es
se

d
 in

 t
h

e 
ye

ar
 a

n
d

 w
it

h
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

fa
ct

o
rs

 r
ec

o
rd

ed
. T

h
is

 is
 h

ig
h

er
 t

h
an

 
th

e 
4

9
.6

%
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 n
at

io
n

al
ly

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

4
3

.5
%

 f
o

r 
L

o
n

d
o

n
. H

o
w

ev
er

, t
h

is
 h

as
 d

ro
p

p
ed

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e 

su
b

st
an

ti
al

ly
 h

ig
h

er
 7

1.5
%

 r
ec

o
rd

ed
 in

 2
0

15
.

T
h

is
 w

as
 f

o
llo

w
ed

 b
y 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h
 w

h
ic

h
 

in
co

rp
o

ra
te

s 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 o
f 

th
e 

ch
ild

 o
r 

o
th

er
 

ad
u

lt
s 

in
 t

h
e 

fa
m

ily
/h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 a
t 

3
8

.2
 %

 w
h

ic
h

 is
 

an
o

th
er

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
d

ro
p

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e 

52
.1%

 r
ep

o
rt

ed
 

in
 2

0
15

. T
h

is
 is

 a
ls

o
 s

lig
h

tl
y 

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 t

h
e 

3
6

.6
%

 
n

at
io

n
al

ly
 a

n
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

’s
 2

9
.4

%

Se
ct

io
n 

4
7’

s 

A
n

 in
cr

ea
se

d
 n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

 s
u

b
je

ct
 t

o
 S

4
7 

en
q

u
ir

es
 (

71
9

) 
co

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 6
4

8
 2

0
14

/1
5.

 In
cr

ea
se

 
an

d
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t 

o
u

tl
ie

r 
in

 S
4

7 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 (
15

6
) 

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 M

er
to

n
 2

0
14

/1
5 

(1
4

2)
, N

at
io

n
al

 (
13

7)
 

an
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 (
13

8
)

O
b

je
ct

iv
es

O
ut

co
m

es
A

ct
io

ns
(w

ho
 a

nd
 w

ha
t)

R
es

o
ur

ce
s

W
ho

?
(G

ov
er

na
nc

e/
ov

er
si

g
ht

)

W
he

n?

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 3

: E
ns

ur
in

g
 t

he
 E

ff
ec

ti
ve

ne
ss

 o
f 

E
ar

ly
 H

el
p

3.
1

F
in

al
is

e 
th

e 
re

vi
ew

 
o

f 
th

e 
M

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

 a
nd

 F
am

ily
 

W
el

l B
ei

ng
 M

o
d

el

T
hr

es
ho

ld
 

D
o

cu
m

en
t 

ha
s 

b
ee

n 
re

vi
se

d
 in

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
it

h 
th

e 
re

vi
ew

 o
f 

th
e 

M
o

d
el

To
 p

ro
vi

d
e 

m
ul

ti
-

ag
en

cy
 g

ui
d

an
ce

 in
 

re
la

ti
o

n 
to

 S
te

p
-u

p
 

an
d

 S
te

p
 D

o
w

n 
 

W
ha

t
W

ho
B

o
ar

d
 v

ia
 

B
IG

S
ep

t 
17

U
p

d
at

e 
th

e 
T

hr
es

ho
ld

 
d

o
cu

m
en

t 
an

d
 c

la
ri

fy
 

S
te

p
-U

p
 a

nd
 S

te
p

 d
o

w
n 

p
ro

ce
ss

es

H
ea

d
 o

f 
P

o
lic

y,
 

P
la

nn
in

g
 a

nd
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

C
S

C
 H

o
S

Ta
sk

 a
nd

 F
in

is
h 

G
ro

up
, C

A
S

A
 

M
an

ag
er

E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

C
S

C

C
A

SA
 t

o
o

ls
, 

p
ro

to
co

ls
 a

nd
 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 m
at

er
ia

ls
 

ar
e 

up
d

at
ed

 

To
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

he
 c

ur
re

nt
 

C
A

S
A

 t
o

o
ls

 a
nd

 
m

at
er

ia
ls

 a
nd

 a
lig

n 
to

 
th

e 
ne

w
 m

o
d

el
 a

nd
 t

he
 

si
g

ns
 o

f 
sa

fe
ty

C
A

S
A

 T
as

k 
an

d
 

F
in

is
h 

le
d

 b
y 

C
A

S
A

 M
an

ag
er

B
o

ar
d

 v
ia

 
B

IG
 

S
ep

t 
17

Th
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 
M

er
to

n 
C

hi
ld

 a
nd

 
Fa

m
ily

 W
el

l B
ei

ng
 

M
o

d
el

 is
 la

un
ch

ed

To
 p

la
n 

la
un

ch
 e

ve
nt

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

g
y

M
S

C
B

 B
us

in
es

s 
U

ni
t 

an
d

 
C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
Tr

us
t

B
o

ar
d

 v
ia

 
B

IG
S

ep
t 

17
 

D
et

er
m

in
e 

th
e 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
th

e 
m

ul
ti

-a
g

en
cy

 
im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n 

o
f 

th
e 

S
ig

ns
 o

f 
S

af
et

y

To
 p

re
p

ar
e 

th
e 

te
rm

s 
o

f 
re

fe
re

nc
e 

fo
r 

S
ig

ns
 o

f 
S

af
et

y 
m

ul
ti

-a
g

en
cy

 r
o

ll 
o

ut

C
S

C
 &

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
Le

ad
er

 S
ig

ns
 o

f 
S

af
et

y

C
LC

H

C
C

G

E
ar

ly
 Y

ea
rs

FA
S

B
o

ar
d

 v
ia

 
B

IG
M

ar
ch

 1
8

3.
2

To
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 t

he
 

ea
rl

y 
he

lp
 o

ff
er

 
is

 c
le

ar
ly

 o
n 

th
e 

F
am

ily
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

D
ir

ec
to

ry

To
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 E

ar
ly

 
H

el
p

 p
ro

vi
si

o
n 

is
 m

ap
p

ed
 a

nd
 

p
ub

lic
is

ed
 a

cr
o

ss
 

th
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

un
it

y

M
ap

 E
ar

ly
 H

el
p

 
P

at
hw

ay
s 

an
d

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

g
y 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
aw

ar
en

es
s

Le
d

 b
y 

E
ar

ly
 

Ye
ar

s 
M

an
ag

er
 

an
d

 t
he

 F
S

D
 

Le
ad

B
o

ar
d

 v
ia

 
B

IG
M

ar
ch

 1
8

Page 37



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

2
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

6
3

T
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
 r

ed
u

ct
io

n
 in

 IC
P

C
 (

21
7)

 c
o

m
p

ar
ed

 t
o

 
26

7 
20

14
/1

5.
 T

h
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
0

,0
0

0
 (

4
7)

 lo
w

er
 t

h
an

 
M

er
to

n
 t

re
n

d
 (

58
) 

an
d

 b
en

ch
m

ar
k 

N
at

io
n

al
 (

6
1)

, 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 (

56
).

M
er

to
n

’s
 IC

P
C

 1
5 

w
o

rk
in

g
 d

ay
’s

 t
im

el
in

es
s 

(7
9

%
) 

b
et

te
r 

th
an

 N
at

io
n

al
 7

5%
, L

o
n

d
o

n
 7

2%
 (

20
14

/1
5)

 
an

d
 M

er
to

n
 7

3
%

.

C
hi

ld
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 

13
8

 c
h

ild
re

n
 w

er
e 

su
b

je
ct

 t
o

 a
 c

h
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 p
la

n
 

as
 a

t 
31

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
16

 , 
th

is
 is

 lo
w

er
 t

h
an

 t
re

n
d

s 
fo

r 
M

er
to

n
 (

16
2,

 1
8

2,
 a

n
d

 1
77

 f
o

r 
th

e 
la

st
 t

h
re

e 
ye

ar
s)

. 

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 a
s 

at
 t

h
e 

en
d

 o
f 

M
ar

ch
 (

3
0

) 
n

o
w

 
an

 o
u

tl
ie

r 
ag

ai
n

st
 N

at
io

n
al

 4
3

 a
n

d
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 4

1 
(h

is
to

ri
ca

lly
 M

er
to

n
’s

 r
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 h
as

 n
o

t 
b

ee
n

 
lo

w
er

 t
h

an
 t

h
e 

b
en

ch
m

ar
k)

. C
o

u
ld

 b
e 

at
tr

ib
u

te
d

 
to

 f
ew

er
 p

la
n

s 
st

ar
ti

n
g

 d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

ye
ar

 (
20

4
) 

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 2

26
 la

st
 y

ea
r. 

W
h

er
e 

co
n

ce
rn

s 
ar

e 
su

b
st

an
ti

at
ed

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

ch
ild

 
is

 ju
d

g
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

at
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
in

g
 r

is
k 

o
f 

h
ar

m
 t

h
en

 
an

 in
it

ia
l c

h
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n

 c
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
 s

h
o

u
ld

 
b

e 
co

nv
en

ed
 w

it
h

in
 1

5 
w

o
rk

in
g

 d
ay

s.
 M

er
to

n
 

co
nv

en
ed

 7
5.

8
%

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
15

 d
ay

s,
 t

h
is

 is
 h

ig
h

er
 

th
an

 t
h

e 
72

.6
%

 a
ch

ie
ve

d
 in

 2
0

15
. T

h
e 

20
16

 o
u

tt
u

rn
 

is
 b

el
o

w
 n

at
io

n
al

 (
76

.7
%

),
 y

et
 a

b
o

ve
 t

h
e 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 
av

er
ag

e 
(7

5.
3

%
).

 

A
 h

ig
h

er
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

 b
ec

am
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
p

la
n

 
fo

r 
th

e 
se

co
n

d
 o

r 
su

b
se

q
u

en
t 

ti
m

e.
 O

u
r 

20
16

 C
P

P
 

2n
d

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

u
en

t 
(2

3
%

),
 is

 h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 M

er
to

n
 

20
14

/1
5 

16
%

 t
re

n
d

 a
n

d
 N

at
io

n
al

 1
6

%
 a

n
d

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 
b

en
ch

m
ar

k 
(1

3
%

)

C
h

ild
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 p

la
n

s 
re

vi
ew

s 
w

it
h

in
 t

im
es

ca
le

s 
ca

m
e 

to
 9

8
%

 , 
th

is
 is

 a
n

 im
p

ro
ve

m
en

t 
o

n
 9

1%
 

20
14

/1
5 

an
d

 b
et

te
r 

th
an

 N
at

io
n

al
 9

4
%

 a
n

d
 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 9
6

%
.

C
h

ild
 s

ee
n

 in
 a

cc
o

rd
an

ce
 w

it
h

 C
P

 p
la

n
 (

vi
si

ts
),

 n
o

 
lo

n
g

er
 a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 c

en
su

s 
p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 it

em
. 

In
d

ic
at

o
rs

M
er

to
n 

 
20

12
-1

3
M

er
to

n 
 

20
13

-1
4

M
er

to
n 

 
20

14
-1

5
M

er
to

n 
 

20
15

-1
6

N
at

io
n

al
 

20
13

-1
4

N
at

io
n

al
 

20
14

-1
5

N
at

io
na

l 
20

15
-1

6

C
hi

ld
re

n 
In

 N
ee

d

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

st
ar

ti
ng

 a
n 

ep
is

o
d

e 
o

f 
ne

ed
12

22
14

0
7

10
8

3
11

9
8

4
27

,7
0

0
4

0
3,

4
0

0
4

0
16

0
0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

27
7.

0
31

1.7
23

7.
3

25
9

.3
37

1.7
34

8
.0

34
3.

9

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 n

ee
d

 t
hr

o
ug

ho
ut

 
th

e 
ye

ar
23

73
25

13
25

17
26

9
0

78
1,2

0
0

78
1,7

0
0

77
89

80

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

53
7.

9
55

6
.7

55
1.5

58
2.

1
6

78
.9

6
74

.4
6

67
.1

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

en
d

in
g

 a
n 

ep
is

o
d

e 
o

f 
ne

ed
8

8
7

9
10

9
73

78
9

38
4

,10
0

39
0

,8
0

0
38

4
58

0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

20
1.1

20
1.6

21
3.

2
17

0
.7

33
3.

8
33

7.
1

32
9

.3

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 n

ee
d

 a
t 

31
 M

ar
ch

14
8

6
16

0
3

15
4

4
19

0
1

39
7,

6
0

0
39

1,0
0

0
39

4
4

0
0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

33
6

.8
35

5.
1

33
8

.3
4

11
.4

34
5.

6
33

7.
3

33
7.

7

R
ef

er
ra

ls
 a

nd
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

re
fe

rr
al

s
13

72
17

4
5

14
77

15
0

7
6

57
,8

0
0

6
35

,6
0

0
6

21
,4

70

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

31
1.0

38
6

.5
32

3.
6

32
6

.1
57

3.
0

54
8

.3
53

2.
2

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

R
ef

er
ra

ls
 w

hi
ch

 r
es

ul
te

d
 in

 N
o

 
F

ur
th

er
 A

ct
io

n
33

35
6

1
83

9
2,

4
0

0
8

7,
50

0
6

1,
80

0

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

o
f 

R
ef

er
ra

ls
 w

hi
ch

 r
es

ul
te

d
 in

 
N

o
 F

ur
th

er
 A

ct
io

n
2.

4
2.

0
4

.1
5.

5
14

.1
13

.8
9

.9

C
o

nt
in

uo
us

 A
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 (
Si

ng
le

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t)

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 (

fr
o

m
 2

0
13

-2
0

14
)

C
o

nt
in

uo
us

 A
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 (
S

in
g

le
 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t)

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
1,5

33
16

58
1,

6
30

17
5,

30
0

55
0

,8
0

0
57

1,
6

4
0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

33
3.

2
36

3.
3

35
2.

7
n/

a
4

75
.2

4
89

.5

Se
ct

io
n 

4
7 

en
q

ui
ri

es
 a

nd
 in

it
ia

l c
hi

ld
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
co

nf
er

en
ce

s

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
su

b
je

ct
 t

o
 s

.4
7 

en
q

ui
ri

es
 w

hi
ch

 s
ta

rt
ed

 d
ur

in
g

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
en

d
in

g
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

4
9

3
59

3
6

4
8

71
9

14
2,

50
0

16
0

,2
0

0
17

2,
29

0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

11
1.7

13
1.4

14
2.

0
15

5.
6

12
3.

8
13

8
.2

14
7.

5

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 w

er
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 
o

f 
an

 in
it

ia
l c

hi
ld

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

co
nf

er
en

ce
 

w
hi

ch
 s

ta
rt

ed
 d

ur
in

g
 t

he
 y

ea
r 

en
d

in
g

 3
1 

M
ar

ch

17
7

23
9

26
7

22
7

6
5,

20
0

71
,4

0
0

73
,0

50

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

4
0

.1
52

.9
58

.5
4

9
.1

56
.7

6
1.6

6
2.

6

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 4
Su

m
m

ar
y 

o
f 

K
ey

 In
d

ic
at

o
rs

Page 38



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

4
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

6
5

In
d

ic
at

o
rs

M
er

to
n 

 
20

11
-1

2
M

er
to

n 
 

20
12

-1
3

M
er

to
n 

 
20

13
-1

4
M

er
to

n 
 

20
14

-1
5

N
at

io
n

al
 

20
12

-1
3

N
at

io
n

al
 

20
13

-1
4

N
at

io
na

l 
20

15
-1

6

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 w

er
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
p

la
n

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 w

er
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
p

la
n 

at
 

th
e 

en
d

 o
f 

M
ar

ch
16

2
18

2
17

7
13

8
4

8
,3

0
0

4
9

,7
0

0
50

,3
10

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

36
.7

4
0

.3
38

.8
29

.9
4

2.
0

4
2.

9
4

3.
1

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 b

ec
am

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 y
ea

r
16

0
21

2
22

6
20

4
59

,8
0

0
6

2,
20

0
6

3,
31

0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

36
.3

4
7.

0
4

9
.5

4
4

.1
52

.0
53

.7
54

.2

N
um

b
er

 w
ho

 b
ec

am
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
p

la
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

se
co

nd
 o

r 
su

b
se

q
ue

nt
 t

im
e

17
24

37
4

6
9

,4
0

0
10

,3
0

0
11

,3
50

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

w
ho

 b
ec

am
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
p

la
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

se
co

nd
 o

r 
su

b
se

q
ue

nt
 t

im
e

10
.6

11
.3

16
.4

22
.5

15
.8

16
.6

17
.9

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 c

ea
se

d
 t

he
 s

ub
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 y
ea

r
17

1
19

2
23

1
23

8
54

,4
0

0
6

0
,4

0
0

6
2,

75
0

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ag

ed
 u

nd
er

 1
8

 
ye

ar
s

38
.8

4
2.

5
50

.6
51

.5
4

7.
3

52
.1

53
.7

N
um

b
er

 w
ho

 w
er

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
fo

r 
2 

o
r 

m
o

re
 y

ea
rs

 (
w

ho
 c

ea
se

d
 t

o
 b

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

p
la

n)
6

6
10

14
2,

50
0

2,
30

0
2,

4
10

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

w
ho

 w
er

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
fo

r 
2 

o
r 

m
o

re
 y

ea
rs

 (
w

ho
 c

ea
se

d
 t

o
 b

e 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

ch
ild

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

p
la

n)
3.

5
3.

3
4

.3
5.

9
4

.5
3.

7
3.

8

C
hi

ld
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
ca

se
s 

w
hi

ch
 w

er
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 w
it

hi
n 

re
q

ui
re

d
 t

im
es

ca
le

s

C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ho
 w

er
e 

th
e 

su
b

je
ct

 o
f 

a 
p

la
n 

at
 

31
 M

ar
ch

 a
nd

 w
ho

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
th

e 
su

b
je

ct
 o

f 
a 

p
la

n 
fo

r 
3 

o
r 

m
o

re
 m

o
nt

hs
12

1
14

1
11

6
88

33
,10

0
34

,6
0

0
34

58
0

N
um

b
er

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 w

it
hi

n 
th

e 
re

q
ui

re
d

 
ti

m
es

ca
le

s
11

8
13

1
10

6
86

31
,3

0
0

32
,6

0
0

32
,4

10

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 w
it

hi
n 

ti
m

es
ca

le
s

9
7.

5
9

2.
9

9
1.4

97
.7

9
4

.6
9

4
.0

9
3.

7

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
P

la
ns

 t
hr

o
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
w

he
re

 t
he

 c
hi

ld
 w

as
 s

ee
n 

in
 a

cc
o

rd
an

ce
 

w
it

h 
th

e 
ti

m
es

ca
le

s 
sp

ec
if

ie
d

 w
it

hi
n 

th
ei

r 
p

la
n 

b
y 

th
e 

le
ad

 s
o

ci
al

 w
o

rk
er

 (
D

fE
 

N
O

T
E

: E
ac

h 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

ri
ty

 s
et

s 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n 
ti

m
es

ca
le

s,
 u

su
al

ly
 t

he
y 

ar
e 

b
et

w
ee

n 
tw

o
 

an
d

 s
ix

 w
ee

ks
, t

he
re

fo
re

 w
he

re
 a

 lo
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

su
re

s 
to

 a
 s

ho
rt

er
 t

im
es

ca
le

, 
it

 is
 m

o
re

 li
ke

ly
 t

he
y 

w
ill

 s
ee

 f
ew

er
 c

as
es

 
w

it
hi

n 
th

ei
r 

ti
m

es
ca

le
s.

)

20
0

29
1

n/
a

6
0

,0
0

0
70

,2
0

0
n/

a

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

vi
si

te
d

 w
it

hi
n 

ti
m

es
ca

le
53

.5
71

.3
n/

a
58

.4
6

3.
7

n/
a

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 n

ee
d

 a
t 

31
 M

ar
ch

 a
nd

 p
ri

m
ar

y 
ne

ed
 a

t 
as

se
ss

m
en

t

20
15

20
16

E
ng

la
nd

Lo
nd

o
n

M
er

to
n

E
n

g
la

n
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

M
er

to
n

N
1 

- 
A

b
us

e 
o

r 
ne

g
le

ct
4

9
%

4
7%

4
0

%
51

%
4

8
%

4
7%

N
2 

- 
C

hi
ld

's
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 o
r 

ill
ne

ss
10

%
10

%
11

%
10

%
10

%
9

%

N
3 

- 
P

ar
en

t'
s 

d
is

ab
ili

ty
 o

r 
ill

ne
ss

3%
4

%
4

%
3%

4
%

3%

N
4

 -
 F

am
ily

 in
 a

cu
te

 s
tr

es
s

9
%

11
%

14
%

9
%

10
%

13
%

N
5 

- 
F

am
ily

 d
ys

fu
nc

ti
o

n
18

%
14

%
24

%
17

%
13

%
21

%

N
6

 -
 S

o
ci

al
ly

 u
na

cc
ep

ta
b

le
 b

eh
av

io
ur

2%
3%

1%
2%

3%
2%

N
7 

- 
Lo

w
 in

co
m

e
1%

1%
0

%
0

%
1%

0
%

N
8

 -
 A

b
se

nt
 p

ar
en

ti
ng

3%
6

%
6

%
3%

6
%

5%

N
9

 -
 C

as
es

 o
th

er
 t

ha
n 

ch
ild

re
n 

In
 n

ee
d

1%
1%

0
%

1%
1%

0
%

N
0

 -
 N

o
t 

st
at

ed
5%

4
%

0
%

4
%

4
%

0
%

Page 39



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

6
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

6
7

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 5
M

SC
B

 S
tr

uc
tu

re

M
SC

B

B
us

in
es

s 
Im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n 

G
ro

up

Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
/

B
us

in
es

s 
&

 A
ud

it

Le
ar

ni
ng

 &
 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

P
o

lic
y

P
ro

m
o

te
 &

 
P

ro
te

ct
 Y

o
un

g
 

P
eo

p
le

/M
A

SE
**

**
 M

A
S

E
 M

u
lt

i-
A

g
en

cy
 S

ex
u

al
 E

xp
lo

it
at

io
n

 G
ro

u
p

 

C
hi

ld
 D

ea
th

 O
ve

rv
ie

w
 P

an
el

 (
C

D
O

P
) 

an
d

 t
he

 
Jo

in
t 

H
um

an
 R

es
o

ur
ce

s 
Su

b
-G

ro
up

  
T

h
e 

M
S

C
B

 w
ill

 c
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

 T
as

k 
an

d
 F

in
is

h
 

G
ro

u
p

s 
as

 r
eq

u
ir

ed
. 

T
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 C

h
ai

r 
m

ay
 c

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 a

 P
an

el
 t

o
 

u
n

d
er

ta
ke

 S
C

R
s 

o
r 

L
IR

s.

R
ep

o
rt

in
g

  
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

s 
w

ill
 r

o
u

ti
n

el
y 

re
p

o
rt

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 

o
n

 t
h

ei
r 

w
o

rk
 p

la
n

s 
as

 f
o

llo
w

s;
 a

n
d

 w
h

er
e 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 b

y 
ex

ce
p

ti
o

n
:

Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
 

– 
 M

u
lt

i-
A

g
en

cy
 d

at
a 

– 
q

u
ar

te
rl

y 
in

 a
rr

ea
rs

– 
 L

es
so

n
s 

fr
o

m
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n

ce
 a

t 
ea

ch
 

M
S

C
B

 m
ee

ti
n

g
 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

 
– 

tw
ic

e 
p

er
 y

ea
r 

P
o

lic
y 

 
– 

tw
ic

e 
p

er
 y

ea
r

P
ro

m
o

te
 a

nd
 P

ro
te

ct
 Y

o
un

g
 P

eo
p

le
  

– 
tw

ic
e 

p
er

 y
ea

r

– 
 Q

u
al

it
y 

an
d

 a
g

g
re

g
at

ed
 le

ss
o

n
s 

ar
is

in
g

 f
ro

m
 

ca
se

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 in
 P

ro
m

o
te

 &
 P

ro
te

ct
/M

A
S

E
 

m
ee

ti
n

g
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 v

ia
 Q

A
 a

n
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

S
C

B
 

H
R

 S
ub

-G
ro

up
  

– 
o

n
ce

 p
er

 y
ea

r

M
A

SH
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 B
o

ar
d

  
– 

m
ee

ts
 m

o
n

th
ly

VA
W

G
 B

o
ar

d
– 

 T
h

e 
M

er
to

n
 V

A
W

G
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 B
o

ar
d

 m
ee

ts
 

fo
u

r 
ti

m
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r

C
D

O
P

 
– 

o
n

ce
 p

er
 y

ea
r, 

u
su

al
ly

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
d

ra
ft

 
C

D
O

P
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

In
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 t

h
er

e 
ar

e 
Jo

in
t 

S
u

b
-G

ro
u

p
s 

w
it

h
 S

u
tt

o
n

 L
S

C
B

 –
 n

am
el

y:
 

T
h

e 
S

u
b

-G
ro

u
p

s 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 t
o

g
et

h
er

 t
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

at
 P

o
lic

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
an

d
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
re

fl
ec

t 
le

ss
o

n
s 

b
ei

n
g

 le
ar

n
ed

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 Q
A

 a
n

d
 P

P
Y

P.

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 6
M

em
b

er
sh

ip

M
em

b
er

sh
ip

 o
f 

M
S

C
B

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 a

g
re

ed
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

P
 

St
at

ut
o

ry
 P

ar
tn

er
 

S 
St

at
ut

o
ry

 S
ec

to
r 

P
ar

tn
er

 

C
 

C
o

-o
p

te
d

 

V
 

V
o

ti
ng

 

P
O

 
P

ar
ti

ci
p

an
t 

O
b

se
rv

er
 

SA
 

St
at

ut
o

ry
 A

d
vi

so
r 

A
 

A
d

vi
so

r 

B
 

B
o

ar
d

 s
up

p
o

rt

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 P

ar
tn

er
s 

w
ill

 n
o

m
in

at
e 

an
 a

g
re

ed
 s

en
io

r 
A

g
en

cy
 D

ep
u

ty
 w

h
o

 is
 a

b
le

 t
o

 s
p

ea
k 

an
d

 t
ak

e 
d

ec
is

io
n

s 
o

n
 t

h
ei

r 
A

g
en

cy
’s

 b
eh

al
f.

S
ec

to
r 

P
ar

tn
er

s 
w

ill
 c

o
ve

r 
ea

ch
 o

th
er

 a
n

d
 d

o
 n

o
t 

re
q

u
ir

e 
a 

d
ep

u
ty

 f
o

r 
th

ei
r 

o
w

n
 a

g
en

cy
.

Page 40



M
er

to
n

 S
af

eg
u

ar
d

in
g

 C
h

ild
re

n
 B

o
ar

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16
/1

7
6

8
M

er
to

n
 S

af
eg

u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n

 B
o

ar
d

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt
 2

0
16

/1
7

6
9

M
SC

B

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
C

ha
ir

  
 C

as
ti

ng
 V

o
te

P
 

V
ic

e 
C

ha
ir

 t
o

 b
e 

d
ra

w
n 

fr
o

m
 t

he
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 M
em

b
er

s

P
 V

C
hi

ef
 O

ffi
ce

r, 
M

er
to

n 
C

lin
ic

al
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

ni
ng

 G
ro

up

P
 V

N
H

S
 E

ng
la

nd
 (

Lo
nd

o
n)

P
 V

C
hi

ef
 N

ur
se

, C
en

tr
al

 L
o

nd
o

n 
C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

H
ea

lt
hc

ar
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s

P
 V

S
ut

to
n 

&
 M

er
to

n 
S

er
vi

ce
 D

ir
ec

to
r, 

SW
 L

o
nd

o
n 

&
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

M
H

 T
ru

st

P
 V

C
o

ns
ul

ta
nt

 C
hi

ld
 a

nd
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

P
sy

ch
ia

tr
is

t,
 S

W
 L

o
nd

o
n 

&
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

P
 V

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s 
H

ea
lt

hc
ar

e 
N

H
S

 T
ru

st

P
 V

B
o

ro
ug

h 
C

o
m

m
an

d
er

, M
et

 P
o

lic
e

P
 V

D
C

I, 
C

hi
ld

 A
b

us
e 

In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n 
Te

am
, M

et
 P

o
lic

e

P
 V

A
ss

is
ta

nt
 C

hi
ef

 O
ffi

ce
r, 

Lo
nd

o
n 

P
ro

b
at

io
n

P
 V

A
ss

is
ta

nt
 C

hi
ef

 O
ffi

ce
r 

T
he

 L
o

nd
o

n 
C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

R
eh

ab
ili

ta
ti

o
n 

C
o

m
p

an
y 

Li
m

it
ed

S 
V

La
y 

M
em

b
er

s 
(T

w
o)

S 
V

V
o

lu
nt

ar
y 

S
ec

to
r 

A
g

en
cy

 (
Tw

o)

P
 V

D
ir

ec
to

r, 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

S
ch

o
o

ls
 &

 F
am

ili
es

P
 V

H
ea

d
 o

f 
C

S
C

 &
 Y

I, 
C

S
F

P
 V

H
ea

d
 o

f 
E

d
uc

at
io

n,
 C

S
F

C
 V

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lt
h 

M
er

to
n,

 C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
&

 H
o

us
in

g

C
 V

S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
 A

d
ul

ts
 M

an
ag

er
, C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

&
 H

o
us

in
g

C
 V

H
o

us
in

g
 N

ee
d

s 
M

an
ag

er
, C

o
m

m
un

it
y 

&
 H

o
us

in
g

P
 V

S
en

io
r 

S
er

vi
ce

 M
an

ag
er

, C
A

F
C

A
S

S

SV
H

ea
d

 T
ea

ch
er

 P
ri

m
ar

y 
S

ch
o

o
l ‘

R
ep

 o
f 

G
ov

er
ni

ng
 B

o
d

y 
o

f 
a 

M
ai

nt
ai

ne
d

 S
ch

o
o

l

SV
S

p
ec

ia
l S

ch
o

o
l

SV
M

ai
nt

ai
ne

d
 s

ec
o

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
o

l

SV
R

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

e 
o

f 
th

e 
p

ro
p

ri
et

o
r 

o
f 

a 
ci

ty
 t

ec
hn

o
lo

g
y 

co
lle

g
e,

 a
 c

it
y 

co
lle

g
e 

fo
r 

te
ch

no
lo

g
y 

o
r 

th
e 

ar
ts

, o
r 

 
an

 A
ca

d
em

y 

SV
In

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

S
ec

to
r 

S
ch

o
o

l –
 v

ac
an

t 
at

 J
an

 2
0

15

C
V

C
P

 O
ffi

ce
r, 

M
er

to
n 

P
ri

o
ry

 H
o

m
es

P
O

M
er

to
n 

C
o

un
ci

l L
ea

d
 M

em
b

er
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

N
o

n-
vo

ti
ng

SA
D

es
ig

na
te

d
 D

o
ct

o
r 

fo
r 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n,
 M

er
to

n 
C

C
G

 
N

o
n-

vo
ti

ng

SA
D

es
ig

na
te

d
 N

ur
se

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
, M

er
to

n 
C

lin
ic

al
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

ni
ng

 G
ro

up
 

N
o

n-
vo

ti
ng

SA
P

ri
nc

ip
al

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
er

N
o

n-
vo

ti
ng

P
 V

C
o

ns
ul

ta
nt

 C
hi

ld
 a

nd
 A

d
o

le
sc

en
t 

P
sy

ch
ia

tr
is

t,
 S

W
 L

o
nd

o
n 

&
 S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

A
Jo

in
t 

H
ea

d
 o

f 
H

R
 B

us
in

es
s 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
N

o
n-

vo
ti

ng

A
S

er
vi

ce
 M

an
ag

er
, P

o
lic

y,
 P

la
nn

in
g

 a
nd

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
N

o
n-

vo
ti

ng

B
S

M
S

C
B

 B
o

ar
d

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

M
an

ag
er

 
N

o
n-

vo
ti

ng

B
S

M
S

C
B

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
o

r/
s 

N
o

n-
vo

ti
ng

A
M

S
C

B
 T

ra
in

in
g

 O
ffi

ce
r 

N
o

n-
vo

ti
ng

C
o

nt
ac

t 
D

et
ai

ls

M
er

to
n 

S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

B
o

ar
d

12
th

 F
lo

o
r, 

C
iv

ic
 C

en
tr

e
Lo

nd
o

n 
R

o
ad

M
o

rd
en

S
M

4
 5

D
X

 Te
l: 

0
20

 8
54

5 
4

8
6

6
 E

m
ai

l: 
m

er
to

nl
sc

b
@

m
er

to
n.

g
ov

.u
k

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 1 

London Borough of Merton Council  
Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and 

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1  

Inspection date: 12 June 2017 to 6 July 2017 

Report published: 25 August 2017 

 

Children’s services in the London Borough of Merton are good. 

1. Children who need help and protection Good 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Good 

 
2.1 Adoption performance Outstanding 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Good 

3. Leadership, management and governance Outstanding 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of 

the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local 

authority functions carried out under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the 
report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out under the Local 

Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

Page 43



 

 

   
 

2 

Executive summary 

Children in Merton benefit from services that are dynamic, ambitious and successful. 
Exceptional leadership and governance and strong frontline management ensure that 
children’s services are consistently good. All children receive a good service and 
some receive an outstanding service. Inspectors saw that significant and sustained 
improvements had been achieved since the last inspection in 2012, when all services 
were judged as good. Staff are very effective in improving outcomes for children.  

The director of children’s services (DCS) and all senior leaders have created and 
sustained a highly effective culture of clear strategic planning alongside warmth and 
compassion for each and every child. The leadership style offers an ideal balance of 
rigorous attention to outcomes combined with sensitivity, humility and a sound 
understanding of the vulnerability experienced by children and their families. This 
was described by one partner as a ‘productive and human way of working’ that is 
both ‘very respectful and challenging’. 

Leaders and managers are highly visible and show care and concern for children and 
staff. They provide a strong culture of learning and a determination to improve 
further on outcomes that are already good. Innovative and creative thinking ensures 
that Merton achieves maximum impact from the resources available. This includes a 
coherent practice model to assist social workers in their analysis, manageable 
caseloads, frequent supervision, reflective auditing and mature partnerships. This 
results in an environment in which social work practice continues to develop and 
flourish despite a turnover of staff. 

A strong and embedded culture of review and learning enables robust analytical 
understanding of all aspects of services in Merton. Regular wholescale reviews of 
services or local case and threshold reviews result in a local authority that knows 
itself well. This was described by one manager as, ‘If we spot a problem, we dig,’ 
and this professional curiosity was strongly evident during the inspection. The small 
areas of practice requiring additional work that were seen by inspectors were already 
known and were being actively addressed by senior managers.  

Children are protected through an outstanding early help offer and a robust ‘front 
door’, to consider which intervention would help them best. A review in 2016 of the 
multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) and regular threshold testing audits ensure a 
rounded multi-agency response to protect children when their needs first become 
known. Responses are timely and proportionate to risk. Thresholds are clearly and 
consistently applied for children, including when their circumstances and needs 
change. Child protection plans and child in need plans help to protect and support 
children and their families well and are based on thorough assessments. Some plans 
are not sufficiently clear, and so families may not fully understand what is required of 
them.  

Children who are looked after by Merton benefit from good-quality placements, social 
workers who visit them often and strong support from the virtual school. 
Comprehensive assessments and support enable children to return home safely 

Page 44



 

 

 3 

when this is their plan. Applications to court reflect timely planning and strong social 
work practice, as reflected in very positive feedback from the judiciary and court 
partners. The role of the corporate parent is well embedded and is taken very 
seriously. The lead member for children, the chief executive and senior managers 
consider all children to be ‘their’ children and they are determined to do their best for 
them. Parents and carers feel included, leading to positive partnership working. 
Letters to parents and children, including pre-proceedings letters or complaints, are 
carefully personalised. 

Permanence is secured quickly for children and progress is closely tracked. Children 
placed in permanent foster care receive a certificate from the assistant director, 
affirming their sense of belonging. Adoption performance is outstanding, with all 
children requiring adoption currently placed and no children waiting. Creative use of 
the adoption support fund ensures that adoption is well supported. Merton has not 
had an adoption placement breakdown for over five years. 

Care leavers do well in Merton. The vast majority are in touch with staff, and 
determined efforts are made to re-engage with those who are not. Care leavers feel 
safe where they live and they achieve well. Young people who have left care recently 
have benefited from receiving their health histories although not all care leavers have 
received their health histories yet, despite this being a longstanding issue. Only a few 
care leavers continue to live with their foster carers beyond their 18th birthday; the 
local authority is actively trying to increase numbers. 

Risks associated with child sexual exploitation, missing children, gang involvement or 
radicalisation are understood exceptionally well and overseen appropriately from a 
senior multi-agency perspective. Regular scrutiny is provided through a range of 
methods, including a weekly ‘missing’ meeting. However, the response to each child 
for each episode of missing from home or care is not sufficiently robust. 

Accurate data and helpful performance information provide insight and ensure that 
strategic changes to demand and need are anticipated and met. Service redesign, 
including a flatter management structure, has enabled a 33% increase in frontline 
social workers. The redesign has resulted in manageable caseloads and effective 
spans of control, and has enabled changes to the workload of the MASH and the 
safeguarding teams, as well as the creation of a dedicated permanence service. The 
very recent implementation of a replacement information technology and case 
recording system, just prior to the inspection, is being managed efficiently, and staff 
are being well supported. 

Detailed strategic plans and localised improvement plans are aligned with each other 
and are overseen by mature and exceptionally strong partnerships. The strong 
professional partnerships in Merton demonstrate that children and their families are 
highly valued and that they deserve high-quality services.  

 

Page 45



 

 

   
 

4 

Contents 
Executive summary 2 

The local authority 5 

Information about this local authority area 

Recommendations 

Summary for children and young people 5 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection 10 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence 15 

Leadership, management and governance 25 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 31 

Executive summary 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 31 

Information about this inspection 37 

 
  

Page 46



 

 

 5 

The local authority 

Information about this local authority area2 

Previous Ofsted inspections  

 The local authority does not operate any children’s homes. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s safeguarding arrangements was in 
January 2012. The local authority was judged to be good. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s services for children looked after 
was in January 2012. The local authority was judged to be good. 

Local leadership  

 The DCS has been in post since January 2009. 

 The chief executive has been in post since March 2004. 

 The chair of the LSCB has been in post since March 2014. 

Children living in this area 

 Approximately 46,697 children and young people under the age of 18 years live 
in Merton. This is 23% of the total population in the area. 

 Approximately 15% of the local authority’s children aged under 16 years old are 
living in low-income families. 

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 14% (the national average is 15%)  

 in secondary schools is 16% (the national average is 13%).  

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 45% of all 
children living in the area, compared with 21% in the country as a whole. 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area are 
Asian or Asian British and Black and Black British. 

 The proportion of children and young people who speak English as an additional 
language: 

 in primary schools is 47% (the national average is 20%)  

 in secondary schools is 36% (the national average is 16%).  

 

                                           

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 

with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 47



 

 

   
 

6 

Child protection in this area 

 At 31 March 2017, 1,356 children had been identified through assessment as 
being formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is a reduction from 
1,901 at 31 March 2016.  

 At 31 March 2017, 127 children were the subject of a child protection plan (a rate 
of 27 per 10,000). This is a reduction from 138 children (30 per 10,000) at 31 
March 2016. 

 At 31 March 2017, four children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. 
This is a decrease from nine at the time of the last published data in 2015. 

 In the two years prior to inspection, two serious incident notifications have been 
submitted to Ofsted and one serious case review (SCR) has been completed.  

 There were no SCRs ongoing at the time of the inspection.  

Children looked after in this area 

 At 31 March 2017, 152 children were being looked after by the local authority (a 
rate of 33 per 10,000 children). This is a reduction from 165 (35 per 10,000 
children) at 31 March 2016. Of this number:  

- 102 (or 67%) live outside the local authority area 

- 18 live in residential children’s homes, of whom 94% live out of the 
authority area 

- two live in residential special schools3, both of whom live out of the 
authority area 

- 108 live with foster families, of whom 58% live out of the authority 
area 

- three live with their parents, none of whom live out of the authority 
area 

- 16 are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 In the last 12 months: 

- there have been 11 adoptions 

- six children became the subject of special guardianship orders 

- 113 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 10% subsequently 
returned to be looked after 

- 25 young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 
independent living  

- two young people ceased to be looked after and are now living in 
houses in multiple occupation. 

                                           

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or less per year. 

Page 48



 

 

 7 

Social work model 

 The local authority uses a systemic practice model that includes ‘Signs of 
Safety’. 

 
  

Page 49



 

 

   
 

8 

Recommendations 
 
1. Ensure that all plans, including child in need, child protection, care plans for 

children looked after and pathway plans, consistently contain specific actions, 
achievable timescales and clear, measurable outcomes. 
 

2. Improve the use of return home interviews for each episode of missing for 
children missing from home or care and ensure that risks are understood and 
reduced for individual children. 
 

3. Ensure that ‘staying put’ is made available to all care leavers who would 
benefit from this. 
 

4. Ensure that all former relevant care leavers receive information on their health 
histories. 

  

Page 50



 

 

 9 

Summary for children and young people 
 
 All staff, including senior managers, know children well and work well together to 

consider how to help each child and their family. 

 Although services for children and young people are already good, staff continue 

to question how they do things and are keen to do even better. They regularly 

look carefully at what they have done to see what they can learn. 

 Planning for children is mostly done well, but in a few cases the plans are not 

clear enough about what needs to change for children and what families need to 

do to make children safer. 

 Staff work hard to keep children safe in Merton. Any risks or concerns are taken 

very seriously and acted on quickly. They do this by working closely with other 

people, such as the police.  

 Some children have had a number of different social workers, but managers keep 

a close eye on what is happening for children, to minimise the impact of changes.  

 Children who are looked after by Merton are involved in the planning for their 

care. They are listened to and they influence planning for the future. 

 Children and families who arrive from different countries receive an exceptional 

service and are supported sensitively to ensure that they feel secure. This 

includes meeting with other children in similar circumstances so that they do not 

feel alone. 

 Children who are not able to live with their families live in safe and secure homes. 

Social workers ensure that children who are placed at some distance from Merton 

do not miss out on things that will be of interest or help to them. 

 Care leavers are supported to do well and they feel safe where they live. Only a 

small number of young people continue to live with their foster carers after their 

18th birthday. The local authority is taking action to ensure that more young 

people can stay with their foster carers if they wish to. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

 

   
 

10 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

Good  

Consistently good services support children in need of help and protection in 
Merton, improving their circumstances and keeping them safe. High-quality early 
help assessments help to identify needs, leading to children and families benefiting 
from a range of integrated early help support services.  

Staff within the MASH effectively assess and prioritise contacts and referrals, 
ensuring prompt and proportionate responses so that children most at risk receive 
appropriate and timely services. Strong management oversight and decision-
making are evident on all case recording. 

Effective multi-agency responses to children at risk of sexual exploitation and 
children who are missing from home or school help to ensure that they are kept 
safe. Good outcomes are supported by strong attendance at the multi-agency 
sexual exploitation panel, weekly multi-agency missing meetings and timely 
strategy discussions with a range of appropriate services. However, the response 
to individual children who go missing from home, including the timeliness of return 
home interviews, is not consistent, so the factors that influence the behaviour are 
not clear.  

Staff have a good understanding of risk. Effective early identification of risks in 
relation to female genital mutilation, forced marriage, gang affiliation and 
radicalisation leads to proactive and immediate safeguarding of young people. If 
necessary, this includes legal orders, accompanied by comprehensive multi-agency 
support. Strong multi-agency partnership working, including information sharing 
and attendance at child protection meetings, is protecting children from risk of 
further significant harm. However, child in need and child protection plans are not 
clear enough to ensure that parents understand what needs to change, and in 
what timescales, and to help monitor the progression of each plan.  

Timely and effective arrangements are in place to respond to 16- and 17-year-olds 
at risk of homelessness. The local authority does not use bed and breakfast 
accommodation for any 16- or 17-year-olds. 

Comprehensive awareness raising in relation to private fostering has led to 
appropriate referrals. Children currently known to be living in private fostering 
arrangements are appropriately safeguarded and supported well.  

There is good use of advocacy, including appropriate advocacy for disabled 
children and children and young people subject to child protection procedures, 
enabling careful consideration of their voices within planning. 

Page 52



 

 

 11 

Inspection findings 

5. Children and young people in need of help and protection in Merton receive a 
good service. Managers and staff know their children well. Manageable 
caseloads and skilled staff mean that they are able to visit children and their 
families regularly, build meaningful relationships and undertake purposeful 
direct work. Effective direct work is widespread, including with children at risk 
of sexual exploitation, and individualised direct work with disabled children 
meets the communication needs of each child.   
 

6. The Merton Child and Young Person Well-Being Model guides threshold 
decisions and is supported by a well-embedded wide range of integrated early 
help services, commissioned and brokered by the Children’s Trust partnership. 
Thresholds are understood well by partner agencies and applied appropriately, 
resulting in effective and timely interventions for children.  
 

7. The training and engagement with early help partners contribute to very 
strong early help assessments, which are undertaken by a wide range of 
partners. This ensures timely identification of need, with decision-making and 
work overseen by a social work qualified team manager. Effective intervention 
at an early stage is having a positive impact on reducing the number of 
children who require a more specialist service. Families benefit from prompt 
support from a range of innovative, high-quality early help services, such as a 
dedicated victim support service for children, and mental health practitioners 
in schools. Parents spoke very highly of the early help services available and 
the positive difference that they are making for children. 
 

8. If risks to children change, they experience a relatively seamless transition 
between early help and statutory services. Step-up and step-down processes 
are well considered and purposeful, with the vast majority evidencing a clear 
rationale and decision-making. This ensures that children and their families 
are receiving the right service at the right level of intervention to meet their 
needs. 

 
9. Multi-agency information sharing has improved significantly, with increased 

access to a wide range of multi-agency data. Consent is understood well and 
is clearly recorded. Children’s social care services, the police, health, early 
help and education are co-located in the MASH, ensuring timely risk analysis 
of information to inform decision-making to safeguard children. However, 
consistency is still required in ensuring that information from schools is 
obtained in a timely manner. The ‘vulnerable children’s team’ is working 
closely with schools to improve timescales.  
 

10. Additional staffing resources for the MASH and first response teams, as from 
2016, are further improving timely responses. The majority of cases are 
handled within the agreed timescales and are monitored closely via the 
recently implemented MASH live dashboard. This is enabling timely and 

Page 53



 

 

   
 

12 

carefully considered responses so that children most at risk quickly receive 
appropriate services. There is good liaison and handover with the emergency 
duty team, which is staffed by suitably experienced children’s social workers, 
who provide an effective service to children and families out of normal office 
hours.  

 
11. The social work model used by children’s services is helpfully also applied by 

partner agencies, and this is leading to improvements in the quality of work to 
assess risks to children. The vast majority of case recording identifies 
appropriate safeguarding concerns and safety goals, which are developed in 
regular child in need meetings, child protection conferences and conference 
reviews. However, plans are not consistently clear in all cases. This means 
that a small number of parents are not fully aware of what needs to change 
and in what timescales, and this makes it more difficult to monitor whether 
plans are progressing in a timely way. (Recommendation)  
 

12. In the vast majority of cases, escalation of concerns or non-engagement by 
families leads to appropriate, timely and proportionate responses to risks to 
children, in line with contingency plans overseen by managers.  

 
13. Child protection enquiries to protect children at risk of abuse, through strategy 

discussions and section 47 child protection enquiries, are timely. In the 
majority of cases, a multi-agency response informs the decision-making to 
protect children. However, there is some variability for a small minority of 
children, with some agencies not participating consistently. As a result of 
efforts made by senior managers and the Merton Safeguarding Children Board 
(MSCB), multi-agency attendance and input to child in need meetings and 
child protection conferences have significantly improved and continue to be 
closely monitored.  
 

14. Children’s wishes and feelings are strongly heard and clearly reflected in 
practice. Their views and voices are carefully considered in assessments, 
strategy meetings and social work records to inform planning. Case records 
are clear, timely and up to date, including assessments and chronologies. In a 
very small minority of cases, case recording does not fully reflect the lived 
experiences of very young children or does not consistently highlight the 
separate needs of individual children in large family groups. Recording 
evidences management oversight and decision-making. There is a small 
amount of inconsistent recording of timescales for actions within assessments 
and supervisions, which senior managers are aware of.  

 
15. The local authority has undertaken a comprehensive needs analysis to 

understand the prevalence of domestic abuse, mental ill health and substance 
misuse within the borough. Recent developments include the appointment of 
a specialist adult mental health liaison worker to enhance partnership working, 
to provide training across adults’ and children’s services and to update the 
joint protocol for safeguarding children and families who have mental health 

Page 54



 

 

 13 

needs. The multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA) and multi-
agency risk assessment conferences (MARAC) are consistently well attended 
and effective in supporting timely information sharing, effective risk 
management and decision-making. 
  

16. There are clear and effective multi-agency responses to identify and respond 
to children at risk of going missing or missing education. Most cases of 
children missing education close within three months, as the vast majority of 
children are effectively supported back into school. Education welfare staff are 
persistent in their tracking of children missing education, an example being 
undertaking unannounced visits at known addresses. They liaise and share 
information effectively with other local authorities and within the council, and 
escalate cases to social care when necessary, overseen by the multi-agency 
children missing education panel.  

 
17. Risks associated with child sexual exploitation or missing from home are given 

a high priority and are understood well. Weekly ‘missing’ meetings are held in 
the MASH. The meetings are regularly attended by social workers, the police, 
a gangs worker, the children looked after nurse, the youth offending service, 
the child sexual exploitation lead and a representative from the commissioned 
service that provides return home interviews. Through the combination of the 
multi-agency sexual exploitation panel, weekly multi-agency ‘missing’ 
meetings and timely strategy discussions, children missing from care or home 
and children at risk of sexual exploitation are effectively identified and 
responded to. A wide range of appropriate services, including commissioned 
services, are in place to support and protect children. However, the processes 
for offering children return home interviews following every episode of going 
missing, or completing those interviews in a timely manner to fully understand 
the push and pull factors, are not robust. (Recommendation)  
 

18. Disabled children receive support and services that ensure that they are 
protected and achieve. There is strong early identification of risks in relation 
to female genital mutilation, forced marriage, gang affiliation and 
radicalisation, overseen by the MSCB promote and protect young people 
(PPYP) steering group. This is leading to proactive and immediate 
safeguarding of young people, including legal orders, supported by 
comprehensive multi-agency support.  
 

19. Children living in private fostering arrangements receive a good service. 
Comprehensive awareness raising has led to appropriate referrals and timely 
assessments. In cases seen by inspectors, children were seen alone within 
statutory timescales and they were appropriately safeguarded and supported 
well. 
 

20. Young people aged 16 and 17 who present as homeless receive timely and 
thorough joint assessments with housing services. Assessments show that 
social workers consider their views and those of their family. However, 

Page 55



 

 

   
 

14 

recording does not consistently reflect social workers’ explanations to young 
people about their legal entitlements in order to demonstrate that young 
people have made informed choices about their futures. When young people 
choose not to be looked after, suitable accommodation and support are 
provided.  

 
21. Arrangements for managing allegations against staff, carers and volunteers 

who work with children in Merton are timely and appropriate, and thresholds 
and intervention are applied appropriately. However, inspectors found that a 
turnover of four different designated officers since April 2016, a change of line 
management and the implementation of a new recording system had resulted 
in inconsistent and unclear case recording. The local authority responded 
promptly and appropriately and was able to evidence the work that had been 
done, accompanied by a clear management overview of each case.  
 

22. Inspectors saw very effective use of advocacy, including appropriate advocacy 
for disabled children, when there have been issues of deprivation of liberty. 
Increasing numbers of advocates are working with children subject to child 
protection procedures, to ensure consideration of their views in conferences.  

 
23. Social workers carefully consider the diverse needs of the families that they 

work with. However, case recording is not fully reflective of the range of ways 
in which this takes place and the thoughtful work undertaken.  

  

Page 56



 

 

 15 

The experiences and progress of 
children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Good  

Children looked after in Merton receive a consistently good service. The needs of 
each individual child are known well. Children become looked after at the right 
time and without unnecessary delay. Appropriate support and edge-of-care 
services are used effectively as an alternative to care. Effective management 
oversight of pre-proceedings and assessment work adds rigour to decision-making 
and ensures safe oversight of the experiences for children on the threshold of 
being looked after. Assessments for children returning home are robust, and 
ongoing support is provided to the families.  

The majority of children looked after enjoy a stable relationship with their social 
workers. A small number of children have experienced changes of social worker 
early in their care journey, which has made it more difficult to form trusting 
relationships. Caseloads are maintained at a manageable level to enable social 
workers to have time to develop relationships with the children. The service to 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children is impressive. It is sensitive and swift and 
enables the children to settle quickly and to form friendships. 

Children’s participation is encouraged, their individual needs are known and their 
voice is evident. Children have access to advocates wherever they are placed, and 
participation in reviews continues to strengthen. A committed and active Children 
in Care Council (CiCC) influences service developments and provides consultation 
and feedback on issues relating to their experiences. 

The local authority is aware of the priorities within the children looked after 
population and continues to work to meet the challenges of placement stability 
and sufficiency for the significant proportion of older adolescents. Diversity is 
given careful consideration. Risks associated with going missing and sexual 
exploitation are known and effectively tracked on a multi-agency basis, and 
effective work is undertaken to ensure that children are kept safe. However, 
information gained through individual return home interviews is not always used 
effectively to inform future planning. 

Permanence options are considered early, ensuring that there is no delay in the 
formulation of long-term plans. The work in the adoption service is outstanding. 
Skilled and tenacious social work practice ensures good outcomes for children, and 
prospective adopters receive excellent preparation and training. No children are 
currently awaiting an adoptive placement. 

The vast majority of care leavers are supported well. They develop the skills that 
they need to live independently and to achieve their career and education goals. 
Not all care leavers have received a copy of their health history and only a very 
small number currently remain with their foster carers under a ‘staying put’ 
arrangement. 

Page 57



 

 

   
 

16 

 
Inspection findings 

24. The needs of children looked after are understood well by managers and staff. 
The local authority has been proactive and rigorous in identifying and 
understanding the needs of the looked after population, including the large 
group of children aged over 16. Thresholds to care have been tested through 
a time-limited edge of care panel and a comprehensive adolescent needs 
analysis. Thresholds are applied appropriately and children receive the service 
that they need to ensure that they are kept safe in a timely way. Clear 
management oversight and accountability ensure that thresholds are 
consistently applied. The head of service for children looked after agrees all 
new admissions, adding further rigour to the decision-making. 
 

25. Children are protected well through appropriate use of the court process when 
necessary. Use of the Public Law Outline is effectively monitored and 
supported by a court progression officer, who offers guidance and advice to 
social workers. Progress is monitored well via case progression meetings and 
a tracker system to ensure a timely response for children.  
 

26. Permanence in all forms has a high priority and is considered early for 
children. Regular permanency tracking meetings are chaired by the head of 
service for children looked after and attended by heads of service for 
safeguarding and resources, the court progression officer and the adoption 
team manager. This ensures that plans progress in a timely and considered 
manner. Separate consideration for children under five and over five provides 
further rigour to permanence planning. 
  

27. All types of placements, including with friends and relatives, are well 
supported. Assessments of connected persons are completed in a timely way. 
The number of children in special guardianship placements has increased in 
the last year, and there have been no breakdowns of extended family 
placements during this time. 

 
28. The judiciary and the Child and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 

(Cafcass) are extremely complimentary about the work of the local authority, 
considering it robust and timely. With proceedings completed within an 
average of 24 weeks, Merton is exceeding national guidelines and has 
improved in this area of practice considerably.  
 

29. When children return home to live with their families, a robust assessment 
and comprehensive support ensure a successful and enduring rehabilitation. 
Social workers remain involved and plans continue to be monitored. 
 

30. Children experience good and stable relationships with social workers, who 
are part of a dedicated looked after and permanence service. Greater stability 
of social workers and manageable caseloads provide stronger social work 

Page 58



 

 

 17 

relationships to children and a deeper understanding of their needs. For a 
small number of children, changes of social worker in the early part of their 
care journey affected the quality of relationships and the formulation of their 
plan. 
 

31. Care planning is effective for the vast majority of children, and the needs of 
each child are understood well. For a small minority of children, forward 
planning is not sufficiently clear and does not include measurable timescales. 
For a few children, the care plan does not reflect changes in the child’s 
circumstances. (Recommendation) 

 
32. An effective and well-used advocacy service assists children to participate in 

their reviews and provides support when they are making complaints. This 
service is also available to children who are placed out of borough, ensuring 
that no one is excluded. A successful independent visiting service supports 
children, and more volunteers are currently being trained and already 
matched to children. Due to the success of this service, in both numbers and 
the relationship offered, there are still children waiting to be matched with an 
independent visitor. Senior managers are aware of this and are considering 
how to ensure that children do not miss out on this valued support. 
 

33. An active CiCC influences and guides services for children looked after. The 
CiCC has been involved in the development of ‘The Pledge’ and invites other 
services and professionals to attend, including the lead member for children’s 
services and a representative from the housing department. The permanence 
team for children looked after is seeking ways to engage younger children in 
the CiCC, to ensure that the views of a wider age range are considered. 

 
34. Children benefit from regular review meetings that are well attended and 

inclusive. The local authority has piloted a new model of looked after reviews, 
aimed at facilitating greater involvement by the child in the review meetings. 
This is having a positive effect, with the most recent local authority data 
showing 99.5% of children participating in their reviews. Independent 
reviewing officers (IROs) report having access to court bundles and being 
included more in the planning process. IROs challenge practice when 
necessary, and disputes are resolved informally when possible. However, the 
recording of this is inconsistent and, as a consequence, the footprint and 
influence of the IROs are not evident on children’s files. 

 
35. Children’s views are taken into account when forward planning, and case 

records illustrate the work that is being completed with children and 
discussions regarding their future. Appropriate contact with birth families is 
supported, and children are assisted to understand their life histories at a time 
and pace that is suitable for them. Life story work is of a consistently high 
quality. A skilled and flexible in-house child and adolescent mental health 
service (CAMHS) team offers consultation and guidance to social workers and 
foster carers and direct work to children. The quality of this input is high, and 

Page 59



 

 

   
 

18 

there are clear, improved outcomes for children. This systemic service reflects 
the wider model of practice used in Merton and workers remain involved for 
as long as the need remains. 

 
36. The health of children looked after is effectively monitored and overseen. A 

dedicated health nurse for children looked after has been in post since 
November 2016 and ensures that the health needs of children looked after are 
recognised and met. This includes proactive follow up of documents to ensure 
that an initial health assessment can take place, and travelling to see children 
out of authority if necessary. Regular reporting to the corporate parenting 
board and the health strategy board, as well as providing a health presence in 
child sexual exploitation meetings and ‘missing’ meetings, results in a 
widespread awareness of the health needs of children looked after.  

 
37. Children and young people receive good support from the virtual school 

wherever they live. Staff maintain good oversight of the progress of children 
looked after. They know the circumstances of individual children and use this 
information very effectively to work with others, such as social workers, carers 
and schools, to plan the support that children need to make progress in their 
learning. The large majority of children looked after (96%) go to a school 
judged good or better by Ofsted. When they do not, staff carefully consider 
whether the setting is meeting the individual needs of children.  

 
38. A high proportion (74%) of children looked after have special educational 

and/or complex needs. Their attainment is often below age-related 
expectation. However, with the support of the virtual school and partners, the 
majority of children looked after make good progress in their education. After 
children leave school, nearly all successfully engage in further education, 
training or employment. 

 
39. Advisory teachers and the virtual school headteacher take the lead on the 

planning of the education of children looked after. As a result, children have 
good-quality, up-to-date and timely personal education plans that reflect their 
needs well. Their education targets are clear and they help carers and 
professionals to maintain good oversight of children’s progress. The pupil 
premium grant and additional funding from the virtual school are used well to 
support children’s academic progress and their personal development. 

  
40. The virtual school team closely monitors children looked after who are missing 

education and is an active partner in supporting their return to education. The 
team makes strenuous efforts to ensure that children and young people 
engage in learning. As a result, most children looked after attend school 
regularly and few experience exclusion from school. There have not been any 
permanent exclusions from school for the last seven years, and fixed-term 
exclusions are reducing, both in terms of the number of episodes and the 
number of children. 

 

Page 60



 

 

 19 

41. The majority of children in Merton benefit from secure and stable placements. 
Sufficient in-house fostering households, with appropriate commissioning 
arrangements, result in children living in well-matched placements. The 
number of 16- and 17-year-olds who enter local authority care is increasing 
and they now constitute 44% of the overall cohort. The local authority has 
responded to this challenge in proactively analysing the need and tailoring 
services as required. Despite the considerable effort and planning invested, it 
remains a challenge to locate placements for teenagers who have complex 
needs or who are at risk of sexual exploitation or exploitation by gangs. The 
local authority continues to actively plan and respond. The learning and 
development strategy is focusing on the skills needed to manage teenagers, 
to encourage current carers to consider extending their offer.  

 
42. Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children receive an impressive service. The 

local authority ensures that it exercises its responsibilities without delay and 
with considerable sensitivity. Regular, informal coffee shop group meetings 
offer friendship and help to develop confidence and to reduce isolation. 
Whenever possible, the children are placed in family placements. Good 
connections with a local college enable the children to access courses to 
develop their English language skills, and links with solicitors reduce the stress 
of legal uncertainty. 

 
43. Risks generally are understood, and social workers act quickly to protect 

children in their care. Children at risk of sexual exploitation are effectively 
monitored by the child sexual exploitation coordinator. In addition, there has 
been some good joint work between children’s social care and youth offending 
services, to address the risks associated with involvement with gangs. 
Children who are missing from care are known, and risks are actively 
monitored at weekly ‘missing’ meetings. The recording of return home 
interviews is not consistently good and, in a small number of cases, it could 
not be determined what information had been gathered to inform risk 
management and safety plans. (Recommendation) 

 
44. Family finding for permanent foster placements is tenacious, and children who 

are waiting for families benefit from the same determined approach as those 
seeking adoptive families. Approved foster carers safely meet the needs of a 
range of children, including those who have complex needs or disabilities and 
groups of brothers and sisters. Within a well-run fostering service, foster 
carers receive consistent support and regular announced and unannounced 
visits from supervising social workers, and they are able to access a range of 
appropriate and regularly available training. Allegations against foster carers 
are carefully and robustly investigated and result in de-registration if 
appropriate. 
 

45. Foster carers understand delegated authority, and children are encouraged to 
access activities that promote their social, educational and recreational needs. 
Annual reviews are comprehensive and up to date. 

Page 61



 

 

   
 

20 

 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it is outstanding 

 
46. The local authority gives high priority to identifying and quickly securing 

adoption for children when adoption is in their best interests. Strategic 
leaders, managers and social workers have an excellent knowledge about the 
children in their care, and they are passionate about achieving the very best 
outcomes.  
 

47. Timely and accurate early identification of children, when adoption is in their 
best interests, leads to appropriate and prompt family finding. Successful 
outcomes are driven through case progression, monthly tracking and 
permanence and care planning meetings. Managers maintain a stringent 
overview for each child and provide an early alert to the adoption social 
workers and wider consortium about the children’s profiles. Consortium 
meetings facilitate further exchange and discussion about prospective 
matches. Children benefit from early identification of potential matches with 
approved adopters, including before the granting of the placement order, and 
move swiftly to live with their new families following the court decision.  

 
48. The experienced senior practitioners in the adoption team are highly skilled 

and know their children and adopters well. Family finding is creative and 
tenacious and is supported effectively by a skilled publicity officer who 
provides professional profiling and marketing. Children’s drawings form the 
backdrop to their profiles, which are highly personal and regularly refreshed 
and updated. An extensive range of local and national family finding methods 
are used and this results in an equally positive outcome for very young babies 
through to older children who have complex needs. The success of the service 
has resulted in there being no children currently awaiting an adoptive match, 
and all children who require adoption are placed. 

 
49. The assessment, preparation, training and support of adopters are exceptional 

and are consistently of the highest standard, being insightful, highly effective 
and responsive. Prospective adopters benefit from hearing powerful histories 
from birth parents, adopters and adopted adults at introduction and 
preparation sessions. Feedback from adopters to inspectors reflected the 
impact of the high-quality preparation, including the increased empathy for 
birth parents and a balanced expectation of parenting as adopters.  

 
50. The quality of prospective adopter reports is impressive. Child permanence 

reports are comprehensive and analytical and lead to a logical 
recommendation for adoption. Social workers comprehensively explore a wide 
range of potential issues with sensitivity and insight. All assessments seen by 
inspectors bring out the unique needs of children and the individual skill of 
adoptive parents, and some are of an outstanding quality. Recruitment is 
effective and has led to a significant increase in the number of approved 

Page 62



 

 

 21 

adopters in the last year (from three to 12), which means that there is an 
increased pool of suitable families waiting to provide children with a 
permanent home. A well-embedded foster for adoption scheme ensures that 
social workers discuss this option with all prospective adopters. A specially 
tailored workshop is then offered to interested adopters to help to prepare 
them further.  

 
51. Social workers are determined in their efforts to find families for brothers and 

sisters, children from a range of cultural and religious backgrounds and 
children who have complex needs. This persistence has achieved successful 
adoptions for brother and sister groups, for children who have special needs 
and for older children. All of the 11 children adopted last year moved into 
their adoptive families in 10 months or under. This is a significant 
improvement on the previous year. For a very small number of children who 
have had a change of plan away from adoption, this is well informed and the 
alternative permanent placement has been secured. Inspectors have seen 
positive progress for all children, and there are no children currently waiting 
for a family.  

 
52. Performance against the adoption scorecard demonstrates that the local 

authority is performing well and has made further significant progress in the 
past year. The consistently improving trajectory of Merton’s performance is 
evidence of the effectiveness of the authority’s sharp focus on timeliness. This 
is strong practice, confirmed by feedback from the judiciary and Cafcass. 

 
53. Adopters spoke consistently of the excellent quality and timeliness of 

matching and placement. Success with foster for adoption placements and the 
fast-track process for second-time adopters contribute to this achievement. 
Excellent foster for adoption arrangements have resulted in the successful 
early placement of three babies in foster for adoption families, directly from 
hospital. Children benefit from particularly resourceful and, where appropriate, 
culturally sensitive pre- and post-birth work to safeguard mothers and their 
unborn babies and to ensure a nurturing environment after they are born. 
Support for birth parents is outstanding in helping them to make difficult 
decisions and to remain involved through indirect contact and by providing a 
wealth of information for life story work.  

 
54. A gradual phased introduction to their new family prepares children well for 

adoption and proceeds at the child’s pace. Social workers are creative in 
supporting and directing the process, using photographs and other resources 
to help children to make the transition calmly and positively. The timeframe 
for the transition is led by the child. Foster for adoption introductions are 
supported sensitively to take place between birth parents and adopters.  
 

55. The independent panel chair and the agency decision maker (ADM) regularly 
discuss children’s plans, and inspectors saw evidence of appropriate strong 
challenge. Together, they achieve the highest standards in the planning for 

Page 63



 

 

   
 

22 

children. The highly effective cycle of quality assurance is having a noticeable 
impact, and panel and ADM decisions are very well considered and thorough. 
Adoptive parents benefit from meeting with the medical adviser at panel, 
which gives them the opportunity to discuss the potential health needs of 
children so that they are well informed. 

 
56. Adoption support is excellent and highly creative. It ensures that adopted 

children form strong attachments to their families, and potential issues are 
identified and addressed at the earliest stage. There is a range of provision 
coordinated by a dedicated social worker post. Annual fun days for adopted 
children, theraplay and individual parenting sessions are available. The 
consortium provides a range of established post-adoption support groups for 
birth parents and adopted adults. There is effective and creative use of 
adoption support funding (ASF) and this is having a positive impact for 
children and families. Families are aware of how to access the provision, and 
all families who have requested support are receiving it. ASF is helping 
children and families to access therapeutic work and dyadic developmental 
psychotherapy. Adoption support is extended to all children in the household 
when required. 

 
57. Later life letters are sensitive, non-judgemental and written so that children 

can understand how and why they were adopted. Letters are child-focused, 
compassionate and insightful, with a respectful understanding of the 
experience of the birth parents. Letterbox arrangements are robust. 
Compelling life story work helps children to understand and make sense of 
their past and the reasons that they are unable to live with their birth families. 
Excellent work is undertaken to enable children to understand identity, 
including cultural identity. The virtual school recognises the unique education 
needs of adopted children and provides additional support for children placed 
for adoption.   

 

The graded judgement about the experience and progress of care leavers 
is that it is good  

 
58. The majority of young people who leave care receive good support that builds 

their skills and confidence well as they move towards independence. Social 
workers and personal advisers in the dedicated 14-plus team are in touch with 
96% of their care leavers and form trusting and productive relationships with 
them through regular face-to-face contact. Young people described their 
workers as approachable and supportive. 

 
59. If young people disengage, staff make concerted efforts to establish contact 

through unannounced visits to their homes, via letter, text and email, through 
known family and friends and through the job centre, if appropriate. In the 
best instances, this results in young people re-engaging with the support 
services on offer.  

Page 64



 

 

 23 

 
60. Social workers and personal advisers know and understand young people’s 

individual circumstances and needs well. They manage known risks to young 
people, including sexual exploitation, well. They develop effective plans with 
partners, such as the police, which are responsive to young people’s changing 
needs, and over time young people stabilise their lives and make good 
progress. In a small minority of cases, managers do not intervene quickly 
enough to help staff to consider alternative plans, when young people are not 
moving forward with their lives. 

 
61. Planning is effective for the large majority of young people who have an up-

to-date pathway plan that covers well all aspects of their lives. Plans are 
detailed, and young people are effectively involved in developing their own 
plans. A minority of pathway plans are insufficiently detailed, and there is not 
enough emphasis on the support that the young person will receive to achieve 
their goals. The pathway plans of a small minority of young people are out of 
date, and planning to meet the young people’s current needs is insufficient, 
although inspectors did not see any detriment to young people as a result of 
this. (Recommendation) 

 
62. The virtual school, social workers and personal advisers effectively support 

young people to navigate the education, employment and training (EET) 
options available to them. As a result, a good proportion of care leavers are in 
EET. Within this overall positive picture, senior managers and staff recognise 
that staff do not sufficiently promote apprenticeships to young people. 
Managers are developing strategies to ensure that apprenticeships are more 
widely available to vulnerable young people.  
 

63. Young people seeking to study at university receive particularly good 
assistance prior to applying for a university place, and they receive practical 
help with their applications and personal statements. This results in a high 
number of young people studying at university. The local authority is flexible 
and creative in extending support. While studying, young people receive good 
financial support and additional funding, for example, to purchase essential 
books and for travel to see relatives.  
 

64. The large majority of care leavers live in suitable accommodation. All young 
people who spoke to inspectors feel that they are safe where they live. With 
good support from carers, the 14-plus team and housing providers, many 
young people make a successful transition from care to living independently.  

 
65. There is a good range of accommodation options for young people. Most care 

leavers live in semi-independent accommodation with support available that is 
appropriate for their particular needs. Bed and breakfast accommodation is 
never used; young people who need emergency accommodation are usually 
housed within the existing housing provider network. However, the use of 
‘staying put’ arrangements is underdeveloped. Managers are aware of this and 

Page 65



 

 

   
 

24 

are developing plans to improve the opportunities for young people to remain 
with their foster carers beyond the age of 18. (Recommendation)  

 
66. Young people receive good support in developing the skills and knowledge 

that they need to live independently and to manage their own affairs. Prior to 
securing their own tenancies, they attend useful workshops on managing their 
money, budgeting to run a household and home maintenance. With ongoing 
help from social workers and personal advisers, young people manage their 
tenancies successfully. There have been no tenancy breakdowns in the last 
two years for young people moving into their first homes. 

 
67. Care leavers who arrive as unaccompanied asylum-seeking children receive 

very good support from the 14-plus team. Young people value highly the 
support and help that they receive from their foster carers and social workers. 
Young people settle quickly in foster care, attend school or college and 
develop well in their spoken English. Their health needs are assessed and met 
promptly. A monthly drop-in provides excellent opportunities for these young 
people to develop friendships with their peers, receive informal support and 
gain new experiences, such as taking part in outdoor activities and restaurant 
visits. Many make excellent progress in their studies and are highly ambitious 
for their future.  

 
68. Most young people are aware of their rights and entitlements, such as the 

support that they will receive while at college or university and the financial 
help that they are entitled to when they set up their first homes. The 
advocacy service has recently been extended to include care leavers to 
support this further. 

 
69. Staff effectively help young people to manage their own health needs 

independently. On turning 18 years old, young people receive a useful leaflet 
on important health services and contacts. Most young people register with 
their local doctors and dentists. Although this year all young people who have 
turned 18 years old have received a copy of their health history, this is not the 
case for all those young people currently open to the leaving care team. 
(Recommendation) 

 
70. Care leavers who are more vulnerable, such as those in custody, are equally 

well supported by staff, who are sometimes the only regular visitors while 
they serve their sentences. Most young people have appropriate 
accommodation available to them on their release from custody. Staff are 
proactive in trying to secure EET options for young people at the time that 
they leave custody and, in most cases, work well with other partners, such as 
the virtual school, to ensure that young people have every opportunity to 
succeed.  

Page 66



 

 

 25 

Leadership, management and 
governance 

Outstanding 

Senior managers and politicians model a constructive, enquiring and engaging 
style of leadership and management. It comprises a blend of compassion and 
concern for the most vulnerable children and families, and conspicuous care and 
support for frontline workers. A highly visible thread of meaningful children’s 
participation and influence is apparent. These elements are balanced with high 
expectations for skilled, evidence-based social work that improves the 
circumstances for children. 

This leadership and management landscape creates a lively, challenging and 
rewarding environment for social workers. Strong frontline managers, carefully 
managed workloads and an evidence-informed approach create time for social 
workers to practise creative and effective direct work with children. This leads to 
well-crafted assessments and interventions, which are concentrated on 
understanding and improving the experiences of children. 

High-quality data and performance information are used well at all strategic and 
operational groups and across all management layers. The performance and 
quality assurance frameworks are closely interwoven and provide a wide range of 
useful information. This leads to services, teams or individual workers that require 
attention being quickly identified. Equally, senior managers identify and celebrate 
many examples of good social work, offering practitioners ample exposure to 
effective social work practice. Leaders and managers are ambitious and driven to 
continually develop the services that vulnerable children receive. They strive to 
improve even when evidence indicates that they are already performing well. 

Departmental and inter-agency senior management communication is regular and 
purposeful, ensuring that children’s issues are prominent in the Health and Well-
being Board and the Safer and Stronger Partnership Board. Relationships and lines 
of accountability between the Children’s Trust Board and MSCB are strong and 
clear. Strategic partnership and governance arrangements across the spectrum of 
boards provide a cooperative climate for high-level conversations. This is 
subsequently reflected in improved or new approaches to operational 
arrangements, including, for example, young people exposed to extremist 
influences, gangs and sexual exploitation. 

Creative recruitment and detailed and continuous promotion of social workers’ 
professional development at all levels of experience ensure a skilled workforce. 
The impact of staff turnover is mitigated appropriately by strong operational 
management oversight.  

 
 
 
 

Page 67



 

 

   
 

26 

71. The DCS is highly skilled, dedicated and experienced. As the longest serving 
DCS in London, she provides a sustained and energetic commitment to 
continually improving outcomes for the most vulnerable children. The quality 
of all services is good or better, building further on the ‘good’ judgements at 
the last Ofsted inspection in 2012. The leadership style emphasises the core 
values of compassion, humility, social justice and inclusion. These sit 
alongside a requirement for the highest standards of frontline practice with 
children and families, and poor practice is actively addressed. This approach is 
apparent in the DCS’s leadership of the Children’s Trust, which maintains an 
authoritative and informed overview of performance.  

 
72. Strong and impressive early help services, improved educational attainment 

and high-quality targeted and specialist services are prioritised in equal 
measure by leaders and senior managers. These include a prominent focus on 
disabled children and children who have special educational needs. The DCS 
maintains a variety of formal and informal routes for regularly meeting 
frontline staff, foster parents and children, including those who are looked 
after and unaccompanied asylum seekers. This provides the DCS with a 
comprehensive and well-informed range of insights into the effectiveness of 
frontline practice.  

 
73. An influential corporate parenting board, chaired by the longstanding and 

experienced chief executive, illustrates the importance given at the highest 
level of the local authority to effective cross-council responses to the needs of 
children looked after. It enables the chief executive to understand directly the 
performance of frontline services. Successful collaborative working yields 
results for children. As an example, the formation of an integrated 
commissioning hub assisted in opening negotiations with local social housing 
providers. This resulted in the provision of additional priority accommodation 
for young people leaving care and led to the housing department becoming 
standing members of the board. The board’s priorities are carefully considered 
and take into account the joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA), 
performance information and the views of the CiCC.  

 
74. Strong partnership, shared accountability and challenge are clearly evident in 

Merton. The chief executive, the lead member for children’s services and the 
DCS all have active chair or membership roles in the Safer Merton Partnership 
Board, the Violence against Women and Girls Group, the Health and Well-
being Board and the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. This has resulted, for example, in the chair of the Health and Well-
being Board and the lead member meeting before each board to plan the 
inclusion of children’s priorities in the agenda. Any impact on children’s health 
outcomes is considered in all local authority priorities. Additionally, progress 
has been made in targeted objectives, such as improving the take-up of 
immunisations and the joint commissioning of community health services for 
the under-fives, with the clinical commissioning group. The capacity and 
availability of CAMHS practitioners in social work teams have increased, 

Page 68



 

 

 27 

including the provision of more direct support and consultation for children 
looked after.  

 
75. The DCS chairs the Youth Crime Executive Board. This cross-representation 

means that domestic abuse services for families, including MARACs and the 
independent domestic violence advisers, are closely aligned with adult 
services. Well-devised strategic and operational relationships with the police 
enable rigorous responses to child sexual exploitation, gangs, missing children 
and other adolescent vulnerabilities. Similarly, frequent meetings with the 
chair of the MSCB result in well-aligned single- and multi-agency training 
programmes and auditing schedules. The assistant director social care and 
youth inclusion chairs the MSCB’s quality subgroup, demonstrating an intent 
to expand relevant parts of the practice model across partner agencies, and to 
have oversight of the quality of multi-agency practice. 

 
76. Interventions with children and young people vulnerable to extremist 

influences are well planned and effective. Arrangements for multi-agency 
governance, awareness raising, operational oversight and partnership work 
with the local police and counter-terrorist police are all well designed, 
including regular work with local schools. A partnership board coordinates 
intelligence carefully and oversees a wide spectrum of community cohesion 
work, embracing local mosques and churches through a ‘safe faith’ approach. 
Local MSCB guidance for partner agencies is clear and helpful. A Channel 
panel meets monthly to plan and review interventions with a small number of 
children where concerns are greater.  

 
77. Children exposed to risks of sexual exploitation receive protective and well-

developed strategic and multi-agency responses. Multi-agency governance 
arrangements are tightly coordinated and led by the MSCB. A multi-agency 
sexual exploitation panel closely tracks the impact of risk reduction work 
provided by a range of locally commissioned services. Joint work with the 
police is highly integrated, and targeted strategy meetings are attended by all 
involved agencies, chaired by an experienced and knowledgeable specialist 
child sexual abuse coordinator. The coordinator routinely checks the quality of 
responses to contacts and referrals into the MASH, and is further developing 
the use of screening and assessment tools through ongoing consultations with 
social workers. Multiple risks to missing children are also well understood and 
evaluated through pan-agency weekly meetings. However, the individual 
response for each child through completion of return home interviews is 
inconsistent. This is being carefully monitored and addressed by senior 
managers.  
 

78. High-quality performance information is closely scrutinised at all management 
levels and at the children’s and young people’s overview and scrutiny 
committee, through weekly, monthly, bi-monthly and quarterly datasets. The 
chief executive and DCS discuss performance information at their regular 
meetings. Accessible dashboards provide snapshots of all local and national 

Page 69



 

 

   
 

28 

indicators across the spectrum of services, and useful hyperlinks allow closer 
examination of particular teams and individual practitioners. This enables early 
attention to emerging difficulties.  
 

79. Performance management and reporting are firmly established with a stable 
team manager group. Remedial actions result in notable improvements, 
including, for example, additional investment to increase social worker 
capacity in the first response teams. This resulted in an improvement in both 
the quality and timeliness of assessments. Following manager attention, 
participation rates in EET for young people leaving care climbed above 
national levels.  

 
80. Performance and quality assurance frameworks are closely aligned and 

mutually reinforcing. Auditing is well targeted, based on sound performance 
intelligence, resulting in practice learning and improvement. When 
performance trends require greater exploration, periodic deeper dives are 
undertaken. An adolescent needs analysis is a recent example of a detailed 
and probing analysis of factors underlying placement instability, triggered by a 
surge in the numbers of older young people becoming looked after. A care 
leavers’ service improvement board, chaired by an assistant director, has led 
to important service improvements. The assistant director children’s social 
care meets regularly with the team manager group to discuss and highlight 
learning points arising from audits and quality assurance activities, further 
demonstrating a deeply ingrained learning and development culture.  

 
81. New elements of the practice model are being introduced and piloted, 

including regular practice observations and a live auditing model to promote 
coaching for social workers facing difficult, complex issues in their casework. 
The DCS, assistant director social care and youth inclusion and all managers 
maintain a high level of interest, curiosity and knowledge about children’s 
cases. Social workers highly value these appreciative inquiries and interest in 
their work. Regular, high-quality supervision and management oversight are 
evident across all services. They are largely evaluative, analytical and well 
recorded, providing helpful direction for practitioners.  

 
82. Developments in children’s needs are understood by increasingly bespoke 

JSNA reports that are regularly updated. Incisive analyses have been 
undertaken, for example, of child sexual exploitation and children living in 
families exposed to the higher risks associated with the ‘trigger trio’ of 
parenting vulnerabilities: domestic abuse, mental ill health and substance 
misuse. Joint and single commissioning of universal and targeted services is 
concentrated on the most deprived parts of the borough, where outcomes for 
many children are known to be poorer. Young people are both involved and 
highly influential as ‘young inspectors’ throughout commissioning 
programmes. Their participation in the design and development of a 
forthcoming community hub has been extensive. Commissioned services, and 

Page 70



 

 

 29 

those provided directly by the local authority, such as parenting programmes, 
are subject to rigorous and regular contract monitoring.  
 

83. Both the judiciary and Cafcass report a consistently high standard of evidence 
preparation by social workers in care proceedings, which are completed within 
the required 26-week timescale. Communication with the local authority is 
positive and constructive, enabling any issues to be quickly addressed. 

 
84. Merton’s social work practice model is at the centre of the continuous 

development of effective and evidence-based social work with children and 
families. The model is based on systemic theories and appreciative, critical 
enquiries to assess the strengths, needs and risks in families. It is led by the 
assistant director for children’s social care, who chairs a social work board and 
a practice development group. The model features a number of evidence-
based practice tools and direct work methods, such as motivational 
interviewing with older children. Social workers and managers are provided 
with phased and continuous training in the model through a close and well-
established partnership with a local university. Social workers’ ongoing 
professional development is promoted at all stages of their experience. Well-
defined career progression pathways encourage committed and talented social 
workers to progress and flourish. The continuing development of the practice 
model is supported by additional funding and a well-formulated project plan, 
illustrating a demonstrable corporate and departmental commitment to high-
quality social work with children and families.  

 
85. A restless ambition to continuously develop better practice is discernible, led 

by the assistant director for children’s social care who is a committed, 
motivational and skilled social work leader. The learning and development 
programme is centred on the model, providing many openings for social 
workers to learn new approaches, for example in direct work with 
adolescents. Senior managers are outward facing and regularly invite external 
peer reviews of their services. They are actively engaged with, or lead, 
regional groups and initiatives and are eager to learn about social work 
practice in other local authorities. This is exemplified in the leadership of the 
introduction of a Family Drug and Alcohol Court, and the active participation in 
an evolving social impact bond edge-of-care service, which will include multi-
systemic and functional family therapies. 

 
86. Annual turnover of social workers is approximately 25%. This turnover occurs 

despite a supportive and dynamic professional environment for social workers, 
positively reported on in their annual survey. Recruitment and retention, a 
constant senior manager preoccupation, are of critical importance, featuring 
constructive joint work with human resources. Recruitment initiatives are 
widespread and continuous. Additional annual funding of £1 million each year 
over the last three years, through corporate growth and contingency use as 
well as recycling money within the children’s services department, has 
increased frontline social worker posts by 33% and enabled manageable 

Page 71



 

 

   
 

30 

caseloads and smaller teams with tighter management oversight. Students 
and newly qualified social workers are provided with high-quality support and 
training. The ‘Frontline’ programme is well established and ‘Step Up to Social 
Work’ is being developed. Market supplements and retention incentives are 
used to attract experienced social workers and to retain them in service areas 
where turnover is typically greater. Senior managers resist recruiting too many 
newly qualified social workers, as they are aware that this will add to the 
responsibilities and pressures on their existing experienced frontline workers. 
Senior managers remain resolute in their commitment to recruit able and 
committed social workers, who will continue to provide high-quality services to 
the most vulnerable children and families.  

  

Page 72



 

 

 31 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board is outstanding  

 

Executive summary 

Merton’s Local Safeguarding Children Board (MSCB) is outstanding. It is highly 
effective in holding agencies to account for their individual safeguarding 
arrangements in the welfare and protection of children. The strength and maturity 
of the board are reflected in the established strategic arrangements and the high 
level of engagement across the partnership and with other strategic boards. The 
board benefits from decisive strategic leadership by the independent chair and a 
highly competent business manager. The board is well attended by capable senior 
strategic leaders who can influence safeguarding in their individual agencies. The 
contribution and participation of the voluntary sector and lay members greatly 
enhance the effectiveness of the board’s work within the wider community. There 
is effective communication between the chief executive, DCS, lead member and 
chair of the MSCB, and accountability for the work of the board is strong.  

The board’s strategic priorities are relevant and informed by detailed analysis of 
local need to target the most vulnerable children, including children at risk of 
sexual exploitation and extremism and children missing from home or care. There 
is a sustained commitment to and focus on the delivery of the board’s 
safeguarding priorities, including families in which adult mental health, neglect, 
alcohol, drugs and domestic violence feature in children’s lives. The safeguarding 
needs of children pervade the board’s work and business and subgroup plans. 

The systems and processes underpinning the work of the board result in the 
availability of detailed multi-agency performance information of frontline practice, 
including around the application of thresholds for intervention (known locally as 
Merton’s Well-Being Model) and compliance with the pan-London child protection 
procedures. The board promotes a culture of continuous development. Learning 
from SCRs and learning improvement reviews (LiRs) is used to improve 
safeguarding practice and in the development of multi-agency policies. The routine 
and innovative use of single- and multi-agency case file audit means that the 
board can assure itself of the quality and impact of frontline social work practice 
and take decisive action to drive improvement. The collaboration of partners at 
both strategic and operational level allows for alerts and trends to be identified and 
acted on swiftly.  

There is a comprehensive suite of training available and attendance is good. The 
impact of training is actively monitored to ensure that it remains relevant and 
impacts on raising awareness and changing behaviours in the protection of 
children. The contribution and participation of children and young people are 
actively promoted and used well in the design and delivery of training and the 
development of priorities. There are no recommendations for the MSCB.  

Page 73



 

 

   
 

32 

 
87. The MSCB is highly effective. There are strong governance arrangements 

underpinned by established partnerships with other strategic boards, including 
the Health and Well-being Board, the Corporate Parenting Board, the 
Children’s Trust and the Safer and Stronger Partnership. Strategic leaders, 
elected members and partners work collaboratively and focus relentlessly on 
what matters to children in keeping them safe and promoting their welfare. 
There is strong engagement between the chief executive, DCS and lead 
member; roles and responsibilities are clear and accountability is strong. 
Suitable measures are in place to strengthen the partnership further with the 
Adult Safeguarding Board. 

 
88. The independent chair provides decisive strategic leadership and challenge to 

partners. The chair has been central and extremely influential in driving 
forward the board’s priorities and is highly respected by partners. The 
maturity of partners’ relationships is reflected in the mutual trust and respect 
shown to each other. This is reflected in the sustained focus on ensuring that 
children’s welfare and protection are at the heart of their work. Members 
expect, receive and are open to challenge, as the board seeks assurance on 
individual agency safeguarding responsibilities. Partners’ contribution to the 
work of the board is valued and acted on. This supports collaborative and 
effective working relationships.  

 
89. The business manager is highly experienced and competent and actively 

monitors the risk and challenge log and drives the business plan forward. His 
detailed knowledge and experience of MSCB priorities and subgroup work 
plans is impressive. The work of the board also benefits from excellent 
business administrators. This supports detailed scrutiny in the monitoring and 
reviewing of the progress of plans. The establishment of the business 
improvement group two years ago has enabled additional rigorous scrutiny of 
the board’s priorities and supports partners in challenging each other in 
delivering against their individual agency’s safeguarding responsibilities, on 
time and to the highest standard. 

  
90. The experience and expertise of board members are used exceptionally well in 

partners discharging their safeguarding responsibilities and in holding each 
other to account. This is a notable strength, which permeates the work of the 
board and subgroups, the impact of which is demonstrated through the 
maturity of the partnership in collaboratively working to deliver single and 
joint priorities. There is a shared vision to safeguard all Merton children and a 
sustained and unyielding commitment in driving forward MSCB priorities: 
Think Family, vulnerable adolescents and early help. The board’s priorities are 
the result of rigorous analysis of local need and reflect learning from SCRs, 
LiRs and national issues. The subgroup plans are closely aligned to the board’s 
priorities and crosscutting themes around vulnerable children, including 
disabled children and children at risk of sexual exploitation. The joint focus on 
families in which neglect features in children’s lives is well managed. 

Page 74



 

 

 33 

 
91. The culture of openness across the partnership is established and embedded. 

This, coupled with effective systems and processes, makes for a powerful 
force in the board holding partners to account and in understanding the 
effectiveness and impact of the quality of services in safeguarding children. 
There is a strong engagement across the partnership, including with schools, 
the voluntary sector, faith and wider community groups on safeguarding 
issues. Members are drawn from a wide range of partners who hold strategic 
safeguarding roles in their agency, and are experienced and influential in their 
organisations. All partners make a proportionate financial contribution to 
MSCB. 

 
92. Members, including lay members, actively drive the business planning 

priorities. Members receive appropriate induction training and are clear about 
their collective and individual responsibilities. The impact of joint work on 
increasing awareness and supporting change is well evidenced. The business 
manager is effective and determined in driving and supporting change within 
the community to promote and safeguard children.  

 
93. The understanding and application of thresholds by partners are reviewed 

regularly to ensure that they remain fit for purpose. The influence of the 
MSCB in evaluating and scrutinising the application of thresholds across 
frontline practice, including early help, is far reaching and innovative. The 
routine and detailed audit of frontline practice, including single- and multi-
agency case file audit, focuses on the evaluation of the quality of children’s 
lived experience and progress and is exemplary.  

 
94. The wide range of audit activity includes a recent comprehensive audit of 

private fostering and was undertaken to ensure that practice met required 
regulatory standards. A recent sexual abuse threshold audit report in October 
2016, undertaken by the MSCB quality assurance group and involving the 
police, children’s social care and early years services, effectively reviewed the 
quality of decision-making. A themed multi-agency audit of child sexual 
exploitation over a number of years helped the board to determine whether 
changes in safeguarding practice were sustained. This is an effective approach 
to evaluating practice and determining the long-term impact of joint work with 
this vulnerable group. The quality assurance subgroup effectively conducted 
an audit of the quality of decision-making and practice with regards to 
children when disability is a feature of their lives. The learning from these 
audits informs business planning and wider training needs, including joint 
training.  

 
95. There is an exceptionally effective section 11 process. The incisive analysis 

through the annual peer challenge and review meeting process ensures 
appropriate and respectful challenge of partners’ compliance with 
safeguarding standards and seeks assurance of impact on practice. All senior 
agency representatives attend these annual challenge sessions. Partners 

Page 75



 

 

   
 

34 

spoken to by inspectors said that they found the process to be rigorous but 
supportive.  
 

96. The terms of reference for the child death overview panel (CDOP) and all 
subgroups are clear and link well to the board’s priorities. The recently 
established Merton CDOP, which had been a joint panel with a neighbouring 
authority, fulfils its statutory responsibilities. The rapid response team 
convenes within timescales. Membership of the board is at appropriate senior 
and strategic level. The panel sensitively and appropriately supports the 
engagement of families. The panel uses learning events well to drive 
improvement. For example, a presentation to health professionals covering a 
five-year review of the work of CDOP was received well. Information on 
trends in cases of child deaths, both locally and nationally, is distributed 
through articles and has included features on alcohol poisoning, child mental 
health issues and internet safety.  

 
97. The MSCB Annual Report 2015–16 gives a clear commentary and assessment 

of the performance and effectiveness of services across the partnership. The 
report outlines progress in the reporting period and future challenges for the 
board linked to the Wood Review. Since the last inspection, the board has 
reconstituted itself, placing greater emphasis on quality assurance. It has 
sharpened its focus on prioritising work at a time of reducing resources to 
ensure maximum impact on the welfare and protection of children across the 
partnership. The report provides an overview of each of the subgroups against 
the work plans, including the CDOP, and in particular focuses on the SCR in 
respect of Child B published this year and the LiR for Child C. The report 
reflects clear links with other strategic boards, and current priorities for 2016–
18 are made clear. The annual report is received by the leader, the chief 
executive, the Children’s Trust and the Health and Well-being Board, enabling 
effective challenge on key areas of improvement.  

 
98. The MSCB has an established learning and improvement framework with 

statutory partners. The board has recently endorsed a revised learning and 
development strategy and has aligned learning needs to the board’s priorities. 
This ensures that safeguarding training, including multi-agency training across 
the workforce, is targeted at the appropriate level. The opportunity for 
learning through SCRs and LiRs is robust and clearly aligned to the board’s 
strategic priorities, subgroup work plans and frontline practice.  

 
99. There are detailed action plans following the recent SCR and LiR, which 

appropriately link to recommendations. Progress is closely monitored through 
the quality assurance subgroup and the business improvement group. The 
importance of joint working in protecting children and young people where 
mental health and neglect feature are key priorities of the board. There is 
increasing joint development work with the adult mental health trust, and a 
‘Think Family’ coordinator has recently been appointed to strengthen strategic 
and operational integration across children’s and adults’ services. The impact 

Page 76



 

 

 35 

of neglect, which featured in the learning review of Child C, is underpinned by 
the MSCB multi-agency neglect strategy and implementation and action plan 
to ensure that neglect is recognised and that children’s voices are heard and 
acted on.  

 
100. The local authority uses learning from reviews to effect change. For example, 

the learning from an SCR in 2014, underpinned by joint research with 
education colleagues, has been effectively used to drive improvement by 
promoting a lower tolerance of chronic school absence. This has helped to 
identify vulnerable children, including children at risk of sexual exploitation 
and those missing from education or care. This effective joint approach is now 
established and embedded in practice. This demonstrates the direct link 
between learning and improving practice. It also reflects the commitment of 
the board to driving improvement. Social workers and other professionals who 
spoke to inspectors understand well the findings of reviews and learning from 
training. 

 
101. The comprehensive range of high-quality, up-to-date policies and procedures 

are exemplary. These are regularly reviewed by the board and the business 
improvement group to ensure compliance and to ensure that policies are 
relevant. The board promotes a strong and transparent learning culture, 
setting high standards and drawing effectively on independent research. The 
promote and protect young people subgroup (PPYP) provides strategic and 
effective oversight of multi-agency policies, protocols and procedures 
regarding children at risk, including risk from sexual exploitation, radicalisation 
and extremism.  

 
102. The board has access to a comprehensive suite of multi-agency performance 

information, which is monitored and regularly and actively scrutinised. Joint 
performance information is detailed and clearly aligned with audit activity and 
supported by commentary on progress. The good attendance of partners at 
MSCB and subgroup meetings supports effective analysis and challenge.  

 
103. Listening to children’s views permeates the board’s work in ensuring their 

welfare and protection. The most recent joint annual conference for 
practitioners and managers, which focused on the complexities of domestic 
abuse, involved young people. The conference content underpinned the 
strategic approach to engage partners and professionals, and to raise 
awareness and understanding.  

 
104. The voice of children and young people is actively encouraged, including 

through their attendance at MSCB meetings. One example is a research 
project on young people’s views on safeguarding that was commissioned in 
partnership with the board and London South Bank University. The project 
took into account the views of 148 young people in secondary schools, 
including children subject to child protection plans. A training day was held in 
May 2017 to consider lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender issues, and those 

Page 77



 

 

   
 

36 

questioning their sexuality or gender, and young people ran part of the 
programme. The event focused on mental health, transgender identity and 
hate crime. A shorter version of the event was recently presented to the board 
by young people from a local school.  

 
105. There is close alignment between the training programme and strategic 

priorities, ensuring the effective targeting of programmes to drive 
improvement in safeguarding practice. Future training needs are identified 
through the extensive single and joint audit programmes and findings from 
SCRs, LiRs and national and local issues. Attendance is very good, and 
feedback at the point of delivery and three months later is sought to evaluate 
impact on practice and to inform future training needs.  

 
106. The board is actively engaged with the ‘Prevent’ duty on radicalisation, which 

includes a wide range of partners, including the police, schools and early 
years settings, and faith, voluntary groups and the wider communities. MSCB 
guidance on safeguarding children and young people from the harmful 
messages of violent extremism and terrorism has been reviewed to ensure its 
current relevance. The guidance is clear and informs partners of their 
safeguarding responsibilities. It incorporates helpful lists for recognising risk 
and links to referral pathways for the MASH and the Channel programme, 
which focuses on providing support at an early stage to people who are 
identified as being vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. The board has 
also consulted with a range of community groups, especially with regard to its 
strategy on female genital mutilation, which is reviewed appropriately through 
the policy subgroup.  

 

 
 
  

Page 78



 

 

 37 

Information about this inspection 

Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This includes children and young 
people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and starting 
their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference that adults make to the 
lives of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition, the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people whom it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board under its power to combine reports 
in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The inspection team consisted of six of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) from Ofsted 
and one Ofsted inspector. 

The inspection team 

Lead inspector: Louise Hocking 

Deputy lead inspector: Nick Stacey 

Team inspectors: Tara Geere, Matthew Reed, Kate Malleson, Jon Bowman, Mary 
Candlin 

Senior data analysts: Neil Powling, Stewart Hartshorne 

Quality assurance manager: Carolyn Adcock 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 79



 

 

   
 

38 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance, ‘Raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted’, which is available from Ofsted’s 

website: www.ofsted.gov.uk. If you would like Ofsted to send you a copy of the guidance, please 
telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 

achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 
all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the Children and 

Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, 
workbased learning and skills training, adult and community learning, and education and training in 

prisons and other secure establishments. It inspects services for children looked after and child 

protection. 
 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 
telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

You may copy all or parts of this document for non-commercial educational purposes, as long as you 
give details of the source and date of publication and do not alter the information in any way. 

 
To receive regular email alerts about new publications please visit our website and go to ‘Subscribe’. 

 
Piccadilly Gate 

Store St 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T: 0300 123 4234 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

W: www.ofsted.gov.uk 
© Crown copyright 2017 

Page 80

http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk


Committee: Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017
Wards: All

Subject:  Motor Neurone Disease (MND) 
Lead officer: Dr Dagmar Zeuner, Director of Public Health.
Lead member: Councillor Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health
Contact officer: Amy Potter, Consultant in Public Health / Clarissa Larsen, Health and 
Wellbeing Partnerships Manager

Recommendations: 
A. The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to commend the MND Charter for its 

work and the goals of the Charter.
B. To welcome progress on the actions of the Neurological Conditions Needs 

Assessment and agree the proposed actions/recommendations to support people 
with neurological conditions in Merton. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A Council resolution was made in July 2017 asking the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to consider adopting the MND Charter.  This report briefs the Board 
so that they can consider the Council resolution.   The report provides an 
update on the Long Term Neurological Health Needs Assessment (2015) 
and identifies services in Merton that support the MND Charter and other 
neurological conditions.

2 BACKGROUND 
2.1. A Council resolution was made in July this year to ‘ask Merton Health and 

Wellbeing Board (HWBB) to consider adopting the MND Charter, which sets 
out the care and support that people living with MND and their carers 
deserve and should expect’.

2.2. The resolution spoke of raising awareness of MND and demonstrating what 
good care looks like for those living with this devastating disease. 

2.3. Key areas of the MND Charter include;

 Early referral, accurate and early diagnosis and timely information
 High quality care and treatment
 Personal care planning
 Access to equipment, adaptations and suitable housing
 Access to care assessments, respite care and welfare benefits

2.4. In response to the request, consideration of the MND charter took place 
alongside a review of the Long Term Neurological Needs Assessment  
which was undertaken in 2015. The health, social care and housing services 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



that are available to support people with neurological conditions including 
MND (and which respond to elements of the MND Charter) were also 
examined.

3 DETAILS
3.1. The main findings of the Long Term Neurological conditions Health Needs 

Assessment (2015) regarding the prevalence of neurological conditions in 
Merton were:

 An estimated total of 4,626 people in Merton are living with long term 
neurological conditions (excluding headaches and migraine).

 An estimated 1,753 residents have essential tremor, 1,031 are 
estimated to have epilepsy, 412 Parkinson’s disease, 384 cerebral 
palsy and 297 multiple sclerosis.

 The prevalence of MND in Merton was estimated to be 14 individuals 
in the population. 1

3.2. Motor Neurone Disease (MND) is a fatal, rapidly progressive neuroglial 
disease. (Appendix 2 contains further information about Motor Neurone 
Disease, as well as information on diagnosis and treatment).

 Data from the Primary Care Mortality Database revealed that there 
were 18 deaths associated with Motor Neurone Disease in Merton 
between 2010-2014.

3.3. The HNA reviewed services available for people with long term neurological 
conditions.  It should be noted that commissioning responsibilities are 
complex with the CCG, NHS England and LB Merton commissioning a range 
of important services.  These span a spectrum of services, from acute 
hospital care to social care and support for carers.  These complexities 
stress the importance of health and social care integration, so that patients 
can experience a seem-less service, one of the ambitions of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

3.4. Key services outlined include; 

 Specialist and general inpatient and outpatient care, specialist nursing 
support and community rehabilitation.  In addition, palliative care, end 
of life care and social services support can be accessed by people 
with a neurological condition.

 There is an established path for epilepsy patients in place with a two 
year open review following diagnosis. Formal pathways are not in 
place for other LTNCs, however informal pathways are followed which 
reflect best practice guidelines.

1 NB This figure was derived from national estimates and it is important to treat it with caution due to population variation. For 
instance, there are a larger number of children and young people living in Merton and fewer people aged 50 and above compared 
to the average national population, and MND is most common amongst individuals aged 50-70.

Page 82



 Support can include carers’ assessments, advice and signposting for 
welfare benefits and personal budgets.  More detailed information is 
available in Appendix 3.  

 Occupational therapy provides a range of services to people with a 
permanent and substantial physical disability living in Merton. The 
service aims to help people to keep as safe and as independent as 
possible in their own homes.  Key services include assessment; offer 
of services such as equipment and adaptations and Disabled Facility 
grants. Further information is available in Appendix 3.

 An active voluntary sector who provide support for specific conditions.

 Wheelchair assessment and provision are under NHS and the 
Wheelchair service is accessed via GP referral. 

3.5 The HNA also highlighted gaps in service associated with long-term 
neurological conditions, and made recommendations to address service areas 
including; 

 There was found to be a lack of personalised care plans across all 
patients with LTNCs.

 Stakeholders and service users reported difficulty in access to 
Community Neurotherapy Team (CNTT) services.

 Psychological support was consistently reported by stakeholders and 
service users as a gap, and it was highlighted that there was no 
neuropsychologist in Merton

3.6 The HNA also found areas where Merton was doing well including;

 Merton CCG has a slightly higher spend on neurology for marginally  
better outcomes.  

 Merton has a lower rate of emergency bed day use than the London 
benchmark for all analysed conditions. 

 The number of neurology admissions has fallen year on year since 
2009/10, with the proportion of emergency admissions reducing more 
rapidly in Merton CCG than in London as a whole 

SERVICE UPDATE SINCE THE LTNC HNA
3.7 Since the original Neurological Conditions Needs Assessment new work has 

taken place that will help to further support people with long term neurological 
conditions.  

3.8 Merton CCG has commissioned a new rapid access neurology clinic, due to be 
launched in November 2017. Such a clinic will aid in reducing the time between 
GP referral and contact with a specialist, leading to early diagnosis, which is of 
paramount importance for certain conditions including patients with MND. 

Page 83



Fig 1: Venn diagram illustrating the multi-tiered coordination of the Integrated Community Neurology 
Provision Area.

3.9 The CCG is also proposing the formation of an Integrated Community 
Neurology Provision Area (Merton, Wandsworth, and St George’s Hospital). It 
will involve existing Neurology Services, (acute, primary and community) 
working together much more closely (initially virtually and later located in locality 
hub locations). The focus will be on management of long-term conditions with 
specialist nurse/AHP delivered services but with consultant neurologist support.  
This new model of care will provide appropriate levels of expertise, taking a 
proactive approach where high risk individuals are identified earlier through 
greater collaboration between primary and secondary care. The pilot for this 
service is expected to take place from April 2018, for a period of six months. 

3.10 As part of these programmes of work, Merton CCG is taking into account the 
other gaps in service associated with long-term neurological conditions 
highlighted by the HNA.  Examples of this include the CCG  reviewing 
neuropsychology provision in the community team and proposing to review the 
current CLCH neurological conditions service specification in light of the HNA 
recommendations.

MND Charter
3.11 The Long Term Neurological Conditions Health Needs Assessment has set out 

the range of debilitating neurological conditions from which people living in 
Merton suffer. MND is a devastating condition which affects a small but 
significant number of people locally.  The Needs Assessment set out the 
services in place in 2015 to support people with neurological conditions, and 
since that time further work has taken place and initiatives, specifically the plans 
of the CCG, will help to improve that support. 

3.12 The provision identified in both the original Needs Assessment and the update 
conducted as part of this report addresses the goals of the MND Charter and 

Page 84



the HWBB commends those goals and the useful framework that they provide 
for assessing service provision, as well as the MND charity activity.  

3.13 Given the HWBB statutory duty to promote the health and wellbeing of the 
whole population, and the range of neurological conditions which people can 
suffer as set out in the needs assessment, we do not think it would be 
appropriate to sign up to a charter specific to a single neurological condition 
(such as MND) . However, we do note there is further work to be undertaken on 
developing the support offer for people with long term neurological conditions, 
and the CCG will establish a reference group of service users to support this 
work and will report back to the HWBB in 12 months. 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
4.1.  None.

5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
5.1. As part of the 2015 Assessment consultation was carried out with service 

users.  Key themes included;

 The substantial impact of LTNCs on daily activities
 The diagnosis process and variable degree of personalised care 

planning
 Communication between professionals
 Access to ongoing care and treatment
 The broader needs of the individual and holistic approach 

necessary to care

5.2. In updating the Long Term Neurological Conditions Health Needs 
Assessment consultation took place with officers in Merton CCG, adult social 
care, CLHC and occupational therapy. 

6 TIMETABLE
6.1. The timetable is as set out in the report and the full Health Needs 

Assessment.

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None.

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
None.

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

Page 85



The Long Term Neurological Conditions Needs Assessment is aimed at 
understanding the real needs of those with these conditions in order to help 
address health inequalities. 

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
None.

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None.

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
Appendix 1 – Information on MND
Appendix 2 – Detailed service information

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
14.1. Merton Long Term Neurological Conditions Health Needs Assessment 

2015 available at  
https://www2.merton.gov.uk/merton_long_term_neurological_conditions_hn
a.pdf 

APPENDIX 1

15. WHAT IS MOTOR NEURONE DISEASE?

16.1   Background
16.1 Motor neurone disease (MND) is a fatal, rapidly progressing neurological 

disease. It attacks the nerves that control muscle movement (motor 
neurones), causing them to weaken, stiffen and waste. This, in turn, leads to 
progressing issues with walking, speaking, swallowing and breathing.

16.2 Mental abilities and senses are not usually affected by MND and therefore 
patients generally remain aware of their deteriorating physical condition.2

16.3 There are different types of MND, and Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is 
the most common, accounting for up to 80% of cases.  

16.4 We do not currently know what causes MND. Various studies have been 
carried out around the world and the risk of developing MND does not 
appear to be affected by race, diet or lifestyle. MND does not occur in 
epidemics, it is not infectious and it does not appear to be caused by any 

2 Brain Research Trust UK 2015. Accessed October 2017.

Page 86

https://www2.merton.gov.uk/merton_long_term_neurological_conditions_hna.pdf
https://www2.merton.gov.uk/merton_long_term_neurological_conditions_hna.pdf


other disease. It is more common in men than women, and amongst people 
aged between 50 and 70 years.

16.5 Motor Neurone Disease affects up to 5,000 adults in the UK at any one 
time.  MND is life-shortening, and at present, there is no cure for the 
disease. MND kills a third of people within a year and more than half within 
two years of diagnosis. 2 

Diagnosis
16.6 MND cannot be diagnosed with one specific test and doctors will usually 

carry out a series of tests and investigations. Early referral from a GP to a 
specialist is pertinent and diagnosis is confirmed by a neurologist with the 
aid of a range of tests including MRI scans and nerve conduction tests. 

Treatment
16.7 MND is an incurable condition that usually, although not always, leads to 

death within a few years, with a period of distressing disability preceding it. 
Thus, the mainstay of management is in supporting the patient, their family 
and carers through this process and in delivering palliative care at the 
appropriate juncture.

16.8 A multidisciplinary approach involving GPs, primary care nurses, 
occupational therapists, physiotherapists, speech therapists, dieticians, 
respite care providers, home care workers, hospital physicians and 
neurologists, along with many others, is likely to best serve the patient, and 
effective communication between all the interested parties is essential.

16.9 As the disease manifest itself, a patient’s support needs will increase. 
Mobility will be reduced due to limb muscle weakness, leading to the 
requirement of walking aids or a wheelchair. In the later stages of MND, the 
muscles weaken in the chest, back and neck and people experience 
difficulties with swallowing and breathing. At this stage, gastrostomy tube 
feeding and ventilation assistance may be required.

16.10 Riluzole is the only drug treatment specifically for MND.  Safety and 
efficacy of Riluzole has only been studied in ALS. Therefore, Riluzole is 
currently not licensed to be used in patients with any other form of motor 
neurone disease.

16.11 The effect of Riluzole is to slow the progression of symptoms of ALS, and 
to extend the time to mechanical ventilation. Riluzole can increase the life 
expectancy of people with ALS by three to six months.

16.12 Riluzole does not cure MND, nor can it reverse the damage already caused 
by the disease. 

16.13 In Merton, Riluzole is currently commissioned and is available under 
shared care (i.e. shared prescribing between specialists and GPs). Access 
to needs-specific hospice care is a fundamental part of care for patients 
with life-shortening disease.

Page 87



16.14 In Merton, St Raphael’s Hospice provides services to meet the specific 
needs of people with Motor Neurone Disease.

APPENDIX 2

Social Care Eligibility
17.1 Eligibility for social care is determined through the criteria of the Care Act 

2014 requiring physical or mental impairment and as a result not being able 
to achieve outcomes (such as personal hygiene or .maintaining nutrition) 
which has a significant impact on the person’s wellbeing.  Once deemed 
eligible, adults including those with MND are offered needs appropriate care 
such as help with feeding

Carers’ Assessments  
17.2 Carers of people with MND will be eligible for a Carers’ Assessment under 

the Care Act 2014. Where eligibility criteria for the carer are met the range 
of support services includes the following:

 to be granted a Carers Budget under Direct Payments (this can be used for 
sitting service so the informal carer can go out and the cared for person has 
someone to sit in with them).

 to be granted a Carers Discretionary Grant (up to £100 for essential items 
such as paying for driving lessons, to pay for a microwave or pay towards a 
short break for the informal carer).

 to have regular respite breaks for the cared for person.
 to be referred to Carers Support Merton (a voluntary sector organisation, but 

LBM gives out a grant as well as having a contract for CSM to carry out 
some of the Carers Act Assessments).

Welfare Benefits
17.3 People with MND may need advice and information on welfare benefits.  In 

Merton Social Services sign post customers/clients or their informal carers 
to either the Welfare Benefits team who support people with a range of 
benefit advice and applications or the Citizen Advice Bureau where the full 
range of benefits will be discussed.  

17.4  Most people accessing social care, including those with MND, will usually 
apply for PIP (Personal Independence Payment) formerly known as 
Disability Living Allowance. The payment for PIP is made by the DWP 
(Department of Work and Pension). 

Personal Budgets
17.5 Once the cared for person or the informal carer has been assessed as 

eligible for services to be funded by the local authority, then the care and 
support could either be met by a) commissioned services (by booking for a 
care provider contracted with Social Services) or b) under a Personal 
Budget (usually issued by Direct Payment i.e. Social Services pay an 
assessed amount of money to the cared for person or informal carer for 
them to make their own care arrangements. The Personal Budget can be 
used for employing a Personal Assistant (but not employing relatives living 

Page 88



in the same address). This gives the cared for person or informal carer more 
choice and control in care provisions.

Housing, Adaptations and telecare
17.6 Disabled facilities grants (DFGs) can be requested to help meet the cost of 

providing adaptations to enable people with disabilities to access their home 
and the facilities within it. DFGs are available to people who own their own 
home and private tenants.

17.7 Adaptation works carried out through DFGs in Merton include external 
ramping to entrance doors, stair lifts, level access showers and automatic 
toilets.  An assessment must be made by a qualified Occupational Therapist 
to decide what works are required to meet the needs of the person with 
disabilities.

17.8 MASCOT Telecare and Community Support Services provide a range of 
initiatives enabling people to remain at home with independence and 
security. Offering care line and telecare services to vulnerable people and 
those with a disability, MASCOT prevents unnecessary admissions to 
hospital and residential care.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017
Agenda item: 
Wards: all

Subject: New Local Plan
Lead officer: Director for Environment and Regeneration, Chris Lee
Lead member: Cabinet Member for Housing Planning and Regeneration, Councillor 
Martin Whelton
Forward Plan reference number: 
Contact officer: Deputy FutureMerton manager, Tara Butler

Recommendations: 
That the Health and Wellbeing Board 

A. responds collectively and as individual organisations to Local Plan consultations, 
including this first stage which will finish on 8th January 2018;

B. leads on or engage in gathering evidence to support new planning policies, site 
allocations or other matters that the Health and Wellbeing Board want to see in 
Merton’s new Local Plan;

C. leads on co-ordinating input on future health and wellbeing capacity needs, 
particularly primary healthcare, in Merton over the next 5-10 years. This is crucial to 
support planning officers and the council to negotiate for new healthcare and 
wellbeing facilities or modernised facilities as part of new developments during the 
next 10-15 years.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
1.1 This report will update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the new Local Plan, 

ask for responses to the first stage consultation before 8th January 2018 and 
request ongoing involvement, particularly on developing policies, allocating new 
sites and providing information on new infrastructure requirements.

2 BACKGROUND 
2.1. In October 2017, Cabinet resolved to start consultation on the borough-wide 

Local Plan. This started on 31st October 2017 and will run until 8th January 
2018. Please see www.merton.gov.uk/newlocalplan 

2.2. The new Local Plan will set out the council’s strategy for development in 
Merton. It will contain the planning policies against which all planning 
applications received by the council will be assessed. It will be a single 
document which will replace Merton’s Core Planning Strategy and Merton’s 
Sites and Policies Plan. It must be in line with the Mayor’s London Plan.

2.3. When the Local Plan is finished, it can cover:

 A vision and objectives for development in Merton

Page 91

Agenda Item 6

http://www.merton.gov.uk/newlocalplan


 Borough-wide strategic policies on housing, design, flood risk, health 
and wellbeing, open space, etc) The Local Plan is a key strategic 
document which can effectively deliver Health in all Policies.

 Neighbourhood-specific planning  policies covering the town centres 
and surrounding neighbourhoods  of Colliers Wood, Mitcham, Morden, 
Raynes Park and Wimbledon

 Setting land designations: e.g. town centre boundaries, designated 
open space boundaries, areas for nature conservation, cycle routes etc. 
(similar to the maps in the Sites and Policies Plan)

 Allocations of specific sites for development or potential future 
expansion (e.g. Wilson Hospital; Birches Close; Morden Health Centre)

 Infrastructure requirements to support new homes. The infrastructure 
requirements will help the council negotiate for space for healthcare and 
wellbeing facilities and services (for the NHS or other providers) as part 
of new housing schemes over the next 10-15 years.

2.4. The Local Plan will be taking into account the health impact of its proposals 
to wherever possible promote healthy life expectancy and reduce health 
inequalities.  In doing so, it will be taking forward the commitment to Health 
in all Policies which offers a means to optimise the Council and partner’s 
statutory duties for population health and wellbeing. The HiAP approach 
helps to reduce health inequalities because if focuses attention on the 
underlying social, economic and environmental causes that the council and 
partners can influence. 

3 DETAILS 
3.1. At this very early stage of starting Merton’s new Local Plan, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board is recommended to consider the following:
3.1.1  To respond to the initial consultation by 8th January 2018. 

Responses can be by answering the short surveys 
www.merton.gov.uk/newlocalplan or by writing to us at 
future.merton@merton.gov.uk .We would also strongly encourage 
individual groups and organisations that sit on the HWBB to respond to 
the consultation too.

3.1.2 To lead on or assist in gathering evidence to support any new policy 
approaches or other Local Plan matters that the HWBB want to put 
forward or support putting forward.

3.1.3 To take forward (or encourage another organisation to take forward) the 
submission of NHS sites for allocation for new uses or for future 
expansion. For example, in 2011 the Wilson Hospital and Birches Close 
were originally submitted to Merton’s existing Local Plan (Merton’s Sites 
and Policies Plan)  by the then Primary Care Trust. If these sites or other 
NHS sites are to be progressed for redevelopment, then some person or 
organisation will need to lead on recommending sites to the council and 
gathering the evidence to support their redevelopment.

3.1.4 To assist us in gathering information on primary health infrastructure 
capacity to support future housing growth, and to include capacity gaps 
in the Local Plan.

Page 92

http://www.merton.gov.uk/newlocalplan
mailto:future.merton@merton.gov.uk


3.2. The latter point is particularly important as this will be the justification for 
future support from new development towards health services. The council 
has access to the existing location and different types of primary healthcare 
facilities (e.g. GP surgeries, dentists) However we currently do not have 
access to the capacity of these facilities, whether they are fit for purpose, 
whether they need modernising or are even capable of expansion etc. 

3.3. If the new Local Plan does not contain information on any geographic or 
service area where there is a lack of capacity and the ability to deliver more 
capacity (subject, for example, to finding an appropriate site or funding) then 
planning officers can’t negotiate with developers to help support this 
infrastructure by either providing some funding or land.

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
4.1. None for the purposes of this report.

5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
5.1. The current consultation started on 31st October 2017 and will finish on 8th 

January 2018, although it is expected that engagement on individual issues 
will continue into spring 2018.

5.2. Further consultation opportunities are set out in the timetable below.

6 TIMETABLE
6.1. The timetable for the production of the new Local Plan is set out below:
6.1.1 8th January 2018 – Stage 1 consultation ends; evidence gathering and 

meetings etc will continue to spring 2018
6.1.2 Summer 2018 – consultation on Stage 2 new Local Plan for at least six 

weeks
6.1.3 Winter 2018/19 - Council recommendation to submit new Local Plan to the 

Secretary of State, followed by six weeks publication
6.1.4 2019 – examination by an independent planning inspector (usually takes at 

least six months) 
6.1.5 2019 – adoption of the new Local Plan

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. Funding   to support this work will come from existing resources and officers 

will seek opportunities for funding bids wherever possible.
7.2. Once adopted, the new Local Plan will have assessed the infrastructure 

needed to support new development over the next 15 years, which will be 
essential to enable planning officers to negotiate with developers to help 
support this funding (e.g. by providing land or finance towards it)

Page 93



8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
8.1. None for the purposes of this report

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

9.1. Local Plans contain planning policies to improve community cohesion and 
are subject to Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental 
Assessments and Equalities Impact Assessments.

9.2. The Local Plan will be taking into account the health impact of its proposals 
to wherever possible promote healthy life expectancy and reduce health 
inequalities. 

9.3. In doing so, it will be taking forward the commitment to Health in all Policies 
which offers a means to optimise the Council and partner’s statutory duties 
for population health and wellbeing. The HiAP approach helps to reduce 
health inequalities because if focuses attention on the underlying social, 
economic and environmental causes that the council and partners can 
influence. The Local Plan is a key strategic document which can effectively 
deliver Health in all Policies.

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
10.1. None for the purposes of this report.

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1. None for the purposes of this report..  

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 94



Committee: Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017
Wards: All

Subject:  Merton CCG - Commissioning Intentions
Lead officer: Josh Potter, Director of Commissioning, Merton CCG
Lead member: Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health
Contact officer: Josh Potter, Director of Commissioning, Merton CCG

Recommendations: 
A. For note

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report provides an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board regarding 
Merton CCG’s Commissioning Intentions

2 BACKGROUND 
In most years, each CCG will publish a set of Commissioning Intentions to 
communicate the plan for the coming year.  Merton CCG has prepared a 
summary document which incorporates the most important local areas of 
focus.  

3 DETAILS 
See attached presentation

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
Not applicable

5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
Will apply to individual work programmes where necessary.

6 TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
The CCG must meet its statutory financial duties. In order to do this, savings 
of c. £15m are required.

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
None noted

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS
None noted.

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
Not applicable.

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None noted.

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
Commissioning intentions summary

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

Page 96



1

Merton CCG Commissioning Intentions 2018/19
November 2017

1) Background and Context

Clinical Commissioning Groups are required each year to produce their assessment of 
where changes and developments can be made in the local system in order to address 
identified quality, performance and sustainability challenges.  This process is known as the 
development of commissioning intentions and drives changes made to contracts with 
providers of services and feeds into annual operating plans to NHS England.  This paper 
seeks to outline this process and summarise the CCG’s commissioning intentions and 
impact.

It should be noted that 2018/19 is the second year of a two year operating plan submitted at 
the end of 2016/17.  As such the proposals are developments and amendments to existing 
strategy in line with the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) across South West 
London. The STP outlines a number of key areas in planned and unplanned care that areas 
should seek to deliver.  Crucially however, the STP recognises that the majority of delivery 
should be at a local level, in order to ensure good partnership working and ensure services 
respond to the local context and needs.  This is overseen by a Local Transformation Board, 
made up of all commissioners and providers of health and care across both Merton and 
Wandsworth.  The intention of this group is to break down barriers that have traditionally 
existed within the system and come to a shared vision and agenda for change.    

This is also the first set of commissioning intentions developed by the new Local Delivery 
Unit, a shared management team across Merton and Wandsworth CCGs.  We believe there 
are clear benefits to this way of working, with opportunities to share best practice, and work 
with more impact and scale, particularly where the two Boroughs share major providers such 
as South West London and St Georges Mental Health Trust, St Georges Hospital and 
Central London Community Healthcare.  

2) Headline Quality, Performance and Sustainability Issues

Population Health

Significant social inequalities exist within the borough. The eastern half has a younger, 
poorer and more ethnically mixed population. The western half is less diverse, has a higher 
average age and richer. Largely as a result, people in East Merton have worse health and 
shorter lives.  Life Expectancy at birth in Merton is 80.5 years for males and 84.2 years for 
females.  In East Merton life expectancy in men is 78.9 years compared to 81.9 years in 
West Merton. Women’s life expectancy is 83.3 years in the East compared to 85.1 years in 
West Merton. There is a gap of 6.2 years in life expectancy for men between the most 
deprived and least deprived areas in Merton. The gap is 3.9 years for women.

The population is ageing: the number of people aged 65 or over is projected to increase by 
13% (from 25,200 in 2017 to 28,400 in 2025).  This further increases the challenge of caring 
for increasing numbers of people living with multiple long term conditions such as heart 
disease, diabetes, cancer, mental health conditions, and dementia.

Page 97



2

Prevention Framework

The CCG recognises its responsibility to be an active and leading partner in the prevention 
agenda and indeed, many of the commissioning intentions take a preventative approach to 
healthcare, seeking to avoid exacerbations and further ill health.  In addition we also sign up 
to the South West London Prevention Framework which outlines priority areas for action 
including Making Every Contact Count, Social Prescribing and creating healthy workplaces.  
Work is ongoing to ensure this appropriately incorporated into our plans as well as applied to 
existing services, and is aligned to work being led by Local Authority Public Health Teams.

Quality and Performance

The main performance challenges for the locality are the significant issues facing our largest 
acute provider St Georges Hospital, particularly in the area of waiting time achievement and 
A&E performance.   On waiting times for elective care, the CCG is working closely with the 
Trust’s management team and regulators on quantifying the scale of the issues and how 
they can be best addressed to ensure timely access to care for our residents.  We expect 
that the impact of many of our commissioning intentions should help the situation by 
relieving pressure on the Trust and introducing high quality community pathways.  However, 
given the likely scale of the waiting list backlog, it may mean that we need to find different 
ways of measuring success of our schemes.  On A&E performance we recognise that this 
can be improved by strong partnership working between and within health organisations, 
and also with social care.  

St Georges Hospital also remain in financial and quality special measures with the CQC 
judging the organisation as “requires improvement”. In addition to the trust’s significant 
financial challenges, the main quality areas are:

- Quality and risk issues arising from long waits for treatment.  A Clinical Harm Group 
was been set up to monitor this.

- Cancer performance with associated clinical risks.
- New leadership team following previous leadership turnover.  New team now needs 

to be embedded and lead the required cultural change and staff engagement 
agenda.

- Estates & Premises

South West London and St Georges Hospital have been rated overall “good” by the CQC. 
Quality issues relate mainly to community services:

- Consistency and variation in community services, particularly IAT service
- Pressure with acute care pathway with demand for access to specialist CAHMS 

PICU in a timely way.
- Recurring theme of suicide from serious incidents review.  Suicide review currently 

being undertaken to identify learning.

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) access remains a challenge, 
particularly in Merton which has seen significant challenges in performance of our local IAPT 
service in the last 12 months with access rates and recovery rates not meeting the national 
standards.  

Financial Context

Page 98



3

The national picture for NHS funding is reflected in the situation in South West London with 
expected growth in population, and demand for new treatments and therapies, projected to 
significantly outstrip any growth in the NHS budget.  Our current estimate based on 
performance in year and likely pressures for next year is that Merton will need to achieve an 
efficiency of c£15m for Merton, and £36m LDU-wide in 2018/19 in order to meet its financial 
targets in order to meet its financial targets.  This represents a significant challenge for a 
healthcare commissioner within the current system levers available.  Therefore we are also 
in discussions with our main providers on how current contractual mechanisms can be 
amended or adjusted to better enable the right scale of change. 

In order to deliver the change required to meet this sustainability gap, providers of services 
will need to deliver significant service redesign on top of the already challenging financial 
position they face, most notably at St Georges Hospital.  Furthermore, key system partners 
such as Local Authorities continue to face significant financial and sustainability challenges, 
as do many of their suppliers for example the care market.  Therefore it is vital that partners 
in the public sector work together to achieve the change we need to make for our residents. 

Community Engagement

The CCGs commissioning plans and the overarching STP have been subject to significant 
and ongoing community engagement with a variety of partners within the community and 
voluntary sector.  This has ranged from engagement events on the wider STP to specific 
intensive engagement for particular areas of work, for example engagement with schools, 
families and parents in the development of services for neurodevelopment.  This 
engagement will continue as the plans develop and consolidate.  For example in Merton 
there will be multiple community engagements in late November and Early December with 
organisations such as Merton Tenants and Residents Forum, Raynes Park Community 
Forum and Kids First.  

3) Our Commissioning Intentions

The below table summarises the commissioning intentions across the Merton and 
Wandsworth Local Delivery Unit.  Where the intention only refers to one Borough it is 
indicated below.

Programme 
Area

Description Quality Impact Current 
Estimated 
Financial 
Impact at LDU 
level
(£000s)

Children 
and Young 
People 

Paediatric A&E streaming and 
increased access to ambulatory care

Proactive integrated care planning 
for children with complex needs and 
LTCs, linking to borough level 
initiatives such as ThinkFamily
 
Increase rapid response home visits 
for children 0-5, 24/7

Embed a Hospital at Home model for 

Improved quality 
of care for 
children with 
complex needs

Improved 
experience of 
care for families

Fewer visits to 
A&E and fewer 
emergency 

£896

Page 99



4

admission avoidance and early 
discharge

Embed integrated commissioning 
arrangements for children with EHC 
plans and continuing care needs

Review school based therapies 
service

Improve community support and 
capacity for neurodevelopmental 
condition (diagnosis and support)

admissions to 
hospital

Quicker access to 
services for those 
with urgent needs

Primary 
Care and 
Medicines 

Strengthening community provision 
by working (in Merton) with the 
Federation and CLCH to embed 
services within Primary Care e.g. 
wound care, lymphoedema and 
diuretics; 

Embedding 8-8 access to Primary 
Care, including roll out of direct 
booking for A&E and 111

Extending the scope of the 
pathology improvement programme 
to encompass additional tests 

The continued development and 
expansion of Social Prescribing 
models 

Extend of Primary Care Diagnostic 
Services 

Ensuring delivery of high quality 
primary care through a Primary Care 
Quality Contract, Protected Learning 
Time initiatives, use of Resilience 
funding and leadership of a joint 
CQRG for Primary Care.

Improvement to primary care estates

Roll out of e-consultation software 
and continued promotion of Patient 
Online.

Improved access 
to core primary 
care services

More services 
available in 
primary care 
reducing the need 
for referrals

Improved quality 
in general 
practice

£2,922

Planned 
Care

Work with primary care to ensure 
consistent and high quality referrals 

Continue to work with SGH on new 
care pathways in high volume 
specialties
Expand multiple long term conditions 
clinic model

Reduction in 
referrals to 
hospital

Reduction in 
outpatient activity 
Improvements in 
waiting list 

£6,227

Page 100



5

Community triage and assessment 
for MSK – for Merton this means 
building on the already 
commissioned model to include self 
referral pathways

Implementation of “Effective 
Commissioning Initiative” guidelines

position

Decrease in 
inappropriate 
referrals and 
treatments

Urgent 
Care

Deliver agreed “front door” A&E 
pathways (ambulatory care, older 
adults, paediatric assessment, 
psychiatric liaison etc)

Extend frequent attenders initiative 

Embed safer bundle, including 
consultant review, EDD setting and 
timely discharge planning

Continue to develop the 111 service 
in line with South West London 
strategy

Connect London Ambulance Service 
with alternative care pathways

Reduction in A&E 
attendances

Reduction in 
short stay 
admissions

Reduction in 
ambulance 
callouts and 
conveyances to 
hospital

£505

Integrated 
Care and 
Older 
People

[Note: these schemes link to a 
number of initiatives within the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) which are not laid 
out in detail here. The CCG and 
LBM Community and Housing 
directorate will bring to HWBB, 
further details regarding the 
proposed 2018/19 BCF in due 
course]

In Merton, develop a comprehensive 
Integrated Locality Team which will 
support integration between general 
practice, community care and social 
care around the most complex and 
frail patients in the borough (c. 300 
in the first year). This will be based 
around current practice MDTs and 
will include increased access to 
rapid response home visits.

Reduce inequality in healthcare 
provision to Care Homes by 
expanding the Care Home Nursing 
Team and providing an urgent 
nursing response for seven days a 
week, including out of hours, as well 
as levering the development of 
Primary Care at Scale, as an enabler 

Significant 
reduction in 
emergency 
admissions

For those that do 
require an 
admission to 
hospital, they can 
expect to get 
home quicker

More care 
provided in 
peoples’ homes

£4,861

Page 101



6

to delivering STP priorities

Roll out of red bag scheme to cover 
all care homes

Increase access to step up and step 
down intermediate care, applying 
HomeFirst principles

Integrated Discharge Team to 
manage all complex hospital 
discharges

Increase % of Continuing Care 
Assessments conducted in a non-
clinical environment

Extension of Enhanced Care 
Pathway /Complex Care model, 
including all care home residents

Extension of rapid access clinics at 
Nelson 

Expansion of intermediate care 
packages at home

Access to short term step up beds

Integration of End of Life 
coordination and Enhanced Care 
Pathway

Medicines use reviews

Mental 
Health

Evaluation of Crisis Café and PDU to 
inform 18/19 investment

Improve access to IAPT services

Improve access to community based 
CAMHS crisis response 

Review provision of behavioural 
support packages CYP

Expand primary care plus model
Increase uptake of IAPT for people 
with LTCs

Streamline front door pathways to 
support rapid access to the crisis 
response home treatment team 
(CRHTT)

Improved access 
to services in the 
community

Shorter waits for 
services

Fewer emergency 
attendances and 
admissions

Improved mental 
health input for 
people with long 
term conditions

£375

Page 102



7

The above schemes represents the situation as of 3rd November 2017 and unfortunately 
means the CCGs need to identify how to meet the residual financial gap at LDU level.  This 
will be addressed through the following means:

- Ensuring that all schemes in the list above are fully developed and that expected 
benefits are fully analysed and quantified

- Review of performance, quality and benchmarking data for their areas and seek to 
develop additional schemes within the programmes outlined above

- Review potential for additional corporate savings through development of Local 
Delivery Unit for example estates and IT savings

- Review of all current contracts and spend to ensure best value

4) Provider Development 

One of the key levers for delivering the plans summarised above is to develop a new 
way of working between community, primary and social care services in the borough. 
With the Community and Housing directorate of LB Merton, the CCG has established a 
multi-speciality community provider (MCP) Programme Board to agree priorities for 
service integration and the future delivery model for integrated care. This programme will 
look ahead to the future reprocurement of community health services between 2019 and 
2021 but will also seek short-term gains, particularly in the development of the ILT model 
and acceleration of many of the other initiatives set out in the Integrated Care and Older 
People’s, and Children and Young People’s, plans above.

The MCP programme will be supported by ongoing work to develop the primary care 
sector in the borough. The CCG supports Merton Health, a federation of the Merton GP 
practices, which is running our pilot Referral Management Centre and provides a vehicle 
for Merton general practice to work together on service provision at scale. We have also 
supported the East Merton Primary Care Network to become an aspirant Primary Care 
Home, which is an innovative, nationally recognised model of collaboration between GPs 
to improve population health.

5) Next steps

The CCG will continue to develop its commissioning plans throughout the autumn and 
winter.  Final Commissioning Intentions across south west London will be complete by 
early January 2018.  Between now and the 1st April 2018 commissioning intentions will 
be developed into full business case proposals outlining, programme by programme, any 
investments or changes to current contracts can be delivered, and detailing how the 
benefits of these programmes translate into real quality improvements for residents, and 
financial savings for the health economy.  At the same time, detailed contractual 
negotiations with providers will take place, and the CCG will be looking to ensure that 
financial and staffing resources are in place to start delivery of schemes as soon as 
possible from April 2018 onwards.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 28 November 2017
Wards: ALL

Subject:  Diabetes Strategic Framework (Whole System 
Approach)
Lead officer: Dr Dagmar Zeuner, Director of Public Health & Dr Andrew Murray, Chair 
MCCG
Lead member: Councillor Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health
Contact officer: Amy Potter, Consultant in Public Health / Barry Causer, Public Health 
Head of Strategic Commissioning & Dr Joanna Thorne, Clinical Lead, Planned Care, 
Merton CCG

Recommendations: 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
A. Consider the initial outline of a proposed ‘whole system’ strategic framework for 

tackling diabetes. 
B. Agree, in principle, to develop and participate in the ‘diabetes truth’ programme 

through 2018, noting the fit with other planned activities with clinicians and 
communities to inform the development of the strategic framework.

C. Agree to support the process and governance structure, and commit 
representatives from their organisations to participate.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. The purpose of this report is to set out the approach to the development of a 

whole system approach to tackling diabetes. The aim is to take an innovative 
approach and to develop a supporting strategic framework to underpin our 
whole system approach, as we learn by exploring this complex issue. 

1.2. This approach will build upon the excellent work already undertaken in 
Merton, for example on clinical management of diabetes and on a whole 
system approach to childhood obesity. 

1.3. It will provide significant opportunity for the HWB to further refine system 
leadership skills, enable them to gain insight into what it is like to have 
diabetes and deepen the connection of the HWB to local communities, 
helping to shift balance of power and decision making in tackling diabetes.

2 BACKGROUND 
2.1. In June 2017, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed diabetes as a priority 

for 2017/18 and to adopt a whole system approach (WSA) across the life 
course. Rather than a focus on diabetes as a specific disease, the aim of this 
approach is to use it as an exemplar for a whole system preventative 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



approach because it lends itself to clinical, non-clinical and prevention 
approaches.

2.2. Diabetes is a ‘complex’ problem
Diabetes is an area where the traditional ‘medical model’ centred on 
specialist and hospital based care has been unable to curb the rise in 
diabetes cases, serious complications and spiralling costs, and despite 
evidence-based guidelines there remains considerable variation in hospital, 
primary and community services, and patient outcomes. 
Where standard ‘complicated’ problems require expert analysis and a logical 
choice of solutions, truly ‘complex’ problems, such as tackling diabetes at 
scale across a population, need more experimental approaches. See 
Appendix 1 for a visual example of tackling a complicated problem (treating 
diabetes in an individual) compared to a complex problem (understanding 
and tackling obesity or diabetes at a system level).
Leadership theory suggests that for complex problems, new approaches 
need to be tried out to see how systems react, with the opportunity to safely 
probe, sense, respond and repeat, using learning from the results that occur 
to feed back into the next iteration.1 

2.3. This approach suggests that solutions to diabetes as a complex problem will 
need to emerge from the HWB and the community itself rather than trying to 
impose them. As such, we are framing diabetes as a systems leadership 
challenge for the HWB, and one which requires the iterative development of a 
strategic framework rather than a more straightforward clinical strategy.

2.4. As part of this, we propose that the approach to developing a strategic 
framework will include listening to people experiencing diabetes, trying new 
ways of working and then learning from these, iteratively. Although solutions 
to complex problems cannot always be easily replicated at scale, as they 
often need to be bespoke, the aim of building a relationship with people 
experiencing diabetes is that over time we can build a movement and voice in 
Merton to support behaviour change at scale, with learning for the wider 
health economy about how best to do this.

3 DETAILS 
3.1. Strategic Framework: A Whole System Approach to Diabetes

The Diabetes Strategic Framework will build on the work already undertaken 
in Merton to tackle diabetes. Building on the HWB work on childhood obesity 
and social prescribing in 2016/17, the framework will take a life course 
approach, span the whole health and care system, and focus on prevention 
and tackling health inequalities including those linked with poverty and 
ethnicity. It will aim to deliver behaviour change at scale, as well as improve 
early diagnosis and holistic integrated health and care in the community.
The strategic framework will look at where we are now, and where we want to 
be in terms of outcomes that matter to individuals at risk of or already with 
diabetes, to their families, and to the health and care system (from clinical 

1 Snowdon, DJ and Boone, ME (2007) A Leader’s Framework for Decision Making. Harvard Business 
Review, Nov; 85 (11): 68-76, 149. https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making

Page 106

https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making


measures such as HbA1c and reduced inequalities in uptake of services, 
through to outcomes that the community itself defines as success measures), 
and how we can get there. The diagram below (Figure 1) gives a suggested 
outline of the different facets of a whole system approach to diabetes, but will 
be developed and refined over time, with the first input being the learning 
from the proposed leadership work of the HWB to hear from community 
members with diabetes, set out in this paper (Section 3.2.1).

Figure 1: Example facets of a whole system approach to diabetes

3.2. Proposed approach to developing the Strategic Framework
The process for the development of the framework will be an intervention in 
its own right, making explicit use of the different skills, experiences and roles 
of the member of the board as clinicians, community representatives, council 
officers and politicians, as well as a broader range of officers, clinicians and 
place shapers in the local area.
Currently, there are three main programmes of proposed work that will feed 
into the development of the strategic framework, and learning about ‘what 
works’, particularly thinking at scale:

 Work with HWB and individuals on a ‘diabetes truth’ programme: ‘buddying 
up’ with individuals with diabetes

 Work with diabetes community connectors in the South Asian community

 Work with clinicians to encourage new ways of thinking about a whole 
system approach to prevention, using diabetes as an exemplar

These are discussed in more detail below. Over time, as we build the learning 
from these pieces of work into the development of the framework, we may 
develop other work areas.

Holistic integrated care 

(physical & mental 
health care, health & 
social care, clinical & 
non-clinical support, 

self-care)

E.g. Social Prescribing, 
mental health support 
for those with diabetes

Page 107



3.2.1 Part one - Diabetes Truth Programme.
The idea of a ‘diabetes truth’ programme is to develop the HWB’s behaviour 
as systems leaders in addressing a complex problem, using diabetes as an 
example. Through insight into what it is like to experience diabetes (and what 
influences the behaviour that will prevent or improve conditions for people 
with diabetes) board members will be able to understand the true costs to 
those  people living with diabetes, and the trade offs that they are willing to 
make for improved diabetes outcomes.
Funding for the programme has been secured from the Leadership Centre 
Local Vision to provide expert facilitation to the HWBB (by Mari Davis with 
whom the Board is familiar). The initial thinking is that each Board member 
consider ‘buddying up’ with a named individual, who is living with diabetes or 
at risk of diabetes, with the potential to form a longer-term relationship and 
connection with people, initially over a year. The intention is that this learning 
is then fed into the emerging diabetes framework and governance process.
This will help the HWB members to get a deeper understanding of the lived 
experience of diabetes and therefore the vulnerabilities that others might feel, 
the link to poverty and also how HWB and senior professionals might work 
with people and communities differently. What it might mean to be community 
led around the prevention and treatment of diabetes and how the HWB, 
through its organisations and teams, might mobilise people with diabetes to 
take action around their own health.

3.2.2 Part two – diabetes community connectors in the South Asian community
A further funding application has been submitted to the NHS In Place 
Leadership Innovation Fund. The outcome of this bid is imminent and, if 
successful, this work aims to broaden the connection specifically to the South 
Asian community to develop movement building skills to tackle diabetes 
(further details in supporting documents – In Place Leadership Innovation 
Fund EoI - MERTON).

3.2.3 Part three – development workshop for clinicians
It is also proposed, if possible within funding available, to plan development 
sessions with clinicians to encourage new ways of thinking about diabetes 
prevention, learning from the success of the LGA Prevention matters 
workshop in September 2017 with local Councillors and GPs.

3.2.4 There may be opportunities through this work to work with the local Academy 
of Public Health2 to develop an approach (e.g. a manual or toolkit) to 
operationalise complex leadership challenges at work at scale.

3.3. Proposed governance for Diabetes Strategic Framework/WSA
The governance for complex problems such as a Whole System Approach to 
diabetes is not straightforward. Rather than introducing new governance 

2 Health Education England (HEE) Academy of Public Health for London and the South East: 
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/hee-your-area/north-central-east-london/our-work/working-together-across-
london-south-east/academy-public-health-london-south-east 

Page 108

https://www.hee.nhs.uk/hee-your-area/north-central-east-london/our-work/working-together-across-london-south-east/academy-public-health-london-south-east
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/hee-your-area/north-central-east-london/our-work/working-together-across-london-south-east/academy-public-health-london-south-east


arrangements, we want to make best use of existing knowledge and 
structures across Merton, the LDU, SWL and pan-London. We want to make 
sure that there is accountability and oversight of the approach, but that there 
is also freedom to experiment. We propose a small steering group and 
inclusive reference group with HWB oversight, but appreciate the support of 
HWB to help us to think this through. 

3.4. See Section 6 for a proposed timeframe

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
Not to develop a strategic framework to tackle diabetes.
Not to work with HWB and communities to better understand diabetes. 

5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
Proposals are being developed with partners and are planned to involve 
partners and the community (Section 3.2). 

6 TIMETABLE
Table 1: Proposed for development of Strategic Framework for WSA to Diabetes

Activity Date
Discussion of approach at HWB 28 November 2017
HWB Focal topic – WSA Diabetes January 2018
Launch of Whole System Approach - workshop January 2018
Part 1: Diabetes Truth programme (Leadership 
Centre Local Vision)

Dec 2017 to Dec 2018

Part 2: Diabetes Community Connectors  (‘In 
Place’ NHS Leadership Innovation Fund bid)

Dec 2017 to Mar 2018

Part 3: Diabetes Whole System Approach 
development workshop with clinicians

Early 2018

Draft Strategic Framework for Diabetes April 2018
Implementation of a Whole System Approach Iterative and ongoing

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
Leadership Centre funding secured is specifically for HWB facilitation support

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
None

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS
The Strategic Framework is specifically aimed at tackling health inequalities.

Page 109



10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
None 

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None 

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

12.1. APPENDIX 1: Examples of complicated and complex problems
12.2. APPENDIX 2: Current work underway on diabetes 
12.3. APPENDIX 3: HWB paper (20 June 2017) Proposal for diabetes to be 

adopted as a HWB priority 2017/18 

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS
13.1. In Place Leadership Innovation Fund Expression of Interest - MERTON
13.2. Snowdon, DJ and Boone, ME (2007) A Leader’s Framework for Decision 

Making. Harvard Business Review, Nov; 85 (11): 68-76, 149. 
https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making

Page 110

https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making


APPENDIX 1: Complicated vs. Complex problems3

‘Complicated’ problems require probing, analysing, and then responding with an 
appropriate expert solution, compared to ‘complex’ problems which tend to need more 
experimental approaches and iterative feedback loops. Complex problems tend to 
have the following characteristics: large number of interacting elements, interactions 
are non-linear, the system is dynamic, and solutions are not effective if imposed rather 
than emerging from the circumstances. We propose that a whole systems approach to 
diabetes is a complex rather than a complicated problem.
Figure 2: Example ‘complicated’ problem – a linear NICE Pathway requiring expert analysis and 
appropriate intervention

Figure 3: Example ‘complex’ problem – Foresight Report on Obesity 2007 (a similar picture could be 
drawn for a Whole System Approach to Diabetes) – making systematic change to a complex problem 
requires iterative experimental approaches and learning at different points across a system

3 Snowdon, DJ and Boone, ME (2007) A Leader’s Framework for Decision Making. Harvard Business 
Review, Nov; 85 (11): 68-76, 149. https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making

Page 111

https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making


APPENDIX 2: Current work underway on diabetes
Currently there is work underway on multiple levels, from the individual GP practice or 
group of GP practices, Merton Primary care level, Merton and Wandsworth Primary 
Care Level, and on a full SW London level. There is also work ongoing between the 
CCG and individual hospital trusts, so this summary is a small flavour.
 Prevention (population and community)
Merton and Wandsworth Local Delivery Unit (LDU) are working in partnership with St 
Georges Hospital to develop a pre-diabetes pathway for patients who have been 
identified as a risk with ‘borderline’ diabetes. The pathway aims to support clinicians 
with giving patients good advice and directing them on to support services to try and 
prevent them progressing to diabetes, and also to encourage patients to engage with 
NHS health checks and be proactive about their health.
The work from the childhood obesity strategy that looks at encouraging people to make 
healthier choices is very much aligned with what is needed to prevent diabetes.
Patients who are diagnosed as being ‘borderline’ are then entered into a recall system 
to ensure they are checked annually to see whether they have progressed to diabetes. 
Studies show that engagement with lifestyle services such as those provided by the 
NDPP can prevent patients from developing diabetes, and it is important that this 
‘borderline’ stage is not thought of as an inevitable precursor;  progression to diabetes 
and all the resulting complications and life impact can be prevented. 
Prevention (individual). 
Type 2 diabetes is a leading cause of preventable sight loss in people of working age 
and is a major contributor to kidney failure, heart attack and stroke. 
Those patients who are found to have ‘borderline’ diabetes can be referred into the 
national Healthier You:  the National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) which 
goes live in Merton in December, and offers a combination of education  about 
preventing diabetes and information to help reduce their risk of diabetes that will 
include signposting to lifestyle services e.g. weight management, exercise classes, 
counselling etc.
If patients cannot engage with the full NDPP there are the other public health offerings 
around weight management, exercise and smoking cessation (via the One You Merton 
service).
To ensure hard to reach diabetic patients have access to education Merton CCG is 
piloting a new approach to diabetes structured education ( evidence is that patients 
who have education around their condition are much better able to manage their 
condition). It combines education, supported behaviour change, and self-directed 
learning to empower people with type 2 diabetes (T2DM) to improve their health and 
develop self-management skills as per any standard course but this ois offered as a 
series of online modules that patients can complete at a time that is convenient to 
them. Identified patients will have access to a Diabetes Specialist Dietician and a 
range of self-study learning resources.

Clinical diagnosis and treatment. 
Merton CCG is focussed on improving the care of Merton diabetic patients, using the 
NICE guideline 9 separate care processes that each person with diabetes should have 
review of as a marker for quality of care.

Page 112



There are clear guidelines about levels to aim for in terms of treatment targets and 
Primary Care reports on these and the CCG has oversight.
Where patients are more complex and need specialist intervention Merton has 
commissioned Central London Community Healthcare to deliver a community based 
diabetes service. GPs have through this service access to rapid specialist advice and 
review from Diabetic Consultants and Specialist Diabetic Nurses to ensure their 
patients receive the most appropriate treatment to manage their condition.
A certain group of particularly complex patients require hospital based care and this is 
provided at the three local hospitals of St George’s, St Helier and Kingston depending 
on patient choice.
The CCG has received additional funding from NHSE to improve access to patient self 
management structured education ( usually delivered when people are first diagnosed, 
but now available at any point and for top up), foot health and in-patient care. The 
funding has enabled St Georges and St Helier Hospitals to recruit additional diabetic 
nurse capacity and provide training and mentorship in partnership with London South 
Bank University. This additional resource will improve treatment for diabetic patients 
admitted to these hospitals and on discharge to their GP.

There is also a SWL funding bid to improve access to specialist foot care for diabetes 
patients. The funding has meant an increase in the number of specialist podiatrists in 
the area as well as the establishment of a pathfinder podiatrist to be able to help care 
navigate for patients and a plan in the coming year to develop a 7 day service for 
diabetes foot care

Merton CCG is involved with Primary Care education, both that is commissioned on a 
South West London basis with local provision, and with specific local design facilitated 
by the local CEPN. The education supports GPs and Practice Nurses to identify and 
support their diabetic patients well, and also aims to give strategies and options 
specifically for their hard to reach diabetic patients. 
There is now agreed clinical management pathways around diabetes that are easily 
available to Primary Care and education sessions have already been run in 
Wandsworth and are planned for Merton early next year. 
Part of the aim of  the developed pathways are to support patients to self-manage their 
diabetes, and with education to ensure that all members of the Primary Care and 
Community care teams are confident and able to deliver a good standard of care. This 
will help to significantly reduce diabetes as a hospital outpatient specialty, as well as 
have an impact on the complication rates from diabetes that result from poor control.
Merton CCG reports Primary Care outcomes via the GP ‘Quality Outcomes 
Framework’ (QOF) attainment, and although there is variation amongst practices 
overall the area does well compared to similar other areas of London. 
Standard Primary Care diabetes care involves an annual check of feet, eyes, blood 
pressure, cholesterol, blood sugar reading and this happens more frequently if a 
patient’s results are not within the guideline range.
Across SWL there is work under way to try and generally improve London diabetes 
care and there is further education and pathway work happening at this level.
Practices are also being encouraged to engage with the National Diabetes Audit, and 
looking at software options that enables GPs to identify their diabetic patients that do 
not receive all 9 diabetic care processes.

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3
Health and Wellbeing Board Discussion
20 June 2017

Proposal for diabetes to be adopted as a HWB Priority for 2017/18
Lead Officers: Andrew Murray, Chair, MCCG / Dagmar Zeuner, Director of Public 
Health, LBM
Lead member: Cllr Tobin Byers
Contact officer(s):  Anjan Ghosh, Public Health Consultant, LBM

1 Summary
This report sets out the current status and challenges relating to diabetes in Merton, 
the areas that the Merton CCG and Public Health are proposing to address in 2017/18, 
and the opportunity to use this key disease area as an exemplar to develop a whole 
systems approach in Merton and potentially wider across SW London.
The report makes the case for the HWBB to adopt diabetes as a priority for 2017/18.

2 Background 
A Merton Snapshot of diabetes and further information is presented in 
Appendices 1, 2, 3 and 4

2.1       Diabetes rates are increasing in the UK with a large cost to the NHS. In the 
UK around 700 people a day are diagnosed with diabetes. That’s the 
equivalent of one person every two minutesi. There are an estimated 4.5 
million people in the UK with diabetesii of which an estimated 1.1 million are 
undiagnosediii. It is also estimated that there are currently a further 4-5 
million people in England (10.7% of the population) at high risk of 
developing type 2 diabetesiv.

2.2       Type 2 diabetes usually appears in middle-aged or older people, although 
more frequently it is being diagnosed in younger overweight people, and it is 
known to affect people from BAME backgrounds at a younger agev. People 
with diabetes in the family are two to six times more likely to have diabetes 
than people without diabetes in the familyvi. People from South Asian and 
Black communities are two to four times more likely to develop Type 2 
diabetes than those from Caucasian backgroundsvii. Obesity is the most 
potent risk factor for Type 2 diabetes. It accounts for 80–85 per cent of the 
overall risk of developing Type 2 diabetes and underlies the current global 
spread of the conditionviii. The risk of developing Type 2 diabetes can be 
reduced by changes in lifestyle.

Page 115



2.3 In part, because of the types of risk factors described above for diabetes, it 
is a disease of inequalities. Lack of awareness and access to services 
further compound these inequalities.  

2.4 People with diabetes experience disproportionately high rates of mental     
health problems such as depression, anxiety and eating disordersix. 

3. DETAILS 
Why is Diabetes important to the HWBB?

3.1  Diabetes is an area where the ‘traditional’ medical model centred on 
hospital based care has been unable to curb the rise in diabetes cases, 
complications and costs, over the last five years.

3.2 There are a number of challenges faced by the system:

 It currently cannot cope with patient numbers (and the trend is upwards)

 Not enough is being done to halt the trend

 There are increasing numbers of complex patients

 People are not empowered to manage their own condition

 There is considerable variation in process and outcomes for patients, 
particularly in Primary Care, but also in community and hospital care.

 Patients, who suffer from serious complications of diabetes like sight 
impairment / loss, amputations etc., have an impact not just on health 
care but also social care and carers.  

3.3  Therefore the approach needs to shift to a whole system life-course 
approach with the added focus on prevention and tackling stark inequalities 
linked with poverty and ethnicity. This approach widens the scope of 
diabetes work to include childhood obesity, behaviour change and early 
diagnosis, and holistic integrated health and care in the community 
(spanning health and social care, physical and mental health). 

3.4        Diabetes as a priority fully chimes with HWBB ethos and the HWB Strategy. 
In 2016/17 childhood obesity and social prescribing were priority areas for 
the HWBB. Both are linked very strongly with diabetes. Addressing 
childhood obesity is a key factor in the early years, in preventing or delaying 
the onset of type 2 diabetes later in life and can significantly reduce the 
burden of disease in the future. 

3.5       Tackling diabetes offers a unique opportunity to bring together and amplify 
existing priorities including childhood obesity, social prescribing, East 
Merton Model of Health and Wellbeing (including the Wilson), health and 
care integration, and HIAP (including Think Family). 

3.6       In 2016/17 a task group of the Healthier Communities and Older People 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel completed a report on ‘Preventing Diabetes in 
the South Asian Community’. The recommendations from this report formed 
the basis of an action plan to improve awareness, prevention, access, early 
diagnosis and better management among Merton residents of South Asian 

Page 116



origin. 
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=9112&Opt
=0 

3.7       Tackling diabetes also builds on the numerous strands of existing on-going 
work including the implementation of the childhood healthy weight action 
plan, scaling up the social prescribing pilot, developing the Wilson health 
and wellbeing offer, implementation of the national diabetes prevention 
programme, new provider and service model for healthy lifestyle service and 
health check programme, action plan for diabetes prevention in South Asian 
community, and planned care programme.

3.8       There is a request from the SWL Clinical Board to all HWBBs in SW London 
to adopt diabetes as a priority, and this will offer synergies across the 
region.

3.9       Diabetes fits well in the prevention framework developed in Merton, which 
looks across the whole system from place level solutions, to community 
level and individual level solutions. It is about prevention investment across 
the life-course and impact at scale (see appendix 5). 

3.10       Diabetes is also being addressed in the SW London STP as a system 
exemplar for prevention because it lends itself so well to clinical, non-clinical 
and prevention approaches. The planned focus is ‘embedding the 
prevention framework in policies and practice’- using local borough/CCG 
examples to demonstrate what this could look like. Diabetes is an example 
that lends itself to demonstrating impact across the whole system.

3.11       There is potential for ongoing joint work with vision leadership centre – and 
diabetes could be used as an exemplar.

3.12       It is recognised that the suggestion for the HWBB to adopt diabetes as a 
priority, is an opportunistic one rather than a systematic exercise but hoped 
that members will see the potential for the HWBB to make a real difference 
to this important issue.

4. Questions for the HWBB to consider
4.1       Does the rationale (as set out above) for diabetes as a 2017/18 priority for 

the HWBB make sense?
4.2       Have you any early ideas how the HWBB / partner organisations can help 

deliver this priority?
4.3       Do you agree diabetes as a 2017/18 priority for the HWBB?

5 Next steps
If agreed by the next step would be to develop an action plan with 
clarification of the roles of all partners and timelines to be reported to the 
HWBB.

Page 117

https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=9112&Opt=0
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=9112&Opt=0
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=9112&Opt=0
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=9112&Opt=0


APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Diabetes – Essential Facts

1. It is estimated that 10% of all adults and children with diabetes have Type 1 
diabetes and 90% have Type 2 diabetesx.

2. Good diabetes management has been shown to reduce the risk of complications. 
But when diabetes is not well managed, it is associated with serious complications 
including heart disease, stroke, blindness, kidney disease and amputations leading 
to disability and premature mortality. There is also a substantial financial cost to 
diabetes care as well as costs to the lives of people with diabetes.

3. It is currently estimated that about £10 billion is spent by the NHS on diabetes, 
which is 10 per cent of the NHS budget. This is only taking into account the NHS 
healthcare costs. When the total cost (direct care and indirect costs) associated 
with diabetes are taken into account, diabetes in the UK currently costs an 
estimated £23.7 billion and is predicted to rise to £39.8 billion by 2035/6xi.

4. There is a strong evidence base for the effectiveness of diabetes prevention 
programmes delaying the onset of disease. The NHS Diabetes Prevention 
Programme (NDPP) was announced in the NHS Five Year Forward View, 
published in October 2014, which set out the ambition to become the first country to 
implement at scale a national evidence-based diabetes prevention programme 
modelled on proven UK and international models, and linked where appropriate to 
NHS Health Checks. Under the brand “Healthier You” the NDPP is a joint initiative 
with NHS England, Public Health England (“PHE”) and Diabetes UK which aims to 
deliver at a large scale services which identify people with non-diabetic 
hyperglycaemia who are at high risk of developing Type 2 diabetes and offer them 
a behavioural intervention to reduce their weight and increase physical activity.   

5. All 12 South London boroughs, encompassing all the CCGs and Local Authorities 
in South London (including NHS Merton CCG and London Borough of Merton) with 
NHS Southwark CCG as the lead organisation, entered into an MOU with NHS 
England to provide the NDPP across South London.

6. Once diagnosed with diabetes, all patients aged 12 years and over should receive 
all of the nine NICE recommended care processes. These are: the annual checks 
for the effectiveness of diabetes treatment (HbA1c), cardiovascular risk factors 
(blood pressure (BP), serum cholesterol, body mass index (BMI), smoking) and 
emergence of early complications (eye screening, foot surveillance and urine 
albumin/serum creatinine (kidney surveillance)).

7. Every year a national diabetes audit (NDA) is carried out to assess the quality of 
diabetes care, including the nine care processes mentioned in point 6 above, and is 
reported for each borough. This is predicated on the participation of, and the timely 
return of data from, GP Practices – in order to obtain a truly representative local 
picture. Merton GP Practices have been particularly poor in their participation in the 
NDA (see below in Merton Snapshot).

8. The diabetes model of care is based on four tiers of care provided in three settings: 
primary care, the community and in hospital. According to their individual needs, a 

Page 118



person with diabetes may receive care in all of these settings. The majority of 
diabetes care is currently provided in primary care and community settings; and 
around 80% of care will be provided in these settings in future.  The four tiers of 
care are depicted in appendix 3.

Appendix 2: Merton Snapshot
1. 6% of adults in Merton (approximately 10,700 individuals aged 17+years) were 

diagnosed with diabetes in 2015/16.  Current estimates indicate that around 14,300 
adults have diabetes, and therefore an estimated 3,700 adults remain undiagnosed 
(although diagnosis rates have improved over the last 3 years).

2. The level of diabetes is projected to rise significantly locally - to 15,300 adults with 
diabetes in 2020 (8.3% of the adult population). The increase is due to the rise of 
obesity and lack of understanding of unhealthy levels of sugar consumption. 

3. Although Merton has lower prevalence of adult obesity than nationally, 60% of 
adults in Merton are overweight or obese are at risk of developing diabetes and 
dying prematurely.

4. Merton has a poor ranking in meeting standards of management and control of 
diabetes risk factors - blood sugar levels, cholesterol and hypertension. In 2015/16, 
56.7% of Merton patients were recorded as having good control of their blood sugar 
levels compared to 58.2% regionally and 60.1% nationally.

5. Only five out of twenty-four GP practices in Merton participated in the National 
Diabetes Audit (NDA) in the 2014-15 and 2015-16 rounds. In 2015-16 this was a 
participation rate of 20.8% compared with an England average of 81.4%. 

6. The NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP), under the brand “Healthier 
You”, aims to deliver at a large scale services which identify people with non-
diabetic hyperglycaemia who are at high risk of developing Type 2 diabetes and 
offer them a behavioural intervention to reduce their weight and increase physical 
activity.

7. Modelling data from Public Health England’s Health Survey estimates that there are 
18,450 people living in Merton with non-diabetic hyperglycaemia, giving a 
prevalence of 11.0%. There are an estimated 4000 patients on GP Practice 
registers in Merton who have documented non-diabetic hyperglycaemia and are 
eligible for the NDPP. 

Page 119



Appendix 3: Four tiers of diabetes care (HealthCare for London) 

P
age 120



Appendix 4: Summary of existing work

1. With the development of the SW London CCG alliance and the Wandsworth-
Merton LDU (Local Delivery Unit), the work on diabetes is increasingly in 
partnership with Wandsworth spanning across the LDU. 

2. Wandsworth CCG has recently commissioned a Multispecialty Community Provider 
(MCP) model of delivery for their community health services, and this includes 
community diabetes services. This is following a number of years of project work 
developing the model for diabetes based on local knowledge and experience and 
evidence of best practice elsewhere.

3. Merton CCG has in place an established community diabetes services (since April 
2016) and the priority areas for Merton are:

a. increasing the utilisation of this service
b. agreeing and implementing criteria for specialist input from secondary care
c. addressing variation in primary care
d. increasing the currently poor participation in the National Diabetes Audit 

4. The different models operated in the two CCGs (including services funded for 
delivery in primary care) presents a challenge as there is potential for variation in 
quality across the two. It also offers the opportunity of sharing learning, however, to 
ensure the best standard of care for patients across the two CCGs. 

5. In Merton, the NDPP is due to commence from June 2017 and will run a full 12 
months, with the aim of referring 1200 eligible patients with non-diabetic 
hyperglycaemia to the commissioned nine-month lifestyle intervention service 
provided by Reed Momenta. This will be implemented through Merton GP 
Practices.

6. NHS Merton CCG and Public Health Merton are jointly addressing the 
recommendations ensuing from the Healthier Communities and Older People 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel report on ‘Preventing Diabetes in the South Asian 
Community’, through an action plan approved by the Panel. 

7. Public Health Merton has recently recommissioned the Merton Lifestyle and Stop 
Smoking Services as well as the NHS Health Checks programme- with a 
population focussed approach to prevention and early detection. Both tie closely 
with the prevention and early detection of diabetes, while addressing health 
inequalities and equity issues through a targeted model aimed at marginalised and 
high priority groups. 

Appendix 5: Prevention Framework (next page)

Page 121



P
age 122



Appendix 6
Proposed next steps if agreed as HWBB priority
At HWB level, this is to develop an action plan with clarification of the roles of all HWB 
partners and timelines.
Among commissioners approach is to focus on a realistic number of defined areas 
over 2017/18 and deliver within the resources available, making use of a whole 
systems approach to amplify the impact of the work.
In 2017/18 NHS Merton CCG in partnership with other stakeholders including Public 
Health Merton intend to address the following areas:

i. Primary care variation in diabetes diagnosis and management, and   
increasing participation in the NDA

ii. Strengthening the delivery of the four tiers of diabetes care, ensuring 
that patients are seen at the most appropriate and least cost level of 
care for their need.

iii. Increasing the uptake of structured education programmes
iv. Implementing the NDPP in Merton
v. Implementing the action plan for the Healthier Communities and Older 

People Overview and Scrutiny Panel report on ‘Preventing Diabetes in 
the South Asian Community’

The intention would be to re-establish a multi-agency diabetes steering group (there 
was one before) hosted by the CCG and understanding the gaps between what is 
currently provided, and the outcomes and aims of the services in accordance with the 
four tiers of care. This will help to identify what is required to change over the longer 
term to ensure equity of service and a high standard of service provision. This 
programme of work requires scoping and the project work is in its initial stages.

Page 123



References

i Figure based on newly diagnosed figures from the 2011/12 and 2012/13 National 
Diabetes Audit, extrapolated up to the whole population with diabetes indicated by the 
QoF data for the equivalent years and divided by two to give an annual average
ii Quality and Outcomes Framework (2014/15), Diabetes Prevalence Model 2016 
(Public Health England) and 2012 APHO Diabetes Prevalence Model.
iii This figure was worked out using the diagnosed figure from the 2014/15 Quality and 
Outcomes Framework, the 2016 Diabetes Prevalence Model and the 2012 AHPO 
diabetes prevalence model.
iv Public Health England (2015) NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NHS DPP) 
Non-diabetic hyperglycaemia. Produced by: National Cardiovascular Intelligence 
Network (NCVIN)
v Tuomilehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG et al (2001). Prevention of Type 2 diabetes 
mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N 
Engl J Med 344 (18); 1343–1350
vi Vaxillaire M and Froguel, P (2010). The genetics of Type 2 diabetes: from candidate 
gene biology to genome-wide studies, in Holt RIG, Cockram CS, Flyvbjerg A et al (ed.) 
Textbook of diabetes, 4th edition. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell
vii Health and Social Care Information Centre (2006). Health Survey for England 2004, 
Health of Ethnic Minorities 
Ntuk, U.E., Gill, J.M.R., Mackay, D.F., Sattar N. & Pell, J.P. (2014). Ethnic-Specific 
Obesity Cufoffs for Diabetes Risk: Cross-sectional Study of 490,288 UK Biobank 
Participants. Diabetes Care 37(9), 2500-7 
Tillin, T., Hughes, A.D., Godsland, I.F., Whincup, P., Forouhi, N.G., Welsh, P., Sattar, 
N., McKeigue, P.M. & Chaturvedi, N. (2012). Insulin Resistance and Truncal Obesity 
as Important Determinants of the Greater Incidence of Diabetes in Indian Asians and 
African Caribbeans Compared With Europeans. The Southall and Brent Revisited 
(SABRE) cohort. Diabetes Care 36(2), 383-93.
viii Hauner H (2010). Obesity and diabetes, in Holt RIG, Cockram CS, Flyvbjerg A et al 
(ed.) Textbook of diabetes, 4th edition. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell
ix https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Professionals/Resources/shared-practice/Psychological-
care/ 
x HSCIC: National Diabetes Audit 2012/13: Report 1: Care Processes and Treatment 
Targets, and Scottish Diabetes Survey 2012: 
http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/Publications/SDS2013.pdf
xi Hex, N., et al (2012) Estimating the current and future costs of Type 1 and Type 2 
diabetes in the United Kingdom, including direct health costs and indirect societal and 
productivity costs. Diabetic Medicine. 29 (7) 855-862

Page 124

https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Professionals/Resources/shared-practice/Psychological-care/
https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Professionals/Resources/shared-practice/Psychological-care/

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 MSCB Annual Report
	MSCB-Annual-Report-2017
	MSCB Appendix 2

	5 Motor Neurone Disease
	6 Local Plan
	7 CCG Commissioning Intentions
	Commissioning Intentions Merton

	8 Diabetes Strategic Framework work plan
	Appendix 3 Diabetes


